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message from the chairman
Ladies and Gentlemen, Shareholders,

Another year has come to an end. 2004 was in fact a very good year for the
Swatch Group despite some major obstacles, the first of which was – and I’m
sorry to have to mention it yet again – the problem of the Swiss franc, which con-
tinues to rise at a staggering rate compared with all other currencies except the
euro and the pound sterling. This is causing serious problems for all of Switzer-
land apart from some sections of the financial community. Some of the air of
stagnation and resignation, which we see in many of our political leaders, is
beginning to spread right across the country. The collapse of Swissair-Swiss then
Swiss-Lufthansa is one upsetting and depressing example of this. In fact, I am
outraged that in Switzerland, the land of some great business founders of the
past, we are no longer able to find enough entrepreneurs capable of preserving
and developing the heritage that has been handed down to us, and of which we
are the guardians. To this note of stagnation, one has to add the immense
monetary shackle represented by the ever-increasing value of the Swiss franc,
which each year costs all of us hundreds of billions of francs, and costs the
Swatch Group hundreds of millions of francs.

The other major obstacle is the European Union, or Europe, as it now likes to call
itself, which has kept none of the enticing promises it made in the economic sec-
tor. We were promised that, with its 300 million plus consumers, we would expe-
rience a completely unprecedented economic upsurge that would raise the stan-
dard of living for all of Europe. However, economic stagnation and even decline
have plunged Germany – previously the powerhouse of Europe and even the
world, but today a shadow of its former economic self – France, Italy and practi-
cally all of the major European countries into a real recession, which is obviously
affecting our watchmaking exports. Not only those exports, but all our exports,
and our tourism too.

Despite all this, Europe is still an economic superpower and, very pleasingly, 
also a civil, peace-loving, cultural and democratic one. Even mired in its current
recession, this superpower is able unashamedly to pit itself economically against
the United States which, moreover, is also a military superpower. Nevertheless,
Europe is beginning to choke under the mass production of standards, laws, rules
and regulations. These measures are not only impeding all the individual
initiatives of entrepreneurs in Europe, but are also frequently putting consumers
out of work, even though they were originally intended to protect them. And I am
well placed to confirm the existence of such obstacles, since I am a member of
the temporary committee of the High Level Group in Brussels that is working 
to draw up recommendations aimed at avoiding the excessive transfer of jobs out
of Europe and attempting to overcome the huge and ever-increasing problem of
unemployment.

It is up to us, the true entrepreneurs of all countries, to overcome this situation,
and it is our duty to recreate the economic development that our countries need. 

Despite all this the Swatch Group, which is led, as has often been said, not by
managers but by male and female entrepreneurs, ended 2004 strongly. Moreover,
2005 promises to be good too, judging by the results of the first few months.

In 2004, sales increased to CHF 4152 million, up 6.2 % on the previous year in
constant currency, and up 4.7 % in Swiss francs. The effects of exchange rates
impacted this sales result to the tune of CHF 60 million, of which CHF 56 million
related to a negative influence on the conversion of sales carried out in foreign
currencies during the second half of 2004. The operating result was CHF 651 mil-
lion, an increase of 9.6 %, and represented 15.7 % of sales (15.0 % last year). The
net income of the Group was CHF 512 million, or 12.3 % of sales, representing an
increase of 4.1 % on the previous year. The shareholders’ equity in the Group rose
to CHF 4261 million at the end of 2004, representing 70.9% of the balance sheet
total. Average return on equity in 2004 rose to 12.4 %. Based on these very solid
and highly encouraging figures the Board of Directors will propose, at the 
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NICOLAS G. HAYEK, FREEMAN OF THE CITY OF BIEL
To tumultuous applause, Nicolas G. Hayek was declared a freeman of the City
of Biel on February 19, 2005 by Mayor Hans Stöckli, who thanked him for
having made Biel the «world capital of watchmaking». Visibly moved, N. G.
Hayek received a bouquet of flowers from a surprise guest, the President of
the Swiss Confederation Samuel Schmid, who was there to testify to the grat-
itude of the entire country towards the «savior of the Swiss watchmaking
industry».

dynamic message to the world remains as strongly influential as it has been over
the last few years. 

On this note, and on behalf of the Board of Directors, the Management Board and
all our employees, who have again contributed enormously to the success of the
past year, I would like to thank you for your loyalty and support.

Sincerely,

Nicolas G. Hayek
Chairman and Delegate of the Board of Directors of the Swatch Group.

Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, an increase in the dividend of 21 %, to
CHF 1.75 per bearer share (CHF 1.45 last year), and CHF 0.35 per registered share
(CHF 0.29 last year). Moreover, it will proceed with the repurchase of shares total-
ing in the order of CHF 250 million via a second trading line.

These positive figures reflect several facts:
• Firstly, in addition to its number 1 position in horology, the Swatch Group has

also become the number 1 prestige watch manufacturer, both in terms of value
and volume. Besides this double number one position of the Group, Breguet
also occupies the pole position amongst luxury watch brands, with very strong
growth. Having resolved its logistics problems dating from the end of the 1990s,
Blancpain has made very rapid progress, as have Glashütte Original, Jaquet
Droz, Léon Hatot and Omega’s luxury sector.

• Secondly, Omega is recording very strong growth, winning a very appreciable
market share.

• Thirdly, demand is very strong for the Group’s other brands, not only in the
world of fashion with ck watch and the world of elegance with Longines, but
also for the Rado, Tissot and Swatch brands. Each one of the Group’s watch-
making brands has inspired a burst of energy and dynamism, both within the
Group and also outside it.

With the members of his Management Board, Nick Hayek has already initiated
this dynamic upsurge in several of the Group’s key countries, in Asia – notably in
Japan and South Korea – in the United States, in the countries of the Middle
East, and in many other major regions of the globe. And all this input is starting
to bear fruit today. The market share in jewelry and the sound mastery of
expertise have increased spectacularly at Swatch and ck jewelry. The same
applies at Breguet, Omega and Léon Hatot. This is also due to the concentration
of development, production and expertise at Dress Your Body (DYB), which has
become the number 1 in its field in Switzerland.

All these factors herald a very strong upsurge in 2005 and the years to follow, in
all fields of business. You only have to look at the investments that have been
approved, both for the construction of several new factories in Switzerland and
for prestigious new points of sale in the center of major cities such as Tokyo, New
York, Paris, Milan, Berlin, London, Shanghai, Beijing, Singapore, Hong Kong and
many others besides. This should enable your Group both to put more distance
between itself as world number 1 and its closest competitors, and to assume
leadership in the new areas that we have recently opened up.

I am saddened – and at the same time a bit proud – to note that the Swatch
Group has become Switzerland’s most respected and best-known economic
ambassador abroad following the demise of Swissair-Swiss and other Swiss
brands, which has cost us much in the way of prestige. But I can assure you that
the Swatch Group will do everything in its power to ensure that Switzerland’s



Breguet Blancpain Glashütte Original

Longines Rado Union

Jaquet Droz Léon Hatot Omega

Tissot ck watch & jewelry Balmain

Swatch Flik Flak Endura

Hamilton Certina Mido

organization

OPERATIONAL ORGANIZATION (as at December 31, 2004)

WATCHES

PRESTIGE AND LUXURY RANGE

HIGH RANGE

PRODUCTION ELECTRONIC SYSTEMS GENERAL SERVICES

EM Microelectronic-Marin, Micro Crystal,
Renata, Microcomponents, 
Sokymat Automotive, Oscilloquartz, 
Omega Electronics, Lasag

WATCHES, MOVEMENTS AND COMPONENTS

ETA, Frédéric Piguet, Valdar, Nivarox-FAR,
Rubattel & Weyermann, Comadur, 
GHHH (Groupe Habillage Haute Horlogerie),
Favre & Perret, Ruedin, Lascor, Meco, 
Universo

JEWELRY

DYB (Dress Your Body)

Asulab, CDNP, Swiss Timing, ICB, 
Swatch Group Real Estate, Swatch Group
Internet Lab, Swatch Group Hi-Tech, 
Swatch Group Quality Management, 
Swatch Group Customer Service

MIDDLE RANGE

BASIC RANGE PRIVATE LABEL RETAILING

Swatch Group 
Les Boutiques

Tech Airport

DISTRIBUTION

Swatch Group 
Distribution
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organization

ORGANIZATION & DISTRIBUTION IN THE WORLD (as at December 31, 2004)
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OCEANIA

Swatch Group Subsidiary
Australia

Distributor
New Zealand

AFRICA

Distributors
Algeria
Angola
Cameroon
Egypt
Ghana
Ivory Coast
Kenya
Libya
Mauritius
Morocco
Nigeria
Seychelles
South Africa
Tunisia

FAR EAST

Swatch Group Subsidiaries
China
Hong Kong
India
Japan
Malaysia
Singapore
South Korea
Taiwan
Thailand

Distributors
Brunei
Cambodia
China
Indonesia
Pakistan
Philippines
Sri Lanka
Thailand
Vietnam

MIDDLE EAST

Swatch Group Subsidiary
Middle East – Dubai

Distributors
Bahrain
Irak
Iran
Israel
Jordan
Kuwait
Lebanon
Oman 
Qatar
Saudi Arabia
Syria
United Arab Emirates
Yemen

NORTH AMERICA

Swatch Group Subsidiaries
Canada
USA

CENTRAL AMERICA
AND THE CARIBBEAN

Swatch Group Subsidiary
Mexico
Virgin Islands

Distributors
Bahamas
Bermuda
Costa Rica
Cuba
Dominican Republic
Dutch Antilles
El Salvador
Guatemala
Jamaica
Nicaragua
Panama
Puerto Rico
Virgin Islands

SOUTH AMERICA

Swatch Group Subsidiaries
Brazil

Distributors
Argentina
Bolivia
Chile
Colombia
Ecuador
Paraguay
Peru
Uruguay
Venezuela

EUROPE

Swatch Group Subsidiaries
Austria
Belgium
Denmark
Finland
France
Germany
Greece
Italy
Luxembourg
Netherlands
Norway
Poland
Portugal
Spain
Sweden
United Kingdom

Distributors
Andorra
Azerbaijan
Belarus
Bosnia and Herzegovina
Bulgaria
Croatia
Cyprus
Czech Republic
Estonia
Gibraltar
Hungary
Ireland
Kazakhstan
Letvania
Lithuania
Malta
Poland
Portugal
Republic of Moldova
Rumania
Russia
San Marino
Serbia
Slovakia
Slovenia
Turkey
Ukraine
Uzbekistan
Yugoslavia



organs of the group

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (as at April 1, 2005)

Company Secretary

Roland Bloch, Biel

Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers
St.-Jakobs-Strasse 25
CH-4052 Basel

Administrative Headquarters

Seevorstadt 6, CH-2501 Biel
Tel. 032 343 68 11
Fax 032 343 69 11
e-mail: info@swatchgroup.com
Internet: www.swatchgroup.com

Registered Offices

Faubourg de l’Hôpital 3, CH-2000 Neuchâtel

The function descriptions and responsibilities of the 
members of the Board of Directors by December 31, 2004, 
are outlined in the Corporate Governance 
chapter on page 99 of the present Annual Report.

DR H.C. NICOLAS G. HAYEK
Meisterschwanden, Chairman and Delegate of the Board of Directors
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organs of the group

DR PETER GROSS
Zollikon, Vice-Chairman

ESTHER GRETHER
Bottmingen

NAYLA HAYEK
Schleinikon

DR PETER F. BAUMBERGER
Küsnacht

JOHANN NIKLAUS 
SCHNEIDER-AMMANN
Langenthal

ERNST TANNER
Erlenbach

swatch group  annual report 2004 7



organs of the group

EXECUTIVE GROUP MANAGEMENT BOARD (as at April 1, 2005)

DR MOUGAHED DARWISH
EM Microelectronic-Marin, Micro 
Crystal, Renata, Microcomponents,
Sokymat Automotive, Oscilloquartz,
Omega Electronics and Lasag

NICK HAYEK JR
President of the Group Management Board,
Comadur, Swiss Timing, Swatch Group Les Boutiques, 
Swatch Group Greater China (China, Hong Kong and Taiwan)

ARLETTE E. EMCH
Léon Hatot, ck watch & jewelry, 
Dress Your Body; Swatch Group 
Japan and Swatch Group South Korea

EDGAR GEISER
Controlling/finance, 
quality assurance, investor relations
and Swatch Group UK

DR HANSPETER RENTSCH
Legal affairs, licences, strategic
projects, real estate (except engineer-
ing), patents (ICB), Swatch Group
Greece and Swatch Group Poland

ROLAND STREULE
Rado, Swatch Group Belgium and
Swatch Group Netherlands

MARC A. HAYEK
Blancpain 
and Swatch Group Middle East

FLORENCE 
OLLIVIER-LAMARQUE
Swatch Group France, Swatch Group
France Les Boutiques, Swatch Group
Italy, Swatch Group Spain 
and Flik Flak
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organs of the group

EXTENDED GROUP MANAGEMENT BOARD (as at April 1, 2005)

MATTHIAS BRESCHAN
Hamilton and Swatch Group Mexico

EDMOND CAPT
Frédéric Piguet, Valdar and Universo

MANUEL EMCH
Jaquet Droz, Eastern Europe 
and Russia

DR RUDOLF DINGER
Asulab and Nivarox-FAR

YANN GAMARD
Swatch Group USA 
and Swatch Group Canada

WALTER VON KÄNEL
Longines

THOMAS MEIER
ETA and Swatch Group Thailand

DR FRANK MÜLLER
Glashütte Original, Swatch Group
Malaysia and Swatch Group Singapore

JERRY SIMONIS
Balmain

STEPHEN URQUHART
Omega

RUDOLF SEMRAD
Swatch Group Austria

KEVIN ROLLENHAGEN
Swatch Group Hong Kong 
and Omega China

DR PETER STEIGER
Swatch Group Distribution, 
logistics and after sales service and
Swatch Group Nordic 
(Denmark, Norway, Sweden, Finland)

FRANÇOIS THIÉBAUD
Tissot, Certina, Mido, Endura, 
Swatch Group Brazil, Swatch Group
India, Swatch Group Germany, 
Portugal and Switzerland

The function descriptions and responsibilities of the members of the 
Executive Group Management Board and of the Extended Group 
Management Board by December 31, 2004, are outlined in the Corporate
Governance chapter on pages 101 to 103 of the present Annual Report.
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2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

4 152 3 966 4 063 4 182 4 263

4.7 –2.4 –2.8 –1.9 17.6

869 805 842 845 908

20.9 20.3 20.7 20.2 21.3

651 594 632 644 683

15.7 15.0 15.6 15.4 16.0

512 492 494 504 546

12.3 12.4 12.2 12.1 12.8

4.1 –0.4 –2.0 –7.7

683 627 566 623 602

16.4 15.8 13.9 14.9 14.1

4 261 4 006 3 541 3 261 3 156

70.9 71.3 74.0 70.0 70.3

6 011 5 615 4 783 4 660 4 490

20 949 20 700 20 545 19 665 19 748

20 831 20 707 20 568 20 087 19 284

1 277 1 262 1 269 1 251 1 206

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

291 271 289 321 260

295 275 193 269 248

1 738 1 949 1 849 1 740 1 615

137 137 137 140 312

1 895 1 685 1 474 1 534 1 437

71.7 65.4 62.4 62.9 68.9

2 642 2 577 2 363 2 439 2 085

106.6 84.5 64.2 58.3 171.7

77.8 61.7 46.9 44.0 55.0

DEVELOPMENT OF THE SWATCH GROUP

Swatch Group consolidated

Gross sales CHF million

– Change from previous year %

Operating result before depreciation 

& amortization (EBITDA) CHF million

– As a % of gross sales %

Operating Result (EBIT) CHF million

– As a % of gross sales %

Net income CHF million

– As a % of gross sales %

– Change from previous year %

Cash flow from 

operating activities  CHF million

– As a % of gross sales %

Shareholders’ equity CHF million

– As a % of total assets %

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity CHF million

Personnel as at 31.12. *) Employees

Annual average Employees

Salaries and social benefits CHF million

*)  Since 2002 according to the new definition of personnel – headcount includes home workers, trainees and additional helpers.

The Swatch Group Ltd

Dividend income CHF million

Net income CHF million

Investments CHF million

Share capital CHF million

Shareholders’ equity CHF million

– As a % of total assets %

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity CHF million

Dividend *) CHF million

– As a % of nominal capital %

*) No dividend paid on own shares held by the Group.
In May 2001, repayment of 55% of the nominal share value.
In May 2005, proposal by the Board of Directors at the Annual General Meeting.

development of the group
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Breguet Blancpain Glashütte Original

Longines Rado

Jaquet Droz

Léon Hatot

Omega

Tissot ck watch & jewelry

Balmain

Swatch

Flik Flak
Endura

Hamilton CertinaMido
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www.swatch.com

TRENDS
• The 2004 Athens Olympic Games were the key event of 2004, with Swatch

being the Official Timekeeper.
• Results were up for most of Swatch’s markets, with a special mention in Europe

for Portugal, the Netherlands and Greece, and for India, China and Japan in
Asia. The USA showed encouraging positive developments.

• 2004 saw considerable growth, in high double figures again, for the Swatch
Bijoux family developed by DYB, the jewelry production company belonging to
the Swatch Group. This product line confirmed its success with excellent
performances worldwide. Growth was particularly strong in Europe and Latin
America. Swatch Bijoux sales grew steadily in Swatch boutiques, and the first
Espaces Bijoux appeared in Paris at the Megastore in the Champs-Elysées, and
in the rue de Bourg store in Lausanne.

• The distribution network also performed well: the «Jelly Fish» layout concept for
Swatch stores and the «Atlantis» shop-in-shop design met with worldwide
approval, with 60 new «Jelly Fish» stores and 250 «Atlantis» shop-in-shop
outlets. These colorful and exciting designs provided an ideal sales environ-
ment, leading to a marked increase in turnover in these new points of sale.

• The Swatch Internet site has been revamped and expanded to in-
clude new functionality. Restricted to US customers, e-commerce on
www.swatch.com/the.store saw considerable growth thanks to an increase in
its product range and improvements to the image enlargement functionality.

• The Swatch Bijoux and Swatch Skin campaigns attracted much attention
worldwide. Thanks to the models selected, the emphasis was on fashion and
sophistication.

know-how.
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NEW PRODUCTS
To celebrate a long-standing friendship and the 75th anniversary of Tintin, Swatch
embarked upon a grand venture by creating two new watches – Les Aventures
de Tintin and, in a limited edition of 9999, Happy Birthday Tintin, which re-works
a plate that originally appeared in the 30th edition of «Le Petit Vingtième», first
published in 1929.
Following the kick-off of the Dada project at the Baselworld press conference,
Swatch supported the restoration of the Cabaret Voltaire in Zurich by creating
two watches – a Swatch Gent in November 2003 and, in a limited edition of 8590,
the Swatch Turnover on March 5, 2004. The launch of this watch marked an
important milestone in the relationship between Swatch and Dada. In fact,
thanks to the significant financial involvement of the City of Zurich and Swatch,
the Cabaret Voltaire reopened its doors to the public at Spiegelgasse 1 in Zurich
on September 29, 2004.
Seven Swatch Fun Scuba watches were launched at the end of May, paying
tribute as much to the sport of diving and the underwater world as to fashion
itself. Their flamboyant colors could make even the most dazzling coral reef pale
with envy, and their functions will arouse the passion of diving enthusiasts.
As Official Timekeeper to the 2004 Athens Olympic Games, Swatch paid homage
to the white island villages, the play of light of the burning sun on the sea, and
the intense excitement of the occasion in the form of the 30 models forming the
Swatch Olympic Collection Athens 2004, alluding to the history and heritage of
Ancient Greece and the first Olympic Games of the modern era.
Leading the way once more, Swatch launched four versions of its new Swatch
Paparazzi intelligent watch on October 20 in New York. This watch allows users
to access exclusive personalized information ranging from news to leisure facts,
using MSN Direct.
November saw the appearance of the limited edition of 4000 Swatch Skin
Lustrous Bliss watches, each encrusted with 174 diamonds. The ultimate in
glamour, this model drew covetous glances from all directions, with everyone
going wild about it.
The Swatch Originals, Swatch Skin and Swatch Irony families introduced models
drawing their inspiration from fashion trends, sport and the latest technology. The
vivid colors of the movements of the three Swatch Diaphane Automatic models
caused a sensation.

Swatch Bijoux
The creativity and amazing combinations of new materials of the Spring-Summer
and Autumn-Winter 2004 collections were enthralling. A bouquet of crystal beads
for the Love Explosion White Pearls ring, a multicolored string of polymer clay
beads for the Pila family, a declaration of universal love with the Glaring ring, and
finally an allusion to the Olympic Games with the Greek Again family bearing
witness to the innovative design of the Swatch Bijoux collections. Men were also
able to appreciate this line, as a new collection dedicated specially to them saw
the light of day in 2004.
Some wonderful creations fleshed out the two exclusive 2004 collections of Via
della Spiga and Place Vendôme, available only in Milan and Paris respectively.
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PRESENCE
2004 Athens Olympic Games
The event that plainly generated the greatest excitement, clearly confirming the
global reputation of Swatch, was the company’s involvement as Official Time-
keeper of the 2004 Athens Olympic Games. This had a considerable effect on the
brand.
Situated in the historic quarter of Plaka, the Swatch Ionic Center welcomed
numerous guests, VIPs, sportsmen and women, customers, tourists and Swatch
fans throughout the Games. They all took away with them the vivid memory of the
vitality and the Swatch ambiance along Lysiou Street, which was repainted as an
athletics track for the occasion. The exhibition, which underlined Swatch’s
commitment to the arts, fashion, music and sport, was particularly well received.
On August 10, representatives from UNICEF including its Ambassador Nana
Mouskouri, famous guests such as the President of the International Olympic
Committee Dr. Jacques Rogge and the multiple Olympic medalist Carl Lewis gath-
ered to see Swatch present UNICEF with a check for USD 200 000.–. This money
was the proceeds from an auction of works of art created during the Kaleido-
scope project, and was destined for the children of Rwanda. The works of art
were displayed one final time along Lysiou Street.
Six different elements of Swatch Experience representing the Olympic disciplines
toured around the world. Several markets organized local events to communicate
the commitment of Swatch to the Olympic Games. These generated widespread
and enthusiastic public interest.

Swatch and Dada
During the night of March 5 – 6, 2004, Swatch launched the sale of the Dadazüri
at the printing works of the Neue Zürcher Zeitung (NZZ) in Schlieren. This was the
first Swatch Art Special dedicated to an artistic movement, namely the Dada
movement. Precisely 88.65027322 years after the birth of the Dada movement in
the Cabaret Voltaire at Spiegelgasse 1 in Zurich, Dada returned to its birthplace
on September 29, 2004. The Cabaret Voltaire has reopened to the public follow-
ing a period of building work and alterations. All this would not have been
possible without the support of Swatch, which committed a total of CHF 1.5 mil-
lion spread over five years.

Swatch Fun Scuba
On Ibiza at the end of May, the fun was happening at the international launch of
the Swatch Fun Scuba. In the presence of Francisco «Pipin» Ferreras, world
freediving champion, Swatch introduced to the international press seven new
watches whose charm is equally convincing on land and underwater.

Swatch FIVB BeachVolley World Tour
For the second successive year Swatch supported FIVB, the International
Volleyball Federation, taking on the role of principal partner of the Swatch FIVB
BeachVolley World Tour 2004. The technological contribution of Swatch in the
form of points counting and service speed measurement was crucial to this beach
volleyball world tour. The 2004 event was not only one of the most spectacular,
but also one of the most closely contested, since it was a qualifier for the 2004
Athens Olympic Games. Twenty remarkable stages across five continents led to
the organization of some very successful local Swatch events.

Swatch Paparazzi
In October, Swatch and Microsoft (MSN Direct Division) announced in New York
the launch of the new Paparazzi watch. National press, foreign correspondents
and VIPs gathered around the CEO of the Swatch Group, Nick Hayek Jr. and Bill
Gates for the unveiling of this technological innovation. The media response was
impressive.

SWATCH THE CLUB
Zurich, Brussels, Ibiza, Montreux, Athens…
High points and very special moments for
the members of Swatch The Club. Large
numbers of them took part in the events
organized for their benefit throughout 2004;
a vintage year, with the Olympic Games as a
bonus.
This is hardly surprising, as Swatch The Club
is a universe of freedom where members of
every socio-economic and politico-cultural
persuasion meet to share in the spirit of
Swatch, which sets its store by positive
provocation, a love of life, and a passion for
creative design. This is perfectly reflected in
the extraordinary events that the Club stages
right around the world through some unex-
pected productions. Joining the Club is dead
easy – all you have to do is purchase the
irresistible Swatch Time For A Kiss, which is
the official Club Watch 2004 – 2005, and
complete the membership coupon. Then it’s
off to those meetings right around the world,
the special offers, and the direct news from
Swatch. 
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REDUCES FRICTION, OFFERING A HIGHER
ACCURACY OVER LONGER PERIODS.
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TRENDS
• In 2004, Omega once again reinforced its position as world leader in the luxury

mechanical watchmaking segment. The brand consolidated its presence in all
markets, particularly the key market of Greater China, with the opening of three
new single-brand boutiques in Hong Kong, Guangzhou and Macao.

• Following tangible signs that the Boutique concept had been a success, Omega
opened several more, notably in Mumbai, India; Berne, the Swiss capital; and
Osaka, Japan – the country’s first.

• Particular emphasis has been placed on improving the global distribution
network for the luxury brand, including the refurbishment of existing stores, the
opening of new corners in stores, and the introduction of incentive schemes at
multi-brand points of sale.

• In terms of product development, the magnificent Omega Co-axial movement
has now found its place in each of the brand’s four main collections. It has
unequivocally established itself as the epitome of the company’s watchmaking
expertise.

• One of the year’s key events was undeniably the decision taken by the Group to
permit Omega to return to its roots in chronometry, as Official Timekeeper of the
2006 Turin Winter Olympics, the 2008 Beijing Olympic Games, and the 2010
Vancouver Winter Olympics.

• At the end of 2004, Omega was delighted to announce a significant new
partnership with Nicole Kidman in a number of selected markets in Asia. One of
the world’s most famous and well-respected film stars, Miss Kidman will be an
influential representative, helping to reinforce the brand’s reputation in these
regions.

One choice, excellency
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NEW PRODUCTS
Constellation
The Quadrella brings a completely new design into the Constellation collection for
ladies: with its rounded lines, it is mid-way between traditional models with
round cases and more modern models with square cases. The Double Eagle men’s
line has been expanded with the introduction of a new chronograph featuring the
top-of-the-range co-axial movement with column wheel. 

Seamaster
A new chronograph and an extra-large 49.2 mm version equipped with a pocket-
watch movement now supplement the Railmaster line. A new chronograph has
also been added to the Aqua Terra line, while the co-axial movement has made
its debut in the classic Seamaster James Bond watch in the form of a new GMT
model equipped with a central 24-hour hand.

Speedmaster
The launch of a special Speedmaster Professional «Moon to Mars» watch was
prompted by George W. Bush’s announcement of support for NASA’s long-term
plans for new manned missions to the moon and Mars. Limited edition Speed-
master Professional models were also produced to mark the 35th anniversary of
the first moon landing and the record seventh Formula 1 world title of the brand’s
ambassador, Michael Schumacher.

De Ville
Two special De Ville chronographs featuring co-axial escapements and bearing
the name «St. Moritz» on the dial were produced under a license recently signed
with the prestigious Swiss resort. The De Ville Byzantium, launched in 2004, is the
only men’s watch in the current standard offering of Omega collections with a
square case, and its dial features a fascinating combination of Roman and Arabic
numerals. The small second and large date versions of the De Ville Co-Axial,
available in limited editions, have also added two new co-axial calibers to the
collection.

Museum Collection 
The fifth model of the Museum Collection is a reproduction of the 1948 Centenary
watch. Produced to commemorate the 100th anniversary of Omega, the original
was already a limited edition, and was the precursor of the Constellation.

Miscellaneous
Special models included the ladies’ Aquarella watch – the bejeweled version of
an Omega pilot’s watch dating from 1938 – and the extremely prestigious skele-
ton version of the Omega Tourbillon Central. The launch of the Omega Olympic
collection should also be mentioned. This comprises four special chronograph
models with dials reminiscent of those of the Omega pocket chronographs used
during the first official timekeeping of all the Olympic events at Los Angeles in
1932.

Omega Bijoux
The Omega Bijoux collection continued to grow with the introduction of new
items in the Griffes and Omegamania lines, and the creation of the new Sedna
line. Taking its name from the planet beyond Pluto, which was discovered in 2004,
the Sedna line – whose design draws its inspiration from another heavenly body,
the star – perfectly complements the existing collection. Various events were
organized worldwide to boost sales of the Omega Bijoux collection in all markets.
These events included the launch in March of the collection by Anna Kournikova
in Singapore during a charity evening; the very first introduction of the collection
in Japan by the swimmer Ian Thorpe in November; and the Bijoux Collection’s
launch in Argentina, which was its South American debut.
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PRESENCE
Once again, Omega maintained a strong worldwide presence throughout the year. It was in the
field of sports chronometry that the brand made its chief announcement, namely its return to the
Olympic Games, with the inauguration of a giant «countdown» clock in Tiananmen Square in Bei-
jing. Throughout the year, the company has continued its tradition as official timekeeper of the
world’s most important swimming and athletics events. A significant new partnership with the
resort of St. Moritz was announced during the Omega Bobsleigh Cup in the town. This partnership
will see the brand’s involvement extend to include the official timekeeping of races on the famous
«Cresta Run» and a partnership with the ski school in St. Moritz.
Omega ambassador Anna Kournikova attended the Triple Crown endurance horseracing event in
Dubai, which represented a new promotional activity for the brand. At the beginning of the year,
an Asian version of Omega’s new publicity campaign, featuring the brand’s local ambassadors pho-
tographed by the famous fashion photographer Arthur Elgort, was launched in Beijing in the pres-
ence of Cindy Crawford. A new arrival, the superstar singer Coco Lee, joined the Asian family of
Omega ambassadors. She also attended the Omega European Masters at Crans-Montana, where
the brand was congratulated on having been able to attract some of the world’s best golfers to a
tournament which attracted very positive media coverage. It was the same story in Asia at the
Omega Hong Kong Open, which was a resounding success yet again.
In sailing, the lull before the storm of the next America’s Cup was filled by a rejuvenated Transat,
with Omega as both the official timekeeper and principal partner of this solo east-west transat-
lantic challenge. A seductive hint of adventure was added to the event by the spectacular arrival
of an intrepid Anna Kournikova on board the warship HMS Tyne, prior to her officially starting the
race. In swimming, the center of attention was of course the Olympic Games, and Omega came up
trumps shortly before this major event by signing a contract with the American swimming phenom-
enon, Michael Phelps, who won five gold medals at the 2004 Athens Olympic Games.
Omega’s more long-standing ambassadors continued to promote the brand, notably with Cindy
Crawford making her first visit to South Korea, Ernie Els winning golf’s European Order of Merit,
and Michael Schumacher leaving his opponents way behind when retaining his title of World
Formula 1 Champion by winning 13 of the season’s 18 Grands Prix.
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The epitome of European culture and art
Each year, Breguet faces the challenge of remaining the world leader in prestige horol-
ogy, epitomizing watchmaking savoir-faire, being recognized for the beauty and tech-
nology of its timepieces, and retaining the recognition of public and professionals alike.
An objective that Montres Breguet SA successfully accomplished in terms of both
excellence and innovation, experiencing an exceptional year in 2004. This was illustrat-
ed by an increase in turnover on an altogether different scale from the rest of the
upmarket watchmaking industry and also by a marked rise in sales thanks to an
increased demand by the discerning international public.
Breguet’s success can also be seen in the exemplary attention to quality in its mechanisms, its
finishes and the checking procedures for its products. Quality remains the spearhead of the brand,
ensuring its preeminence in the higher reaches of horological creativity. Mastering Grandes
Complications, developing new movements and also an unrivalled historical heritage are a
guarantee of excellence that is winning over an increasingly large audience. 

Elegance and beauty characterize the new products of 2004
The new products introduced at Baselworld 2004 show that time has in no way blunted the edge
of the genius and astuteness of the master watchmakers at Manufacture Breguet. In fact, all the
lines – Classique, Marine, Héritage, Reine de Naples and Type XXI – have been supplemented by
models that are brand new both from an esthetic and a technical point of view. Some of them ven-
ture a touch of originality or even provocation, while others try to outdo each other in terms of
understatement and elegance, proving that it is possible to combine tradition and innovation.
The Tourbillon Régulateur 5307 model, operated by a new automatic movement, stands out due to
its beauty and harmony. The result of more than four years work, this Tourbillon caliber contains
more than 300 pieces. It has a power reserve of 120 hours, a frequency of 3 Hz/s, and its 
reliability and precision make it an extraordinary timepiece.
The Marine line came to the fore once again with new models featuring a brand new movement,
innovative design and bracelet, and incorporating materials never before used at Breguet.
Imagination has been pushed to its very limits with the new version of the Reine de Naples model,
which is full of originality and enchanting extravagance.
Marking the 50th anniversary of the Type XX collection in 2004, the designers and master watch-
makers of Breguet created a model commemorating the revival of the line, Type XXI, with greatly
improved legibility thanks to the minutes totalizer operated by a second direct drive.

Breguet exhibition at St. Petersburg
The most prestigious artists and the biggest exhibition of old Breguet watches of all time came
face to face in the Hermitage Museum in Saint Petersburg in summer 2004.
In a spirit that is modern yet timeless, ceaselessly innovative yet perpetuating the intrinsic values
that define its permanence, Breguet epitomizes European culture and art. Under the leadership of
Nicolas G. Hayek, Breguet timepieces are recognized as cultural and artistic objects. The exhibi-
tion, which was organized at the Hermitage in St. Petersburg in summer 2004 thanks particularly
to the commitment of its Director General, Mr. Mikhail Piotrovsky, welcomed over one hundred
watches, as rare as they are sublime, from the Breguet Museum and private and institutional
collections throughout the world. This was a unique occasion to commemorate the century-long
links that unite Breguet and Tsarist Russia, and to pay homage to the creative vision of the brand.
In all, over 250 000 visitors were able to discover the treasures of Breguet.

Nicolas G. Hayek, Chairman and Member of the Board of
Directors of the Swatch Group and CEO of Montres Breguet,
has made it a point of honor to equip the recently expanded
Breguet factory with the best craftsmen and state-of-the-art
technology to ensure the creation of timepieces in accor-
dance with the ethos of the company and the expectations of
a clientele who are quite rightly becoming ever more
demanding. Located in the Vallée de Joux, it draws upon its
broad and extraordinary expertise, enabling it to carry out all
the stages required to produce its movements. Today’s
Breguet watches are positioned at that confluence where
traditional craftsmanship and high-tech tools work together
in harmony, elegantly expressing the passing of time.



www.breguet.com

Jiro Asada, “Tooi Tsutsuoto”, 2002

“ My watch that you see here

is a jewel made by a 

great craftsman cal led Breguet. 

It  seems that it  was once      

treasured by King Louis and  

Queen Marie-Antoinette.

It 's a real masterpiece, 

of unequal led precision. ”

Breguet .  La passion la isse des traces.

“Le  Réve i l  du  Tsar ” .  Man’s  C lass ique  a la rm wr is twatch  in  18-carat  ye l low go ld .  Se l f -w ind ing  movement

w i th  sma l l  seconds  and date .  Second t ime-zone ind icator.  S i l vered  go ld  d ia l ,  hand-engraved on  a

rose-eng ine .  Sapph i re  caseback .  Water- res is tant .

Montres Breguet SA, 1344 L’Abbaye ( Vallée de Joux ), Switzerland, tel. + 41 21 841 90 90 - www.breguet.com

Breguet Boutiques - Paris - Cannes - New York - Vienna - London
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Ladies will always have pride of place at Breguet
Masterpiece of patience, creativity and savoir-faire, each
Breguet jewel is created by hand with art and skill using the
demanding techniques of traditional watchmaking. The unique-
ness of each jewel is guaranteed by its individual serial number
as well as by the word Breguet which hallmarks each item. Only
precious and semi-precious stones meeting the highest quality
standards are selected to be fashioned into Breguet jewels.
The essence of seduction, the Reine de Naples line pays tribute
to the Breguet lady. Inspired by the first wristwatch created by
the brand’s founder for Caroline Murat, this collection, the
ultimate symbol of sophistication sparkling with sensuality and
poetry, met with a stupendous response.
Various unique items of prestige jewelry enhanced the line in
2004, including one exclusive creation: a ring set with baguette
diamonds and Columbian emerald, for which a single ray of light
is enough to make its sparkling brilliance shine.
Les Cœurs de Breguet, a timeless new collection with a
sophisticated design, sets off the semi-precious stones and the
many-colored quartz. These creations were able to strike a chord
with those in pursuit of the absolute, and also epitomize the
expertise and consummate mastery of the jewelers at DYB, the
Group’s jewelry production company, working on behalf of
Breguet.
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Visible results throughout 2004
• A significant increase in turnover (growth of well over a third) and also in

number of items sold. New markets were opened up, notably in China,
Indonesia, Kazakhstan and Jordan. The brand considerably reinforced its posi-
tion in the following regions: all of Asia, the USA and Germany (which saw a
veritable Breguet revival).

• Significant growth in the production of complicated watches. Breguet affirmed
its position as the world’s leading producer and vendor of Tourbillons. And it’s
perhaps worth a reminder that Breguet has held the patent for the invention of
the Tourbillon since 1801.

• The merger of Breguet and Manufacture (formerly Nouvelle Lémania) has fur-
ther highlighted the fundamental mission of all Breguet teams: the continuous
quest for quality and end-customer satisfaction.

• Substantial investments (in materials and software) have been approved in the
Research and Development department, where the team has been supple-
mented by the arrival of numerous master watchmakers. In-depth synergy has
also developed with the Swatch Group, and its initial effects are already 
coming to fruition, with around twenty technical innovation proposals 
currently the subject of patent applications; and over 30 projects relating to all
types of watch components currently underway.

• The creation of several exclusive models, including the reissue of the famous
watch No. 5, bears witness to the extraordinary talent of Breguet’s craftsmen
and master watchmakers. This watch, completed by Breguet in 1794 and
recently acquired at auction, has been an object of desire for over 210 years.
The challenge laid down by an illustrious head of state to Nicolas G. Hayek was
to create an identical reproduction of this exceptional watch using ancestral
watchmaking techniques. Mr. Hayek immediately accepted the challenge.
Thanks to the talent and expertise of the master watchmakers and craftsmen at
Manufacture Breguet and other Swatch Group companies, the challenge was
met convincingly.

• Under the direction of Nicolas G. Hayek, the product department has been more
creative and innovative than ever. Five new models were launched in 2004, and
a new perpetual date mechanism mounted on the famous extra-slim automatic
caliber 502 was completely revised. 

• Numerous writers have paid tribute to Breguet’s art, including Stendhal, Victor
Hugo, Balzac and Alexandre Dumas. The Japanese writer Jiro Asada was
delighted to accept an invitation to become the brand’s ambassador by
authorizing Breguet to reproduce a passage from his novel «Tooi Tsutsuoto».

• In 2004, Montres Breguet continued its partnership with the 59th Geneva Inter-
national Music Competition. At this year’s competition, which featured horn
and violin players, the Breguet Coup de Cœur Prize was awarded to Miss Ryoko
Yano. This prize was awarded in recognition of the exceptional ambience creat-
ed by the young Japanese violinist, and took the form of a chance to record a
CD with an orchestra.



www.blancpain.com

OPERATION «ONLY ONE»
On June 15, 2004, His Most Serene High-
ness Prince Albert of Monaco visited Blanc-
pain’s manufacturing base at Le Brassus in
the Swiss Vallée de Joux. As President of the
Muscular Dystrophy Association of Monaco
(AMM), he was warmly welcomed by the
brand’s president Marc A. Hayek and his
staff before being invited to create his very
own «Only One» Blancpain watch in aid of
the 2004 «Only One» charitable event which
raises money by selling unique objects creat-
ed and provided by various prestige brands.
All of the proceeds go towards combating
muscular dystrophy and funding research
into treatments aimed at providing both
therapeutic benefits and quality of life for
patients. Prince Albert of Monaco created
this unique watch applying his own person-
al tastes. He combined a Blancpain Flyback
chronograph movement with a steel case
and bracelet, plus a red dial with skeleton
hands and white luminescent hour markers.
«Only One N° 1/1 Albert Grimaldi» was
engraved on the rotor of the automatic
winding movement.
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TRENDS
• Under the leadership of Marc A. Hayek, Blancpain recorded a considerable

increase in turnover in 2004, and customer sales rose very significantly.
• All non-European markets showed an increase in sales. Very strong sales poten-

tial is anticipated in the Middle East, where the brand experienced unprece-
dented success.

• In the United States, the brand’s growth has been considerable, and the open-
ing in December of the Blancpain boutique in New York will contribute to a sig-
nificant increase in 2005. 

• The European market is doing well apart from Italy, where there has been a
slight falling off in sales.

• The creations presented at Baselworld 2004 were a huge success, with the final
results surpassing all expectations.

• Two of the brand’s timepieces achieved trade press recognition. In Madrid on
May 13, 2004, «A Tiempo» Magazine gave the Phases de Lune Anniversaire
model from the Villeret collection its Best Watch of the Year Award, and in Gene-
va, Blancpain received first prize in the «Grand Prix de l’Horlogerie de la Ville de
Genève» in November in the extra-slim watch category with its automatic
Villeret watch.

• Blancpain is continuing an advertising campaign worthy of its watchmaking art.
This campaign sums up the rich expertise of 270 years of watchmaking tradition
whilst at the same time staying within the parameters of the original concept
as embodied in the brand mission: to be the absolute reference in the compli-
cated mechanical watch segment.

• Major investments have been approved for the refurbishment of the factory at
Le Brassus, which opens its doors to the public in September 2005, marking the
270th anniversary of the Blancpain company.

The oldest watch manufacturer in the world
Mechanical watches have a soul – the soul of those generations who enabled an immense heritage of expertise to be accumulated, often passed
down from father to son. The name of Blancpain is a striking example of man’s capacity to leave behind traces of his dreams and his labors.



PRESENCE
Bocuse d’Or
Master watchmakers and master chefs both use their expertise in the service of
their art. So it is perfectly natural for the oldest watch manufacturer in the world
to associate its name with the Bocuse d’Or as the official timekeeper of Haute
Gastronomy. The Swiss Bocuse d’Or heat in Montreux on March 22, 2004 saw
Blancpain, the official timekeeper for this Haute Gastronomy event, presenting a
Flyback Chronograph from the Léman collection, specially engraved for the
occasion, to winning chef Dominique Bucher of the Hotel Restaurant Krone in
Aarberg.

Official Prix Blancpain
Supporting its commitment to the world of Arab thoroughbred horses and shar-
ing its passions for beauty, elegance and the quest for perfection, Blancpain
awarded the official Prix Blancpain at the Arab thoroughbred championships at
Menton, France on June 20, in Paris on December 5, and in Verona, Italy on July
24, 2004. The owner of the winning horse was presented with a «Chasse» watch
with double hunter, specially engraved for the occasion.

Monaco Yacht Show
Symbolizing the historic links between the brand and the ocean world, Blancpain
renewed its commitment to the Monaco Yacht Show for the fifth consecutive
year. Its presence reaffirms the brand’s deep respect for precision and beauty of
craftsmanship and its love of the sea. The Monaco Yacht Show has traditionally
given Blancpain the opportunity to unveil its most stunning creations in ideal
surroundings.

know-how
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NEW PRODUCTS
Valentine’s Day 2004 From the Villeret collection, this limited edition of 99
watches in 18-carat white gold sparkles with the radiance of the light gray
mother-of-pearl dial, diamond hour markers and a bezel set with 48 diamonds.
The center seconds hand representing Cupid’s arrow piercing a bright red heart,
is a real technological feat, given its uneven weight distribution.

Equation of time «marchante» Blancpain has created a world first – the first
wristwatch with a «running» equation of time. This means that the dial is fitted
with two coaxial minute hands, one of which indicates mean solar time, and the
other real solar time. This enables direct read-off of real solar time. The new
caliber 3863, which required several years of development, combines an auto-
matic movement with the world’s slimmest perpetual date module and a
retrograde module indicating the phases of the moon.

Tourbillon Grande Date Blancpain now has no less than seven calibers
featuring a tourbillon, but its master watchmakers are enhancing the Léman
Collection to include a new flying tourbillon caliber with automatic winding
mechanism, equipped with a large 6 o’clock date and a one-week power reserve.
This limited edition Tourbillon Grande Date reaffirms Blancpain’s supreme
mastery in the field of tourbillons.  Instantly legible, its oversized double-aperture
date and its power reserve indicator complement its hour and minute hands. 

Chronographe Monopoussoir With its Chronographe Monopoussoir, Blanc-
pain is reinventing a watchmaking classic that has become extremely rare. The
sapphire glass case back reveals the mechanism of a new 320-piece automatic
winding movement, the caliber M185. 

The Villeret model for ladies and its five interchangeable bracelets Blanc-
pain is proposing perfect harmony between woman and time with the Villeret
model for ladies, available with or without diamonds, but always with five easily
interchangeable bracelets. Underneath the dial there is an ultra-slim mechanical
movement with automatic winding mechanism, signed by Blancpain, a small
miracle of precision scarcely 3.25 millimeters thick, comprising 175 parts and
providing a 40-hour power reserve.

Monaco Yacht Show limited edition To mark the fifth year of its involvement
in the Monaco Yacht Show, Blancpain introduced an Air Command Flyback
chronograph especially inscribed in a limited edition of 150 for men and 50 for
ladies. This masterpiece is equipped with the world’s smallest and slimmest
chronograph movement with automatic winding mechanism and automatic
flyback function. Its mechanism is less than 5.5 mm thick, and includes almost
305 mechanical components, all polished, decorated and assembled by hand.



Kurt Masur
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PRESENCE
In order to expand the global presence of the Glashütte Original
luxury brand, new boutiques were opened in Cannes (France)
and Ningbo (China) in 2004. On display in the stylish surround-
ings of the Frankfurt boutique, interested visitors can also find
historic objects unique in their genre, award-winning master-
pieces and exclusive editions as well as the current collection.
Today, Glashütte has a presence in the best stores in all the key
markets in Japan, Hong Kong, Singapore, Italy, the United
States and the Middle East.

This year’s new partnership with the Dresden Music Festival
underlines the company’s cultural commitment to both prestige
horology and music. For the first time as part of the festival, the
«Saeculum – Glashütte Original – Musikfestspiel» prize was
awarded to the famous international conductor Prof. Kurt Masur
in recognition of a lifetime of musical achievement. The prize
was presented during a concert at the Dresden Opera.

TRENDS
• With the introduction of the PanoMaticChrono and its novel caliber 95, the craftsmen at the Glashütte Original watchmaking

factory are heralding a new era in intelligent automatic movements, a highly innovative concept linking a watch’s power reserve
with its wearer’s mobility.

• Since time immemorial, the Glashütte watchmaking business has been heir to a tradition of craftsmanship that it has a duty to pass
on to future generations. Following the foundation by the company, in 2001, of the Alfred Helwig School of Watchmaking, the first
class of twelve apprentice watchmakers have just graduated after three years’ training. Since last summer, a new generation of
watchmakers has been at work, following in the footsteps of the master craftsmen who came before them at Glashütte Original.

• Illustrating scenes that evoke the intense passion devoted to a Glashütte Original chronograph, the new «Handmade in Germany»
international advertising campaign highlights, either with humor or affection, the fascination and enthusiasm that customers have
for watches and watchmaking. 

• In line with the concept of watchmaking as a transparent process, the Glashütte Original factory sees itself not only as a produc-
tion workshop for precision mechanical watches, but equally as a cultural meeting place for watchmaking and art enthusiasts the
world over. The company’s imposing architectonic factory building will in future also be a venue for concerts, conferences and
exhibitions. 

NEW PRODUCTS
The master watchmakers of the German company have
developed a new masterpiece, the PanoMaticChrono. It is
characterized by an esthetic appearance whilst making no
concessions in the sphere of watchmaking innovation. This
chronograph introduces a novel interpretation of the classic
chronograph display, with the aim of improving its readability.
PanoMaticChrono opens up a completely new perspective on
watch readability. And to crown it all, thanks to its generous
dimensions and its raised position in the upper half of the
display, the chronograph’s seconds hand stands out clearly
above the finely handcrafted guilloché dial. The new caliber 95
is a masterpiece of horological art, its movement possessing
numerous innovative features. For the first time, Glashütte Orig-
inal has introduced an automatic winding mechanism with a
double-action rotor which engages a step gear. The rotor
transmits its energy to twin spring barrels. The step gear adapts
to the wearer’s different movements, ensuring a controlled
transmission of winding energy to the twin barrels. This speeds
up the winding process, and also simplifies the escapement
adjustment.
A major classic of the timeless Glashütte Original collection, the
Senator line gave a new meaning to sporty elegance in 2004.
The appearance of this enduring classic is characterized by the
strict color composition of its dial, case and leather strap. High-
ly polished, the case sets off the finely galvanized dial, giving it
a vivid matt gray color. The polished hands and hour markers
ensure excellent readability, reinforcing the sporty nature of this
classically esthetic model.

Handmade in Germany
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Creating, innovating and astonishing
TRENDS
• In 2004 Jaquet Droz generated a considerable increase in its

turnover and profitability. With a presence in Southeast Asia,
Japan, Eastern Europe, the Middle East and the United States,
Jaquet Droz has an exclusive sales network at its disposal. Its
presence and visibility have been reinforced by the creation of
corners in the most prestigious sales outlets.

• 2004 was an exceptional year for the creation of new
products. By launching its two masterpieces, the Tourbillon
Répétition Minutes and the Chrono Monopoussoir, Jaquet
Droz has confirmed its consummate mastery of grandes com-
plications and the savoir-faire of its master watchmakers.

• Thanks to its Grande Seconde model, Jaquet Droz received
numerous watchmaking prizes during 2004, including the title
of Watch of the Year, awarded by prestigious magazines in the
Netherlands and France.

• The dial craftsmen at Jaquet Droz have furnished proof of their
extraordinary talents with the concept of custom-built time-
pieces. The dials of these unique watches are enhanced with
rare minerals that are completely hand-worked.

• Its «grand feu» enameled models have enabled the Neuchâtel
watchmaking company to prove its respect for traditional
manufacturing techniques dating from the 18th century, and
its absolute mastery of a watchmaking art that is in danger of
extinction.

• Symbolizing a vision of the future, the prestige watchmaking
company is continuing to develop complications and create
exclusive models. Jaquet Droz aims to continue to astonish its
customers with its innovative contemporary products. 
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PRESENCE
The company managed to give one of the three Jaquet Droz
automata, namely the one from the Neuchâtel Museum of Art
and History, an outing to Baselworld 2004. During the event, the
«Draftsman» automaton highlighted the link between the
splendors of the 18th century and those of Jaquet Droz today.
The Jaquet Droz brand was officially launched in Portugal
during the spring at an evening in Lisbon reserved exclusively
for prestige horology collectors and connoisseurs. This event
provided the framework for the launch of the Grande Seconde
Marine model, a timepiece that pays homage to the pioneering
Portuguese mariners of the past.
Jaquet Droz has paid particular attention to its presence in sales
outlets, thanks notably to the installation of shop-in-shops in
New York, Las Vegas, Paris, Moscow, Almaty and Kuwait. 

NEW PRODUCTS
Hommage Genève 1784 The Hommage Genève 1784 line has
been expanded to include the Chronomètre Marine, following in
the tradition of the Grande Seconde. In creating this model,
whose extreme precision is certified by the COSC, Jaquet Droz
is paying homage to the intrepid navigators of the 15th century.
With the magnificent Petite Heure Minute timepiece, Jaquet
Droz is acknowledging its flagship model La Grande Seconde, by
introducing a watch with no seconds display. Available with an
ivory «grand feu» enamel dial or a slate-gray dial with applied
ring, these two variants are limited to 88 copies.

Hommage La Chaux-de-Fonds 1738 The Hommage La
Chaux-de-Fonds 1738 line, entirely devoted to exceptional time-
pieces, proudly welcomed the Tourbillon Répétition Minutes
grande complication, manufactured in a limited edition of eight.
This timepiece, with a tourbillon that is only visible via the
bottom of the case, features a minute-repeating mechanism
with two-tone chime on demand.
The Chrono Monopoussoir is a treasure trove of inventiveness. It
is the world’s first and only single-button chronograph to have a
chronograph hour timer – a rarity in itself – and an off-center
hours and minute sub-dial.
The Les Lunes complete calendar with retrograde moon phase
hand has been launched in a limited edition version of 88 with
a «grand feu» enamel dial. The Les Douze Villes Email model
with jumping hour hand was also launched during Baselworld
2004, and was extremely well received.
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Être femme

TRENDS
• Léon Hatot, currently the one and only top-

class jewelry brand exclusively dedicated to
women, is strengthening the presence of the
Swatch Group in the luxury sector. 2004 was
a year of sustained activity, with regard both
to its publicity and to its deployment in
various different markets.

• Following the opening of its first boutique in
Paris at the end of 2003, a second boutique
was opened in Cannes in May 2004. A show-
case on the legendary Croisette promenade,
this store enables jewelry collections to be
displayed in an ultra-feminine décor of
Japanese inspiration. Elsewhere, 2004 was 
a year for consolidation in the markets
opened up over the last two years, and for
developing strategic zones.

• In parallel, the brand is continuing its quest
for rarities by drawing its inspiration from the
outstanding heritage of the thousands of
original drawings and sketches bequeathed
by Léon Hatot, the universally acknowledged
designer of the Art Deco period. The result-
ing collections are imbued with creativity,
uniqueness and emotion. 

PRESENCE
During 2004, the brand made a special effort to
step up its PR activities at an international
level. Notably it organized press interviews and
lunches as well as exhibitions aimed at key
markets. In response, there have been regular
waves of publicity that have reinforced these
efforts. 
Léon Hatot has also benefited from these to
sharpen the definition of its territory by
developing publicity tools that are much more
feminine, original and exclusive, in order to
respond to the demands of female customers
who appreciate this personalized touch.

NEW PRODUCTS
Spread over three categories – Haute Joail-
lerie, Joaillerie and Bijouterie – the current
collections and their evocative names are all
characterized by an imagination as fertile as
that of the years when the work of Léon Hatot
was at its peak.
The range of Léon Hatot products was expand-
ed in 2004, notably in the Haute Joaillerie
segment with the Vertige, Éclat du soir and
Beauté du diable collections. Some sumptuous
and unique items have been created, com-
pletely set with diamonds or bearing rarer
stones such as fire opals or Mandarin garnets.
Still in the same segment, an exceptional
watch was presented at Baselworld 2004. With
its tonneau shape and outline set with dia-
monds, it mysteriously reveals the time as the
hand delicately brushes the «Coup de Foudre®»
diamond, which has pride of place in the cen-
ter of its cover arrayed in onyx and baguette
diamonds. 
Mother-of-pearl has also been in favor this
year, with an entire collection, Kimay Mystère,
featuring a skilful tracery of black or white
mother-of-pearl with floral motifs. The particu-
lar expertise of master jewelers who work with
fragile mother-of-pearl has facilitated the
advent of these delicate poetic creations. 
In the Bijouterie segment, Léon Hatot has
developed and manufactured its first watch in
steel and black mother-of-pearl, in response to
a demand in certain markets that are fond of
products with an assertive design. 
In addition to these new products, the brand
presented its classic collections: Zelia – clean-
cut, geometric and architectural; Aimay –
sapphire teardrops on a pave-set expanse of
diamonds; Mae with floral motifs of Japanese
inspiration; and Luela, with its subtle chased
curves set with diamonds, onyx and turquoises.
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Elegance is an attitude

TRENDS
• 2004 was a year to remember for Longines.

Thanks to the efforts of all of its staff and the
support provided by the Swatch Group infra-
structure and network, the brand was able to
assert itself within its segment.

• Longines reinforced its presence around the
world by regularly winning new market
shares, and was largely able to maintain its
position in 2004. The brand enjoyed sus-
tained growth in the huge Chinese market,
both in Hong Kong and Taiwan, as well as
across the key region of Southeast Asia. It
also recorded excellent results in the Middle
East and in various European markets such
as the United Kingdom, France, Spain and
Switzerland.

• With regard to new products, the brand con-
tinued to forge ahead, launching collections
and product lines that were very precisely
targeted, carrying a very powerful message
aimed at consumers right round the world.



www.longines.com know-how

swatch group  annual report 2004 35

PRESENCE
To accompany and illustrate its «Elegance is an attitude» advertising message, Longines currently
draws on a whole host of legendary stars and top celebrities from the world of arts, show business
and sport. Screen stars include Audrey Hepburn and Humphrey Bogart, the extremely popular
Indian actress Aishwarya Rai, and the Italian dancer Roberto Bolle, not to mention regional
celebrities such as Carina Lau from China and Russian actor Oleg Menshikov.
On all fronts and on every continent, these ambassadors of Longines’ elegance made a vital
contribution to publicizing the models introduced by Longines during 2004. In addition to these
icons of elegance, one should also mention the local personalities who have demonstrated their
elegance and commitment to the brand around the world by honoring events with their presence.
For the first time in its history, Longines was present at the Locarno International Film Festival in
Switzerland, where it awarded the first Longines Leopard of Honor and was assisted by Oleg
Menshikov, Sean Ferrer, the son of Audrey Hepburn, Markus Fuchs and various other personalities. 
During the course of 2004, Longines opened three new showrooms entirely devoted to elegance –
in Dubai (United Arab Emirates), and at Hangzhou and Dalian in China, with the help of the actress
Carina Lau. 

Longines and gymnastics The Russian athletes and ambassadors Alina Kabaeva and Svetlana
Khorkina contributed to the success and promotion of Longines elegance. The brand was involved
(in timekeeping and managing computer data) at the European Men’s Artistic Gymnastics
Championships in Ljubljana, Slovenia, and at the European Women’s Artistic Gymnastics Cham-
pionships in Amsterdam, Holland, in the presence of Svetlana Khorkina, who won a gold and a
bronze medal. Longines also benefited from the presence of Alina Kabaeva at the European
Rhythmic Gymnastics Championships in Kiev (Ukraine), where she was awarded no less than seven
gold medals. Of course the brand was also present at the 2004 Athens Olympic Games, with
Markus Fuchs and its two gymnast ambassadors, who won respectively two gold medals (Alina
Kabaeva), and one silver and one bronze (Svetlana Khorkina). In the final of the Rhythmic
Gymnastics World Cup in Moscow, Alina Kabaeva was awarded two gold medals. The brand was
also present at the final of the Artistic Gymnastics World Cup in the British city of Birmingham.

Longines and horse riding With regard to equestrianism (timekeeping and managing computer
data), Longines was able to draw throughout the year on the presence and personality of its
ambassadors, the Swiss rider Markus Fuchs and the two talented youngsters Maryline Vorpe and
Jane Richard. Efforts were once again directed towards the Super League meetings, with the
launch of the Longines Prize for Elegance, awarded in 2004 to Pilar Lucrecia Cordon Muro of Spain
on Haut de Val, and Juan-Carlos Garcia (Italy) riding Albin III. Longines notably made its presence
and its sense of elegance felt at the Piazza di Siena CSIO in Rome (Italy), the Swiss CSIO in Lucerne
(Switzerland), the Longines Royal International Horse Show at Hickstead (UK) and the Barcelona
CSIO in Spain. Last but not least, Longines also attended the Sydney and Melbourne Spring 
Racing Carnival in Australia.

NEW PRODUCTS
Longines evidenza The studied lines of its discreetly arched tonneau case are the hallmark of an
uncompromising watch that continues to attract a clientele fond of eloquent objects. Its 
inspiration is taken from the crazy carefree years of the early twentieth century, reminiscent of the
esthetic revolutions that changed the face of arts and crafts. 
The Longines Olympic Collection Aimed at admirers of the Olympic movement and top-level
sport, the two finely crafted chronographs that comprise The Longines Olympic Collection are a
reminder of the love affair and the great respect that have existed between Longines and the
world’s top athletes for over 125 years, and which show no signs of disappearing.
Longines LungoMare In this collection, Longines brings back memories of the art deco charm of
one of its successful 1930s watches. Available in ladies’, midsize and men’s versions, the Longines
LungoMare, which is water-resistant to 100 meters, draws on a contemporary esthetic 
vocabulary to express the expectations of the new generation and their stylish yet relaxed
universe.
The arrival of the Longines DolceVita Maxi chronograph and the large-sized Grande Classique de
Longines were welcomed by consumers, and the ladies amongst them were able to appreciate the
three dazzling jewel-watches that now enhance the Les Elégantes de Longines collection.
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TRENDS
• 2004 was a magnificent year for Rado, which reported the

best results in its history. The positive trend experienced
during the last quarter of 2003 was confirmed, and continued
during the whole of the period under review. This was
achieved despite the negative effects of the exchange rate,
and the recurrence of production bottlenecks caused by the
very high demand for the new products which were success-
fully launched in 2004.

• The intensive marketing undertaken by Rado throughout the
period enabled it to increase its turnover in English-speaking
countries, notably the US, Great Britain and Australia. At the
same time, a gratifying increase in the demand for Rado
watches was noted in the Benelux countries, Scandinavia,
Taiwan and Mexico.

• Rado’s strong position in the Middle East and the Indian 
sub-continent has allowed it to record substantial growth in
these regions, despite their political instability. In China, the
brand has continued to consolidate its strong position in the
marketplace, and this strategy will yield its full benefits in
2005. Finally, Rado’s turnover is showing massive growth in
Eastern Europe and Thailand.

• The improvements to distribution systems introduced in
Germany, Italy, Korea, and Brazil promise good results in the
future. 

NEW PRODUCTS
Sintra – Undoubtedly the fastest growing product range, the
Sintra line has attracted consumers particularly with its top-of-
the-range diamond Jubilé models. This has revitalized the image
of the Rado brand in the ladies’ watch sector.
In the context of Rado’s 20 years’ presence in the world of
tennis, various chronograph models have been launched to
reinforce the brand’s sporting image. One of these models has
an automatic movement, fulfilling the demand for mechanical
models expressed in numerous markets.

Integral – The Integral line has enjoyed ongoing success. Now,
for the first time, Rado has added a chronograph model, for
which market demand has far exceeded expectations.

V10K – «The hardest watch in the world» (a fact confirmed by
the Guinness Book of Records) was successfully launched in
2004. Its launch in targeted markets attracted a very favorable
media response – in fact, it was an out-and-out success. The
surprising feature of this watch is that its surface is as rigid as
a diamond: in fact, it has the hardness measurement of a
diamond (Vickers hardness 10 000).

Florence – This fast-growing line has been largely responsible
for the increase in unit sales at Rado.

Different in materials and in form
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PRESENCE
Clearly, 2004 will be remembered as the 20th

anniversary of Rado’s involvement in tennis.
Rado’s strong media presence was much
reported, with numerous activities linked to
the Australian, Shanghai, Peking, and French
Opens, as well as other top ATP and WTA tour-
naments worldwide.
Rado has focused on its regional ambassadors
by increasing their involvement at an inter-
national level. They have been able, through-
out the year, to markedly raise the emotional
impact of the brand during targeted promo-
tional events. Among these, we should
mention the singer Kris Fei in China and the
US; Rachel Tan, Miss China International
2003/2004 in Southeast Asia; the Russian
actress and director Renata Litvinova in East-
ern Europe; Rebecca Weinberg, the famous
costume designer of the TV series «Sex and the
City» in North America; and the Bollywood
actress Lisa Ray in India and the Middle East.
Elsewhere, a large-scale billboard campaign
successfully supported the brand’s numerous
media appearances worldwide.
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TRENDS
• In 2004, Tissot continued to forge onwards and upwards with dynamism and passion, consolidating its position as

volume leader in the traditional Swiss watchmaking industry.
• 2004 will be remembered as a year of achievements, rich in watchmaking creation and innovation, with some

successful major product launches. It was also a year that illustrated the unfailing commitment of Tissot’s entire
management and staff to their brand and its winning strategy, both at Le Locle and elsewhere. 

• In 2004, Tissot was conspicuous by its growing presence and its evident desire to continue its sporting
partnerships at a global level (with the world championships in ice hockey, fencing, cycling and supercross GP).

PRESENCE
Supercross GP has won a special place in Tissot’s heart around the world, and the entire company is resonating to
the rhythm of the World Championship. Retailers and clients too are becoming more and more enthralled by the
races and their results, particularly since the Pole Position Prize is being awarded by a representative of Tissot on
the eve of each Grand Prix. During the impressive Supercross GP concluding evening in Valencia (Spain), the
President of Tissot was able to present the Pole of Poles Award yet again to Valentino Rossi. 
Champion footballer Michael Owen, a Tissot ambassador since 1998, has continued his successful career by joining
FC Real Madrid, leading to increased interest in the limited series of Michael Owen watches.
A new publicity campaign links the brand to the Italian actress Rossella Brescia who wears a «lady burglar» outfit
for the occasion and launches the slogan «Tissot, can you resist it?» The watch collection in the advertisement is
jealously guarded by a high security system worthy of a major Hollywood production. The magazine campaign takes
up this theme, and features the brand’s leading products against a background of protective lasers. The same is true
of the design of the shop-in-shops presented at Baselworld 2004. This features a safe, inspired by the bezel of the
T-Touch, which has since been installed in the first Tissot boutique in Hong Kong, located within the prestigious Time
Square shopping complex. 

NEW PRODUCTS
With its roots in two-wheeled sports, the T-Race draws its inspiration largely from the worlds of cycling and
motorcycling, and has taken its natural place as the official watch of Supercross GP. Its bezel is reminiscent of a disk
brake, its crown is protected by a brake shoe and the brand-new material of its case – based on carbon fiber and
solid 316 L steel – strongly alludes to the universe of motorcycle builders. The range has been enhanced by a
limited-edition 2004 Athens Olympic Games series, as Tissot was an Official Partner at the last Summer Olympics.
The PRS 516 is a revitalized replica of the famous watch PR 516 launched in 1966, whose design and strap with
holes have since been widely re-worked by other watchmaking brands. The new PRS 516 is an automatic version
with a brand-new transparent base that reveals a weight in the shape of a cut-out steering wheel from a 1960s
sports car. 
In the Trend range, the Bascule model has caused a minor revolution, with a new exclusive patent application of
the same name.  
In light of the success in 2001 of its Porto model, which took its inspiration from a model created in 1916, the brand
has launched a new chronograph version on the market. The two examples, with brown or black leather, have
confirmed the success of shaped watches, notably those with a tonneau shape.
In the very feminine tradition of the T-Collection, the T-Facet and T-Mini-Squares toyed with the subject of geometry
and clean-cut lines. As an added little luxury, each watch comes with a matching jewel bracelet.
The Cocktail watch is a blend of the traditional and the modern. This discreet watch has seduced customers thanks
to its bangle bracelet and its soft, oval feminine shape.
With BellflHour, Tissot is continuing its tradition of setting precious stones in steel. From the small brilliant on the
bracelet of the Cocktail watch to a luxurious paving of 132 diamonds totaling 0.6 carat, Tissot provides its lady
customers with a whole range of watches with both precious (diamonds and blue sapphires) and semi-precious
(orange spessartite) stones. But it is indisputably the Precious Flower collection that created a sensation with its
patent bezel in the shape of petals set with a choice of rubies, sapphires and/or diamonds.
Tissot’s 18-carat gold watches, such as the Rapunzel model, reminiscent of the princess of that name with its
bracelet braided in strands of yellow or three-colored gold, demonstrate the brand’s creative strength and its desire
to transmit its unique values from generation to generation. The same can be said of the Carson automatic model
in 18-carat gold, which is available at a very reasonable price.
An amazing collection of traveling clocks and table clocks, the T-Pockets, with a very contemporary design and alarm
function, has been added to the pocket-watch range (established in 1853). Available in a small size, these miniature
clocks make delightful necklaces.
The St Petersbourg watch alludes to the splendid time Tissot experienced in Russia. The item numbered N°1/300,
which proudly bears the arms of Peter the Great, was handed to the curator of the Hermitage Museum by the
President of Tissot, François Thiébaud, during the city’s 300th anniversary celebrations.
Last but not least, true to its slogan «Innovators by tradition», Tissot joined forces with Microsoft to introduce the
High-T, a product combining tactile technology and Swiss watchmaking with the services of MSNDirect. This
product is initially only available in the US.
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TRENDS
• ck watch successfully reached a new and important milestone

in 2004. Having hauled itself to the top of one of the most
competitive segments in the watchmaking industry, that of 
the fashion watch bearing the prestigious «Swiss made» label,
the brand launched its first jewelry collection last April. 
Taking advantage of existing production and distribution infra-
structures, this was a logical move for a brand as closely
linked to the Lifestyle world as Calvin Klein.

• Retaining the dynamism and fresh approach that have
secured its success over the last seven years, the brand
remains first and foremost attached to the idea that beauty
and quality should also be affordable. The brand has con-
tinuously remodeled its range, in turn introducing new models
and reinterpreting its classics with a restrained audacity.

• With a presence in over 60 markets, ck watch & jewelry is now
benefiting from the synergy generated by the introduction of
its jewelry line to develop a new concept of shop-in-shops.
This approach enables the two collections to be displayed side
by side in a personalized environment that remains faithful to
the brand’s message. The implementation of these shop-
in-shop areas has already begun, notably in Asia, and will
continue in 2005 in line with an ambitious schedule.

Introducing jewelry – restrained yet audacious
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PRESENCE
Initially unveiled at a preview at the Peggy Guggenheim
Museum in Venice, the ck jewelry collection subsequently had
its official launch during Baselworld 2004. Since then, the
collection has been on show at numerous events in different
world capitals that have brought together the press and key
partners of the brand. 
The top international model Natalia Vodianova added her
elegance to the «introducing jewelry» campaign, with sensual
images that reflect the brand’s modern image and illustrate the
clear flowing spirit of this first jewelry collection. 

NEW PRODUCTS
Aware of its multiple identities, ck watch & jewelry enjoys
knowingly mixing its genres. Fashion, watches and jewelry.
Timepieces, accessories or adornment. Above all, the brand is
striving to create a unique world and a coherent image with
which consumers can identify.
Its new watches may have retained a sense of the essential, but
this has not prevented them from displaying a pioneering spirit.
You only have to look at ck flash and ck suspension – a delicate
balance between audacity and purity; or ck bold square and 
ck challenge – a subtle combination of sophistication and
functionality.
The first jewelry collection draws its inspiration from the playful
spirit of the yoyo, borrowing from it the idea of movement,
curves, and simplicity. It can be summed up as shapely sculp-
tural steel curves given depth by the use of polished steel, the
brilliance of diamonds and clear glass. 
Finally, there was a need for an exclusive collection to bring
together watches and jewelry. Exclusively displayed at the
inauguration of Baselworld 2004, the cosmic line consists of
eight unique items completely paved with black diamonds that
are illuminated by the presence of amethysts, pink sapphires
and garnets – a starlit heaven.
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TRENDS
• Success right across the board for Balmain. Following the full effects of its

repositioning, the brand recorded spectacular double-figure growth not only in
number of items sold, but also in value. The brand’s strategy of selling products
at very attractive price levels whilst maintaining the criteria of quality and
esthetics associated with Swiss made has proved to be well founded. Demand
for its products is constantly increasing.

• The markets that saw the biggest rise in sales were the Middle East,
Switzerland, Belgium, Russia and Singapore. Demand continues to rise, and the
steps that have already been agreed in these five markets will be further
emphasized.

• One of the bases for this spectacular success is the fantastic response generat-
ed by both the men’s and ladies’ Balmain Arabesques Chrono models.

• Balmain’s arabesque dials, with their elegant and timeless design, are proving
attractive without a shadow of a doubt. Balmain has therefore positioned its
arabesque products and its Balmain red at the heart of its publicity. So much so
that, in 2004, the visibility and elegance of this new image have been greatly
appreciated everywhere.

PRESENCE
Redesigning its stand at Baselworld 2004, the main event of the year for Balmain,
the company firmly showed its colors. Throughout the entire year, it carried out a
huge media campaign in all its markets. The results of this clearly demonstrate
that the new image has been a great success with the public.
In the Far East, notably in Singapore and in Malaysia, the brand benefited from a
top-class partnership with its ambassador Siew Lin, the famous film star who is
immensely popular with young people in Asia.

NEW PRODUCTS
Amphora
The Amphora collection met with a fantastic welcome at Baselworld 2004. The
hour and minute model, with its boldly designed case in the form of a stylized
amphora, its guilloche ornamentation and its fresh shape, paved the way for the
Amphora Chrono version, launched in the course of the summer. Optionally set
with diamonds, and with either a mother-of-pearl or an arabesque dial, this
model has created a sensation, with its quality being appreciated by ladies and
men alike.

Elypsa Chrono
Large, opulent and extreme. This new chronograph model for ladies and men is
sporty and uncompromising, thanks to its domed crystal and dial. What’s more,
the Elypsa Chrono bears the hallmarks of Balmain – the arabesque dial with
Roman or Arabic numerals and marked with diamonds if so desired. 

Miss Balmain Arcade
A sonnet to femininity, the Miss Balmain Arcade displays its barrel shape with
finesse and subtlety. With its magnificent dynamism and stunning glimpse of a
modern city girl – leading the pack, despite her laid-back air – Miss Balmain
Arcade is still streets ahead when it comes to setting trends.

Miss Balmain Strada
With its unusually soft, sensuous curves, Miss Balmain Strada perfectly comple-
ments the glamorous, ultra-feminine aspect of its wearer. The Balmain designers
have ventured to create a spectacular new shape, and the result is absolutely
magnificent.
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TRENDS
• 2004 was a significant year for Hamilton, as it ended with considerable growth

for the brand in all its major markets around the world. 
• With the launch of several new product lines in 2004, the Khaki Collection

maintained its strong position in European markets, as well as showing
noteworthy growth in the United States and Asia.

• Hamilton launched its new look campaign, introducing new publicity visuals as
well as a new environment in its sales outlets. The campaign’s central theme
reinforces the American heritage and spirit of the brand, depicting positive
emotions of the fifties and sixties. At the same time, Hamilton also remodeled
its website.

• Throughout 2004, Hamilton strengthened its place among the stars of the big
screen. Its relationship with the Hollywood community has enabled it to play a
key role in various major events within the film industry, as well as at various
points of sale worldwide. Being featured in over a dozen films per year demon-
strates its special position among movie celebrities. The brand also took part in
the San Sebastian Film Festival in Spain, as well as the American Film Festival
in Deauville, France.

PRESENCE
In November 2004 Hamilton, in collaboration with «Première» magazine, organi-
zed the Timeless Style Awards in Los Angeles (USA) for the second year running.
These awards honor the top film stylists and costume designers. The ceremony
brought together a select band of Hollywood celebrities, directors, scriptwriters
and producers, who paid tribute to the winning stylists, the American Colleen
Atwood («Chicago», «Sleepy Hollow», «Big Fish»), and the Australian Ngila
Dickson («Lord of the Rings», «The Last Samurai»). This event generated 
extensive media coverage right around the world.
The amazing consumer catalogue «The Hamilton Tribune», published by Hamilton,
was a star in its own right at Baselworld 2004. It was distributed by newspaper
boys in the exhibition halls and on the streets of Basel. All the Hamilton markets
have distributed it as a tool to promote the brand to clients via magazine inserts
or at fairs and special events such as the Fashion Week in New York City.

NEW PRODUCTS
The Hamilton Khaki Navy GMT diving watch was by far the biggest success of
2004. In addition to being water-resistant to a depth of 200 m, the Khaki Navy
GMT is capable of showing the time in two different time zones on dry land. A
total of 24 cities on or near the ocean are available for selection for the second
time zone.
Khaki King is the ultimate illustration of Hamilton’s long tradition of military
watch production. This 40 mm model disguises its toughness in an elegant
brushed-steel case with a newly designed dial.
In 2004, Hamilton enlarged its American Classic family with the new Trent line,
which takes its inspiration from a 1955 Hamilton model, adopting its distinctive
rectangular shape. Four versions are available: quartz, automatic, moon phase
quartz and chrono quartz.
The world’s first electric watch (launched in 1957), the Ventura has reinforced its
position globally. It owes its success this year to a new model set with diamonds,
the Ventura Diamond.

American heritage and spirit
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TRENDS
• 2004 was a good year for the brand. Its existing markets were strengthened,

and distribution was expanded to cover three additional countries.
• On the American continent, Mido once again achieved double-figure growth 

in Mexico, its biggest market. However, the local currency, the peso, again 
lost value against the Swiss franc. In Brazil, sales have slowed in line with
expectations, a fact also due to infrastructure changes. The results in Asia are
encouraging, and show a very positive rising curve for 2005, particularly in
China, where the brand has opened its first boutiques. The same positive
observation can be made for Mido’s European markets.

• With regard to publicity, the brand continued to focus on the All Dial line, which
best encapsulates the values of Mido, underlining its distinctive appearance.

• Its product development philosophy – an exclusive, timeless design, mechani-
cal movements and perfect water-resistance – has been applied right across
the board with the launch in 2004 of various new models in the Baroncelli and
Multifort collections.

PRESENCE
With its All Dial watch, Mido has created not only a product with exclusive
esthetic credentials, but also one that conveys a unique message. In its
«Reflecting on time» campaign, Mido unveils the source of inspiration behind the
design of the Mido All Dial – the Coliseum at Rome. This message has been
conveyed not only through traditional advertising channels, but also by touring
exhibitions in shopping centers and by special displays in specialist watch stores.
In 2004, Mido continued to strengthen its presence in sales outlets. Numerous
new store windows and displays have been set up, and the first boutiques have
opened in China.
The arrival of Mido on the Taiwanese market gave rise to a successful presenta-
tion of the brand and its products to the press in November. Moreover, 2004 saw
Mido expanding its distribution to include two new countries, Panama and
Romania.

NEW PRODUCTS
In the classic watch segment, the Baroncelli collection was expanded at the
beginning of 2004 to include models featuring the flat automatic caliber 2892.
Just like the existing mechanical winding versions, the new models are
distinguished by their timelessly elegant dials and the slimness of their cases.
In 2004, Mido put a clear emphasis on the Multifort collection, which is
synonymous with retro design. The exclusive shape of the cases of the Multifort
Lady line bears witness to the brand’s desire to arouse the passion of ladies for
automatic watches. Adorned with diamonds, two-tone or gold-plated, these
models will leave no desire unsatisfied.
A masculine watch styled on a television screen and featuring a solid steel
bracelet, the Multifort Rectangular is appreciated by those who admire its
automatic winding movement, which is visible through its transparent base.

Reflecting on time
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TRENDS
• 2004 once again confirmed the excellent value for money of Certina models,

which was greatly appreciated by end consumers. The mid-price sporty Swiss
brand was able to strengthen its position in its principal markets. Whilst already
having an established presence in the Scandinavian and Swiss markets, 
Certina succeeded in winning other significant market shares.

• Thanks to some basic groundwork on its distribution network, the brand made
good progress in Spain and Germany, and anticipates being able to continue
this trend in these high-potential markets.

• The increase in turnover seen in Eastern Europe, particularly in Russia, bodes
well for the future.

• Although it is primarily a European brand, Certina strengthened its position in
the Middle East, and continued its expansion in Asian markets. 

PRESENCE
With regard to publicity, Certina has continuously improved its presence and
visibility in sales outlets. The special window displays for new product launches
and for sponsorship events have received a very positive response.
The mid-price sporty Swiss brand par excellence, Certina has strengthened 
its partnerships with various sports stars. In line with its commitments in the
world of motor sports, Certina has equipped famous sportsmen such as Sete
Gibernau, undisputed challenger of Valentino Rossi in the World Supercross GP
Championships, Thomas Lüthi, and Petter Solberg, 2003 World Rally Champion.
Another sport that attracts much media coverage has enabled the brand to
expand in countries such as Spain and Greece. In these regions, basketball is
without a doubt one of the sports with the largest number of spectators that also
has a positive image of elegance, precision and dynamism. These tie in perfectly
with the philosophy of the Certina brand.

NEW PRODUCTS
Certina is undoubtedly master of the oceans with the DS 3 1000 m, a reissue of
the 1970 model, limited to 1888 copies. Certified waterproof to 1000 meters, this
automatic watch meets the highest requirements of marine exploration and
water sports enthusiasts.
With the introduction of a collection exclusively for ladies, Certina is demonstrat-
ing its ability perfectly to reflect the spirit embodied in today’s woman – classic
and yet sporty. The DS Donna unquestionably conjures up the joint pleasures of
action and elegance.
This collection for men demonstrates the brand’s desire to take the esthetic
criteria of its timepieces to their ultimate limits. Exceptional value for money, the
DS Podium line, whose spearhead is undoubtedly a chronograph with tacho-
meter, is the result of innovative inspiration in a classic sporty style.
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TRENDS
• 2004 was a very steady year for Flik Flak, the Swiss watch for

children.
• Throughout the year, the brand concentrated on promoting

learning to tell the time using its unique educational
approach.

• Since being given their new look, the two characters Flik and
Flak, who are seeing who can be the first to learn to tell the
time, seem to have «grown up» somewhat, and have become
engaging playmates for five to ten-year-olds.

PRESENCE
2004 was marked by Flik Flak’s rewarding
collaboration with the Warner Bros. entertain-
ment company. For the launch of its new
Powerpuff Girls and Dexter collections, Flik
Flak organized an extraordinary event in Milan
which was devoted to children. The inter-
national press, and the Italian celebrities who
attended along with their children, all had a
fantastic time together. The event was a huge
success, with much media coverage.

After the restructuring of its operations and the relocation to Le
Locle, in the Swiss Jura mountains, Endura has continued its
activity focusing on one main axis, the watches for advertising
and promotional purposes. The signs that the renewal will pay
off are promising.
In Japan, for example, Endura set a record with its best sales
results since its arrival on this market in 1993. It registered great
success in the promotional and incentive market, thanks to its
excellent quality and attractive prices.

NEW PRODUCTS
Happy Days and Fun Collection
All the models in Flik Flak’s lively Happy Days and Fun collections show aspects
of the land, the sea and the sky, with the specific intention of making children
smile. The Flik Flak collections take them on a voyage of adventure, inviting them
to explore life’s different dimensions.

Powerpuff Girls and Dexter’s Laboratory
Flik Flak has launched two brand new themed collections devoted to the famous
stars of the Cartoon Network, The Powerpuff GirlsTM and Dexter, from the TV
cartoon series Dexter’s LaboratoryTM. These watches enable children to take their
favorite cartoon characters with them wherever they go. They help to raise the
children’s awareness of the time thanks to the fun learning concept that the
brand has developed.

For children only
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SWATCH GROUP LES BOUTIQUES

Swatch Group Les Boutiques made good progress in 2004, in terms of both activity and results. The
company developed and rolled out new store concepts for the Tourbillon Boutiques – the points of
sale combining the products of the Group’s luxury and top-of-the-range brands – and for its
Swatch Stores, the stores of the Swatch brand in Switzerland.
Swatch Group Les Boutiques also converted the old Columna boutique in Berne to an Omega
Boutique, a new showcase for the brand at number 4 Spitalgasse.

Swatch Stores
As part of the Swatch store renovation program, the Lucerne point of sale has been refitted with
the Jelly Fish design, whilst the Shopville store in Zurich has been designed on the Atlantis model.
At Lausanne, the Swatch Bijoux outlet, reserved specifically for this product line, lived up to expec-
tations with some excellent results. Two touring stores also saw the light of day: the first during
the Montreux Jazz Festival, and the second in Zurich during the Olympic Games. Numerous events,
including the «Swatch Experience» and the launch of the Skin Diamond Lustrous Bliss at the 
«Be the star of the night» evening, contributed to the network’s activities.

Tourbillon Boutiques
Sales from the network of multibrand shops owned by the Group increased significantly,
particularly benefiting from the effects of the commercial strategy implemented in 2003. The
strengthening of exterior branding, close collaboration with brands, the organization of various
client events and the professionalism of the sales teams played a large part in achieving these
results, and led to significantly more people visiting the stores.
The group currently has five stores in full operation, with a splendid boutique being opened in
Porto Cervo, Sardinia during the year. A new sales exhibition experience organized by Tourbillon at
the Palace Hotel in Gstaad concluded the year, also adding to the network’s dynamism.

As part of its international retail expansion, the Swatch Group acquired a network of six watch and
jewelry boutiques at Roissy Charles-de-Gaulle airport in Paris, France. Created with the aim of
exploiting the exclusive sales of watches and jewelry at five of the seven terminals that comprise
this major European air hub, the Tech Airport company is responsible for product sales of Swatch,
Flik Flak, ck watch, Tissot, Rado, Longines, Hamilton, Mido and Certina, as well as Omega and
Blancpain. In addition to watches, Tech Airport is also becoming a showcase of choice in the
jewelry segment, with collections from Swatch bijoux, ck bijoux, Omega and Léon Hatot.
These points of sale are currently being redesigned to create selling environments aimed at an
extremely specific and demanding clientele.
This multi-brand experience, which has been tested in the airport sector and has proved to be
extremely successful, is due to be expanded in the near future.
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DYB Sertissage
The first full year of operation of Swatch’s jewel-setting competence center following its integration into the DYB
company went well for all concerned, with a particular emphasis being placed on quality and precision. Consisting
both of high-flying jewelers and of product managers who are creating strong links with the Group’s brands, DYB
Sertissage has shown great energy in contributing to the creation of the exceptional items of jewelry – like the
Reine de Naples by Breguet – in its workshops. In this way, DYB Sertissage has been able to establish itself within
the company.

DYB Gems
The DYB Gems unit is made up of gem specialists – experts trained in the world’s most prestigious institutes and
laboratories – who lend their strong skills in gemology and their in-depth knowledge of the markets supplying dia-
monds and other precious, semi-precious and ornamental stones to the Swatch Group. The role of these specialists
is to provide a service to the brands by purchasing the Group’s complete gem requirements.
DYB Gems works to the most stringent standards, guaranteeing the quality of the precious stones used across the
Group.

Swatch Bijoux
Overflowing with imagination, shapes and colors, the spring-summer and autumn-winter 2004 collections displayed
intriguing creativity and amazing combinations of new materials. A bouquet of crystal beads for the Love Explosion
White Pearls ring, a multicolored string of polymer clay beads for the Pila family, a declaration of universal love with
the Glaring ring, and even the jewels developed and produced especially for the 2004 Athens Olympic Games with
the Greek Again family bear witness to the innovative design of the Swatch Bijoux collections. Men have 
particularly appreciated the appearance of cufflinks and rings specially designed for them.

Omega Bijoux
With its overtones of Inuit legends and mythology, Sedna, Omega’s new jewelry line, uses only precious materials
such as gray, yellow and pink gold, set with diamonds of the highest quality. These products have enabled Omega
to enter the extremely exclusive world of upmarket jewelry. They have lived up to their reputation as products that
are sought-after and admired, as much for their exceptional value for money as for their distinctive originality.

DYB – DRESS YOUR BODY

At Dress Your Body (DYB) – the designer and
producer of gems, jewelry and prestige
jewelry for the Swatch Group – 2004 was a
very busy year. Creations emanating from its
various workshops succeeded in attracting
end consumers, and met with a resounding
success.
Jewelry for men made a prominent debut in
the collections of the brands that make use
of DYB’s services for the creation of jewelry
and ornaments and, given its success, is
here to stay. Another notable fact is that in
less than six months DYB was able to
conceive, design and produce the inaugural
lines of the ck jewelry collection, which was
highly praised in all the markets in which it
was launched.
In light of the dimensions that this new
activity is taking on within the Group, and
the undeniable need for expansion that is
manifesting itself in DYB, the Swatch Group
plans to set up a single production center for
gems and jewelry in the commune of
Corcelles-Cormondrèche on the site of one of
its old factories, with the option of expand-
ing onto an adjacent plot of land located in
the commune of Auvernier. The go-ahead for
construction should be given some time in
2005, once the Group obtains final planning
permission from the local and district
authorities in Neuchâtel.
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The two existing lines – Griffes, inspired by the famous claws of the Omega Constellation watch, and Omegamania,
inspired by the Omega logo – strengthen the credibility of both DYB and Omega Bijoux in a field where rapidly
expanding competition is stimulating the brand’s creativity in the numerous different markets where it is present.

Haute Joaillerie Breguet
In 2004, DYB created new masterpieces that highlight the expertise and savoir-faire of its master jewelers, setters
and precious stone specialists. Everyone, from designers to final polishers, devotes their artistic skills to creating
these jewels. The mastery of their trade is evident in the new items that have recently been added to the Reine de
Naples line, notably rings, pendants and earrings. Other items of prestige jewelry have been added to the Breguet
line, including a ring set with baguette diamonds with a Columbian emerald. Lastly, Les Cœurs de Breguet, a time-
less new collection with a sophisticated design, brings to life the brilliance of semi-precious stones and many-
colored quartz. These creations were able to strike a chord with a public in pursuit of the absolute, and also
epitomize the expertise and consummate mastery of the jewelers at DYB, the Group’s jewelry production company,
working on behalf of Breguet.

Léon Hatot – Être femme
By bringing to life jewels conceived by the master jeweler Léon Hatot and his designers one hundred years ago, DYB
is highlighting the heritage of the Léon Hatot brand with its 5000 original drawings, which are an inexhaustible
source of inspiration. 
The focus in 2004 was on prestige jewelry, with the manufacture of some exceptional creations. La Beauté du 
diable and l’Éclat du soir make use of the magical associations of gold and precious stones, diamonds, or
flamboyant fire opals.
In the jewelry range, two new collections have been added to those that already exist: Kimay Mystère, a floral
composition of mother-of-pearl and diamonds, whose soft motifs are reminiscent of the Far East, and the delicious
swirling motion evoked by the exclusive Vertige collection of pendant, ring and earrings, making any woman want
to dance. 
Thanks to expertise in the traditional jewelry trades and an ongoing quest for quality, DYB is playing its part in the
blossoming of the Léon Hatot brand. 

ck jewelry
With the advent of the new ck jewelry collection, DYB has demonstrated the sensitivity of its craftsmen. Created in
stainless steel and decorated with diamonds or crystal, or even coated with resin, ck jewelry is incisive, energetic,
bold, silky and contemporary. With their luminous simplicity, the inaugural lines of the ck jewelry collection – ck
yoyo, ck liquid, ck precious and ck ellipse – are four identities true to the essential spirit of the American designer
Calvin Klein, and already show the markings of a unique style.
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ETA SA
MANUFACTURE HORLOGÈRE SUISSE

Evolution of the watch movement market
The situation in the market for Swiss-made movements, which is fiercely defend-
ed and supported by ETA, developed in line with forecasts, ending the fiscal year
even more favorably than had been anticipated in the middle of 2004. Following
Baselworld 2004, certain product lines even showed a marked increase, which
was also due to the implementation of a new logistics system that enables
deliveries to be made to extremely tight timescales. So much so, in fact, that 
this increased delivery capacity has made ETA a manufacturer of choice in the 
market, and has won it new clients.
The decision by Swatch Group to cease deliveries of blanks to third parties has
been the subject of a competition inquiry. In November, the Swiss Competition
Commission (Comco) published its report and proposed an amiable agreement,
which the various parties accepted. ETA will continue to deliver blanks (non-
assembled movements) in reduced quantities until 2010.
Compared with the Swiss market, that of Hong Kong has again experienced a
very unsettled time. Throughout the entire year, sales of movements without the
«Swiss made» label were affected by a very unfavorable Swiss franc / US dollar
exchange rate. The ongoing fall in prices, due primarily to overproduction by
Chinese producers, is likely to become even more marked. In October, one
Japanese manufacturer started an unprecedented price war against Chinese 
producers, creating an extremely harmful commercial environment for this
market. 

Customer Service (ETA CS)
The Customer Service Portal (CSP), which went live in February and is accessed
via the home page of the ETA website, is much used by ETA clients. Since August,
the integration of online ETA orders (ETA Online Shop - EOS) has provided central-
ized access to all the services that are available online: online order entry and
tracking, a repairs tracking system, current technical documentation, current
prices, mailshots and information on spare parts as well as on the company’s
packaging and repairs services. By personally identifying users when they log in,
they can be offered client-specific services and information. Thanks to CSP, the
response time for standard queries relating to ETA’s client services has been
reduced considerably. The same applies to delivery timescales for spare parts,
which have been greatly reduced following improvements made to the process.
As a result of the amazing expansion in its packaging service, the ETA-CS profit
center saw its turnover increase significantly in 2004. In fact, some well-known
watchmaking brands are now coming to ETA-CS to have their movements and
spare parts packaged.

Training center
In order to meet an ever-increasing market demand, the ETA Client Training
Center introduced two new courses specifically covering mechanical and quartz
chronographs, thus strengthening its offering to clients and other industry profes-
sionals. All the courses are extremely successful, because the diversity and the
technical nature of products require an in-depth knowledge of how they work.
This program underlines ETA’s desire to provide top-quality training to meet the
needs of its clients for product knowledge. This strong client demand has once
again encouraged the development of interactive training support. The five
ETASwissl@b CD-ROMs that were developed and marketed were greatly appreci-
ated, and will soon be joined by a dynamic interactive glossary relating to ETA
products.

ETA product development in 2004
Swatch
• Swatch Diaphane Mecolor, a mechanical watch with an automatic winding
mechanism. Some very special models were created based on the «skeleton»
Diaphane watch by replacing some metal parts of the movement with colored
plastic parts. The technical challenge to be overcome here was to manufacture
the pallets and the escapement wheel in a colored synthetic material. Thanks to
the dial, which has a large opening in the center, and also the transparent back,
the full beauty of the movement can be seen.
• Swatch Fun Scuba. A pressure sensor and associated electronics have been
added to the basic Swatch Scuba watch in order to produce a diving watch. The
Fun Scuba can either display the time in hours and minutes with two separate
hands, or it can show the depth and dive time in dive mode. A signal-processing
algorithm automatically triggers the dive function when the watch is one meter
below the water surface. The history of the dive is recorded, and can be displayed
on command.
• Swatch Paparazzi. ETA has developed this watch in collaboration with
Microsoft, to receive information via radio waves. Four models designed for the
United States have been created for Swatch.
• Swatch Skin Diamond. ETA has produced a limited series of the Skin model with
the dial set with 174 tiny, concentrically arranged diamonds.
• Swatch Touch Bi-Timer. With the new Swatch Touch Bi-Timer, simply touching
the glass activates a second function. Tapping once allows you to display the time
in a second time zone, while tapping again causes the two hands to coincide,
before moving to indicate am or pm.
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Mechanical movements
• Large movement 161⁄2’’’ ETA A07.111. Following very strong demand for large
watches, ETA has used parts from the famous ETA 7750 to create four large-
movement variants. The first movement to go on sale is the automatic 3-hand
movement with aperture date.

Tissot
• New Timer movement for the new generation of the Tissot Navigator. The
unique feature of the extremely comprehensive New Timer multifunction
movement is its touch-sensitive function selection: this is achieved using tactile
glass and sensors, making it very easy to use. In addition to watch functions that
are displayed by means of two hands and an LCD (Liquid Crystal Display), other
functions have been introduced for people on the move. This movement incorpo-
rates a programmable 24-hour local-time alarm with a selection of 5 melodies and
an alarm schedule with date and local time. The chronograph displays its results
via the LCD, with a total of 99 hours in tenths of a second for the add and split
functions. It holds the time zones for 150 cities, and the perpetual calendar is pro-
grammed up to 2099. There is a choice of 6 languages for the stored texts. Thanks
to its backlight and digital display (and its luminescent hands), the information
provided by the watch can also be read in the dark.
• Movement for the Tissot High-T. A combination of several state-of-the-art
technologies has made it possible to create the Tissot High-T. The functions of the
watch and the MSD Direct Smart Watch system are activated by means of tactile
glass. The wearer of the watch can therefore receive information (news, weath-
er, sports results, financial information etc.) transmitted via radio waves.

Digital movement K04.001
A marvelous digital movement has been created, featuring a restrained display
that is easy to read. With a single crown, the process of operating the watch has
been simplified to the greatest possible extent.

Analog quartz movement
• Caliber 111⁄2’’’ F06.161, movement with a large-aperture date display. The
Trendline collection of calibers has been expanded to include a new movement,
which provides even better date visibility. In fact, thanks to a new patent mech-
anism, the surface of the aperture has more than tripled in size, from 3.15 mm2 to
10.36 mm2. This new mechanism has been calculated and optimized using the
information technology ETA has at its disposal.

Human resources
In collaboration with the Group’s Human Resources department, activities in 2004
focused on implementing and fine-tuning HR management systems based on the
current guidelines applicable across all Group companies. The development of
this HR strategy involved four areas: payroll management, staff development,
information & communication, and reporting & controlling.

Organization / Information technology
In addition to ongoing improvements to the main business support applications
and solutions aimed at reducing internal and external security risks, progress has
been made towards implementing the digital prototype. This involves IT systems
simulating, in a digital form, the entire development process. This will reduce the
number of prototypes that need manufacturing, as well as reducing development
timescales and costs, and improving quality. Applications for optimizing barrels,
rotors and escapements can size the basic organs of a watch very quickly and
efficiently, taking account of dimensions, material properties and the technical
demands of various configurations, also bearing in mind the customer’s require-
ments. Lastly, kinematic and dynamic resistance simulations enable the manu-
facturing process to be observed. Previously, this was only possible by relying on
accumulated experience or long-term trials.

e-Business
• Vendor Order Management (VOM). Over 60 suppliers around the world have
opted to use the Internet to check up on the status of orders placed by ETA,
downloading data to their own systems and then confirming timescales and
quantities, all using just a basic configuration (Internet access and a browser).
Using this approach considerably reduces response times compared with
ordering by mail or fax.
• Electronic Data Interchange (EDI/XML). The Electronic Data Interchange (EDI)
platform for use by clients, suppliers and service providers has been modified to
incorporate the latest technical know-how. This has simplified the system
monitoring process, despite the growing number of partners and documents. The
manpower freed up in this way will be used for a subsequent enhancement (an
increase of around 30 % compared with 2003).

Security
Projects aiming to improve security or reduce risks have been implemented and
are being successfully used. These include, at a technical level, hardware redun-
dancy and system backups as well as the implementation of an automatic alert
system and, at an organizational level, the integration of security processes into
the management system. It should also be noted that, despite an explosion in the
number of documents contaminated by viruses in 2004 compared with 2003, the
operating system has not sustained any damage; that the result of the Security
standard 1 audit (in accordance with ISO 17799) was classed as «very good»; and
that the availability rate of the principal servers was almost 100 percent.
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Quality improvement system – Web 8D
For all sites at a global level, ETA uses a uniform system to monitor and analyze
faults arising from quality problems. All stages of the process, from initial fault
logging right through to fault resolution, are documented and monitored. Using a
central database, it is possible to quickly carry out analyses based on variable
criteria, and to instigate the necessary measures at the level of development,
production or logistics. The pilot system, in which clients participated, was very
successful.

Quality Cost Survey (QCS)
To complement the Web 8D system, an IT tool has been developed and linked to
a data warehouse in order to analyze quality costs. Quality cost data, particular-
ly the cost of defects, can therefore rapidly be made available, enabling causes
to be analyzed and appropriate actions initiated.  

Quality Management (QM)
Obtaining ISO 14001 certification for its new Environmental Management System
was one of the highlights of 2004 for ETA. In fact, during the audit, which took
place simultaneously at ETA’s 15 European sites, the auditors met staff who were
very motivated to ensure the protection of the environment. They were also able
to see numerous projects that have a favorable impact on the environment. This
audit, which was process-oriented, also led to ISO 9001 certification being
renewed for a period of three years. In order to obtain certification, all of ETA’s
processes were analyzed and evaluated with respect to their environmental
impact, and a system for monitoring legislation criteria was established. By
means of a specially developed database, all employees have access to the 
safety data sheets for materials used at ETA.
Moreover, the ongoing improvements to the ETA Management System (MSE) con-
tinued, and corporate guidelines were revised. The new MSE manual is a key
management tool, as are the missions and activities of the Business Units and
Service Units, for which the process structures have been revised. With regard to
specialized quality training, the groundwork has been carried out to further
increase the accountability of all members of staff. In the area of quality tech-
niques, the main focus has been on coordinating activities and procedures, such
as optimizing manufacturing processes by the use of statistical process control
(SPC) and metrology, and managing test equipment. Lastly, the two certification
laboratories continued to make improvements to test procedures, and also modi-
fy them to take account of changes to legal requirements and standards. In addi-
tion to optimizing existing methods and equipment, various research has been
undertaken to better understand the constraints to which products will be sub-
jected, with the aim of improving the reliability of certifications, whilst at the
same time reducing test times to a minimum.

ETA competence centers
The «ETA SA Competence Centers» business unit is responsible for the technical
competence centers such as Cold Blanking and Shaping, Plastic Injection, and
Metal Injection Molding (MIM), which manufacture parts and modules, as well
as the necessary tools. This consolidation of the technology competence centers
into a single unit ensures the optimum use of synergies. Each competence cen-
ter is a major supplier of ETA’s business units, the various companies within the
Swatch Group, and other clients. The business unit as a whole and each compe-
tence center within it have ISO 9001 and ISO 14001 certification. The ongoing
development of new production technology and procedures together with the
improvement of existing technology have enabled ETA to maintain its competitive
edge.

Cold Blanking and Shaping
The Cold Blanking and Shaping competence center manufactures more than
three billion parts per year. This rate requires the use of powerful tools on high-
output stamping presses, with output reaching 2500 units per minute. The ongo-
ing development of processes enables technologies of various different origins to
be used in conjunction with blanking (laser welding, built-in tool measurement
system, assembly, etc.). New watch parts, horological movements and stepping
motors have now been added to the product range.

Plastic Injection
The Plastic Injection competence center specializes in manufacturing complex
plastic components to a high level of precision and with a high-quality finish.
Positioning the tiny, high-precision inserts in relation to the injection tools
requires particular skill and expertise. The in-house synthetic materials laborato-
ry, which also provides services to Swatch Group subsidiaries, offers support in
research and development, and in identifying solutions to materials-related prob-
lems. This support of and collaboration with the business units has helped to
develop applications requiring the injection of multiple components, expertise in
processing thermoplastic elastomers, and the manufacture of transparent compo-
nents, such as watch crystals and lenses.

MIM (Metal Injection Molding)
The MIM competence center has extensive expertise in the development and
mass production of MIM parts. Its metallurgists and development engineers have
continually improved processes and procedures, thus strengthening its increas-
ingly important position within the industry. As well as producing completed
watch cases for the Swatch Irony models, various parts have been manufactured
for companies in the Lascor and Ruedin groups. For external clients, products
have been created in new materials for use in the fields of precision mechanics,
medical technology and micromechanics.
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Tools and Strategic Production Technology
The Tools and Strategic Production Technology competence centers provide sup-
port to the other competence centers, ETA business units and Group companies.
As well as jointly developing strategic assembly equipment, they also design new
assembly and production facilities. The use of laser technology has increased,
and new applications have been introduced. 

EUW – ETA Uhrwerke GmbH, Pforzheim (Germany)
During recent years, EUW has specialized in the production of blanked parts and
the manufacture of the necessary press tools, and has therefore become a key
element of the Cold Blanking and Shaping competence center. It is also respon-
sible for the sales, logistics and service of ETA movements to clients within the
European Union (EU).

Diantus Watch SA – Mendrisio
Diantus is the main center for assembling quartz movements from the ETA range,
and also assembles mechanical movements and the Digital High-T. Note that the
Swatch Irony is produced on its automated assembly lines.

F.F.B – Fabrique de Fournitures de Bonnétage – Villers le Lac (France)
Located in the French Jura, FFB produces wheel sets and components for ETA’s
mid-market and upmarket quartz movements. It has been possible to meet the
extremely high levels of demand throughout the entire year, enabling the compa-
ny to face the future with confidence. Production of components for mass
calibers finally ceased in July 2004, necessitating staff adjustments and retrain-
ing. The company successfully obtained ISO 9001:2000 and ISO 14001 certifica-
tion.

SEFEA – Société Européenne de Fabrication d’Ebauches d’Annemasse (France)
SEFEA is involved in the manufacture of brass framework parts and assemblies
for ETA. It also offers its microtechnology expertise on a subcontracting basis to
both internal Group customers and external customers in the fields of blanking
tool manufacturing, blanking, and mechanical and electronic assembly. Buoyant
sales of both contact and contactless / RFID (Radio Frequency Identification)
memory keys and connectors clearly demonstrate the relevance of these prod-
ucts, which are being used primarily in applications in the fields of access control
(airports), machine and equipment safety (fork-lift trucks) and also distribution
(fuel). The growth of these activities was reinforced throughout the year by the
company’s involvement in various events and exhibitions, including Decitronic,
Midest, Cartes and Micronora.

Zhuhai SMH Watchmaking Co. Ltd (China)
The Zhuhai SMH site continued to experience growth in all sectors during 2004.
Three of the Group’s major industrial sectors are represented here: ETA, Ruedin
and Universo in the watchmaking sector; Microcomponents in the automotive
sector; and EM Microelectronic-Marin, Renata and Micro Crystal in the elec-
tronics sector. To meet the requirements of Zhuhai SMH’s direct clients, the entire
factory has obtained ISO TS 16949 certification, enabling all its units to directly
supply automotive customers, whose quality requirements are extremely strict.
The arrival of companies from the Michel Group and Universo Plastique during
2004 changed Zhuhai SMH’s field of activity, moving it away from assembly and
towards the production of parts in collaboration with Switec. This represents an
initial step in terms of product development.

ETA (Thailand) Co. Ltd, Bangkok (Thailand)
During 2004, ETA (Thailand) Co., Ltd. focused its efforts on consolidating the large
number of new procedures and technologies that were introduced in 2003. Work
capacity was fully utilized in the production of watch parts, and the Comadur, EM
Microelectronic and Micro Crystal production centers were able to achieve
optimum performance. The production area was increased in line with plans and
a new 1500 square-meter production hall was opened in the spring.

Micromechanics (M) Sdn. Bhd., Ipoh (Malaysia)
Steps were taken at the start of the year to enable optimum production to be
reached, in order to cope with a huge demand for watch parts. This enabled a
maximum degree of performance to be achieved once more for these activities,
particularly thanks to the production centers in Switzerland and Thailand. The
high level of production achieved in 2003 for assembling electronic modules and
coils for quartz movements and stepping motors was maintained in 2004. The
manufacture of Meco crowns for the Asian market continued, with the intro-
duction of some new types of crown and the start of profile-turning on CNC
machines. Last but not least, Oscilloquartz-Malaysia made full use of the 
capacity available, thus contributing to the improved result for this production
center.
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FRÉDÉRIC PIGUET

Following an extremely difficult start to the year resulting from an indecisive
market at the end of 2003, Frédéric Piguet eventually succeeded in finishing 2004
with a more encouraging result, even announcing two-figure growth compared to
forecasts. 
As a designer and producer of upmarket and prestige movements for Group
brands and third-party clients, Frédéric Piguet is intent on always creating a
sensation. Its laboratory is one of its principal development agents, and its
engineers, as well as developing watches, have designed several items of test
equipment including a barrel ageing test device and a shock machine.
Since the market is constantly demanding products that are personalized, clearly
identifiable and frequently limited-edition, the process of management is becom-
ing more and more onerous and complex. However, this has not prevented the
company from finishing 2004 on a steady note.

New products
Again, Frédéric Piguet has created several world firsts, introduced at Baselworld
2004, in the development of complicated and very complicated movements, and
mechanisms, all for use in prestige and luxury models for the Group’s brands.
These include:
Caliber 6925 – An 8-day automatic tourbillon with large date.
Caliber 3863 – A running equation for wristwatch based on an innovative
principle enabling this extremely sophisticated mechanism to be miniaturized.
It is worth adding to this list, which is by no means exhaustive, the development
and production of new functions for Frédéric Piguet base movements:
Caliber 2688 M – A single-button chronograph with off-center minute display (at
noon).
Caliber 1169 – A version with small second hand at 9 o’clock on an 111⁄2’’’
double-barrel movement.
Caliber 5285 – An automatic chronograph with time zone.

VALDAR

A positive year-end compared with the first half of 2004 enabled the supplier of
micromechanical components Valdar to maintain its sales at the 2003 level. This
outcome is the result of a sustained campaign to promote the diversity and
quality of the company’s services to clients. Also with a view to improving 
product quality, Valdar has ceased production of sub-assemblies for the aeronau-
tical industry in order to focus strictly on its core area of micromechanics. This
decision has resulted in an increased level of customer confidence.
In addition to taking part in microtechnology subcontracting trade fairs, the
company has produced a film that illustrates all of its activities in a dynamic
manner. Accessible via the Valdar website, it has also been widely distributed to
clients, who have appreciated being able to see the full range of the company’s
production offerings. 
Following the computerization of construction and operations processes, the
relevance of the information provided to clients has improved significantly.
Considerable improvements in logistics have also enabled discrepancies between
workloads and resources to be better anticipated. Following on from initiatives to
promote internal quality, which have been ongoing for over a year now, some
significant positive changes have become apparent. For example, Quality Team
staff have also become service advisors to the production department, which has
given them the task of mediating with clients. These improvements have taken
place in accordance with Valdar’s management system, which has ISO 9001:2000
certification.

RUBATTEL & WEYERMANN

The restructuring of Rubattel & Weyermann’s facilities and infrastructure is
reaching its conclusion. Continuing in the same vein as 2003, the company
concentrated its efforts on moving up in the market, by investing time and money
in a wide variety of different areas. This basic groundwork has also taken the form
of the ongoing training of its employees.
By extending this period of change, Rubattel & Weyermann has been able to
establish new commercial relationships thanks to a ceaseless desire to meet the
extremely demanding requirements of its customers. These new changes have
been well thought out, and have resulted in many new products being developed.
It is worth noting that the company has been able to carry out this substantial
task without neglecting production or the needs of customers.
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NIVAROX-FAR

Although 2004 was a year of consolidation for Nivarox-FAR, it was still able to
focus on modernization, and invest all its effort in the direction of its core compe-
tence, namely that of producing escapements and oscillators to continuously
improve the chronometric performance of mechanical movements. All the
projects initiated in recent years have borne fruit, and the improvements to
customer services are now consistent and sound.
The investment plan for modern, flexible equipment and infrastructures, which
got off the ground in the year 2000, is now resulting in measurable improvements
to product quality, providing increased security of supplies in the mechanical
watch market, and enabling the company to respond promptly to the increasing
number of requirements for limited editions, as well as providing more personal-
ized advice to customers.
This could not have been achieved without an exceptional and sustained effort in
staff training and a broad range of expertise. This systematic approach has
notably led to momentum in process improvements, and also the development
and industrialization of new component production technology.

GHHH
GROUPE HABILLAGE HAUTE HORLOGERIE SA

In 2004, the Swatch Group’s watch assembly company concentrated on increas-
ing productivity and flexibility throughout the manufacturing process, and also on
improving its service offerings and information to the Group’s brands.
The year was marked by the transfer of the Assembling and Finishing division at
Bienne, which is logically joining the ranks of Omega. In addition, a preliminary
project relating to the opening of a new production site is currently at the feasi-
bility study stage. This would enable the company to provide an improved
response to many of the Swatch Group’s watch assembly requirements, and to
develop new techniques.

COMADUR

2004 was a very positive year for Comadur, with sales growth exceeding
forecasts. Encouraging growth was seen in all areas of activity and product type
compared with 2003. Demand for materials such as sapphire, ruby and ceramics
is booming, both in the field of watchmaking and in those of mobile telephony
and information technology. The Thin Layers division, which is involved primarily
in technology for tactile and anti-reflective screens and metallization, has experi-
enced significant growth, and is proving key to the company’s technological
development.
The vertical integration and optimization of production workflows has resulted in
a major building project, with a new industrial building being constructed at 
Col-des-Roches / Le Locle. This will be fully operational at the end of 2005, and

will house all sapphire cutting activities. Its industrial location will have a major
impact on flexibility, reducing journey times and increasing growth options. This
has already been seen to be the case at the Comadur unit in Bangkok, which is
located in the ETA (Thailand) center (see p. 53). 
Technological development has not been overlooked: major projects relating to
monocristalline and ceramic materials as well as modern manufacturing tech-
nology closely match the varied and growing demands of the market. The sound
investment policy, both in plant and in management, has been maintained. In
addition, the company’s process-oriented ISO 9001:2000 certification was
renewed during the year, demonstrating its desire to provide its commercial
partners with an ever more comprehensive service.

FAVRE et PERRET

2004 was an excellent year of revival for Favre et Perret, who made full use of
their spacious purpose-built new production premises at le Crêt du Locle. The
Group’s upmarket and luxury watchcase manufacturer increased its number of
new products as well as its production volume. It was able to improve its general
organization, leading to yet another improvement in the company’s quality and
productivity.
Its efforts were therefore focused on developing new models, notably for
Breguet, Blancpain, Omega, Jaquet Droz, Léon Hatot and Glashütte Original, and
also on the company’s general organization and the optimization of its
production, including further improvements to its platinum processing.
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RUEDIN

Specializing in the development and production of steel, hard metal and titanium
watchcases, Ruedin had a very good year in 2004. As principal supplier to the
Omega, Rado and Longines brands, it recorded sustained growth in activity, both
in terms of unit sales and turnover, which grew even faster during the final quar-
ter of 2004.
Productivity increases have been significant, and can be explained by the atten-
tion paid to renewing ISO 9001 certification, and the introduction of the new ERP
system. These two factors have also improved customer service quality and lead
times. Increasingly demanding customer requirements to get new lines quickly
into production, and to reduce batch sizes while maintaining competitive prices,
will further be satisfied thanks to the acquisition of new technology.

LASCOR

Lascor, the manufacturer of watchcases, bracelets and other external watch com-
ponents in precious metals, steel and aluminum, experienced a significant
growth in the volume of precious metal finishing in 2004. Pressure on costs, par-
ticularly for steel and aluminum products, and increased product complexity have
again been associated with a reduction in batch size and increased customer
requirements for product and service quality.
Faced with these challenges, Lascor has consolidated its position of traditional
excellence in the development of watchcase products in precious metals. The
company has invested in flexible, high technology production tools (CNC 5-axis
machines). In order to improve its technical and production services and to speed
up the manufacturing process, it has set up a Development and Prototyping unit,
optimized and improved the flexibility of production operations for steel and alu-
minum products, and placed more emphasis on coaching employees to develop
their competencies and responsibilities. The new logistics unit that has been
introduced has strengthened the Quality Assurance function, whilst also prepar-
ing for the implementation of a new production management system.

MECO

Specializing in the manufacture of crowns, push-pieces, shaped push-pieces,
valves, tubing and machined parts, Meco has demonstrated its ability to remain
on target with its planned strategy, recording an increase in its sales figures.
Thanks to substantial investments approved in 2003 and early 2004, it has also
been able to optimize its production. The results are all the more encouraging as
the excellent quality indicators achieved during 2003 were confirmed in 2004.
This can be seen, for example, in the improvements in meeting deadlines, to the
general satisfaction of clients.
With regard to Meco Malaysia, the investments approved and the intensive train-
ing program that has been implemented have enabled the company to greatly
increase its market share in Asia, which has directly resulted in a massive
increase in sales.

UNIVERSO

Universo, the European leader in the manufacture of watch and miniature clock
hands, went through a year of transition and recorded only a modest increase in
its turnover, which was not in line with the forecast. However, the general situa-
tion is positive, all the more so because the company carried out a consolidation
phase in 2004 which completed the restructuring begun in 2001.

The unpredictable requirements of the high-end and mid-range markets did not
permit Universo to achieve a balanced loading of the production lines devoted to
this segment. On the other hand, they did allow the company fully to show its
flexibility in achieving optimum utilization of its available capacity. However, after
the crisis of confidence experienced in the difficult years 1999–2001, Universo
welcomed the return of large numbers of third-party clients. Everyone has been
able to observe the progress achieved and the ability of the company to turn itself
round. Thanks to the commitment of all staff to the implementation of the New
Models process, there has been a significant reduction in the lead-time for new
products. This has enabled Universo to deliver all prototypes and sample new
models on time for the main watchmaking trade fairs.

As before, Universo has striven to improve quality, security and environmental
protection in order to minimize the risks associated with temporary or complete
production halts. The preparation for the information systems changeover has
provided the opportunity to begin a critical analysis of all company processes,
and to put in place the appropriate corrective measures to ensure the quality of
its services to the watchmaking industry.
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SGES – SWATCH GROUP ELECTRONIC SYSTEMS

The eight Swatch Group companies that comprise the Electronic Systems sector
– EM Microelectronic, Micro Crystal, Renata, Microcomponents, Sokymat Auto-
motive, Oscilloquartz, Omega Electronics and Lasag – were regrouped in 2004
under the name Swatch Group Electronic Systems or SGES. These companies are
combining their expertise in components and electronic systems. Relying on their
particular strengths in the world of microelectronics, they are exploiting their syn-
ergies to develop end-to-end solutions for clients in search of a global end prod-
uct. The unique strengths of SGES relate to the low power, miniaturization and
precision of their products. Regrouping their specific expertise, these companies
are in a position to outmaneuver their larger competitors by providing optimized
solutions at competitive prices. Joint efforts to develop new products are
currently underway, drawing on the expertise of the various members of SGES.
Their common areas of interest involve industrial measuring equipment using
crystal oscillators, and also tire pressure monitoring and vehicle access systems.
At the Electronic Trade Fair in Munich in November 2004, five SGES companies
shared a 100 m2 stand, presenting themselves as a unified group under the
common SGES banner and therefore giving out a strong message to the entire
microelectronics community. Over 50 high-potential commercial opportunities
were identified during this event! Following on from this great success, SGES
intends to continue developing its common expertise. It is also determined to
combine its efforts with regard to advertising. This type of common activity will
increase the global recognition of the group’s expertise and products, leading to
further commercial opportunities in a world that is experiencing ever-increasing
competition. 

EM MICROELECTRONIC

EM has seen a strong market demand and an obvious and sustained interest in
its products, leading to strong double-figure growth, in large part due to EM
smart card IC products sold in China. The positive results prove that the strategy
outlined at the end of 2002 focusing on the markets in the Far East is paying off.

Growing business
The strongest growth came from the smart card IC business unit, whose sales
nearly doubled over 2003. This result has played a large part in the global
increase in EM’s financial results in 2004. These circuits are used in Java smart
cards, which are essentially used in SIM cards in mobile phones. Sales of this
product have been achieved primarily in China, a country undergoing formidable
expansion, where EM aims to reinforce its stake and its business. Not only does
this huge market have the best potential among all the regions of the world, but
it has also become necessary to work with China in order to remain competitive
in the world market. EM also received strong interest in its products through 
its participation in the International Integrated Circuit China trade show in
Shenzhen.
The RFID (Radio Frequency Identification) business unit also showed sustained
growth, with shipments increasing significantly compared with the previous year.
In 2004, EM continued to work closely with large customers such as Marks &
Spencer, who will fuel the need for such products. RFID, which involves a short-
range wireless transfer of data between two objects, is one of the most promis-
ing fields for exponential growth in electronics in the coming years, especially
with its application in the area of supply chain management, where it is viewed
as a replacement for barcodes.
With a view to improving customer service in European markets, EM created a
new sales service in 2004 called EMDirect. This enables all European customers,
small or large, to order EM standard IC products directly from the company,
without needing to go via a distributor in Europe. With this service, EM wants to
get closer to its customers and improve its support, service and product offering.

A proliferation of design activities
EM design activities continue to focus on developing circuits that consume less
power and work at a lower voltage, thus extending battery life in portable
electronic equipment. Such developments are taking place not only at EM in
Marin (Switzerland), but also in its various design centers, ASICentrum in Prague
(Czech Republic) and EM US in Colorado Springs (USA). 
The team of 30 designers at ASICentrum has excellent design skills, particularly
in the field of digital design. In particular, they played a crucial role in several new
projects that got underway in 2004. For instance, a smart optical CMOS sensor IC
was specifically designed for a Swiss customer in the textile industry. This small
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electronic chip is able to measure the thickness of textile yarn with a precision of
7 thousandths of a millimeter! ASICentrum also designed an RFID circuit for a
very promising application that will help prevent the theft of skis! Other design
projects involve a new keyless entry chip for cars, where the conventional metal
key is replaced by an electronic key, allowing for «hands-free» entry into the
vehicle. These chips are designed at ASICentrum and produced at EM in Marin.
One core competency of the EM US design center has always been in the design
of optoelectronics chips. In 2004, one of its activities involved an ultra-low power,
cost-effective optical mouse IC for Logitech’s leading-edge wireless optical mice.
EM US is also developing custom RFID chips for an important American customer
for use in toll road applications.
In Marin, EM engineers brought to market two ultra-low power Flash micro-
controllers. In an extremely competitive market, these key differentiators will be
much sought after by customers designing portable battery-operated electronic
products. They will appreciate the increased flexibility and ease-of-use that is
provided by Flash technology, allowing electronic devices to be easily repro-
grammed whenever necessary. Many other design activities took place in the
different EM business units, including watch ICs, custom-made circuits for 
safety and automotive applications, LCD drivers and modules for use in phones
and payment terminals, smart card ICs for mobile phones, and RFID devices for
access control and logistics. 

Technology
In the semi-conductor industry, economy of scale is a key element in remaining
competitive. There are essentially two ways to achieve this: either by reducing the
chip size or by increasing the diameter of the wafer of which the chips are
produced. The latter requires by far the largest investment, since it usually
requires a complete upgrade of the production floor, including expensive
machines and tools. During the course of 2004, the first step of a plan was
approved to convert a 6-inch wafer fab to an 8-inch wafer fab. This decision will
enable EM to remain at the forefront of technology in its applications, and to
continue to compete aggressively. This is particularly crucial in the fast-moving
semiconductor industry.

MICRO CRYSTAL

The only large-scale manufacturer of low-frequency quartz crystals outside Asia,
Micro Crystal has succeeded in retaining, and even increasing, its sizeable 
market shares in several fields of application. Although the telecommunications
and electronics industries and medical applications still constitute its most impor-
tant markets, Micro Crystal also supplies quartz crystals to companies belonging
to the Swatch Group, the only non-Asian watchmaker that does not have to rely
on external quartz deliveries.
During the first half of the year, the market experienced such a strong demand for
low-frequency quartz crystals that there were occasional temporary shortages.
Throughout this period, Micro Crystal worked a three-shift system, 7 days per
week, at all production sites. During the summer there was a marked fall in
orders, which was basically the result of over-optimistic purchasing by telecom-
munications clients faced with sizeable stocks. However, the situation settled
down in the last quarter, and sales figures ended in line with budget forecasts.
Over the year as a whole, the quantities produced by Micro Crystal increased
sharply, and global turnover ultimately proved to be higher than in 2003. Other
factors that made a significant contribution to the result included another drop in
the purchase price of quartz crystal packages, productivity improvements in
Switzerland, and the increase in volumes for final assembly carried out in Micro
Crystal’s factories in Asia.
Micro Crystal now generates the majority of its turnover in Asia. As the market
for the consumer electronics and telecommunications industries is shifting to
Asia even more rapidly, Micro Crystal plans to continue expanding its Asian sales
network in 2005. Moreover, the commissioning of Micro Crystal China’s new
assembly line means that assembly operations that already take place in Switzer-
land and Thailand can also take place in China. This will result in a global
improvement to cost structures. 
Medical applications constitute the main market segment in the US for Micro-
crystal, which is already the largest supplier of quartz crystals for use in certain
medical applications. A program has been introduced in order to further optimize
product quality, process security, final testing and product traceability. The inten-
tion here is to become an out-and-out market leader with regard to quality.
In the automotive field, low-frequency crystals are becoming more and more
important due to their low power consumption, and Micro Crystal intends to
increase its market shares in this sector.
The logical technical progression towards products with a higher level of inte-
gration involves developing several oscillators and Real Time Clock modules.
Specifically, this involves equipping them with low-power integrated circuits
fitted with low-frequency crystals. In this capacity, EM-Microelectronic is the
obvious partner to develop and manufacture the semi-conductors required.
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Several clients have already received samples in 2004, and other new product
variants are currently being developed, and will soon be launched on the market.
The manufacture of quartz crystals for ultra-small ceramic packages has now hit
the mass production threshold, and will be expanded significantly in 2005.

MICROCOMPONENTS

Microcomponents SA applies the Swatch Group’s technology, expertise,
structure, strength and global presence to automotive products: thanks to these
key factors, Microcomponents provides its clients, to whom it is a valued partner,
with services that meet the demands of this extremely competitive and selective
market. The regulations and standards (ISO, automotive and environmental) that
Microcomponents is following enable it to ensure the implementation of efficient
processes.
In 2004, Microcomponents embarked on an expansion strategy that will lead 
to more complex devices, for which the added value will approach that of 
leading suppliers. 
Microcomponents has set up a new personnel management strategy. The initial
impact in terms of development, identification with the company, and employee
satisfaction has been very positive.

Produits Michel
In order to strengthen its position in the automotive market, Michel has developed
a strategy of global presence, which has resulted in a long-term collaboration
exercise with one of the world’s largest parts manufacturers, with the aim of
developing and manufacturing micromechanical components and sub-assemblies
in Asia for the Asian market. These high-precision parts are primarily intended for
use in diesel injection systems, a market which is expanding rapidly and is there-
fore strategically important for the company. At the same time, this presence in
Asia has made it more attractive on other markets, and further strengthened the
unassailable position it already occupies. Initial positive reactions have also been
noted regarding the company’s efforts in the market for gasoline direct injection
systems.

Produits Switec
Despite some difficulties in the North American automotive industry, 2004 was 
a year of consolidation for Switec. Its new range of motors enabled it to
strengthen its market position and win some new projects. Switec strengthened
its presence in Asia and Russia thanks to a comprehensive product range, and

RENATA

The name Renata has been associated for many years now with small, top-
quality button batteries and exceptional customer service. Famous around the
world as «the Swiss power source», Renata plans to move into new markets and
expand its area of business, whilst still focusing on its core competencies. In 2004,
the company was able to increase the sales of all its product groups, and its cash-
flow improved over the previous year, despite the economic situation.
A rationalization of the production of silver oxide batteries has enabled them
to maintain their competitive edge. The price of silver, which was much higher
than the previous year, had a negative impact on material costs. However, this did
not succeed in halting the general downward trend in the prices for silver oxide
batteries. The different types of packaging for batteries on sale in retail outlets
have been internationalized, and their distinctive design has been adopted world-
wide. The expansion of the distribution network has continued successfully, and
Renata’s presence at trade fairs has also been strengthened.
Sales of lithium button batteries and those of tabbed button batteries, encap-
sulated batteries and battery holders were up on 2003, as were those for
rechargeable lithium ion batteries. Major investments in the assembly of lithium
batteries have led to an increase in capacity and process optimization. In addi-
tion, new types of battery have been developed which have enabled Renata to
provide an improved solution for applications where products are subjected to
extreme conditions, particularly very high and low temperatures. Renata has an
exceptional battery for such circumstances, intended specifically for use in tire
pressure monitoring systems in the automotive industry. It provides customers
with unique technical support based on its extensive experience and in-depth
knowledge of the sector.
Performance levels of zinc-air batteries used in hearing aids have again
improved. Following on from an increase in the battery voltage curve last year,

their capacity has again been increased this year. Marketing initiatives have
enabled the company to continue to grow sales of these highly reliable top-of-
the-range batteries. 
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SOKYMAT AUTOMOTIVE

One of the leading manufacturers of transponders for use in vehicle immobilizers,
Sokymat Automotive GmbH experienced a profitable year in 2004. Despite the
economic downturn affecting the automotive industry, it was able to successfully
position itself in the market, recording a positive increase in turnover. It was also
able to consolidate its base in all sectors, and break into new markets.
In April, Sokymat held important discussions with Asian purchasers and technical
experts during the Jama-Clepa Business Conference in Gothenburg. It was also
able to acquire a major new client in Japan, laying the foundations for a long-
term partnership together. Furthermore, thanks to its regular presence at US
trade fairs, including the specialist automotive electronics Convergence event in
Detroit in October, it is continuing to pursue its strategy of carrying out research
in close collaboration with clients.
With regard to production equipment, a new, completely automated production
line was allocated to the mass production of RFID transponders and their casings
in mid-2004, leading to a significant increase in capacity.
The synergies that have been exploited within the Swatch Group, notably by
SGES, have enabled Sokymat to lay the foundations for success in systems-
related operations. Its engineers at Reichshof-Wehnrath have successfully devel-
oped a system for monitoring tire pressures. The prototypes produced generated
a huge interest from tire and automobile manufacturers. This interest is particu-
larly important because the electronic monitoring of tire pressures becomes
mandatory in the US in 2006. Moreover, qualification trials and testing carried out
by the international automotive industry have shown Sokymat’s products to
perform well and be robust and reliable.
To meet the challenges it faces and to succeed in the marketplace, the company
has created new jobs by increasing the number of posts in its Research &
Development and Production departments.

now holds a large market share. There has been an encouraging increase in
quantities sold. 
The synergy generated by the creation of the «Swatch Group Electronic Systems»
entity has created an important showcase for Switec products. In particular, the
angular-speed detector (Gyrometer), which makes use of the Group’s micro-
technologies, was launched on the market at international exhibitions in North
America (Detroit) and in Europe (Germany). The response has been extremely
positive, and is leading to a large variety of applications, not only in the auto-
motive industry (driver safety and comfort), but also in the area of consumer
goods (mobile phones, cameras, 3D mice etc.). 

Produits Universo Plastique
The manufacture of watch hands has been successfully relocated to China in its
entirety. As the positive reaction of the market shows, the improved quality
standards and prices of products originating from this Chinese plant have been
well received by customers. This relocation has also enabled the company to
invest in the Asian and North American markets, which traditionally favor local
suppliers.
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OSCILLOQUARTZ

Oscilloquartz, which operates in the global telecommunications field, was affect-
ed by the very variable conditions in that market in 2002 and 2003, but saw a
return to growth in 2004: its turnover virtually doubled, and the restructuring
initiative undertaken in 2002 and 2003 is now bearing fruit, with 2004 heralding
a return to profitability. 
Oscilloquartz produces oscillators and synchronization equipment for use in fixed
and mobile telecommunications network infrastructures, and already has instal-
lations in over one hundred countries. Its continuing expansion into new territo-
ries, such as China and the Middle East, and its development of GPS synchroniza-
tion products for use in third generation mobile telephony base stations (UTMS)
have enabled Oscilloquartz to base its growth on projects, applications and
countries that show prospects of sustained growth over the next few years.
The company has been able to satisfy the most demanding of international
customers through its ongoing efforts to improve quality, the reduction of 
the business cycle for its telecommunications products to six weeks, and its
continual attention at an international level to all stages of the sales process
(from identifying needs and providing assistance in defining specifications
through to support for training and maintenance).

Innovation in UMTS synchronization
In 2004, the company also introduced several variants of Global Positioning
System (GPS) oscillators and receivers. GPS uses satellites in space to enable
users to position themselves extremely accurately, or to synchronize local clocks
to an accuracy of several nanoseconds. These systems are increasingly used to
synchronize telecommunications networks, in particular third-generation mobile
networks (UMTS). Oscilloquartz has therefore entered the field of OEM (Original
Equipment Manufacturer) cards, with GPS cards that can be inserted into a client
chassis. It is also introducing another variant that makes use of GPS signals to
synchronize telecommunications networks or the digital broadcasting of radio
and television programs (DVB-T).

OMEGA ELECTRONICS 

There were many highlights in Omega Electronics’ year, and each of the compa-
ny’s three divisions consolidated its position in its distinct area of activity.

Sport division
For the Sport division, the highlight of 2004 was the Athens Olympic Games.
Thanks to this fantastic showcase, Omega Electronics’ new ranges of dot-matrix
sports displays have been unanimously recognized by the various federations, and
have become the standard for future top-level competitions. This is illustrated by
the fact that the World Handball Championships in Tunisia and the forthcoming
World Ice Hockey Championships in Austria have opted to display their results and
manage their events using Omega Electronics equipment. At the same time,
equipment has also been delivered and installed at numerous prestigious sites
around the world, including dozens of nationally important swimming pools that
have been fully equipped in the Ukraine, Poland, Italy, Australia and England. 
The leading light in timekeeping support, Omega Electronics was responsible 
for supervising the Tenth Pan-Arab Games, which took place in October 2004 
in Algeria.

Passenger information systems
In 2004, this division of Omega Electronics carried out a record number of
projects, and implemented around thirty display systems in Swiss railroad
stations. The main installations were an extension to Berne station, the complete
renovation of Geneva Airport, and several stations that have been newly
equipped with display facilities, including Delémont, Langnau, La Chaux-de-
Fonds, Zollikofen and Berne Wankdorf.
The company’s main Swiss client CFF (Chemins de Fer Fédéraux – the Swiss
railroad company) introduced a new rail timetable across the whole of Switzer-
land. This was a huge challenge for all of Omega Electronics’ staff who, thanks 
to their hard work, were able to deliver the system on time and provide all
passengers with train information from December 12, 2004.
Sited at strategic locations, the LCD-TFT monitors receive non-stop information
from a central database and are proving to be a huge success. These leading-
edge display products are installed at various stations, and provide passengers
with information on the exact departure times of the next trains. As for Omega
Electronics’ legendary mechanical technology product, the flap board, this is
slowly becoming a niche product on the market. Omega Electronics has opted for
the new LCD matrix optical display technology that has greatly impressed CFF in
Switzerland and Germany’s railroad company Deutsche Bahn (DB). Both of these
companies plan to equip their infrastructure with a whole range of LCD matrix
displays designed and created by engineers at Bienne.
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«Access Link» secured proximity systems
At CeBit 2004 in Germany, Omega Electronics held the world première of its Radio
Frequency Identification (RFID) chip card solution, which communicates without
requiring physical contact. Data can be securely written to and read from 
the chip, and it is also possible to integrate it into a Swatch Access watch with
digital display. This solution makes it possible to hold a wide variety of different
applications simultaneously on the same chip, such as electronic ticketing, cash-
less payments, and access authorization and control, which can be viewed via the
watch’s digital display.
During 2004, the components plus the «access link» embedded software devel-
oped by Omega Electronics were integrated into clients’ terminals at a steady
rate, and sales are on the increase. In the field of systems, Omega Electronics
successfully implemented two access control systems in Switzerland – one for
bicycle hire at Aarau, and the other for the Kinder City attraction at Volketswil.
The latter is equipped with portable wireless control readers, which also interface
with the market-leading ticketing and catering program.
In the field of cashless payments, a new reader named «easy access link», based
on Omega Electronics technology, has been launched on the market. This reader
is successfully operating in several vending machine installations. All of these
installations use the company’s embedded cashless software, which is sold under
license. For electronic ticketing applications, the company has developed multi-
purpose embedded software that can be marketed under license, with consumer
application projects scheduled for 2005. They will be implemented, for exemple,
in the future Stade de Suisse, at Wankdorf, Berne, for access control and elec-
tronic ticketing using the watch access system. 
Lastly, two additional application fields have been identified with market part-
ners, namely home automation access, and IT access control and security. These
products plus applications (embedded software) should be launched on the mar-
ket in 2005.

LASAG

Thanks to innovations and new products that have enabled Lasag to continue
charting a course towards success in 2004, the company gained a competitive
edge and was able to succeed in the tough environment of the international laser
market. Consequently, it enjoyed a marked increase in the sales of its laser
sources.
Globally active, Lasag is a leading manufacturer of industrial solid-state lasers for
precision cutting, welding, drilling and ablation of metals and other materials. It
has a production site in Switzerland and subsidiaries in the principal markets of
the USA, Germany and Japan.
Once again in 2004, Welding LightWare™, the company’s leading precision laser
welding product, was the center of attention. At IMTS 2004, one of the largest
industrial fairs in the world, Lasag premiered the new Swiss Quality EasyWelder
SLS200 CL60, a fiber laser designed especially for the precision welding of hard-
to-weld metals and combinations of materials in the fields of electronics, medical
device technology and the automotive industry. Thanks to the unique technology
of its delivery mechanism, EasyWelder provides an incomparable pulse-to-pulse
stability of approaching 0.5 percent. The high-resolution pulse-shaping and
especially the long pulse length of up to 100 ms permit crack-free spot-welding
and seam-welding, even on brittle steels with a high carbon content. These
advantages arise primarily from the use of the Shadow high-speed welding
process, with which it is possible to carry out precision seam-welding within a
single laser pulse.
With the development of an innovative welding process, the company has
successfully created an attractive new laser application for use on heat exchang-
ers and boilers in electrical appliances. This enables its users completely to
replace existing conventional joining technologies with laser welding. Product
quality has therefore significantly increased, with unit costs showing a marked
reduction. For this unique new welding process, common industrial property
rights have been applied for jointly with the end user.
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the normal watch requirements such as being shock proof and water resistant,
the product demonstrates that it is possible to integrate functions typically found
on computers and PDAs in a wristwatch without compromising on the esthetics
and ergonomics of a classical analogue watch.

ASULAB

Asulab is the Swatch Group corporate research and development laboratory. The
mission of the laboratory is the development of technically innovative watch
products, subsystems and components, as well as the necessary manufacturing
technologies. Active collaboration with universities within Switzerland and
abroad provides access to the technologies and techniques that are essential for
the innovative activities of the laboratory.
Close cooperation with the companies within the Group and direct involvement
throughout the industrialisation phase provide the key for the success of Asulab’s
development work and the associated transfer of the know-how.
In order to fulfill its mission, Asulab has a highly trained technical staff and the
corresponding technical laboratory infrastructure. The laboratory is active in
microtechnology, microelectronics, telecommunications, liquid crystal displays,
sensors and actuators, materials and process engineering. All the technical fields
required today for the development of sophisticated modern timing products are
thus brought together at Asulab.
One of the 2004 developments is the project «Agenda», a wristwatch in classical
aesthetics and metal case containing the functionality of a personal digital assis-
tant (PDA). The watch is equipped with a touch sensitive watch glass as the main
input interface and with an analogue and digital display. This concept allows to
read and edit data on the wrist watch such as the agenda, address book and
notebook information (e.g. the «to do list») known from the usual and much 
larger PDAs.
The user may select between five languages and consult and edit the data using
the touch screen, which has a similar functionality to the one on the Tissot 
«T-Touch». The watch offers the main editing features known from PC text editing
programs. The dynamic memory management allows to store data according to
the users’ needs with a capacity similar to other PDAs; the watch holds for
instance simultaneously over 1000 appointments and 160 personal files in the
address book and 100 «to do lists».
Despite of the watch allowing an entirely autonomous use, it is equipped with a
radio data link to a PC. This allows to read and edit the data on a PC and to down-
load them to the watch without the need to take the watch from the wrist. The
radio link works in both directions and the software protocol in the watch and 
on the PC allow to use the watch with several PCs as well as to use a PC for
several watches and to build local networks around a (partially) common agenda.
The PC software has the functionality and the graphism of a virtual paper 
agenda and is correspondingly easy to use.
A special low power processor and transceiver has been developed for this watch
which allow the use of regular watch batteries and give the product an autonomy
of one and a half year with frequent use of the agenda functions. With its 
overall dimensions and esthetics corresponding to a sports watch and satisfying
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ICB – INGÉNIEURS CONSEILS EN BREVETS

The key objectives of ICB Ingénieurs Conseils en Brevets SA are to protect the
technical innovations of the Swatch Group, promote its technological knowledge,
monitor markets, and combat counterfeiting (patent violations).
In 2004, ICB continued to protect the technological assets of the companies and
the various research and development entities of the Swatch Group. The number
of new patent applications lodged has once again risen compared with 2003. This
is the result of an effective synergy that has been maintained with all the engi-
neering and research teams within the Swatch Group. Once again this year, this
collaboration has been particularly significant in the field of watchmaking, with-
out forgetting the continued high level in the non-watchmaking activities of the
Swatch Group.
Significant effort has been put into supporting the market penetration strategy of
the products of the Group’s brands in the marketplace. To this end, the policy of
financial investment to obtain patent protection abroad for new products has
continued in a targeted manner. In particular, the Group has consolidated its
protection efforts in emerging countries, whilst at the same time supporting
potential markets for these new products.
In collaboration with the Swatch Group’s legal department, ICB has assisted
companies and various departments within the Group in defending their rights,
wherever they may be, and whenever this has been necessary.
This year, the management of ICB has continued its financial strategy of control-
ling its operating costs. It has also set out to reduce operational costs relating 
to maintaining and acquiring patent rights.
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SWISS TIMING

The Olympic Games meant that all eyes in 2004 were turned to Greece. Athens
gave the whole world some magnificent Olympic Games, quite unforgettable and
full of exciting highlights such as the shot putting at Olympia, birthplace of the
first Olympic Games; or the finish of the women’s and men’s marathon in the
amazing marble Panathinaikon Stadium at the foot of the Acropolis, which was
home to the first Olympic Games of the modern era in 1896.
For Swiss Timing too the stakes were high, and the volume of work substantial.
In addition to its timekeeping, scoring and display services, Swiss Timing was for
the first time responsible for on-site information processing. This important task
can be illustrated with a few figures: a team of 7 people permanently located 
in Athens since 2002, a team of 306 people of 23 nationalities equating to 
8453 man-days, during the Games themselves, and 85 people, representing 1729 
man-days during the Paralympics. This on top of the pre-Olympic tests that took
place on site between August 2003 and June 2004, representing a total of 6200
man-days.
However, this global sporting event which benefited the Swatch brand did not
eclipse Swiss Timing’s many other operational activities, in which its technicians
were involved around the world and around the clock.
Longines, the faithful ambassador of Elegance, continued to enjoy its privileged
relationships with gymnastics and equestrianism. In artistic gymnastics, it was
involved in the European Championships in Amsterdam and Ljubljana and the
World Cup final in Birmingham; in rhythmic gymnastics, it was present at the
European Championships in Kiev and the World Cup final in Moscow. Swiss
Timing provided services for the World Aerobics Championships in Sofia, and also
for the final of the Trampolining World Cup in Algiers. In equestrianism, the pres-
tigious international competitions in Rome, Cannes, Vienna, Lucerne, Barcelona
and Hickstead acted as an ideal and very exclusive backdrop against which to
award the Longines Prize for Elegance.

CDNP – CENTRE DE DÉVELOPPEMENT 
DES NOUVEAUX PRODUITS

The New Products Development Center (CDNP) is the creation unit in which the
look of the Group’s watches are first imagined and conceived. A multitude of ideas
confronting hard technical realities – this is the daily challenge of this meeting
place where the numerous dreams of the Group’s different brands are brought 
to life. The Center is able to rely on the unquestionable esthetic ability of its
designers as well as the micro-technical construction skills of its engineers and
technicians.
An ultra-modern workshop enables small runs of prototype dials, bracelets, clasps,
bezels, watchcases and jewels to be produced. In 2004, the CDNP enhanced its
prototyping capacity with the acquisition of a new 5-axis CNC machining center.
This will enable the unit to create small runs of prototypes in all sorts of precious
metals, broadening the services that CDNP provides to the Group’s top-of-the-
range brands. Ultra-rapid 3D prototyping in high-performance multicolored resins
has developed significantly over the last year. This exercise has also enabled CDNP
to demonstrate its expertise in the fields of infography and image simulation.
Satisfying all the Group’s brands remains the daily challenge for the men and
women who work at CDNP. Combining technology and esthetics is taken to the
limits here, thanks to many years of watchmaking experience. Each brand has its
own identity, which the Center staff know how to respect. Furthermore, the
Development Center’s close collaboration with the Group’s watchcase production
companies results in the wonderful creations that can be admired in store
windows across the world.
Packaging specialists also advise the brands and manage their packaging orders,
taking environmental and financial considerations into account. CDNP’s achieve-
ments in 2004 in the field of watches, jewelry, packaging and advertising materi-
als of all types have been numerous, and have most certainly contributed to the
success of sales in the marketplace.
Last but not least, the Center has the important and challenging task of develop-
ing and monitoring standards and technical specifications for the Group’s watch-
es in strict accordance with ISO and NIHS standards, which at the end of the day
ensures product quality. This task is carried out in close collaboration with the
Group’s quality department.
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Thanks to its state-of-the-art computer equipment and expertise, the CDNP is able
to provide services to all the Group’s brands in the specialized fields of image
simulation and animation. The leading-edge CNC machines are linked to a CAD
network, making it possible to rapidly create not only models and prototypes, but
also production tools.
As usual, this year has seen several patent grants being added to the portfolio 
of the group, enabling it to maintain its leading position in the world of watch-
making.
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For Omega, Swiss Timing handled most of the major international athletics meet-
ings in Switzerland (Lausanne and Zurich), Qatar, Rome, Paris, Berlin, Brussels,
Stockholm and Oslo, not forgetting the Swiss Championships in Basle. The brand
was able to put its name to some very exciting sporting images, adding to its roll
of honor several World Cup Swimming events including Durban, Melbourne, New
York, Moscow, Berlin and Stockholm and the World Swimming Championships 
at Indianapolis, the European Championships in Madrid and Vienna (Short
Course), the US Swimming Championships and the Water Polo World Cup at 
Long Beach.
As in every winter season, Swatch devoted almost 2000 man-days to the
hundred or so Downhill Skiing and Snowboarding World Cup events, which 
are subject to the vagaries of the weather and the risk of cancellations, post-
ponements, changes of venue and other last-minute alterations that keep our
technicians constantly on their toes. Swatch had a second successful season in
the young, fun sport of beach volleyball that fits the brand’s image so perfectly.
World cup events took its technicians to Rhodes, Majorca, China, Japan, Brazil,
the United States, Marseilles, Milan, Berlin, Klagenfurt and Gstaad.
Continuing its commitment to sport that reflects its dynamism, Tissot called on
Swiss Timing for the World Track Cycling Championships in Melbourne, and the
Road Championships in Verona, the Tour de Suisse and the Tour de Romandie, the
Mountain Bike World Championships at Les Gets and the Mountain Bike World
Cup, which included 8 events across Europe and North America. Lastly, as part-
ner of the International Fencing Federation, Tissot also covered a Fencing World
Cup event in Doha.
By meeting ever more demanding standards of performance, Swiss Timing’s
state-of-the-art technology and the expertise and professionalism of its techni-
cians ensured its continued dominance of the international sports timing arena.
This has increased and strengthened both the credibility and the visibility of the
Group’s brands throughout the entire world.
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SWATCH GROUP REAL ESTATE

In 2004, Swatch Group Real Estate was responsible for managing a total of 6113
non-industrial housing units (comprising 454 buildings). These management con-
tracts are being carried out on behalf of the Swatch Group Pension Fund, group
companies’ employer’s funds, Swatch Group subsidiaries and some third parties.
The properties administered by Swatch Group Real Estate are spread across ten
cantons, but the majority are in Berne, Neuchâtel, Solothurn, Vaud and Jura.
In 2004, CHF 15.2 million were allocated to refurbishment work and maintaining
this property, enabling structural reinforcements to be carried out. Since manage-
ment fees are linked to rental income, the administration has been obliged to face
a fall in the fee revenue following a continued drop in mortgage rates and rents.
At the end of 2004, the percentage of empty properties in the managed real
estate portfolio was approaching 5.1 percent. It has been possible to reduce this
figure by taking specific action, despite the difficult property market in Le Locle
and La Chaux-de-Fonds.
In the industrial sector, the division has once again carried out a large number of
planning, improvement and refurbishment projects. Particularly worthy of note
are the Taverne project (Distico) in Ticino, the construction work carried out at
Comadur in Le Locle, and the refurbishment of the air-conditioning system at
ETA’s factory 02 at Granges.
In the commercial retail sector, numerous new stores have been created and
existing stores have been updated, for example in Berne, Berlin and Munich for
Omega, in Cannes for Léon Hatot and Glashütte, and in Porto Cervo with the
Tourbillon store. In addition, new solutions were introduced for the trade fair at
Doha in Qatar, and for Baselworld 2004.
In Poland, Swatch Group Real Estate helped to provide administrative premises
(offices) for the new Swatch Group Poland distribution company. The new subsi-
diary was therefore able to move into its new premises and become operational
as scheduled on January 1, 2005.
In Japan, an extremely well situated building was acquired at Ginza (Tokyo)
during the fiscal year under review. It was demolished and replaced with an inno-
vative new building that will act as the center for Swatch Group in Japan. 
Finally, at the end of 2004, Swatch Group became the owner of a Richemont
Group factory at Villeret with a total surface area of 3.500 m2 plus 28 465 m2 of
additional land. This acquisition is ideally suited for watchmaking activities.
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duplicated work and redundant services have been eliminated. And shorter
response times and faster delivery services lead to fewer missed sales and 
higher turnover. 
The year 2004 of the European Distribution Center was marked by the opening 
of a new logistics facility for the Swatch brand in Ticino and the integration of 
the Scandinavian countries in the shared operations. Also in 2004, the Advanced
Customer Service Information System (ACSIS) continued its rollout to selected
countries, providing on-line information of watch repair activities and the
availability of ten thousands of spare parts references.

SWATCH GROUP CUSTOMER SERVICE

2004 was a key date for Swatch Group Customer Service which, in January,
became an autonomous division completely separate from the Group’s central
activities. The aim of the service is to provide all the Group’s clients with a 
quality service at reasonable prices; to coordinate policy across brands; to define
minimum service standards for each product category; and to consolidate service
activities worldwide. 2004 can therefore be seen as the year in which the service
was established, with a focus on defining a medium to long-term plan of its
activities. Five main focal points have been defined for the actions to be
undertaken in the coming years, aiming at reinforcing the existing client service
directives with optimum efficiency. In order to achieve these objectives, Swatch
Group Customer Service has already acquired high-performance management
tools that will provide transparency in all operations. They have been imple-
mented in Scandinavia, Austria, Poland and at Glashütte in Germany. This policy
will be extended to cover all of Europe over the next three years. An effective
long-term tool also requires top-quality human resources. To this end, the 
N. G. Hayek School at the University of Shanghai was extended in 2004, doubling
its training capacity, and new training centers are also being set up.
The European service center, located at Glashütte, started operation in 2004.
Intended for the repair and maintenance of the brands’ prestige and luxury
watches for the European market, this center also acts as a «laboratory» for
implementing innovative workflows aimed at improving the quality and speed of
service. Following a difficult start, the center is now fully operational.

SWATCH GROUP DISTRIBUTION

The ability of the Group to respond rapidly and flexibly to market demands in a
cost-efficient way is a powerful competitive edge. One capability that has proven
to be fundamental to success in this respect is the management of the supply
chain. The growing recognition of the importance of this capability has been
reflected in the creation of The Swatch Group Distribution AG in 2001. The
mission of this organisation is to support Swatch Group companies throughout
the world in running logistics services at the best of the industry and to initiate
projects that are aimed to get products in front of the customer faster, more
reliable and at lower cost than up to now.
In 2004, The Swatch Group Distribution AG concentrated its efforts on two main
areas.

The Swatch Group Logistics Unit continued to work on the major cornerstones
of a worldwide supply chain management system that is closely integrating the
materials and information flows from component suppliers, through manufactur-
ing and distribution to retailers. A Group-wide logistics information platform
(LIROS) is now connecting nearly all brands and country organisation and is in the
process of being expanded backwards to the manufacturing companies and
component suppliers. Reporting and controlling tools have been designed to
monitor the logistics performance of the Group and its companies based on a set
of logistics key performance indicators. And a new system was implemented that
is significantly improving the way orders are entered and confirmed. Also, the
team continued its effort to improve both the skills and the tools for better
planning and forecasting in order to eliminate the excess inventories that exist 
at all levels, while at the same time reducing stock-outs in the points of sale.
Finally, a Group-wide initiative was started to significantly reducing lead-times in
production and distribution in order to make the organization more flexible and
responsive to changing demand and supply conditions.

The second major activity of The Swatch Group Distribution AG is the develop-
ment of regional service centers. Operational since 2001, the first of these, the
European Disribution Center, is aiming to replace local warehousing and
distribution by offering a common logistics platform in Switzerland, out of which
products are delivered directly to retailers throughout Europe. Meanwhile, eleven
brands and thirteen countries are being served by the European Distribution
Center. Several million watches, jewellery and merchandizing materials are
processed per year and hundreds of thousands of parcels are shipped within 
24-48 hours to more than 10 000 retailers across Europe. 
From the benefits accrued, the most significant one is the strong reduction of
inventories through managing one single inventory at one location rather than
several local stocks. Operating costs are cut by a double-digit percentage as
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SWATCH GROUP QUALITY MANAGEMENT

The year 2004 was marked by the expansion of the Swatch Group Quality
Management’s mission, and the ensuing clarification of its direction. Products
have become the center of attention because they are the outcome of the 
quality of work contributed on a daily basis by all employees. In the interests of
the product and its success, it is crucial that each operation is fully mastered.
Consequently, all of SG QM’s activities have been defined in relation to the
product. Eight competence centers provide services that cover the entire product
lifecycle (see illustration).
Product Improvement – Several technical groups have been working towards
improving products for the brands, as well as increasing the production yield 
for specific watch components. A new component assembly manual is also
currently being drawn up.
Certification – The certification phase for three new products with specific
characteristics has been very closely monitored. A workgroup has started to
review all the tests and parameters used for certifying watchcases before they
are put on the market.
Metrology – A standardized method of managing measuring instruments has
been introduced in three Swatch Group companies.
Material Specifications – Specifications relating to the materials used to manu-
facture products are systematically reviewed in order to take account of different
legal requirements, recommendations resulting from ISO international standards,
and the demands of environmental standards. Particular attention has been paid
to leather.
Quality Controlling – In order to ensure the quality of purchased products,
procedures relating to quality control and to the selection and auditing of
suppliers have been adapted. A workgroup has been tasked with implementing a
new supplier evaluation system linked to an interactive database belonging to
the Purchasing service.

Material Specifications

Management Systems Training / Tools Product Risk Management Quality Controlling

Metrology Homologation Product Improvement

Commercial Lifetime

Production

Industrialization

Development

Product Risk Management – Areas of responsibility have been defined for 
global Risk Management within the Swatch Group, and Product Risk Manage-
ment run by the Quality Management service. A legislation-monitoring project
relating to products is currently being carried out in conjunction with the
Federation of the Swiss Watch Industry FH.
Training / Tools – An investigation is underway to clarify the requirements 
for quality tools and methods within the Group. The aim is to set up a tailor-made
modular training program covering quality techniques. Method 5S has been
reviewed with the aim of improving the flexibility of the duration of work phases
and improving the transfer of supervision of activities to the company concerned.
Management Systems – All the management systems of the 21 Group com-
panies with ISO 9001 certification are currently being analyzed. In parallel,
negotiations have been taking place with the certification bodies (SGS / BVQI /
SQS) in order to introduce a specific Swatch Group frame of reference. The tasks
to be centralized have been identified during a workshop attended by company
quality management, enabling a tailor-made plan of work to be set up. 
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SWATCH GROUP INTERNET LAB

In 2004, the.lab continued to expand its Internet site development and mainte-
nance activities.
The Swatch brand’s e-commerce site is being completely revamped. This
ambitious project, which has involved all of the staff at the.lab and the brand’s
Internet group for a large part of the year, involves implementing an entirely new
technical infrastructure which is more efficient and cheaper than the existing
one, plus a new structure and a completely different and innovative design. The
site has been designed to run faster and be more user-friendly, to enable users to
admire (and hopefully buy!) a far larger range of models, and to allow Swatch to
run its marketing operations in a more flexible manner so that the site can be
truly living and varied. This site, which currently only lets customers resident in
the United States buy on-line, has also been designed in such a way that it can
easily be extended to additional countries. Various projects are underway in this
area. The site will very shortly include the brand’s current virtual storefront. The
aim of the team responsible for this task is that the site will become the world
reference for all the brand’s enthusiasts, and that in the medium term consumers
from all over the world will be able to purchase products from the site, including
any old models that are still available. From this perspective, the site should
enable users to find and view all the brand’s models manufactured since its cre-
ation in 1983 (over 5000 different models). Since going live (at the end of August),
the site has maintained continuous availability, and has seen a considerable
growth in traffic and sales.
Other Internet implementations carried out by the.lab include the website for the
Hamilton brand, which has been entirely reworked, and that of the Universo
company, who are using the framework developed by the.lab in 2003. Whilst
ensuring clear brand recognition, this framework enables a professional Internet
presence to be established rapidly, with no additional programming, and at a
reasonable cost.
The year has also been characterized by close collaboration with Tissot, Blancpain
and Breguet, and this has enabled the.lab to support the Internet activities of
these brands. 
In sectors not involving the Internet, significant design and graphics work has
been carried out for the Swatch brand in the area of advertising: the.lab has
taken part in concept definitions and pilot implementations for campaigns and

the Autumn/Winter catalogs for the Skin and Irony collections. It has also been
involved in marketing operations relating to Swatch’s models. As part of the
Olympic Games, the.lab also took part in the implementation of the publicity cam-
paign for those Group brands directly participating in the event – Longines,
Omega and Swatch.

SWATCH GROUP HI-TECH

During 2004, the Swatch Group Hi-Tech division continued its double mission of
improving its technological expertise with a view to developing new applications
for future watches, and also of reinforcing and optimizing the synergy between
the Group companies involved in developing components and watches with 
functions requiring ever smaller and more powerful electronics.  
A lightweight structure of this type, integrated into corporate processes thanks to
its matrix structure, gives the Group improved flexibility and response times in an
area where the speed of technological developments demands quick reactions.
The division’s involvement in developing the new Swatch Fun Scuba as well as
the Tissot High-T and, in close collaboration with Microsoft, the Swatch Paparazzi,
illustrate the expertise built up since the team was established in 2001. Launch-
ing these products in 2004 was the culmination of the team’s sustained commit-
ment and the many months of effort they dedicated to the success of these
projects.
New technological programs were launched in various areas in 2004. These will
lead to major innovations once this technology is integrated into watches.
Following Swatch Group’s successful involvement in 2003, the Group was again
present at CeBIT 2004 in Hannover, demonstrating the diversity of products 
and the technical accomplishment of Swatch Group companies. In this Olympic 
year, several of the Group’s companies and brands were present on the stand
alongside Swiss Timing, helping visitors to appreciate our activities in the field of
sports and timekeeping. 
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SWATCH GROUP GERMANY

Swatch consolidated its position in 2004 in a difficult market segment, thanks to
its Skin and Originals lines. The Swatch Olympic collection was an out-and-out
success, but the launch of the Fun Scuba was one of the year’s most memorable
events, as was the huge publicity campaign that covered the whole of Germany.
The good results recorded by Swatch Jewelry in 2003 were repeated in grand
style in 2004. The fact that a growing number of points of sale were fitted out
with the new Atlantis concept, and also the positive progress of Swatch Stores,
turned out to be globally decisive with regard to the brand’s stability in the
shrinking market environment.

Breguet succeeded in improving its sales performance despite the stagnation of
the luxury watch market. This good result basically follows from the new products
introduced at Baselworld. These were very well received in Germany, particularly
following articles published in the specialist German watchmaking press. At the
end of the year, the brand organized various exhibitions of past and present mod-
els in its points of sale. In so doing, it was able to strengthen its collaboration
with commercial partners and reach its clients in a very direct and exciting
manner.

Blancpain had an extremely successful year in 2004. Bucking the trend 
generally observed in the high-end segment, the brand continued to stabilize,
registering a clear gain in Germany. Moreover, in partnership with its retailers, it
was involved in various charitable and sporting events in order to further raise its
profile, also reinforcing the close and successful collaboration it has established
with the specialist watchmaking press.

Omega has performed remarkably well in the top-range traditional watch
segment. The strategic direction of its distribution arm with the emphasis it has
placed on product presentation is beginning to bear fruit. It is also worth men-
tioning the smooth running of the three Omega boutiques in Hamburg, Munich
and Berlin. Events organized in these stores have enabled the brand to further
consolidate its foothold, at the same time introducing its clients and the media to
specialties such as the Speedmaster Reduced Diamonds and the Apollo 11
model. Demand for classic models such as the Moonwatch was stimulated by
special interior designs installed at carefully selected retailers.

Longines made marked progress in 2004 in the high-end price segment. This
was helped by the reorganization of its distribution infrastructure, and also the

introduction of new product lines such as the Longines evidenza, the flagship
model of the year, and the Longines LungoMare, which was supported by exten-
sive advertising and media activities. Moreover, Longines held regular training
courses for its sales staff, and various evenings introducing the general world of
the brand to fashion journalists met with an extremely favorable response.

Rado confirmed its role as a top-of-the-range brand in the upper price segment
in 2004. Shop-in-shop solutions have been introduced in a targeted manner in
upmarket shopping centers in major German cities. These brand showcases have
generated additional demand from consumers. The brand introduced its new
products plus its current and forthcoming activities to its commercial partners
and journalists at exclusive soirées held in art galleries. For the first time, Rado
supported the Berlin International Film Festival, whilst at the same time con-
tinuing its advertising campaigns on posters and in the press. 

Tissot suffered from the general drop in the market in 2004, but nevertheless
succeeded in asserting itself, and still holds a dominant position. At an event held
in Frankfurt at the start of the year, Tissot's president, François Thiébaud,
presented the brand’s activity plan for the year to 200 or so commercial partners
and journalists. These activities included the extremely successful promotional
campaign for the Tissot PRS 516, which met with success right across the
country. The ongoing optimization of distribution quality has also made the brand
more approachable and user-friendly in busy public areas, as well as benefiting
specialist stores. 

ck watch & jewelry once again succeeded in standing out in the face of very
stiff competition in the world of fashion watches. A decisive factor here was the
launch of new watch lines, particularly the ck flash. But the biggest sensation
was the stunning introduction onto the market of the first ck jewelry collection.
The intensive advertising campaign, the major media impact this generated and,
above all, the ck jewelry roadshow that toured various cities all contributed
significantly to this success. 

Certina achieved a marked growth in 2004 following the brand’s relaunch, which
was started the previous year. New products such as the DS Donna, DS Podium
and the extraordinary DS 3 1000m enabled Certina to significantly strengthen its
profile as a mid-range brand for sporty, dynamic watches. Its partnership as
official timekeeper for the «Frankfurt Galaxy» American football team is improving
its visibility in this sport, which is booming in Germany.

Mido was able to significantly increase its level of acceptance in qualified
specialist stores thanks to an exceptional increase in its range. The appearance
of the first Mido shop-in-shops in busy top-end supermarkets contributed to this
trend, as did its other promotional activities.
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Flik Flak ended 2004 as the leading brand for children’s watches, despite the
increased competition that exists in Germany. Particularly encouraging results
were recorded thanks to the special “Powerpuff Girls” models promoted by TV
adverts transmitted during children’s programs. The Kindergarten Olympics,
which took place right across Germany, raised the profile of the Flik Flak Olympic
Specials with the two mascots from the 2004 Athens Olympic Games.

SWATCH GROUP AUSTRIA

Swatch concentrated in 2004 on strengthening its presence in points of sale. It
installed over 40 Atlantis shop-in-shops, and opened the world’s first «Bora Bora»
Atlantis kiosk in Seiersberg, Graz, in November. Promotional activities of note
included the Vienna Lifeball, the beach volleyball at Klagenfurt (the Swatch FIVB
World Tour), and also a series of themed events centered on current affairs. Coin-
ciding with the start of the Olympic Games, the opening of the Swatch store in
Vienna provoked great enthusiasm and received a very favorable response with
the participation of several Olympic champions, the president of the ÖOC (The
Austrian Olympic Committee) and numerous personalities from the worlds of
business, politics and culture.

Glashütte Original succeeded in consolidating and even improving its position
in the Austrian watchmaking market in 2004. The signing of new partnership
deals heralds an excellent future market presence for the brand in the most visi-
ble locations in Austria. For the first time, the brand invited its retailers, stockists,
numerous journalists and even several end consumers to Glashütte, the cradle of
German watchmaking craftsmanship. Lastly, Glashütte once again distinguished
itself by winning two first places and one third place at one of the country’s most
important watchmaking contests. 

Omega once again succeeded in affirming its position in a market that continues
to be challenging, and was able to expand its market shares. This is the result not
only of its extremely selective distribution strategy but also the excellent position-
ing of the brand within its segment, which has had a particularly encouraging
impact on average sales prices. These results also follow on from the brand’s sus-
tained efforts in the marketing and communication fields. Two major sailing
events, as well as the Omega Moon Rover’s tour right around Austria marking the
35th anniversary of the first moon landing, considerably raised the brand’s profile,
as did its timekeeping at the European Short Course Swimming Championships
held in Vienna in mid-December.

Longines registered a clear increase in its turnover on the Austrian retail market.
This is the result not only of the extremely focused distribution strategy adopted

by the brand, but also of its targeted advertising push. This marked increase
across many retailers can be attributed to the Longines evidenza collection,
which was a huge success, the Longines DolceVita and La Grande Classique de
Longines. As well as its traditional media campaigns, Longines has relied pri-
marily on targeted events at retail outlets, on the occasion of the Eisenstraßen-
classic veteran automobile race, and also the international Fest der Pferde
(Equestrian Festival), in which Longines took part for the ninth successive year.

Rado once again succeeded in increasing its turnover, and also gaining market
shares. As part of the tennis sponsorship activities in which it has been involved
for the last twenty years, Rado had a presence at all the major Austrian tennis
tournaments. In 2004, it was able to draw on the support of Thomas Muster, ex-
number 1 and top ambassador in the world of tennis. For the first time, the brand
supported wheelchair tennis in Austria. Following a major sales-force training ini-
tiative (involving some 400 staff) organized right across Austria, quality in its
points of sale significantly increased in 2004.

Union experienced a very festive year in 2004. The brand celebrated the 111th

anniversary of its founding by creating a small series of refined watches in a lim-
ited edition of 111 pieces and combining them to form a 3-piece set, which met
with phenomenal success amongst collectors and friends of the brand.

Tissot rounded off 2004 with an upturn in its sales figures thanks to effective
public relations and marketing, and despite continuing flat consumption. The two
charity ice hockey matches organized with the participation of Austrian personal-
ities from the fields of sport, business and the media received excellent media
coverage, and the national poster campaign contributed to a strong increase in
the brand’s reputation.

ck watch & jewelry recorded significant growth in the Austrian retail market. The
launch of ck jewelry was a great success, and the new products received a fantas-
tic welcome from end consumers and commercial partners alike. The exclusive ck
watch cosmic series and ck jewelry specials in PVD highlighted the importance of
introducing the ideal product in the demanding fashion accessories sector.

Certina had a very encouraging year, marked by a clear increase in turnover. The
launch of its new product lines was extremely well received. Moreover, the qual-
ity of its distribution and its display in specialist stores has seen a distinct
improvement. A special tour organized throughout Austria, featuring the Certina
Pocket Bike, focused consumers’ attention and generated a significant increase
in retail sales. 
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SWATCH GROUP BELGIUM

Swatch saw an improvement in its figures for 2004 – in fact, it recorded its
highest ever turnover in December. This encouraging situation is due to a
constantly growing interest in the brand in general, and also to a growing
demand in airports and large shopping centers. In 2004, Belgium celebrated the
75th anniversary of its hero Tintin. This occasion was celebrated by Swatch with
the launch of a special limited-edition Tintin watch as part of an international
event to which members of Swatch The Club were invited. Swatch Bijoux was a
big hit throughout the entire year, and sales figures exceeded all expectations.

Breguet signaled an all-time record year in 2004. Benelux dealers recorded
excellent results, and the interest shown by consumers and enthusiasts of pres-
tige horology is most impressive. The new products introduced at Baselworld
were a great success, particularly the Tourbillon, the Réveil du Tsar and the Reine
de Naples, with the latter competing with the top men’s models.

Blancpain recorded a significant increase in its results in the Benelux thanks to
an expansion in its points of sale. Besides Baselworld, successes were the order
of the day at major events such Eccentric in Knokke (B), the Miljonair Fair in
Amsterdam (NL) and Les Journées de la Passion in the Grand Duchy of Luxem-
bourg. Blancpain’s support of the El Ran Cup – Arabian Horse Show at Borgloon
(B) was greatly appreciated.

Omega finished 2004 with a record turnover, and saw a considerable increase in
its market shares. Mechanical watches played a large part in this success story,
as did the Constellation and the new Double Eagle line. Quadrella was also a
great success following the advertising campaign, with exhibitions on client
premises and at the Eccentric fair at Knokke being much appreciated by watch-
making enthusiasts. The Omega Bijoux collection was very well received by the
press and the general public.

Longines ended 2004 with a significant increase in its turnover. This was in no
small part due to the excellent relations it has maintained with its restructured
distribution network over the last few years. Several events in prestigious
locations such as galleries of photographic art provided the setting for the launch
of the Longines evidenza and Longines LungoMare collections.

Rado exceeded its sales results of the previous year by a large margin. During its
annual exhibition in Brussels, the first V10K was literally hacked out of a block of
ice and presented to the national press and points of sale. The media coverage
and subsequent sales that resulted from this event contributed to the brand’s
success, as did the launches of the new Integral chronometer and the black
Sintra Superjubilé at the end of the year. Rado’s presence at the Proximus tennis
tournament strengthened the image of the brand. 

Tissot really made its mark as a top-quality brand, and retail jewelers were
particularly enthusiastic about its strong point – its value for money. Turnover
increased remarkably at watch retailers in major cities and shopping centers,
where the sporty PRS 516 and T-Touch met with great success. 

ck watch & jewelry was able to finish the year in style thanks to its star 
product of the year, the ck flash, which has already beaten all sales records. The
eagerly awaited launch of the ck jewelry collection got top marks from all the
fashion journalists and stylists, who welcomed these new products with great
enthusiasm. The comments that appeared in the press reinforced this view.

Balmain ended 2004 on a high, with a focus on dynamism and renewal. The
2004 collection led to yet another stunning success. The new sales team has 
been busy disseminating Balmain’s new image, and has been able to motivate
stockists and retailers with its new sales material.

Hamilton succeeded in ending the year on a positive note, after some initial
difficulties. The combination of a huge advertising campaign, a new image, and
new products contributed to a spectacular second half-year. The future now looks
promising. 

Certina had an excellent year, with the success of its new products confirming
the overall positive trend that the brand has experienced for the last four years.
Certina has therefore been able to establish a strong position amongst the
leaders in the mid-price sporty Swiss watch segment.

Flik Flak once again made its mark as the leading brand for children. The new
Powerpuff Girls and Dexter collections have been greatly appreciated. 

Omega Electronics experienced an outstanding year in 2004 thanks to various
equipment installed at swimming pools in the cities of Liege, Ghent and Antwerp.
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SWATCH GROUP SPAIN

Swatch experienced several important events during 2004, such as the launch-
es of the Fun Scuba 200 in Ibiza and the Swatch Bijoux collection in Madrid and,
on the beach, the Swatch FIVB World Tour beach volleyball tournament in Major-
ca. With regard to distribution, the brand continues to strengthen its network,
with a presence in numerous shopping centers. Its strategic alliance with the Sun
Planet chain, which has over twenty stores around the country, is an extremely
promising venture.

Breguet had another year of significant expansion. It recorded very encouraging
sales of grandes complications and the new Type XXI model despite a strong euro
reducing sales to tourists and visitors from abroad. Among the events sponsored
by Breguet in 2004, it is worth mentioning two concerts in Santander organized
by the Fundación Albeniz for promising young musicians from all over the world.

Blancpain had a wonderful year in Spain, with a great increase in sales and in
visibility thanks to a very successful advertising campaign carried out in colla-
boration with the most prestigious retailers. In 2004, the brand once again spon-
sored the polo tournament at the Real Polo Club in Barcelona, attended by the
press and thousands of potential consumers from the Barcelona region.

Glashütte Original came to the end of its consolidation phase with a significant
increase in its sales and its image. This was mainly due to a very successful
advertising campaign in conjunction with several retailers from the prestige
segment. A trip to Germany to visit the Glashütte factory was organized for jour-
nalists and members of the press from prestigious magazines, who wrote articles
enabling the public to become acquainted with the brand and its environment.

Omega announced a record year, with an important increase in its sales, and
improvements to its distribution and presentation. Three new shop-in-shops were
opened and the highpoint was the launch of Omega Bijoux in Marbella, with the
participation of dancers and models wearing the new items. The brand also spon-
sored several golf tournaments around the country, and the presence of Sergio
Garcia, the new Spanish Omega golf ambassador, was always very well received.

Longines experienced an increase over the year in Spain, during which several
models were launched with appreciable success. The World Equestrian Show
Jumping Championships held at the Real Polo Club in Barcelona were also a
great success, with Longines presenting one of the major prizes. The new
advertising campaign generated an excellent response, and contributed to an
increase in demand.

Rado was once again present, in line with tradition, at the two Pasarela Cibeles
fashion events that take place every year in Madrid. Moreover, the market gave a

very favorable welcome to the new automatic models for men and the diamond
models for ladies. The famous Spanish stylist Modesto Lomba once again ensured
that his models wore Rado products on the catwalk, with a good impact in the
press and even on television. 

Tissot had another amazing year, exceeding all forecasts and strengthening its
position as leader in the mid-range Swiss watch segment. Its presence as spon-
sor of the World Motorcycle Championships largely contributed to this success,
as did its sponsorship of the Mountainbike World Championships. Events took
place to introduce its new models, such as the latest ladies diamond collection.
These were an out-and-out success.

ck watch & jewelry recorded an excellent increase in its sales, with the launch
of the ck jewelry collection generating a very good response. A superb event took
place in the Thyssen Museum in Madrid to present ck jewelry to the press as part
of a visit to see the latest paintings acquired by the museum. 

Balmain made its debut on the Spanish market with the launch of its new
collections being a complete success and having a large impact in the media. A
famous Spanish TV star was hired to represent the brand, permitting his image to
be used for advertising purposes.

Certina experienced an excellent year, breaking new sales records. Especially
successful have been the new special edition models manufactured for Sete
Gibernau, the Spanish motorcycling champion. In addition, the ongoing spon-
sorship of the Spanish professional basketball league gave the brand significant
exposure on television to millions of viewers each week.

Hamilton had another record-breaking year, achieving increased sales and good
PR visibility with its participation as co-sponsor with Canal Plus at the San
Sebastián Film Festival. In addition, the Antique collection was exhibited in
Madrid and Barcelona with great success.
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SWATCH GROUP FRANCE

Swatch experienced some great moments in 2004. The event marking Tintin’s
75th anniversary aptly brought journalists accompanied by their children to the
Château de Cheverny-Moulinsart. At the Megastore on the Champs-Élysées in
Paris, sport-related works of art created by personalities from the worlds of art,
sport, and culture from around the globe were exhibited and then auctioned in
aid of UNICEF during the Kaleidoscope evening, which was attended by a panel
of top celebrities. Lastly, private viewings of the «Timekeeping at the Olympic
Games» exhibition at Printemps du Luxe in Paris, and the «What’s the Swatch»
exhibition on the 5th floor of the La Samaritaine department store brought
together journalists and clients. 

Blancpain organized a dinner on board of a yacht for journalists and clients from
the Côte d’Azur as part of the Monaco Yacht Show, which the brand sponsors.

Léon Hatot opened its second own-name boutique on French soil, following on
from the 2003 inauguration of its Paris store. Its new point of sale was opened on
May 8 in the presence of the brand’s president Arlette E. Emch on the Croisette
promenade in Cannes.

Omega chose the Omega store on rue de la Paix in Paris as the backdrop for its
«From the Earth to the Moon» exhibition featuring the legendary Speedmaster.
Journalists and clients were invited to a presentation cocktail evening. Also at
the same location, another event – Sensation Suisse – left its mark on the
journalists and clients who were invited, with the «Swiss» illuminations on the
Place Vendôme being particularly memorable.

Longines once again sponsored the Longines Horse Show at Cannes, which was
honored by the presence of Prince Albert of Monaco as well as show-business
personalities Richard Berry, Magloire and Elisa Tovati. Journalists and the brand’s
most select clients were able to view the new Longines LungoMare collection
whilst dining in the box and watching the competition. Richard Berry and Elisa
Tovati presented the famous Longines Grand Prix award. The event was a 
qualifier for the Athens 2004 Olympic Games and the French Championships. 

Rado and France – this relationship is epitomized by the Roland Garros interna-
tional tennis tournament held in Paris, since the brand is its official timekeeper.
In this capacity, the brand held daily dinners with journalists and top clients in its
private box, situated in the heart of the Roland Garros village. This enabled Rado
(and its president Roland Streule) to introduce its new collections and special
models, including the new Sintra chrono Roland Garros collection and the new
Integral. Both Prince Albert of Monaco and the singer Natacha St Pier were able
to enjoy the ladies’ final from the box. The top stars of international tennis attend-
ed the «Trophée des Légendes» evening held by Rado and Mansour Bahrami,

along with show-business personalities and television presenters. After the meal,
Roland Streule presented the French tennis player Yannick Noah with a check for
25 000.– euros for his «Fête le Mur» organization in aid of deprived youngsters.

Tissot had an extremely busy start to 2004, with its president François Thiébaud
presenting the all brand’s collections and its new-look store window displays to
numerous journalists and clients at the French Automobile Club in Paris. Also
attending the event was Florence Ollivier, the president of Swatch Group France. 

SWATCH GROUP GREECE

Swatch scored a record year in terms of sales, reputation, fun, and the diversity
of its activities during the 2004 Athens Olympic Games, where it played a major
role as official timekeeper. All the Swatch Stores were fitted out with the Jelly
Fish design. Several corners and shop-in-shops were opened in the five Olympic
sites and the Olympic village. The presentation of the Olympic collection to the
distribution network, the opening of the Megastore in Plaka (the old town of
Athens), the Women's Beach Volleyball tournament on Rhodes and the operation
of the Swatch Ionic Center in Plaka for the entire month of August are only a few
of the highlights of this stupendous year.

Glashütte Original made a prominent entry into the market, establishing a
presence in just a limited number of specially selected points of sale. Its partici-
pation at Greece’s most important haute horlogerie exhibition and the advertising
campaign launched in December contributed to the success of its market entry,
and sales figures are also on the increase in Cyprus.

Omega successfully maintained its market-leading position, further strengthen-
ing its presence across the entire retail network, mainly due to sales of its
flagship models, the Seamaster Aqua Terra and the Constellation Double Eagle.
Following on from the careful remodeling of its network, Omega organized a
major symposium for retailers, at which it was able to reinforce its image.

Longines maintained its market position, improving its image by investing
heavily in its best-selling Longines evidenza collection. Moreover, its Olympic
Collection impressed both the distribution network and end consumers. Longines
was also able to improve its profile by taking part in the biggest haute horlogerie
exhibition in Greece.

Rado succeeded in improving its brand visibility during the Olympic Games, by
taking over the Athens subway system for two months with an extremely impres-
sive and original mix of its most creative models. It also participated in a high-
profile marketing forum, further improving its image.
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Tissot achieved yet another successful year with regard to sales, and maintained
its mid-range market leadership position following a major advertising initiative,
the launch of numerous products, and a strong media presence.

ck watch & jewelry completed the reorganization of its distribution network,
which led to a significant increase in its visibility. Its sales and market share
boomed in 2004, and the successful launch of ck jewelry helped to reinforce its
image, amongst other things. The media event organized for this launch 
attracted huge numbers of journalists and personalities, and resulted in some
top-quality articles in the press.

Certina conquered the Greek market with much dynamism, establishing a strong
distribution network. It took advantage of a unique opportunity to sponsor the
Greek basketball championship first division, which had a major advertising
impact both on television and in the press.

SWATCH GROUP ITALY

Swatch confirmed its position as segment leader thanks to new products and
major investments in communication. The Fun Scuba collection, the collection
dedicated to the 2004 Athens Olympic Games, and at the end of the year the
Swatch Skin Lustrous Bliss all generated excellent sales. Many of the Swatch
Stores were refurbished with the Jelly Fish design, and the Via Montenapoleone
store in Milan also celebrated this transformation with a special event. Intensive
advertising campaigns in the press and on television enabled the brand to raise
its profile. Swatch Bijoux more than doubled its results over 2003 thanks to new
collections, dedicated press campaigns, and an increase in distribution.

Breguet consolidated its public and trade image as a key brand in the prestige
segment. It achieved fantastic results, leading to a significant increase in its
turnover.

Blancpain confirmed its position in the luxury segment thanks to its strategic
distribution policy and targeted activities such as its participation in «Oriental
Image, the Arab Horse Show» in July, and the exhibition of new Jaguar models
at the famous Cantine Fratelli Berlucchi vineyard in the Franciacorta region.

Glashütte Original confirmed its status as an authentic watch, notably with the
PanoMaticChrono, which served as an outstanding communication and PR tool.
Visits to the Glashütte factory (in Germany) also helped to give journalists and
clients the right feeling about the brand and its history.

Omega focused on communication and the media, increasing the brand’s profile
and visibility, and ending the year with good sales results. The brand strength-
ened its presence by launching advertising campaigns in the press and in
cinemas.

Longines reinforced its leadership in the top-of-the-range segment following the
highly successful launch of the Longines LungoMare collection in partnership
with its ambassador, the Italian dancer Roberto Bolle. Sponsoring the 72nd Piazza
di Siena International Horse Show in Rome, this year including for the first time
the Longines Prize for Elegance, resulted in a frenzy of PR activity, an immense
advertising campaign, and a substantial media response.

Rado experienced a year filled with success in 2004 for its three top-selling
product families, Sintra, Integral, and Ceramica. As the only watch brand to take
part in Futureshow, Rado was able to reinforce its position. This event was a
media sensation, attracting attention to the design of Rado products and the
materials used in them.

Hamilton finished the year with a very marked growth in sales, having also
achieved a significant consolidation of its image. The Khaki Navy GMT set a
veritable record for sales to end consumers. The launch of its imposing diamond
and pearl Ventura Mother model, advertising campaigns in various different
media, and PR activities have been greatly appreciated by retailers.

Tissot ended 2004 with excellent results, achieving significant growth in both
value and market share in the mid-range segment. Advertising campaigns and
sporting sponsorship initiatives such as the timekeeping for the Motorcycle Grand
Prix, a special motorcycle price project, and the brand’s presence at the Bologna
International Motorshow greatly strengthened its image and confirmed its
reputation as a high-tech sporting brand.

ck watch & jewelry reinforced its position as leader of the fashion segment,
notably with the international launch of the ck jewelry collection in March at an
unforgettable event in Venice. The new ck flash, ck challenge and ck suspension
watch collections received excellent coverage, coupled with good visibility both
in the media and in points of sale. Substantial yet effective investment in televi-
sion advertising permitted the brand to further raise its profile, as did the launch
of the cosmic collection, which symbolizes the perfect synergy between
watchmaking and jewelry.

Mido reinforced its position in the mid-range segment with some strongly char-
acterized models such as the Multifort, All Dial automatic and Chrono automatic,
which are perfectly in tune with Italian tastes. The results obtained have been
very encouraging.
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Flik Flak achieved excellent sales with its successful collection of new products,
always perfectly in line with the needs of children. The Powerpuff Girls and
Dexter watches contributed significantly to this result.

SWATCH GROUP FINANCE (LUXEMBOURG) SA

Throughout 2004, the Swatch Group Finance (Luxembourg) SA holding company
continued to pursue its goal of taking sufficient account of the growing interna-
tionalization of the Swatch Group’s business. The company’s aim is to exploit its
liquid assets, investments, and capital by following the financial policy of the
Group and coordinating its activities with those of its parent company. Taking
advantage of the benefits arising from the Luxembourg financial market to
participate actively in the Group’s financial operations, Swatch Group Finance
(Luxembourg) S.A. operates as an independent legal entity. The international
importance of the Luxembourg financial market enables the company, from its
location in the heart of Europe, to play a key role in the financial and technical
structure of the Swatch Group. The finance company is incorporated in Luxem-
bourg, and is managed within the Group as an element of its global financial
organization.

SWATCH GROUP NETHERLANDS

Swatch had an amazing year in 2004, experiencing an increase in unit sales. This
growth was primarily due to sales to individuals and also to tourists. The brand
strengthened its presence in the leisure media, and PR activities generated
figures that beat the excellent results of 2003. Swatch opened the Miljonair Fair
2004 at the end of the year in the company of three Olympic gold medalists. Sales
of Swatch Bijoux registered strong double-digit growth, with consumers proving
very partial to Swatch products.

Omega greatly increased its visibility by participating in local retailer events as
well as the Miljonair Fair 2004. The Double Eagle collection was very well
received by consumers, and sales have increased. Omega saw a major improve-
ment in its reputation thanks to a targeted media initiative in collaboration with
local ambassadors such as André Kuipers, the second Dutchman in space, and
also thanks to the opening of two shop-in-shops in key locations at Schipol
Airport. Following on from the successful first year of Omega Bijoux’s presence in
Amsterdam, the distribution channel will be expanded in 2005.

Longines strengthened its position in 2004 by combining the strategies of its
Dutch and Belgian sales teams, who were therefore able to exchange their
experiences and expertise in their respective markets. The brand also placed a
large shop-in-shop in one of Holland’s major tourist diamond stores, displaying its
elegance to over 200 000 tourists who visit Amsterdam from all parts of the world
each year. In December, Longines exhibited several items from its diamond
collection at the Miljonair Fair in Amsterdam.

Rado continued successfully to develop its digital marketing strategy, which is
aimed at both existing and potential clients. It reinforced its presence with the
launch of the V10K model, which received an enthusiastic welcome from
retailers. With sales already exceeding those of the previous year, Rado finished
the year with a flourish thanks to the eagerly awaited arrival of the Integral
chronograph.

Tissot continued to progress, focusing primarily on the quality of its distribution
network. Its new products were very well received, and brand penetration was
extremely strong, thanks especially to its sponsorship of cycling events. The
annual Assen Motorcycle Grand Prix was also an excellent opportunity to make
the brand better known.

ck watch & jewelry experienced the biggest event of the year with the much-
awaited launch of its ck jewelry collection, which took place in Amsterdam in the
presence of the country’s leading fashion journalists and stylists. The huge media
response was brimful with enthusiasm, and year-end sales enabled the brand to
close 2004 in a spectacular manner. The year’s star product was unquestionably
the ck flash watch.

Balmain sustained its position within its segment thanks to new products which
received a very warm welcome, a clearly recognizable image, and its attractive
pricing policy. The presence of local ambassador Quinty Trustfull further strength-
ened the brand’s penetration thanks to increased media follow-on and PR
activity.

Certina set out to reinforce its market position and improve the quality of its dis-
tribution network. This policy began to yield encouraging results towards the end
of the year.

Flik Flak maintained its position despite the strong competition it is experi-
encing. The Powerpuff Girls and Dexter made a major contribution to this result.
Particular attention has been paid to distribution quality as well as product
presentation in points of sale.
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SWATCH GROUP NORDIC
SWEDEN, FINLAND, NORWAY AND DENMARK

Swatch is the fashion watch of choice in the Nordic countries, and the slogan
«Change watches more often… or wear the same shoes every day» prevailed
throughout the year. Swatch and Swatch Bijoux were once again a big success at
the Stockholm fashion week, as were the new Fun Scuba models and the Mem-
ory from the North model developed for the Nordic countries, which has become
the leading souvenir watch for tourists and visitors.

Breguet continued its success throughout the whole of 2004. In particular, sales
of the Reine de Naples collection proved that there most certainly is a market for
exclusive timepieces in Scandinavia.

Omega once again had a successful year. Its focus on advertising campaigns and
PR events enabled the brand to strengthen its position as leader of the upmarket
segment. Local events such as the Nokia Oops Cup, a golfing competition that
takes place across all the Nordic countries, made a major contribution to focus-
ing attention on the brand.

Longines maintained its position as a leader in the high-end segment, and
achieved excellent results in 2004. Awareness of the brand increased thanks to a
good marketing mix of PR activities, advertising material, and events that focused
on leading personalities. The launch of the Longines LungoMare collection was a
great success.

Rado sponsored the «Businesswoman of the Year» award for the third consecu-
tive year. This was one of the most eagerly awaited business events of 2004. The
celebrations took place at the Henrich Grand Hotel in Stockholm in the presence
of over 700 guests. The winner of the award was the deputy director of the SE
Bank, Annika Bohlin, who was presented with her prize by Rado director Jan
Lindvall together with Deputy Prime Minister Margareta Winberg and Veja
Sanden, the editor-in-chief of the business magazine «Veckans Affärer».

Tissot enjoyed an extremely successful year in 2004 thanks to the broad distri-
bution of its products. Particular attention was paid to its gold collection, which
benefited from the support of various PR activities and advertising campaigns, at
the same time raising the brand’s profile.

ck watch & jewelry held its position and market share in this very competitive
segment. The brand saw double-digit growth in department stores. The high point
of the year was unquestionably the much-anticipated arrival of ck jewelry, whose
launch was a great success. 

Certina closed 2004 as one of the strongest brands in the mid-price segment in
Scandinavia. In Finland, it experienced a clear increase in its market share. Its
image was further strengthened by intensive public relations and sponsorship
activities. Certina also worked very hard with retailers, ensuring good display
management, and was able to attract customers by taking part in trade fairs and
also launching advertising campaigns in collaboration with retailers.

Flik Flak continued to acquire market shares thanks to its excellent learning con-
cept. The brand is well on its way to becoming the number one watch for children
in the Nordic countries.

SWATCH GROUP POLAND

2004 was an extremely busy year for the employees of Swatch Group Poland, as
it was the first year of the company’s existence. Having completed all the neces-
sary tasks required to set up the administration and operation of a new distribu-
tion network from its headquarters in Warsaw, Swatch Group Poland joined the
fray in December and started its business activities proper. So now Polish
consumers are able to discover and enjoy models from the Swatch, Omega,
Longines, Rado, Tissot, Certina, ck watch & jewelry and Flik Flak brands.
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SWATCH GROUP UK

Swatch had a magnificent year in 2004 with the roll-out of the new Atlantis
shop-in-shop concept in numerous shopping centers. In perfect keeping with 
its image, the brand sponsored London’s Alternative Fashion Week in March.
With its reputation for fun, fashion and provocation, this extremely popular
fashion event enabled the brand to support and work with the fashion designers
of the future. Swatch had a stand at the London Sports Show, which was a real
opportunity to meet the public and allow them to try out the Swatch Olympic
Experience, demonstrating the different facets of timing using interactive pods.

Breguet enjoyed a record year in terms of sales growth during 2004. The brand
is now in the process of establishing itself as the major preferred prestige watch.
The launch of the Type XXI and the Marine steel was very well received by the
market, and was a great success both in the media and for retailers. The Breguet
boutique enjoyed an excellent year, and is currently establishing itself as one of
the major watch destinations on Bond Street.

Blancpain had a year of consolidation, strengthening, and progress within the
market. It is now represented in many of the key retailers in the most prestigious
shopping areas. Marketing and promotional activities concentrated on the com-
plicated models such as the Equation Marchante and the Tourbillon Grande Date.
These models made the headlines, featuring on the front cover of QP Magazine
with a six-page article inside. 

Glashütte Original made its début on the UK market at the beginning of the
year, and was able to make its mark thanks to prominent store displays, extensive
PR coverage and visits to the new factory in Germany by journalists and clients.
The autumn advertising campaign helped to raise awareness of the brand.

Omega further developed its support of European golf as official timekeeper of
the Open and the British Masters tournaments. It was once again the timekeep-
er for the prestigious Cowes Sailing Regatta, but one of the year’s highlights had
to be the departure of the famous Transat yacht race from Plymouth to Boston,
with Anna Kournikova starting the race out at sea on board HMS Tyne. Omega
was strongly present at both London Fashion Weeks, hosting fashion breakfasts
for retailers and organizing visits to key catwalk fashion shows.

Longines enjoyed an excellent year, following the restructuring and develop-
ment of its distribution network. This performance was supported by the launch-
es of the Longines Olympic Collection and Longines LungoMare. All the new
product lines introduced onto the market have exceeded expectations. As title
sponsor of the Longines Royal International Horse Show at Hickstead in July,

Longines presented the «Longines King George V Gold Cup» and the «Longines
Grand Prix», as well as awarding its Prize for Elegance to the most stylish male
and female riders.

Rado continued to show growth and generate success, thanks to the develop-
ment of numerous key retail outlets and a targeted approach to store displays,
merchandising activities, and training for retail staff. Marking the 20th anniversary
of its presence in tennis sponsorship, the brand partnered the prestigious Stella
Artois Championships at Queen’s Club, London, which attracted record crowds.

Tissot was extremely active, and performed well in 2004. Its marketing activities
were supported by the international footballer Michael Owen and English rugby
star Jason Robinson. As well as kicking off the Tissot Managers League in collab-
oration with the League Managers Association, the brand supported football
coaching for youngsters. It also secured the official timing contracts for the pres-
tigious Six Nations rugby tournament, together with the sponsorship of the UK
athletics program. These sporting events provided it with a large television
audience and strong media coverage.

ck watch & jewelry succeeded in continuing to grow its distribution in the
independent sector, reinforcing its presence in the North of England. The ck
watch collection consolidated its position as a leading fashion watch, and the
successful launch of ck jewelry to the retail trade was reinforced by exceptional
demand, strengthened by a very special media campaign.

Omega Electronics continued to consolidate its position as the leading supplier
of timing systems in the aquatics market. It installed a full timing system and LED
video display board for the Laugardalur 50-meter pool in Reykjavik. It also up-
graded the facilities at Ponds Forge in Sheffield with a 37-square-meter LED video
display. Its timekeeping activities for Group brands and third-party clients in-
cluded the UK Athletics series, the Sports Show, the Royal International Horse
Show, the Transat yacht race, and Ellen MacArthur’s round-the-world record.



international

78 swatch group  annual report 2004

SWATCH GROUP BRAZIL

Swatch completed the reorganization of its commercial operations in 2004. Its
new business approach is enabling it to focus its strategy on brand management,
reducing operational costs and improving sales figures.

Omega achieved excellent results in the main markets of the south and south-
east of Brazil thanks to the effective launch of the Constellation Double Eagle and
Seamaster Aqua Terra lines. Sales of the De Ville Jubilee watch are also
particularly worthy of note.

Longines has repositioned itself with significant investments in marketing. In
addition, modifications to product distribution have resulted in a large increase in
turnover in the second half of 2004. The Longines evidenza event, organized in
one of the country’s most prestigious shopping centers, was a major success.

Rado stood out from its competitors in the same price segment in 2004 thanks to
the Sintra Tennis watch.

Tissot consolidated its position as the best choice in the mid-price segment in
the Brazilian market. The T-Race and PRS 516 models notched up some parti-
cularly exceptional sales. The Brazilian leg of the Motorcycle Grand Prix
contributed notably to the brand’s profile.

ck watch & jewelry retained its strong profile as a fashion brand on the
Brazilian market. It has a presence in the majority of prestige stores throughout
the country, and the models launched in 2004 were a great success, supported by
an increase in media investment. Sales results are on the increase, and changes
to the product distribution strategy are bearing fruit.

Mido focused primarily on developing new points of sale in the south and
southeast of the country in 2004. The brand also achieved excellent results with
sales of its gold watches to institutional authorities.

SWATCH GROUP CANADA

Swatch continued to enjoy a high profile, with excellent coverage on national
television and in the press for the launch of the Swatch Paparazzi. The new
Swatch Kiosk in the Eaton Center in Montreal further cemented its strong pres-
ence in «la belle province». A strategic repositioning of wholesale distribution has
also enabled Swatch to capture a larger market share throughout the country.
Swatch Bijoux greatly contributed to the good results in 2004.

Omega enjoyed yet another record sales year. Underscored by the success of
several targeted marketing campaigns, the brand is increasingly recognized as
the luxury brand of choice by more and more consumers. The increase in market
share was supported by maintaining existing pricing structures – disregarding
currency fluctuations. Sales of the Constellation line remained high, while expan-
sion of the Seamaster Aqua Terra line contributed to the sales increase. The new
Constellation Double Eagle met with immense enthusiasm.

Longines held a launch extravaganza to celebrate the introduction of the
Longines evidenza model on the market in Toronto. This generated a huge media
response, thanks also to the presence of Stephen Bogart, the son of Humphrey.
The initial phase of realigning the distribution network helped to accelerate
improved acceptance of the brand by consumers, while the consistent advertis-
ing theme «Elegance is an attitude» enabled it to consolidate its position. In the
last quarter, product rationalization was key in generating an optimum on-time
response to strong consumer demand.

Rado continued its quest for stronger market penetration based on a coherent
and solid distribution network coupled with convincing merchandising displays.
The launch of the Integral Chronograph model supported sales in the fourth quar-
ter, while Sintra continued to dominate the higher-price segment. Rado’s partici-
pation in the 2004 Canadian International Design Show reinforced the brand’s
position as a genuine innovator in futuristic watch design.

Tissot continued to grow in 2004, supported by a strengthened distribution net-
work. The brand’s visibility was heightened through involvement in sporting
events such as the THQ World Supercross GP held in Toronto and Vancouver, the
UCI Mountain Bike World Cup held in Quebec, and the Vanier Cup/CIS Football
Championships, both of which were televised. The Women’s World Ice Hockey
Championships in Halifax were also a real success and generated excellent media
exposure. This was further strengthened by Tissot’s sponsorship of «Making the
Cut», a successful reality TV show on the subject of ice hockey.
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ck watch & jewelry saw a healthy two-figure increase in its sales thanks to the
launch of ck jewelry and improved distribution. The fourth quarter was 
dominated by the press launch of ck jewelry in Toronto, resulting in an
unprecedented PR campaign for the brand, as well as an enthusiastic reception
from retailers.

SWATCH GROUP UNITED STATES

Swatch devoted its attention to merchandising, and to positioning its stores in
high traffic areas. This strategy was rewarded with exceptional sales in 2004.
Provocative campaigns such as that for the Bunnysutra, coupled with product
innovations such as the Swatch Paparazzi, and capitalizing on the benefits of the
brand's association with the 2004 Athens Olympic Games, led to a record year.
The flagship Swatch boutique located in Time Square, New York City, provides an
ideal stage for the brand’s key events. When Nick Hayek and Microsoft founder
Bill Gates joined forces for the launch of the Paparazzi, they found themselves
faced with so many flash bulbs they rapidly had to don sunglasses.

Breguet recorded another year of significant growth, expanding marketing
efforts and surpassing sales projections. The brand has been able to create a new
standard in the Swiss prestige watch segment, and its Réveil du Tsar and Reine
de Naples models have motivated its retailers.

Omega secured its leadership position, moving to more exclusive distribution
while producing greater sales. Omega’s market leader position, enhanced by
partnerships with the professional golfer Ernie Els, Olympic gold-medalist swim-
mer Michael Phelps and astronaut Captain Eugene Cernan enabled the brand to
capitalize on the strong identification that Americans have with winners. It has
consequently generated enormous appeal.

Blancpain enjoyed steady sales increases in 2004. Coupled with the develop-
ment of new products, it established strong relationships with its partners. Its
first US boutique, located in the Upper East Side of New York City, illustrates the
brand's status and consolidates its position within the prestige watch segment.

Glashütte Original saw an explosion in growth thanks to an expanding but still
selective distribution. Winning new market shares in its segment, Glashütte Orig-
inal has been able to achieve additional penetration into the major US markets,
notably in Seattle, Las Vegas and Miami. The PanoMaticLunar model continues to
be the brand’s best-selling model.

Jaquet Droz made its début on the US market, causing quite a stir among high-
profile retailers. Appealing to a discerning, high-end clientele, the brand has
created a momentum all its own.

Léon Hatot took its first steps into the American market with luxury jewelry retail
partners. The original jewelry lines created by Léon Hatot are generating new
opportunities in an untapped market.

Longines ushered in a new era of elegance in America with a distinctive and
quite aggressive new campaign, enabling it to reinforce its brand image of ele-
gance. Following on from its La Grande Classique and DolceVita product lines, the
advent of the Longines evidenza has had a positive commercial impact on retail
sales. In addition, the brand introduced new shop-in-shops, including a flagship
store in Las Vegas.

Rado recorded a strong increase in sales in 2004. An aggressive print and
outdoor campaign, and more than 15 events nationwide resulted in additional
sales and some of the best visibility the brand has ever obtained. In just a few
months, Rado has been propelled into the American mainstream, with its new
diamond-studded models reinforcing the brand’s identity as the «eternal diamond
watch».

Tissot, with its new product offerings combined with a strong marketing
campaign, contributed to the success of its positioning and the strengthening of
its image. Its double-digit sales growth, aided by strong consumer demand for the
T-Touch, has resulted in greater distribution in retail outlets. The exclusive launch
of the Tissot High-T was followed by large-scale editorial coverage.

ck watch & jewelry saw its sales increase thanks to new distribution channels
and the reinforcement of key retail partnerships. The launch of ck jewelry in
selected retail outlets aroused great interest, further adding to the impact of PR
campaigns.

Hamilton, supported by the impressive success of its Khaki collection, launched
a new advertising campaign in national magazines, and implemented a
motivating new display program with its top retailers. The brand continued its
longstanding relationship with Hollywood by hosting the Timeless Style Award in
Los Angeles for the second consecutive year. Nine of Hollywood’s most out-
standing costume designers were honored, and the event was covered by TV
stations and newspapers nationwide.

Flik Flak was a big hit with its new look, and its time-telling brother and sister
toured the stores. Additionally, the Powerpuff Girls and Dexter watches increased
market penetration thanks to their high recognition level.
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SWATCH GROUP MEXICO

In 2004, Swatch Group Mexico had the honor of being the only Swiss compa-
ny in Mexico to be visited by the President of the Swiss Confederation, Joseph
Deiss, during his official state visit to Mexico.

Swatch finished 2004 with the opening of two new boutiques featuring the Jelly
Fish concept, one in Cancún and the other in Ciudad Juárez, 3500 km away. It
continued to experience success, being awarded the «2004 National Award for
Public Image» by the National Institute for Public Image for its campaigns. And
sales of Swatch Bijoux surpassed all imaginable forecasts.

Breguet saw significant sales growth thanks to the Réveil du Tsar model and
new creations such as its Reine de Naples jewelry, Marine II, and the Type XXI
collection. Numerous marketing activities and two exhibitions of grandes compli-
cations, for Peyrelongue in Mexico City and Tendenza de Breguet at the Museum
of Exploration Science in León, Guanajuato, helped to enhance the brand’s
image.

Omega markedly increased sales as well as the number of units in stock within
its distribution channels. The new Michael Schumacher limited edition met with
resounding success, as did the Speedmaster Moon Watch collection, also a
limited edition. Maintaining its outstanding 2003 performance, the Constellation
Quadra Chrono benefited from an advertising campaign featuring Cindy
Crawford.

Longines continued its long-term involvement in sponsoring equestrian events,
and continued to play a key partnership role on the national show jumping circuit,
which organized 11 events in five cities across the country. For the third consec-
utive year, it presented its «Elegance is an attitude» award to someone involved
in a humanitarian cause. This year, the award went to Beatriz Jarero from
Guadalajara for her work as founder of the «Mesón de la misericordia divina»
shelter for children with AIDS.

Rado saw its sales grow in 2004, notably thanks to its close personal relation-
ships with all retailers nationwide. The «Think new shapes» campaign was well
received by retailers and consumers alike. This huge sales success is in part
attributable to the strategic alliance forged with the launch of the new CD from
jazz singer Norah Jones.

Mido consolidated its dominant market position thanks to its new «Reflecting
your time» layout, associated with a local hero, the racing car driver Michel
Jourdain. In its points of sale, Mido capitalized on its traditional orange color by
introducing a new corner concept.

Tissot saw its sales boom in 2004, and is now stocking its entire collection. Its
distribution network made steady progress, for example integrating the national
distribution chain Cristal. True to its sporting commitment, Tissot sponsored the
Mexican cycling wonder Nancy Contreras, who participated in the 2004 Athens
Olympic Games.

ck watch & jewelry not only reinforced its leading position within department
stores, but also launched ck jewelry in the second half of the year, at a
memorable event which brought together all of its franchisees.
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SWATCH GROUP AUSTRALIA

Swatch achieved strong sales growth in 2004 thanks to an impressive expansion
of its sales channels, based on establishing new relationships with the largest
jewelry retailers in Queensland and South Australia. Additionally, it focused on
improving its visibility by installing several new points of sale.

Omega strengthened its business relationship with retailers whilst at the same
time significantly improving its presence, positioning and impact at points of sale.
The advertising campaign featuring Pierce Brosnan and Cindy Crawford has had
a tremendous impact, and closely targeted media activity has resulted in excel-
lent media coverage in the latter part of the year. The sponsorship of several
major golf tournaments also contributed to raising the brand’s reputation.

Longines maintained its market leadership position, recording double-digit sales
growth. A strong advertising campaign, robust promotional programs and the
successful launch of the Longines evidenza and Longines LungoMare collections
made major contributions to this positive result. For the third consecutive year,
Longines was the official watch of the Melbourne Cup Carnival, Australia’s
largest and most prestigious horse racing event, attracting over 300 000
spectators each year. It was also the proud sponsor of the Longines Plate.

Rado had its most successful year to date, with sales breaking all previous
records. Product launches such as those for the Sintra Tennis and the new ver-
sions of the Ceramica and the Integral models have helped to boost sales. The
Australian Open tennis tournament continues to grow, and Rado enjoys an
excellent relationship with this event as its longest participating sponsor.

Tissot achieved unprecedented sales results in 2004. The brand has increased
dealer distribution and has succeeded in raising brand awareness via a signage
campaign and advertising in the national press. In May, the World Indoor Cycling
Championships took center stage with television coverage impressively confirm-
ing the status of Tissot as official timekeeper. Similarly, the Motorcycle Grand Prix
in October generated record audiences, both trackside and in the media.

ck watch & jewelry continued its strong growth rate, increasing sales and its
distribution presence to unprecedented levels. Its strong media coverage contin-
ued, literally exploding during October with the launch of ck jewelry, which took
place with the support of key upmarket retailers.

Flik Flak experienced significant growth in 2004 by organizing activities in its
points of sale, and also thanks to the new Powerpuff Girls and Dexter products.
The brand obtained additional distribution through new channels such as the
major children’s fashion stores, as well as expanding its existing department store
presence.

Omega Electronic succeeded in 2004 in introducing its 16-digit alphanumeric
scoreboard, with a four-digit supplementary unit, for greyhound racing. To date,
five of these systems have already been installed.
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SWATCH GROUP SOUTH KOREA

Bearing in mind the prevailing gloom, Swatch Group South Korea experienced a
year full of successes. It successfully developed the luxury sector, strengthened
its position in all segments, and increased its profile.

Swatch had an excellent year, considering the general atmosphere. Its reputa-
tion was reinforced thanks to the title of Super Brand of the Year awarded by IPS,
a governmental research organization, as well as by various marketing activities
and the development of its distribution network. Alongside improvements to
point of sale displays, Swatch took advantage of on-line watch sales via major
distributors, increasing its reputation and visibility. Its role as Official Timekeeper
of the 2004 Athens Olympic Games and its support of the Korean Olympic
Committee also played a part in this.

Omega strengthened its local market position thanks to the opening of four
points of sale in leading superstores. A visit by Cindy Crawford in July generated
an immense media response, and helped to improve the brand image. The partic-
ipation of Ernie Els in the South Korean Open golf tournament also played a
significant role in improving visibility.

Longines concentrated on repositioning itself as a top-of-the-range brand by
strictly adhering to its communication strategy, opening own-brand points of
sale, and checking or modifying the marketing material for its models.

Rado focused on laying the strategic foundations of its presence in South Korea
following on from its in-depth restructuring. At the end of the year, it organized
an exhibition aimed at the top retailers and buyers from major stores. It also
staged an event with local celebrities in order to increase its visibility to the
media and the general public.

Tissot scored a record year in 2004 in terms of sales, and continued to develop
its distribution network. The brand benefited from excellent visibility and signifi-
cant media coverage thanks to its sponsorship of the national Olympic football
team and various other events with which it was associated (an expedition to the
South Pole, ski and motorbike races). 

ck watch & jewelry rounded off 2004 successfully, with significant sales results
and an increase in the brand’s visibility and presence. In addition, the successful
launch of ck jewelry in the presence of the press and numerous celebrities posi-
tioned it as brand leader of the fashion jewelry segment. The brand image was
strengthened throughout the year by its strategic directives.

SWATCH GROUP GREATER CHINA

CHINA

Swatch again registered double-digit growth in 2004. Its development program
in nine key cities led to considerable sales success. To celebrate its role as Offi-
cial Timekeeper of the 2004 Athens Olympic Games, Swatch conducted an excit-
ing nationwide Olympic campaign including advertising activities, the distribution
of watches to members of the Chinese National Olympic Committee, a press trip
to Athens, a road show, and numerous consumer events. The first promotional
activities for the Swatch Bijoux collection took place in Shanghai and Beijing in
June. They received very significant media coverage, as did the opening of two
new Swatch Stores in Guangzhou in July and Beijing in October. In November, a
stunning, radiant Victoria Beckham introduced Skin Diamond to Shanghai. Her
presence led to extremely good media coverage, strengthening Swatch’s position
as a fashion icon; and sales of the Skin Diamond have exceeded all expectations.

Breguet launched its activities in China with a network of six retailers, including
shop-in-shops in Shenyang and Dalian. Initial sales results are encouraging. At
the beginning of December, the brand staged an important and successful event
to mark Breguet’s arrival in China. This event, at which several celebrities were
present, was attended by over 40 journalists. Several interviews were given,
notably to the CCTV station, and an impressive collection of watches was on
display.

Blancpain more than doubled its sales in 2004. The brand also enhanced 
several marketing campaigns and reinforced its presence in various upmarket
magazines. Shop promotions were strengthened in order better to promote its
image as a manufacturer of extremely complicated mechanical watches with end
consumers and local retailers. Blancpain’s involvement in the world of golf was
confirmed, with a very encouraging level of coverage.

Glashütte Original was able to successfully start up distribution in China, with
strong brand coverage from November 2004. Its first mono-brand store was
opened in Tian Yi Square, the most prestigious shopping mall in Ningbo, followed
by the opening of a shop-in-shop in Parkland Square in Dalian. An additional
point of sale was opened in Time City, Sun Dong An Plaza in Beijing. 

Longines reinforced its distribution network, opening its first street-facing show-
room in Hangzhou. This exclusive event featured an exciting lion dance, and a
special appearance by Ms. Carina Lau, the Longines Ambassador of Elegance.
Ms. Lau also presented the new Longines evidenza collection in the prestigious
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Shenyang Zhong Xin department store, which is also holding an exclusive
Longines exhibition highlighting the refined elegance of this classic collection.

Rado is one of the leading watch brands in China, and enjoys a very high level
of brand awareness throughout the country as a top-quality international watch
brand. Its distribution improved markedly, changing from a system based on
wholesalers to one of direct delivery to more than 200 retailers across the coun-
try. Rado’s links with tennis were underlined by its sponsorship of two key tennis
events dear to the hearts of the Chinese, namely the Chinese Open in Beijing and
the Heineken Open in Shanghai. The brand also celebrated several big events in
major cities together with its spokesperson Kris Fei, an emblematic figure in Asia.

Tissot achieved extraordinary growth in 2004, supported by the upgrading of its
brand image in retail stores and an effective marketing program. More Tissot
boutiques have been set up using the international concept in major department
stores. The T-Touch roadshow toured various major cities around the country,
generating extraordinary results.

ck watch & jewelry successfully opened its first shop-in-shop to stock both
watches and jewelry in Ningbo. The introduction of jewelry is a crucial milestone
that aims to enhance the brand’s image, not only in the watchmaking sector, but
also in the fashion accessories business. This brand heritage is helping the
company to continue opening a growing number of shop-in-shops in this market,
and provides an excellent tool to grow its market share in the future.

HONG KONG

Swatch completed an extremely successful year in 2004. The brand recorded
exceptional sales results, particularly in the Swatch Store at Hong Kong Inter-
national Airport. The brand took advantage of the launch of the 2004 Athens
Olympic Collection by inviting celebrities, fans of the brand, and the general
public to a two-day long Swatch Experience in July. In December, the intense
media coverage accompanying the launch of the Skin Diamond helped to
strengthen the brand’s position as a fashion icon.

Breguet succeeded in maintaining its successful course by reinforcing its
presence in the market and increasing its turnover. The huge media coverage
from which the brand benefited throughout the year contributed to this position,
as did a large increase in the number of prestige clients.

Blancpain had great success with its «50 Fathoms» exhibition organized at the
Ocean Terminal TST at the beginning of January, which attracted huge crowds.
Two TV stations covered the event extensively, and numerous newspapers and
magazines provided full-page write-ups.

Glashütte Original expanded its distribution network to five points of sale at the
end of 2004. A corner devoted to the brand was set up in the flagship Elegant
Watch & Jewellery store.

Jaquet Droz launched its commercial activities in Hong Kong in August, and
opened its second point of sale in September. Thanks to excellent media support,
the brand’s image has grown rapidly.

Omega celebrated the opening of two new Omega Boutiques, accompanied in
Russell Street by the brand’s ambassadors Simon Yam and Qi Qi, who took
advantage of the occasion to announce that they were expecting their first baby
in December 2004. The opening of the second boutique, located inside the Macau
Mandarin Oriental Hotel, took place during the Macau Formula 1 Grand Prix, with
Omega ambassadors, the actor Simon Yam and Tung Ho Pin, China’s first 
Formula 1 test driver. The 2004 Omega Hong Kong Open in December marked
another great success, this time for the Ryder Cup of Baseball hero Miguel
Jimenez, who won the Omega Red Jacket by defeating the defending champion
Padraig Harrington.

Longines succeeded in strengthening its profile with the launch of the Longines
evidenza line and the presentation of the Most Charismatic Awards. This prize
was awarded to nine outstanding people who are involved in various cultural
activities. The Longines ambassador Carina Lau was delighted to award the prizes
to the winners at a thrilling ceremony.

Rado, as Official Timekeeper of the Hong Chi Climbathon, helped raise HKD 
800 000.– for the mentally disabled. The former Miss Hong Kong, Olivia Cheng,
was invited to officiate at the opening ceremony of the Climbathon. The intro-
duction of the Sintra Superjubilé Pavé enabled the brand to climb to the summit
of its market segment.

Tissot recorded another excellent year, with extraordinary growth. One of the
reasons for this was the huge influx of Chinese tourists, particularly to retail
stores located in major shopping areas. The brand’s image has been greatly
reinforced, particularly with the opening of two Tissot stores.
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ck watch & jewelry succeeded in establishing its reputation as a fashion
watch, and increased its market share. The launch of ck jewelry and the
associated promotional activities had a strong impact on customers, and
contributed to the brand’s success.

Hamilton focused on promotional activities, particularly emphasizing its
privileged relationship with the cinema and the screening of two Hollywood films,
Big Fish and Spiderman 2. It also took part in the premiere of Big Fish, which
numerous members of the press attended as well as many celebrities and local
movie stars.

TAIWAN

Swatch experienced an extremely prosperous year, organizing the mini Olympic
Games across the island, which enabled it to achieve an image of great creativi-
ty and energy. The dynamic press launch of the Autumn/Winter Collection in the
brand new boutique in Melrose, Taipei, fitted out as an ultra-trendy jail for the
occasion (with bars and striped outfits) led to a record number of photo shots and
enthusiastic media coverage. The introduction of the Skin Diamond Lustrous Bliss
by the famous model Patina Lin was also highly successful. In December, the
brand once again launched its Swatch Charity Sock campaign. Each Swatch
charity sock contained a Swatch, a Christmas card and a limited permission to
purchase a Holly Joy Christmas special watch, with 5 % of the revenue being
donated to the Taiwan Foundation for Rare Disorders.

Breguet experienced a stable year in the market with regard to sales. Its 
valuable brand history and some thoroughly professional communication and
marketing events enabled it further to improve its brand image and to strength-
en its profile with its target audience. The launch of the new Reine de Naples 
and that of other highly complicated models resulted in numerous commercial
successes for retailers.

Blancpain recorded its highest ever growth, strengthening its position in the
market and reinforcing its profile. In particular, it was able to increase the num-
ber of distribution points in its network, and it successfully launched some splen-
did new products, such as the Equation Marchante, Tourbillon Grande Date,
Villeret Chronograph, Moon Phase, etc. Both the Equation Marchante and the
Tourbillon Grande Date were introduced at a press conference, accompanied by
an exhibition in retail outlets.

Glashütte Original devoted 2004 to reinforcing its market position and brand
profile. It achieved great success in July at a major exhibition organized jointly
with retailers, which contributed greatly to heightening brand awareness,
strengthening its profile and increasing sales turnover. These results obtained
extensive media coverage and consolidated the brand’s position in the Taiwan
market. The visit of Dr Frank Müller, President of Glashütte Original, in order to
launch the new PanoMaticReserve and PanoMaticChrono models onto the
Taiwan market in front of the press and numerous personalities, was greatly
appreciated.

Omega continued its positive growth trend, both at wholesale and retail level.
Two shop-in-shops were opened, but the most successful event was without a
doubt the opening of the first Omega boutique in the new Mall 101 shopping
center located inside Tower 101, the world’s tallest skyscraper. The brand’s
ambassador Miss Coco Lee attended the opening event with the chairman of the
shopping center, Miss Chen. Numerous other new products and events were also
launched in 2004. One of the most important was the launch of the new «Apollo
11 35th anniversary» moon watch, and the new «From Moon to Mars» collection.
The Lunar Rover and the Pathfinder for Mars were also exhibited.

Longines concentrated in 2004 on integrating all its sales and marketing effort
under a clear strategy, and strengthening the interaction between its various
commercial departments. The Longines Olympic collection was launched in July,
and the Longines LungoMare watch in November. In September, Taiwan organ-
ized a media trip to the CSIO equestrian event in Barcelona, in the presence of
local celebrity Chiling Lin.

Rado focused on three themes in 2004, associated with the seasonal launches of
the Sintra Superjubilé, Integral New Face and Integral White Superjubilé models.
For each of these occasions, there were press conferences supported by strong
advertising campaigns in magazines, newspapers and the MRT subway system.
In addition, a dealer conference and a trip to Japan were organized to encourage
retailers to become more familiar with the brand, its products, and the various
different events.

Tissot continued to break all previous sales records, gradually threatening its
principal competitors. The launch of the limited edition T-Race, Moto GP and
Athens models at an exceptional global sponsoring event enabled the brand to
expand its market share in this segment.
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ck watch & jewelry proudly launched its jewelry collection – a first in the Asian
market. The brand was able to introduce itself successfully to the general public
via the press, who were both welcoming and enthusiastic. A new ck watch &
jewelry shop-in-shop opened its doors in the busy SOGO & Mitsukoshi depart-
ment stores in Tien Mu. Shortly before Christmas, the event organized to intro-
duce the jewelry collection received an outstanding response from customers in
the main department stores and also from the press at Le Petit Sherwood Taipei.
The same happened at the introduction of ck jewelry by 12 top models at Taipei
Tower 101, during the final countdown party of 2004.

Hamilton is presenting a successful image in the military watch sector, with the
excellent launch during the summer of the Khaki King II, followed by that of the
exclusive Hamilton Khaki Navy GMT.

In addition, three new brands were launched onto the market in 2004: Jaquet
Droz, Léon Hatot and Mido.

SWATCH GROUP INDIA

Swatch consolidated all of its sectors in 2004, in preparation for the retail boom
that is arriving in India. The brand organized several advertising activities, such
as the outdoor campaign on Indian public transport, and even at some colleges
on Valentine’s Day, for example. The response was phenomenal. In terms of dis-
tribution, the brand opened three new Swatch Kiosks, and also concentrated on
rationalizing its network. The results of this were immediate, and sales rocketed.
The launch of Swatch Bijoux was also a significant and promising event.

Omega also succeeded in meeting all the challenges it set itself with verve and
dynamism. It opened two Omega boutiques in Mumbai, in the presence of the
brand’s President Stephen Urquhart, G. Kannan, Manager of Swatch Group India,
and local Omega ambassador Ms. Sonali Bendre. The press were full of praise,
and the impact generated by the presence of the Bollywood celebrities who were
invited to the events was immense. Throughout the year, Ms. Sonali Bendre took
part in autograph sessions in points of sale, enabling the brand to further raise
its profile.

Longines marked 2004 with its new Longines evidenza collection, which was
launched at two top fashion presentations, one in Chandigarh, in northern India,
and the other in Hyderabad, in the south of the country. Training programs were
held throughout the year in the points of sale in New Delhi, Mumbai, Kolkata and
Bangalore, in order to familiarize sales staff with the brand and its products. This
initiative was greatly appreciated. In addition, Longines strongly developed its
marketing environment by installing new standardized sales furniture in the
points of sale in all cities.

Rado banked on various product launches and autograph sessions with Lisa Ray
to reinforce its presence in the country and increase its profile. This approach
paid off, and the brand received excellent media coverage throughout the entire
year. Rado ambassador Lisa Ray opened the exclusive Rado showroom in the
Inorbit Mall in Mumbai in June. All the products introduced at Baselworld 2004
were worn by two top models Fleur Xaviers and Kapil Khanna, and were intro-
duced by Lisa Ray, who also did a fine job of launching the Sintra Superjubilé
Style in black and red. The same impact was generated by the V10K launch,
which was accompanied by an international performance by Equilibrium and 
a recital by Raghav Sachar, a 22-year-old prodigy who plays 23 musical
instruments.

Flik Flak made its debut on the Indian market during 2004, generating enormous
enthusiasm from children and parents alike.
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SWATCH GROUP JAPAN

In July 2004 the Swatch Group purchased a building on the main highway in
Ginza, Tokyo. After demolition, the Group intends to put up a new building which
will mainly be used for the headquarters of Swatch Group Japan, a service
department for their very demanding clientele, and seven separate showrooms
for Swatch, Breguet, Blancpain, Glashütte Original, Jaquet Droz, Léon Hatot and
Omega. The definitive design for this unique building will be the result of a major
international competition which the Group has launched between famous firms
of architects.

Swatch had a year full of highlights, led by the frantic rhythm of the numerous
events organized all through the year, including the opening of the Swatch 
virtual e-store and the launch of the Mobile collection; the Osaka leg of the
Swatch FIVB World Tour 2004 beach volleyball tournament on Tannowa beach;
activities linked to the Olympic Games; and numerous Swatch store openings.
That of the Gotemba Swatch store, in Shizuoka near to Mount Fuji, created a
sensation by being the first store in the world to be fitted out with the new
Factory concept. This met with immense success, not just in the media but also
commercially: sales soared. This success was confirmed by the results from the
second store to be fitted out with this new layout, which opened in December in
Okinawa.

Breguet distinctly reinforced its reputation and its profile by using, in its cam-
paigns, visuals highlighting a quotation from the celebrated Japanese novelist
Jiro Asada. Its exhibitions of models at selected Tokyo retailers and its themed
displays centered on the Tourbillon and on the «Pendule Sympathique» (a watch
that can be mounted in a clock) attracted enormous interest.

Blancpain closed the year with very encouraging sales results, and several
famous personalities acquired prestige models. The celebration of the 50th

anniversary of the Fifty Fathoms watch generated a significant media response,
which helped raise the public reputation of the brand. Blancpain also displayed
its entire collection at the Seigetsudo Art Gallery in Ginza for the 11th consecutive
year. 

Glashütte Original continued its success, recording a strong increase in its
results after two years’ presence in Japan. Sales of the Senator collection were
excellent.

Jaquet Droz finished the year on a high note, with very good sales results. The
hard work of the last two years enabled it to position itself as the leading brand

in the very competitive luxury sector. Its savoir-faire received wide recognition
when it was chosen as «Most visible brand» at the 2004 World Watch Fair in
Tobu.

Léon Hatot increased its market share and developed its distribution network in
a most satisfactory manner. The first steel model in the Zelia collection was well
received by press and public. Elsewhere, the emphasis placed on special relation-
ships with selected journalists led to wide exposure in the up-market and
women’s press.

Omega experienced a difficult year. It succeeded in closing 2004 having some-
what increased its average unit price, though both unit sales and turnover fell
back slightly.
The shop which the brand opened in December in the Umeda district of Osaka
appears, however, already to be indicating a recovery.

Longines increased sales over 2003, despite the depressed state of the Japan-
ese market in 2004. Certain models – the Longines 1926, the Longines DolceVita
Bell’Amore and the Conquest Replica – were very successful, and the press event
organized for the Longines 1926 clearly contributed to the stock shortages of this
model in Japan.

Rado succeeded in raising its average unit price and exceeded the previous
year’s turnover by reinforcing its sales activities for products such as the Sintra,
Superjubilé, Jubilé, Integral White, Ceramics, and Ceramica Black XL. Japanese
customers appreciated the design, the material and the colors of Rado watches,
and numerous magazines contributed to the general enthusiasm by picking up on
the slogan «Typically Rado».

Tissot finished the year better than it began, thanks to very attractive new
models such as the color T-Touch and the very attractively priced PRS 516, the
official MotoGP watch.

ck watch & jewelry pulled out all the stops for the introduction of all its new
models to the media during the Calvin Klein Press Presentation Fall 2004, in June
at Roppongi. The ck flash model grabbed the attention of the journalists, and was
a best seller in December.

Hamilton suffered from delivery problems with its models, notably the American
Classic line. Despite this, the Hamilton Khaki line got through this period very
well, thanks to the take-up of old models and to the mechanical movement model
specially developed and produced as a limited edition of 1500 for the Japanese
market. This sold out as soon as it went on sale.
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SWATCH GROUP MALAYSIA

Swatch celebrated its prestigious role as Official Timekeeper of the 2004 Athens
Olympic Games by presenting an interactive Swatch Experience roadshow. Fol-
lowing on from visits to the Malaysian cities of Malacca and Penang, the event
reached its climax at Kuala Lumpur’s best-known mall, Suria KLCC. The Swatch
Experience attracted throngs of shoppers, who flocked to all the event venues to
view the latest Swatch collection and pit their skills against each other in four 
mini-Olympic sporting challenges – football, basketball, long jump and chin-up.

Omega enjoyed remarkable growth in 2004, significantly increasing its market
share, with particularly strong development in the ladies’ watch segment. Thanks
to the continued support of its retailers, the brand successfully expanded its
shop-in-shop concept in department stores. Its image and identity were also
strengthened with the launch of the limited edition Speedmaster Professional
commemorating the 35th anniversary of the first moon landing. The presence of
Omega’s ambassadors for Malaysia, Ziana Zain and Amy Mastura, at these events
helped garner extensive media coverage and ensured the brand’s high visibility in
the market.

Longines reinforced its presence in the market thanks to the launch of the
Longines Pink & Blue Sapphires DolceVita collection. Combined with strong PR
activities carried out by the brand, the presence of its local ambassador Paula
Mala Ali attracted a huge media response.

Rado enjoyed another record year in Malaysia thanks to its successful marketing
activities centered around 20 years of tennis sponsorship. Creative window
decoration on the theme of the French Open aroused an overwhelming demand
for the limited-edition «TopSpin» tournament model. An exhibition of the latest
Rado collection on Penang Island attracted the most devoted admirers of the
brand. Widespread media coverage was also guaranteed during this period
thanks to the presence of two Rado ambassadors, Malaysian beauty queens
Rachel Tan and Gloria Ting, who attended the Beijing Tennis Open.

Tissot continued to gain market share with another year of remarkable growth.
Its distribution network was strengthened by improvements to its points of sale
and by various retail promotions. The brand image was well communicated
through intensified sponsoring activities such as the World Motorcycling Grand
Prix Championships held at the Sepang circuit, a nationwide TV contest organized
in conjunction with the race, and a string of successful exhibitions in prime malls.

ck watch & jewelry had a fantastic year, with sales turnover surpassing all
expectations. Previously agreed programs certainly proved worth the investment,
with improved media coverage and brand visibility in the marketplace. 

Flik Flak further reinforced its branding and positioning in Malaysia thanks to a
strategic tie-up with MPH, the largest chain of bookstores in Malaysia. A series
of «Learning Time is Fun with Flik Flak» sessions held throughout the month of
June in three popular MPH outlets in the Klang Valley were also extremely
successful.

SWATCH GROUP SINGAPORE

Swatch was in the media limelight in 2004 as Official Timekeeper of the Athens
Olympic Games, organizing PR activities and events with great success. The
Swatch Race To Olympia had 25 teams competing to win a trip to Athens, with
images of the event being broadcast on local TV stations for four weeks. A large-
scale Swatch Olympic Emotion event was held in the heart of Orchard Road over
one weekend, attracting over 50 000 visitors. The event then continued for three
weeks at Changi International Airport, raising brand awareness amongst more
than one million passengers.

Breguet saw continued growth in its sales and turnover, and also in its desirabil-
ity. The strategic organization of new product launches via an invitation-only gala
dinner, press conferences, exhibitions held at selected points of sale, and partic-
ipation in high-profile watch fairs enabled it to strengthen brand awareness and
increase its market share. Excellent relationships with retailers and strong press
support also contributed to Breguet’s continued success. To illustrate its associa-
tion with European art and culture, Breguet was principal sponsor of the play
«The Visit of the Tai Tai», adapted from Friedrich Dürrenmatt’s «Der Besuch der
alten Dame».

Blancpain strengthened its position by participating in the renowned Jewellery
Time 2004 exhibition, which took place at the Paragon Shopping Centre in Sep-
tember. The Le Brassus Quattro, Léman Tourbillon and Arrow of Love models were
some of the masterpieces exhibited by Blancpain. The recent renovation of the
brand’s identity corner in Millennia Walk also enhanced its image with retailers
and enabled it to improve its presence in boutiques.

Glashütte Original had a very satisfactory second year in Singapore, notably
organizing events and exhibitions at two of its upmarket retailers. Thanks to the
success of its PanoGraph and PanoReserve models, together with the introduc-
tion of the PanoMatic collection, Glashütte Original easily out-performed its 2004
objectives.
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Omega enjoyed high sales growth throughout the year, significantly increasing
its market share. It also organized numerous high-profile promotions and events,
amongst which the highlight was the launch of the Omega jewelry collection in
March in the presence of the brand’s ambassador Anna Kournikova. The brand
also continued its policy of strengthening its visibility in retail stores by 
expanding its shop-in-shop concept.

Longines enjoyed tremendous media coverage in 2004 with the launch of a
series of models as well as various associated promotional activities. For exam-
ple, in June the Longines ambassadors in Singapore accompanied invited mem-
bers of the media on a visit to the Longines headquarters at Saint-Imier in
Switzerland. The brand was also able to attract considerable market attention
with the launch of several limited-edition watches, such as the Sincere 
50th Jubilee and the Longines Raffles collections.

Rado increased its brand visibility in 2004, and was proud to be the Official
Watch of the Men’s Health Fashion Event held in April in conjunction with the
Singapore Fashion Festival 2004. These activities created an ideal platform to
associate Rado with a prestigious event bringing together the world’s top labels.
In September, the Sintra TopSpin was launched to celebrate the 20th anniversary
of Rado’s successful tennis sponsorship. 

Tissot registered yet another year of strong growth. The brand continued to
strengthen its position as the Swiss brand leader in the mid-market segment. It
successfully launched a whole range of innovative products: the T-Race, the PRS
516 and the Tissot GemStone. Excellent brand penetration was also secured
through collaborative sponsorship activities with events such as the Vertical
Marathon 2004 and Euro 2004. Intensive promotional activities and point of sale
enhancements reinforced the brand message at distribution points, while a strik-
ing cinema advertising campaign carried out this year lifted Tissot’s overall brand
image.

ck watch & jewelry experienced an exciting year with the introduction of ck
jewelry into the market. Both media and retailers were enthralled by its clean,
elegant designs, and showed their support with extensive press coverage, result-
ing in a significant rate of sales after the launch event. In addition, the success-
ful launch of ck suspension also strengthened the brand’s reputation as a 
fashion trendsetter.

Balmain consolidated its position in the market, and enjoyed greater awareness
with the launch of the Elysées XO and Miss Balmain RC collections. The highly
successful appointment of a local ambassador combined with extensive
advertising and PR coverage has ensured excellent visibility for Balmain in the
market.

Hamilton strengthened its market presence by launching new models for the
Khaki line, together with a new advertising campaign. The brand raised its profile
with numerous promotions in points of sale and the sponsorship of high-profile
local events such as Cleo’s 50 Most Eligible Bachelors and FHM’s Girl Next Door.
Hamilton was also recently appointed the Official Incentive Watch for national
servicemen on completion of 10 years of service with the Singapore Armed
Forces.

Flik Flak increased brand awareness by reaching out to parents and children in
key residential areas. During the June and December school holidays, a series 
of «Have Fun Telling Time with Flik and Flak» sessions were held at various
community libraries island-wide.
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SWATCH GROUP THAILAND

Swatch completed a very busy year in terms of sales activities and expansions
to points of sale in prime locations in the capital. It also held three major launch-
es – Skin, Olympic and Fun Scuba – which generated a substantial media
response and a strong impact on the general public. However, this success was
nothing compared with the launch of the Bunny Sutra, which has become the talk
of the town.

Breguet broke all records thanks to extremely successful introductions of the
Tourbillon collection and other models at two watch fairs held in August and
September. In addition, an invitation-only dinner and exhibition at an exclusive
venue helped to enhance the brand’s reputation.

Glashütte Original made its début in Thailand in March with a top class event.
The brand further strengthened its position in the luxury watch segment with the
launch in August of new models including the PanoMaticChrono.

Omega wound up the year in outstanding form with splendid results, thanks
mainly to the reinforcement and expansion of the brand’s presence in terms of
quality. The Omega Boutique in Gaysorn Plaza also experienced another excellent
year, and the brand’s visibility was further increased thanks to various
promotional activities such as the launch of the Olympic collection and the
welcome visit of the Omega ambassador Coco Lee.

Longines participated actively in numerous initiatives such as watch festivals
and promotional events. The brilliant launch of the Longines evidenza in March,
as well as that of The Longines Olympic Collection in August, contributed
significantly to making 2004 an exceptionally good year for this continuously
growing brand in the Thai market.

Tissot experienced another year of remarkable growth. The launch event of the
PRS 516 in Bangkok’s most exclusive shopping plaza contributed to further
reinforcing the brand’s dominant position in the market, and substantially
increased its market share.

ck watch & jewelry maintained and further strengthened its position as one of
the country’s strongest fashion brands, despite fierce competition. The new ck
flash and ck suspension models were successful as soon as they were launched.

Flik Flak surpassed all expectations, and the excellent acceptance of its
products, which are highly popular with Thai children, greatly contributed to the
rapid growth of brand awareness.
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SWATCH GROUP MIDDLE EAST

Two major events organized by Swatch Group Middle East in 2004 were tremen-
dously successful, and contributed to setting new turnover records for the region.
These events were the Doha Jewellery & Watches Exhibition in Qatar and the
second Swatch Group Mini-Baselworld in Dubai.

Swatch continued its success story in the Middle East. Unusual, creative and
original marketing activities such as the Swatch marathon in Algeria, the Swatch
Olympic Experience in Saudi Arabia and Turkey, and Ramadan charity activities in
Kuwait once again boosted sales and strengthened the image of Swatch through-
out the region. The brand’s visibility and presence improved thanks to the open-
ing of 17 new kiosks and stores. Swatch Bijoux was extremely successful. The
promotional focus on this product line in points of sale belonging to both 
retailers and Swatch has most definitely been worth the effort.

Breguet hit new heights right across the Middle East. The brand consolidated its
position within the prestige horology sector; it increased its sales and market
share thanks to new models, the confidence of retailers and increased brand
awareness.

Blancpain experienced a very exciting year, succeeding in significantly
increasing both its turnover and its market share. The brand consolidated its
presence in the major markets, updated its distribution network in others, and
succeeded in breaking into new markets. 2004 also witnessed the opening of the
first Blancpain shop-in-shop in Dubai, and its first corner in Kuwait. Blancpain
once again supported the World Arabian Horse Championships, organizing the
first regional Blancpain Prize in Qatar.

Glashütte Original strengthened its image and presence throughout the region,
affirming its position at the upper end of the luxury watch segment. The brand
also maintained its growth and the expansion of its distribution network. 

Jaquet Droz registered excellent results in 2004, showing strong growth. The
brand succeeded in building awareness and developing its retail network. It also
strengthened its presence by penetrating new markets such as Turkey, Syria and
Lebanon. Successful sales figures considerably enhanced retailers’ confidence in
the brand.

Léon Hatot carried out some intensive advertising and PR activities, which
succeeded in increasing its profile and sales. The introduction of its new collec-
tion to the press in the presence of brand president Arlette E. Emch had a very
real impact on consumers, as did other advertising initiatives.

Omega recorded significant growth in the Middle East in 2004 due to the extra-
ordinary strength of the brand and the launch of new products, which were
acclaimed by its clientele. Omega’s active involvement in the sponsorship of
events resulted in some memorable moments, such as the Omega Final Triple
Crown Race in the presence of Nayla Hayek, Omega’s management and Middle
Eastern royalty. The brand’s strength also stems from the point of sale strategy it
has adopted, notably the opening of Omega boutiques in various prestigious
areas throughout the region. Omega Bijoux also helped to increase the brand’s
reputation, and was successfully launched in the UAE, Qatar, Iran, Kuwait and
Lebanon.

Longines enjoyed a year of remarkable growth, exceeding all forecasts, setting
new sales records, improving its dominant position and reinforcing its image by
implementing some extremely successful marketing activities. The opening of the
first mini-boutique by the brand’s president Walter von Känel and the Longines’
Museum exhibition in Dubai, the sponsorship of equestrian events in Egypt and
Qatar, and the launch of new products enabled the brand to enjoy intense media
coverage across the region.

Rado obtained remarkable sales results in 2004, which was also highlighted by
two major events. One of these was the opening of the first Rado boutique in
Saudi Arabia by the famous media personality George Kordahi and the brand’s
president Roland Streule. The other was the successful launch of the Sintra
Diamond collection, the Sintra Superjubilé and the Sintra Pavé by famous
Bollywood actress and model Lisa Ray in Dubai. Both events had a tremendous
impact on the press and the public.

Tissot recorded remarkable growth in 2004, further strengthening its leading
position in the mid-range segment. Its distribution network was further enhanced
with qualitative development clearly focusing on brand image. Events such as the
T-Touch interactive show in Dubai and the motorcycle Grand Prix roadshows in
Doha, Qatar, had an immense impact in terms of PR and sales. In addition,
various marketing activities were carried out through pan-Arab TV and print
campaigns, which contributed to raising brand awareness and increasing market
share.

ck watch & jewelry capitalized on its optimized retail distribution platform,
continuing its strong growth throughout the Middle East. A region-specific
advertising campaign was launched in May, and contributed to raising the
brand’s reputation, specifically leading to a clear increase in sales. ck appointed
new retail partners in Iraq and Yemen, and in Bahrain Duty Free. ck jewelry was
launched in six markets at the end of the year, and the results are already
promising.
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Balmain succeeded in gaining a tremendous market share in the fashion watch
segment thanks to the launch of new models such as the Amphora, which was a
huge success. Sales grew considerably throughout the Middle East, particularly
in Saudi Arabia. An aggressive media and PR campaign boosted brand
awareness, as did the new display kit.

Hamilton was reintroduced into the region during the Swatch Group Mini-Basel-
world event. The brand rapidly succeeded in setting up top-quality distribution
networks in Jordan, Oman and Kuwait. The positive results it recorded point
towards a successful penetration in the region’s main markets in the very short
term.

Certina and Mido continued their upward trend by widening their distribution
network and also by establishing and developing relationships with retailers.

Flik Flak enjoyed another excellent year, reinforcing its presence in all Swatch
boutiques and consolidating its position in the Swiss-made children’s watch
segment.

SWITZERLAND

Swatch pursued its objective of updating its image by applying the Jelly Fish
concept in 13 Swatch Stores, and the Atlantis concept in 20 shop-in-shops. This
was a success, with sales literally soaring after each reopening. However, sales
to stockists have continued to fall across the board compared with 2003. The
general restructuring of the distribution network, the rationalization of stocks, an
economic situation and tourism levels that were gloomy and even downright
disastrous in the city of Geneva, and a long period of alteration work at Zurich air-
port have taken their toll on dealers. Alongside selected promotions organized by
the brand in the Stores and large shop-in-shops, Swatch held an unusual launch
at the printing presses of the «Neue Zürcher Zeitung» for the special edition artis-
tic dada watch. The two models created for the Montreux Jazz Festival and the
Swatch FIVB World Tour volleyball contest at Gstaad were a resounding success.
The Olympic collection was also very well received in Switzerland, particularly at
the counter installed at Zurich Station as part of a joint initiative with Swiss
Olympic, and at the interactive stand installed at the Olympic Museum in
Lausanne. Lastly, the launch at the end of November of the Lustrous Bliss Swatch
Skin with 174 diamonds was unquestionably the major success of the year, both
in terms of media response and sales. Sales of Swatch Bijoux continued to
increase dramatically, helped by a continuously growing market, strong products,
and a motivated distribution network, which still remains selective.

Breguet, which has been growing since 1999, experienced an excellent year in
2004, despite a mature market and difficulties caused by the demands of
stockists’ insurance policies. The 2004 watch models and the new Reine de
Naples jewelry collection generated much interest, and recorded successful sales
figures at the end of the year. The largest exhibition of old Breguet watches ever
held in Switzerland took place between November 22 and December 19 at a top-
of-the-range retailer in Zurich. Record numbers of visitors attended this exhibi-
tion, which attracted up to 140 people each day. A new point of sale was opened
in Gstaad, and the third Geneva International Music Competition was much
appreciated by Swiss clients.

Blancpain experienced a year with a lot of contrasts. After a rather quiet start of
the year, the brand profited from the impact created by Baselworld, which provid-
ed a very positive impulse to the market. The second half of the year saw impres-
sing progress, mainly due to the delivery of novelties and the rearrangement of
the assortment at the points of sale.



international

92 swatch group  annual report 2004

Jaquet Droz recorded a marked improvement in sales, particularly in French-
speaking Switzerland. Its advertising campaign in the press and close collabora-
tion with the Tourbillon boutiques helped to maximize the brand’s impact. Thanks
to its one-off and limited-series models, Jaquet Droz is increasingly positioning
itself as a leading prestige watch brand. The concept of custom-made timepieces
with mineral dials is greatly appreciated.

Léon Hatot opted for selective distribution, and this year made its début in
Switzerland’s third Tourbillon boutique, which is located in Lugano. Its other
Swiss outlets can be found in Lausanne and Basel. The brand is also distributed
via Embassy in Lucerne.

Omega had one of its most fruitful years in 2004. It was able to increase its
market share and consolidate its position in the luxury segment. Its product and
marketing strategies involved downsizing its distribution network. The preview of
the Constellation Quadrella in October, together with the presentation of the
Omega Bijoux collection, enabled Omega to finish the year on a high note and
open an Omega boutique at the beginning of this year at Spitalgasse 4 in the
capital city of Berne.

Longines recorded excellent results for 2004 in Switzerland. This was partly due
to the enduring success of the Longines evidenza and the introduction of the
Longines Olympic Collection chronographs at the Swiss CSIO event in Lucerne in
the presence of  Swiss horseman Markus Fuchs and other national and interna-
tional personalities. In August, the brand sponsored the Longines Leopard of
Honor at the Locarno Film Festival. This occasion saw the launch of the new
Longines LungoMare collection in the presence of Sean Ferrer, son of the leg-
endary Audrey Hepburn, two brand ambassadors – Russian actor Oleg Menshikov
and Markus Fuchs – and many personalities and friends of Longines.

Rado again demonstrated its masterly versatility, with the expansion of the
Sintra Diamond line being a resounding success in the media and with the
general public alike. The launch of the V10K once more highlighted the brand’s
pioneering approach to material research, since it was able to combine innova-
tive materials with top-quality designs. Ambitious window displays and an inten-
sive national advertising campaign contributed to the success of points of sale.
Rado celebrated 20 years of involvement in tennis sponsorship as timekeeper and
speed measurer with a varied tour throughout Switzerland. With events ranging
from an autograph session with Patty Schnyder and a panel discussion with Heinz
Günthardt to the WTA tournament in Kloten, Rado provided entertainment and
excitement at the very highest level. 

Tissot has again gained market shares this year. A considerable increase was
registered notably in the touristic regions of Lucerne and Interlaken, thanks to the
growing number of Asian travelers. The stable situation at a high level of purchases
by the local clientele strongly contributed to the success achieved in 2004. 
The innovative power of the brand came to bear with the launch of new products
in the ladies’ segment, the Precious Flower collection, and the enhancement of
the tactile collection for men with the T-Navigator 3000. 

ck watch & jewelry took full advantage of the synergy created during the
launch of the ck jewelry collection. Thanks to the existing ck watch distribution
network, this collection was rapidly able to carve out a large niche for itself in a
difficult market. The ck yoyo jewelry range and the ck flash watch are the leading
lights in their respective collections. The quality of the distribution network has
again been strengthened.

Balmain made a strong comeback on the market, and saw its sales increase
significantly. Its new image, which featured widely in the media and on posters
thanks to advertising campaigns, made a major contribution to improving its
visibility and consolidating its position. The brand saw a strong increase in sales
of its shiny steel products with arabesque dials and bezels inlaid with brilliants,
including the Madrigal model.

Certina will look back on an extremely positive year. Focusing on its points of
sale, it increased the quality of its distribution network, held increased numbers
of point of sale activities, improved its window displays, and intensified its
collaboration with key accounts. The launches of the DS Donna ladies’ line and
the DS Podium men’s line in the second half of the year provided the brand with
the impetus it required in order to stand out conclusively from its competitors
with a profiled overall collection. An image/print campaign in October and a
striking outdoor campaign with a product focus aroused the interest of end
consumers, unquestionably contributing to Certina’s record sales over the
Christmas period. 

Mido focused on developing its distribution network, which has had a positive
impact on its result. In addition, the launch of the new Multifort Lady enabled it
to strengthen its market position.

Flik Flak, the children’s brand, came off lightly in a difficult consumer market
with results that recorded only a slight, insignificant fall, and was able to retain
its position as undisputed leader in the Swiss market for children’s watches. The
initiative involving cardboard Flik Flak clocks in schools to enable teachers to help
young children learn to tell the time was a great success once more this year,
again proving to be an extremely effective educational and promotional tool.
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Swatch Group social policy
Fundamental principles
The Swatch Group is aware that its performance depends heavily on the quality and commitment of the men and
women it employs. The Group is also aware that it needs motivated, high-performing members of staff and that in
return it must offer them a social package that recognizes their commitment.

Working conditions
In Switzerland, the working conditions within Group companies continued to be largely governed by the collective
agreement dated January 1, 2002. This stipulates the introduction of minimum starting salaries intended to prevent
employers undercutting salaries following the implementation of the bilateral agreement with the European Union
on the free movement of persons. This is not a major problem for the Group. Many of its companies are located in
border cantons that already have minimum salary schemes for staff requiring work permits. All Group companies,
irrespective of location, provide starting salaries that exceed these minimum levels. However, the Group is also
aware that minimum salaries that are too high could lead to a general increase in salaries, which might have a
detrimental effect on the international competitiveness of products.

Training
The Swatch Group actively participates in the ongoing training of its staff, and organizes a large number of 
courses each year. Stepping up this initiative, it has developed its own training offering and now offers over fifty
courses, which are given in French, German and English.
With regard to passing knowledge on to young people, the Group’s Swiss companies currently employ 264 trainees,
whose training has to be validated by a Swiss Federal certificate. This basic professional training covers sixteen
professions, of which the most represented are polyvalent mechanics (98 trainees), commercial employees (51
trainees) and watchmakers (47 trainees trained over 3 or 4 years).

Retirement benefits
In Switzerland, retirement benefits are based on a state insurance scheme and a private occupational benefit plan,
run by an insurance company or a pension fund, which invests the savings fund for the benefit of staff. When a
person takes early retirement, the pension paid by either of these schemes is reduced.
In order make it easier to retire early, Swiss watchmaking employers have decided to set up a bridging pension
system. This started to take effect in 2004, and Group employees in the age-band concerned have already been able
to benefit from the new system. 

Staff information and consultation for Group companies located within the European Union
In 1996, the Swatch Group introduced a staff information and consultation procedure in compliance with European
Directive 94/45/EU (Art. 13). In line with this directive, the representatives of the various Group subsidiaries 
located within the European Union are to be informed of the main developments and events within the Group. 
This process, which is up and running smoothly, takes place each year, alternately in either Switzerland or at one
of the Group’s EU subsidiaries. In 2004 it took place in Switzerland, and was followed by a Rado company visit. In
2003 the process took place in Germany, at the premises of the Glashütte watchmaking company. 

Trade union relations
The Swatch Group maintains good relations with trade union organizations, and has frequent contact with them. In
2004 it negotiated with its main union partner for the transfer of the Swatch Stock & Shipping department from
Bienne to Ticino.
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Swatch Group security and environmental protection
Implementing environmental protection policy
A long-term, sustainable approach to environmental protection is part of the Group’s business culture, and helps to
ensure its economic success. Specifically, it plays an integral role in innovation, including the development of new
products and production procedures so that raw materials and consumables are appropriate and easy to recycle.
Progress towards environmental protection is being carried out in a sustainable manner, whilst simultaneously
aiming to maximize quality and reduce costs. Some examples of this include: supplying new cleaning facilities with
cooling system water, resulting in significant savings of drinking water; using new cooling systems that are much
more energy-efficient despite being more powerful; using less volatile substances in cleaning facilities; further
renewal of electrolytic baths to extend their useable life; and installing filter systems to recover oil vapor.

Achievements
The recommended measures once again focus on areas that have some potential for environmental optimization,
such as energy, water, air, and waste management.

Whilst the specific reduction objectives set by the Group and the targeted measures within companies are being
implemented, the figures obtained by subsidiaries reached different levels due to inherent differences in their
activities. As a whole, the 2004 results should be seen as entirely satisfactory when compared with those of the
previous year. Some examples to illustrate the progress that has been made:

• Heat consumption per m2 of floor space
Measured in kWh/m2, energy consumption per m2 of floor space, in the form of heating oil and natural gas, has
again been reduced. This has led to an improvement of 1.7 % over the previous year (–5.2 %). The floor space to be
heated did not change during the fiscal year. This reduction was partly due to measures adopted in industrial con-
struction (building renovation), and partly due to the installation of new low-energy heating and ventilation systems,
and the recycling of industrial heat. 

• Electricity consumption per m2 of floor space
Measured in kWh/m2, electricity consumption was reduced by 0.4 % from the previous year. This figure is particu-
larly encouraging bearing in mind the increase in production. These savings have once again been generated in the
area of lighting (energy-saving light bulbs), by installing new equipment with automatic energy-saving standby
mode, and by using new machines and equipment that consume less power.

• Emissions of CO2 resulting from energy consumption
Overall energy consumption (fuel oil, natural gas and district heating) was reduced again, this year by over 3.4 mil-
lion kWh, or 2.4 % (2003 figures: –1.5 million kW, or –1.1 %). During the same period, CO2 emissions fell by 3.4 %
(2003 figure: –1.7 %). These reductions are essentially due to a reduction in fuel oil consumption.

• Waste management
Levels of special waste (excluding watch batteries) have increased slightly during the fiscal year because of the
increase in production. However, the special waste that was recovered or recycled also increased in proportion.

• Battery recycling
The measures adopted for intercepting used batteries from electronic watches have proven successful. During 
fiscal year 2004, an additional 3.1 % of watch batteries were recovered and forwarded to approved companies
specializing in recycling (2003 figure: 9.9 %). 

• Waste water treatment
Considerable progress was also made in this area, manifesting itself in an equivalent reduction in the volume of
waste water produced thanks to the use of closed water systems, for example in the manufacture of silicon wafers
(Micro Crystal) and in spark machining (Manufacture Breguet). These two measures alone have enabled the Group
to reduce its fresh-water consumption by over 19 000 m3. 

• Emissions of VOCs (Volatile Organic Compounds)
Higher production levels have increased VOC consumption by 0.3 % compared with the previous year. Increasingly
replacing extremely volatile substances with the use of aqueous procedures not involving solvents or involving less
volatile substances has resulted in a 2.2 % reduction in the discharge of VOCs into the atmosphere (2003 figures: 
–11.6 %). 
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• Risk reduction measures
Factors that have contributed to risk reduction are new construction, technical and organizational measures to
increase the safety of the packaging and storage of chemical products, along with the strict observance of the
measures in the Regulation on Safety Advisors (OSC), and internal and external environmental protection risk
analysis. The establishment of a safety database for all types of synthetic materials classed by usage type,
production and model is nearing completion. A substances database has been created in order to reduce the usage
of hazardous raw materials. This will make it possible to exclude risks related to the choice of raw materials at the
planning stage.

• ISO 14001 certification
Following on from the ISO 14001 certification of the Zhuhai SMH Watchmaking subsidiary in China and Oscillo-
quartz and Microcomponents in Switzerland, ETA’s factory 1 and Diantus (both in Switzerland) also successfully
obtained ISO 14001 certification during the period under review. 
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1. Group structure and shareholders

The Swatch Group is active worldwide and represented in the finished watches sector with 18 watch brands in all market and price
brackets. In addition, it holds an outstanding industrial position with a high degree of verticalization in the sector of production of
watch movements and components as well as the strategically important sector of electronic systems. In the General Services sector,
the operational units which provide services for the whole Group, are centralized.
The Swatch Group has lean and efficient management structures at all levels. While the Board of Directors deals with the overall
management, strategic and supervisory tasks, the operative executive duties are incumbent on the Executive Group Management
Board, which is supported by the Extended Group Management Board.
An overview of the operational and of the distribution organizations is given on pages 4 and 5. The consolidated companies, of which
none but The Swatch Group Ltd is listed on the Stock Exchange, are given on pages 144, 145 and 146 with each company’s name,
domicile, share capital and the percentage of shares held.
The shares of The Swatch Group Ltd are listed on the SWX Swiss Exchange virt-x under the Swiss security numbers 1 225 514
(registered shares) and 1 225 515 (bearer shares).

ISIN: CH0012255144 registered shares
CH0012255151 bearer shares

Reuters: UHRN.VX registered shares
UHR.VX bearer shares

Telekurs: UHRN, 1 registered shares
UHR, 1 bearer shares

Further information concerning market capitalization and earnings per share are shown on page 159.
The corporation’s registered office is located in Neuchâtel, faubourg de l’Hôpital 3. The administrative headquarters are in Biel,
Seevorstadt 6.

As of 31 December 2004, the Hayek Pool and related parties controlled 62 017 071 registered shares and 312 498 bearer shares,
totalling 36.5 % (previous year 36.7 %) of the votes.

The Hayek Pool comprises the following members:

Name/Company Location Beneficial owner
Mr N. G. Hayek Meisterschwanden N. G. Hayek
WAT Holding AG Meisterschwanden N. G. Hayek
Ammann Group Holding AG c/o Ernst & Young AG, Bern J. N. Schneider-Ammann

U. A. Ammann
Swatch Group Pension Fund Neuchâtel –

Mrs C. Gerber-Ten Bosch withdrew from the Pool in the period under review. She has sold her shares in the context of the Pool
contract to the WAT Holding AG, the Swatch Group Pension Fund and the Ammann Group Holding AG.

The companies and institutions close to the Hayek Pool but which do not formally belong to the Hayek Pool are:

Name/Company Location Beneficial owner
Hayek Holding AG Meisterschwanden N. G. Hayek
Mr N. G. Hayek and family members N. G. Hayek 
Personalfürsorgestiftung der Hayek Engineering AG Meisterschwanden –
Families Ammann (pension funds, foundations and c/o Ernst & Young AG, Bern Represented by 
individuals, Madisa AG) J. N. Schneider-Ammann
Fondation d’Ébauches SA et des maisons affiliées Neuchâtel –
Fondation de Technocorp Holding SA Le Locle –

Mr N. G. Hayek’s group, in the context of the Pool, and related parties, altogether control 35.8 % (published in the previous year 
35.8 %) of the votes. 3.8 % thereof are represented in the context of the Pool contract (previous year 4.2 %). 
Mrs Esther Grether’s group controls 8.0 % (previous year 8.0 %) of the votes.
No other individual shareholder or group of shareholders holding more than 5 % is known to the Group.

The Swatch Group holds no cross-shareholdings.
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2. Capital structure

On 31 December 2004, the capital structure of The Swatch Group Ltd. was as follows:

137 051 327 Registered shares at CHF –.45 par value CHF 61 673 097.15
33 506 950 Bearer shares at CHF 2.25 par value CHF 75 390 637.50

Total share capital as of 31.12.2004 CHF 137 063 734.65

No authorized and conditional capital existed as of 31 December 2004.

Over the past three years the share capital of The Swatch Group Ltd. changed as follows:

Key date Registered shares Bearer shares Share capital CHF
31.12.2001 140 810 000 at CHF –.45 34 264 500 at CHF 2.25 140 459 625.00
31.12.2002 137 051 327 at CHF –.451) 33 506 950 at CHF 2.251) 137 063 734.65
31.12.2003 137 051 327 at CHF –.45 33 506 950 at CHF 2.25 137 063 734.65
31.12.2004 137 051 327 at CHF –.45 33 506 950 at CHF 2.25 137 063 734.65
1) Buyback of shares on the Group’s 2nd trading line and cancellation following the decision of the Annual General Meeting of 

7 June 2002: 3 758 673 registered shares and 757 550 bearer shares.

The detailed evolution of equity, reviewed by the auditors for the consolidated financial statements for the years 2003 and 2004, is
published on page 117. For The Swatch Group Ltd, it is published for the year 2004 in note 16 on page 154. With regard to the
previous years we refer to the annual reports 2002 and 2003.

The shares listed in point 2.1 are fully paid in. Each share carries one vote. Both categories of shares confer equal entitlement to
dividends according to their nominal value.
No participation notes have been issued.

No benefit certificates exist.

The Statutes of the Swatch Group stipulate that the Board of Directors shall refuse the registration of new shares, if the new share-
holder fails to give an express written declaration to the effect that he or she acquired the shares in his/her own name and for his/her
own account. Furthermore, the Board of Directors refuses a registration if the purchaser, either alone or in conjunction with related
persons, already holds 5% or more of the registered share capital (either directly or indirectly) at his disposal, or would exceed this
threshold with the new acquisition (Art. 9 para. 3 of the Statutes). The Board of Directors may approve exceptions to this rule in
special cases. No such exceptions were requested in the period under review. 
Insofar as an individual or a legal entity was already entered in the share register before the reporting date of 31 May 1997 with 5%
or more of the registered share capital, the Board of Directors must approve even though the percentage limits have been exceeded.
The same exception applies for related persons (spouse, descendant, brother, sister), transfers due to inheritance or matrimonial
property rights as well as certain transfers between legal entities or individuals subject to the exception (Art. 9 para. 6 and 7 of the
Statutes).
In the period under review such registrations have been entered for the benefit of WAT Holding AG (643 371), Mrs Esther Grether 
(20 000) and Grether AG (7 750).
Where a share purchaser presents an application for recognition as a shareholder of the company, he shall be regarded as a share-
holder without voting rights until the company has recognized him as a shareholder with voting rights. If the company fails to refuse
the purchaser’s application for recognition within 20 days, he shall be acknowledged as a shareholder with voting rights. A share-
holder who has no voting right may exercise neither the voting right nor the other associated rights.

On 15 October 2003, The Swatch Group Finance (Luxembourg) SA, Luxemburg, launched a bond issue of CHF 411.6 million
guaranteed, unsubordinated bonds due 2010, convertible into registered shares with a par value of CHF 0.45, and unconditionally
and irrevocably guaranteed by The Swatch Group Ltd. The Swatch Group issued the bonds to take advantage of the attractive
financing opportunity available in the convertible market in order to dispose of its treasury shares. The cash generated will be used
outside Switzerland for general business activities of the Group. The bonds are structured as seven-year traditional full-coupon
convertible bonds and are sold to investors with a coupon/yield to maturity of 2.625% (annual) and a conversion price of CHF 49.–.
The issuer issues and redeems the bonds at 100%. Each bond of par value of CHF 5 000.– is, in accordance with its terms, convert-
ible free of charge into shares. The bond issue was a public bond offering in Switzerland.

2.7.1 Payment date/maturity date of the convertible bond
Payment date: 15 October 2003
Maturity date: 15 October 2010
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2.8 Options

2.7.2 Conversion right/conversion period/conversion price
Each bond in the principal amount of the CHF 5 000.– will be convertible, on any business day during the conversion period, 
into shares at the conversion ratio. The conversion ratio will be determined by dividing CHF 5 000.–, the principal amount of one
bond, by the conversion price (CHF 49.–) prevailing on the conversion date. Fractions of shares will not be issued nor delivered on
conversion. Instead cash payments in Swiss francs will be made.

2.7.3 Repayment at the maturity date
Unless the bond haas been previously converted, redeemed, or purchased and cancelled, the issuer undertakes to repay the bond at
the maturity date (15 October 2010) without further notice, at the principal amount.

2.7.4 Volume of the convertible bond in terms of nominal value and voting rights
The volume of the underlying shares of the convertible bond is 8 400 000 registered shares of The Swatch Group Ltd.
The transaction is fully covered by the amount of these underlying shares. These shares represent 4.93% of all voting rights of the
company and 2.76% of the total nominal value of The Swatch Group Ltd.
In addition, the Group refers to the prospectus on the convertible bond dated 8 October 2003.

In 1986, a block of shares was reserved in favour of a management stock option plan in connection with the takeover of control of
the Swatch Group by the Hayek Pool. On 31 December 2004, the content of this portfolio amounted to 3 499 632 registered shares;
this corresponds to 1.1% of the total share capital (previous year 3 742 200 registered shares, 1.2% of the total share capital). In 
the year under review 242 568 registered shares (or 0.08% of the total share capital) were consequently sold at an exceptional price
of CHF 4.– per registered share in accordance with the following details:

Year of issue Number of registered shares Number of beneficiaries Year of subscription/payup
2002 70 207 183 2004
2003 78 683 189 2004
2004 93 678 222 2004
Total 242 568

In addition, the Group gave participating managers the following options to subscribe in future to further registered shares at the
following preferential prices:

Year of issue Number of registered shares Number of beneficiaries Year of subscription/payup
2003 80 291 193 2005
2004 89 156 219 2005
2004 90 260 219 2006
Total 259 707

Neither the members nor the Chairman and Delegate of the Board of Directors have ever received either options or shares under 
this plan.
The allocation results from personnel reviews and proposals for employees who stood out through special achievements in the past
year and have performed with above-average commitment. The allocation is then approved by the Compensation Committee. It
allows a first purchase of a third of the promised number of registered shares in the current year, which can be paid up and claimed
immediately, and another third in one and two years respectively.
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3. Board of Directors

The Board of Directors on the 31 December 2004 is composed as follows:

Dr h. c. Nicolas G. Hayek, Swiss citizen, Chairman and Delegate of the Board of Directors of the Swatch Group since 1986. 
Mr N. G. Hayek has been strategic consultant since 1980, defined the guidelines for the merger of ASUAG and SSIH, and developed
the future strategy of the Group. The Universities of Neuchâtel and Bologna have conferred honorary doctorates on him. Mr N. G.
Hayek is also Chairman of the Board of the Hayek Group of which he is the founder and which also occasionally provides services
for the Swatch Group. Mr N. G. Hayek sits on the Advisory Board of EPFL (Ecole Polytechnique Fédérale de Lausanne) and is a
member of the temporary advisory «High Level Group» of the European Union. Mr N. G. Hayek was awarded the distinction «Grosses
Ehrenzeichen mit Stern» from the government of Austria, he was appointed «Officier de la Légion d’honneur» by the government of
France and was nominated honorary citizen of Biel/Bienne. Mr N. G. Hayek exercises no additional activities in other executive or
supervisory bodies outside the Group and holds neither official function nor political office. He is the sole member of the Board of 
Directors who also exercises executive functions.

Dr Peter Gross, Swiss citizen, Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Swatch Group. Dr Gross is a member of the Board of
Directors since 1977 (previously ASUAG). Dr Gross, a lawyer by profession, used to be General Director of the Union Bank of
Switzerland, Zurich, then chaired Danzas Holding AG, Basle, as well as the Solothurn Bank. He performs no operative functions and
entertains no commercial relations with the Swatch Group. Otherwise, Dr Gross neither exercises permanent executive or advisory
functions nor holds official or political office.

Esther Grether, Swiss citizen, has been on the Board of Directors of the Swatch Group since 1986. Mrs Grether is Chairperson of
the Board of the Doetsch Grether Group, Basle, including Beiersdorf AG, Münchenstein. She has headed this group for over 27 years.
As the second-largest shareholder after Mr N. G. Hayek, she neither performs any operative functions nor entertains any commercial
relations with the Swatch Group. Otherwise, Mrs Grether neither exercises permanent executive or advisory functions nor holds
official function or political office.

Nayla Hayek, Swiss citizen, has been on the Board of Directors of the Swatch Group since 1998 and performs no operative 
executive duties for the Group. As Chairperson of the Swiss Co-operative of Arabian Horse Breeders, President of the Conference of
Arab Horse Organizations show commission (ECAHO), member of the World Arabian Horse Organization (WAHO), and as international
Arabian horse judge, Mrs N. Hayek’s top-level contacts contribute to many of the business and promotional activities of the Swatch
Group and she supports the brands, as well as the local organization, within the scope of an advisory mandate. As Board member of
the Hayek Group, she is responsible for Hayek Immobilien AG. She is member of the Board of SUVA. She holds no other official
function or political office.

Dr Peter Baumberger, Swiss citizen, having graduated in Law from Basle University, has been on the Board of Directors of the
Swatch Group since 1986. He gathered international experience in the license department of Westinghouse International in New
York from 1950 to 1955 and was responsible for South America with the Olin Mathieson Corporation of New York from 1955 to 1959.
From 1960 to 1976, he was Chairman and Managing Director of RCA Overseas with RCA in New York and Geneva. From 1976 to 1991,
he served as Managing Director and Board Member of the Carba Group in Bern. He also sits on the Boards of Lindt & Sprüngli AG
and the ABN-AMRO Bank Switzerland. Dr Baumberger exercises no permanent executive or advisory functions and holds no official
functions or political office.

Johann Niklaus Schneider-Ammann, Swiss citizen, a qualified ETH engineer, Insead MBA, has been on the Board of Directors 
of the Swatch Group since 1998. He is Chairman and Delegate of the Board of the Ammann Group Holding AG. He performs no
operative leadership functions in the Swatch Group and neither he personally nor the company he represents entertain any commer-
cial relations with the Swatch Group. Mr Schneider-Ammann is member of the boards of some SMEs, Chairman of the Mikron
Holding AG, Chairman of Swissmem (Swiss Machinery, Electrical and Metal Industry), Zurich, Vice-Chairman of Economiesuisse as
well as member of the Swiss National Council.

Ernst Tanner, Swiss citizen, has been on the Board of Directors of the Swatch Group since 1995. He is Chairman and Delegate of
the Board of the Lindt & Sprüngli Group. Before his activity with Lindt & Sprüngli, he was for over 25 years in leading management
positions with the Johnson & Johnson Group in Europe and the USA, ending up as Company Group Chairman Europe. He is a member
of the Board of Credit Suisse Group. Otherwise, he exercises no other executive or advisory functions and holds no official functions
or political office.
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3.4 Elections and 
terms of office

3.5 Internal organizational
structure of the Board
of Directors

3.6 Definition of areas 
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The members of the Board of Directors are elected at the Ordinary General Meeting of the shareholders for a term of three years. The
period between two ordinary General Meetings is regarded as one year. The members of the Board shall be eligible for re-election at
any time. There is no limit on the term of office. According to Article 18 of the Swatch Group Statutes the votes and elections take
place openly, save where the Chairman orders a written election or vote. One or more shareholders, who together dispose of not less
than 10% of the represented votes, may require written votes or elections.

First-time election and remaining term of office of the members of the Board of Directors:

First-time election Term of office
Dr h.c. Nicolas G. Hayek 1986 Up to 2007
Dr Peter Gross 1977 Up to 2007
Esther Grether 1986 Up to 2007
Nayla Hayek 1998 Up to 2007
Dr Peter Baumberger 1986 Up to 2007
Johann Niklaus Schneider-Ammann 1998 Up to 2007
Ernst Tanner 1995 Up to 2007

Mrs Esther Grether has been designated representative of the bearer shareholders and Mr N. G. Hayek as representative of the regis-
tered shareholders.

The Board of Directors is self-constituting. It has appointed a Chairman (Mr N. G. Hayek) and a Vice-Chairman (Dr P. Gross) from its
midst. Mr R. Bloch, who is not a member of the Board of Directors, serves as Secretary to the Board of Directors. The terms of office
of the Chairman, Vice-Chairman and the Secretary are, in each case, three years. They are all re-eligible for a further term of office.
If an officer is substituted, the successor completes the remainder of the term of the predecessor.
The Board of Directors has an Audit Committee and a Compensation Committee at its disposal. These committees, which sit
separately (normally immediately following an ordinary meeting), because of the relatively small number of company directors,
comprise all the members of the Board of Directors; the committees are chaired by Mr N. G. Hayek.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for the supervision of the financial reporting and for the evaluation of the internal and
external audit. The Audit Committee has particularly fulfilled the following functions:
– Review of the Audit reports with the Board of Directors,
– Reinforcement of points which the auditing firm raised,
– Determination of the audit focal points,
– Dealing with special questions of the financial statements.

The Compensation Committee determines the principles of compensation of the members of the Board of Directors, members of the
Executive Group Management Board and members of the Extended Group Management Board and supervises the compliance with
these principles (see point 5.1 hereafter). In addition, the salaries and bonuses of the managerial staff (Executive Group Manage-
ment Board/Extended Group Management Board) including stock options were approved.
The Board of Directors normally meets five to six times a year. The meetings last approximately three to four hours. Furthermore, two
meetings each for the Compensation and Audit Committees are planned per year. The members of the Executive Group Management
Board regularly attend the ordinary meetings of the Board of Directors (second part). Beside the President (CEO) of the Executive
Group Management Board, the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and the Chief Legal and Human Resources Officer (CLO) as well as, if
necessary, any other members of the Executive Group Management Board, are invited to attend the meetings of the Audit and the
Compensation Committees.

The Board of Directors is the highest executive body responsible for the overall administration of the Group. It adopts strategic
decisions and defines the means necessary for attaining the long-term goals. It determines, inter alia, the participation and appoint-
ment of the members of the Executive Group Management Board, the Extended Group Management Board and the heads of the main
Group companies. Moreover, the Board of Directors approves the annual budget of the Group and its affiliated companies and
decides on investments over CHF 3 million. The Board of Directors prepares the General Meeting and drafts the annual report as well
as the half-year report.
The Board of Directors has delegated current operative business to the Executive Group Management Board, the Extended Group
Management Board and to the Holding Company Management.
The Executive Group Management Board is responsible for implementing Group strategies. It sets strategies and objectives for the
Group companies and supervises their management.
The Extended Group Management Board supports and advises the Executive Group Management Board in its operative tasks. It
makes suggestions for the development of the Group strategy.
The individual members of the Executive and Extended Group Management Boards manage their allocated areas within the frame-
work of the Group policy and in accordance with guidelines set by the Executive Group Management Board.
The Holding Company Management is responsible for the current operative business of the Holding Company.
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Each member of the Board of Directors can request to receive information on all issues concerning the Company and on important
issues concerning the Group companies.
The members of the Executive Group Management Board report at the Board of Directors meetings on current business and impor-
tant business issues. In particular, the members of the Board of Directors regularly receive detailed information regarding turnover
and results trends for the Group and Group Divisions. Furthermore, important business issues, new products and the Group’s finan-
cial status are reported in detail. Moreover, extraordinary occurrences are immediately brought to the attention of the Board.
Outside meetings, each member of the Board of Directors may seek information on the general progress of business from authorized
management (after informing the Chairman). With due authorization of the Chairman, they may also demand direct information on
individual business transactions. Should the Chairman reject an application for information, a hearing or an inspection (which has
never occurred so far), the entire Board of Directors shall decide at the request of the applicant.
Moreover, it was decided in 2004 to appoint a Compliance Officer for the implementation and compliance of the statutory provisions
and the Group’s directives (including the rules of the statutes), who has started its activity in the beginning of 2005.

4. Group Management 
(Executive Group Management Board/Extended Group Management Board)
At 31 December 2004

Nick Hayek, Jr, Swiss citizen, pursued two years’ study at the St. Gallen College of Economic, Legal and Social Studies (HSG –
Hochschule für Wirtschafts-, Rechts- und Sozialwissenschaften), then attended the Film Academy CLCF in Paris. President of the
Executive Group Management Board since 2003; with managerial responsibility for Swatch Group Singapore, Swatch Group
Malaysia, Swatch Group Greater China (China, Hong Kong, Taiwan), Glashütte Original, Swatch Group Les Boutiques, Tech Airport,
Comadur, Swiss Timing as well for the Swatch Group Hi-Tech. Mr Hayek has worked with the Swatch Group since 1994, firstly as
Swatch Marketing Manager, then as Swatch President and finally as Delegate of the Board of Directors of Swatch. In the mid-
eighties, he founded his own production company, Sesame Films in Paris, and worked in Switzerland and abroad. His involvement in
a number of film productions (e. g. a series of documentaries for Swiss Television), then the production of a number of short films 
(e. g. 1st prize at the Thessalonica Film Festival, an official contribution to the Cannes Film Festival, etc.) and his activity as producer
and manager of two feature films, «Das Land von Wilhelm Tell» and «Family Express» with Peter Fonda, a film that earned him 
the prize for the best Swiss comedy at the Charlie Chaplin Comedy Film Festival in Vevey), resulted in his being called upon to 
advise on various Swatch projects in the early ‘90s and to assume responsibility for several Swatch exhibitions (such as that of
Lingotto in Turin).

Arlette E. Emch, Swiss citizen, holds a degree in Ethnology and History as well as a certificate in Journalism. She has been a
member of the Extended Group Management Board since 1998 and of the Executive Group Management Board since December 1999.
She joined the Swatch Group in December 1992 as Communications Manager to which position she brought her broad experience
as a journalist to bear. She was appointed President of ck watch in 1997 and she has since then controlled this brand which is a joint
venture between the Swatch Group and the American designer Calvin Klein. Her responsibilities were expanded, firstly in 2000, with
the management of a company called Dress Your Body which designs, develops and produces the lines of jewellery for the different
Swatch Group brands, then, in 2002, with the management of the Léon Hatot brand; in 2002 she was designated member of the
Board of Directors of Breguet, Jaquet Droz and Glashütte. She is responsible for Swatch Group Japan and Swatch Group South Korea.

Edgar Geiser, Swiss citizen, a Swiss certified expert in Accounting and Controlling, has been a member of the Executive Group
Management Board since 1990, and is responsible for controlling, finance, quality assurance and investor relations. He is also
responsible for the Swatch Group UK. He has worked for the Swatch Group since 1978, firstly as assistant to the CFO 
of the General Watch Co. Ltd., then in various finance functions and as Group Controller. Before joining the Swatch Group, he 
worked for UBS and General Motors in the finance area. He represents the Group in the Regional Economic Council of the Swiss
National Bank.

Dr Hanspeter Rentsch, Swiss citizen, holds a doctorate in Law and a degree in Economics (from HSG St. Gallen and Berne
Universities). As member of the Executive Group Management Board since 1995 he is responsible for legal affairs, licenses, strategic
projects, real estate, human resources and patent matters (ICB), as well as for Swatch Group Greece. He joined the legal department
of ASUAG in 1978. From 1980, he headed the legal and trademark department of the General Watch Co. Ltd and, after the merger,
became General Counsel to the new group. He subsequently assumed additional functions in the areas of licenses, real estate and
as Human Resources Responsible. Before joining the Swatch Group, he had been active as scientific assistant (Professor Dr W. R.
Schluep, Economic, Commercial and Competition Law chair) at Zurich University. He represents the Swatch Group on the Executive
Committee of Economiesuisse, on the Executive Board of the Swiss Employers Association, on the Executive Board of the Swiss
section of the International Chamber of Commerce (ICC), and on the Executive Board of the Fédération de l’industrie horlogère
suisse FH.

3.7 Information and
control instruments

4.1.1 Members of the 
Executive Group
Management Board
(incl. 4.2)

swatch group  annual report 2004 101



corporate governance

Roland Streule, Swiss citizen, attended business school in Basle. He has been a member of the Executive Group Management
Board since 1991 and is responsible for Rado, Hamilton and Swatch Group Belgium and Swatch Group Netherlands. He joined Rado
as Regional Sales Manager in 1978. He has been President of Rado since 1988. From 1994 to 1997, he was responsible for the
American and Canadian subsidiary of the Group, with permanent residence in the USA. Before joining the Swatch Group, he 
was Business Manager of the Ermano Watch Co. Ltd. He represents the Swatch Group on the Executive Board of the Fédération de
l’industrie horlogère suisse FH; he is a member of the Board of the Grenchen Trade and Industrial Union and the Swiss-German
Watchmakers Association.

Edmond Capt, Swiss citizen, is a qualified HTL engineer and has been a member of the Extended Group Management Board since
2000, responsible for Frédéric Piguet, Valdar and Universo. He started working for the Group in 1970 as a watch engineer (Valjoux).
With the takeover of Frédéric Piguet in 1992, where he was at that time Technical Manager, he joined the Group and later became
General Manager of Frédéric Piguet and Nouvelle Lémania. On 1 January 2004, Nouvelle Lémania was integrated into Breguet. Mr
Capt is a member of the Board of Directors of Breguet.

Dr Mougahed Darwish, Swiss citizen, holds a doctorate in Physics from the ETHL. He has been a member of the Extended Group
Management Board since 1994, responsible for EM Microelectronic-Marin, Micro Crystal, Renata, Microcomponents, Sokymat
Automotive, Oscilloquartz, Omega Electronics and Lasag. He has been with the Group since 1979, starting as Project Manager for the
Xicor-Ebauches joint venture. Previously, he had been active in research and development for the CEH (today CSEM). Since 1985 he
runs EM Microelectronic-Marin as CEO. He represents the Group on the Executive Board of the CSEM; he is a member of the Swiss
Academy of Technical Science.

Dr Rudolf Dinger, Swiss citizen, who has a doctorate in Physics, has been a member of the Extended Group Management Board
since 1999 and is responsible for Asulab and Nivarox-FAR. He started with the Group in 1976 as Project Manager and Development
Engineer for quartz resonators (Ebauches SA). Before becoming Head of Asulab, he had been in charge of the engineering depart-
ment of ETA. Before joining the Swatch Group, Dr Dinger had worked for the Canadian company AECL in the area of radiation-
detector development for nuclear reactors. He is member of the Swiss Academy of Technical Science.

Yann Gamard, French citizen, holds an MBA from Lausanne and has been a member of the Extended Group Management Board
since 1998, responsible for Swatch Group USA and Swatch Group Canada. He came to the Group as Head of Finance of Swatch AG
in 1995. Prior to that, he held various finance posts with Procter & Gamble, Swatch and Cartier. Before being assigned to the USA,
he had worked for Swatch as person in charge of the Telecom division.

Marc Alexander Hayek, Swiss citizen, has a bachelor degree in Economics and has undergone a training in Marketing and
Economics. He became a member of the Extended Group Management Board in 2002 with responsibility for Blancpain and Swatch
Group Middle East. He joined Blancpain as Marketing Manager in 2001. Mr Marc A. Hayek had previously worked as an independent
businessman (Restaurant Colors, Zurich) and had been employed by Swatch in the PR area and by Certina in marketing.

Walter von Känel, Swiss citizen, with a commercial training, has been member of the Extended Group Management Board since
1991, with responsibility for Longines. He entered Longines in 1969 and became its President in 1988. Mr von Känel now co-ordinates
the activities of the Group in Eastern Europe and Russia. He previously worked for a watch-dial factory and with the Federal Customs
Administration. He is a member of the Board of BKW Berne Electricity Works, Berne and represents the Group on the APHM (as
Chairman) and in the Bernese Jura Chamber of Industry and Commerce (as Board member). He is a town councilor of St. Imier and
member of the Bernese delegation to the Inter-Jurassic Assembly.

Florence Ollivier-Lamarque, French citizen, is a lawyer and has been a member of the Extended Group Management Board since
1992, President of Swatch Group France, Swatch Group France Les Boutiques and responsible for Swatch Group Spain, Swatch Group
Italy and Flik Flak. She has been with the Group since 1988 when it took over the then Inthor company of Paris, which marketed some
of the Group’s watches in France. At that time, she had been working as Swatch and Tissot Brand Manager. In 1990, she took 
over the management of the Swatch Group France and in 2002 the management of Swatch Group France Les Boutiques. She is
Administrator of the Colbert Committee.

Jerry Simonis, Swiss citizen, holds an MBA from the Netherlands School for International Business, Nyenrode, and has been a
member of the Extended Group Management Board since 1995, where he is responsible for Balmain. He joined Longines as Sales
Manager in 1976. Before joining the Swatch Group, he had been Sales Manager with Girard-Perregaux International.

Dr Peter Steiger, Swiss citizen, who has a doctorate in Public Economics, has been a member of the Extended Group Management
Board since 2002, with responsibility for Swatch Group Distribution, Logistics and Customer Service, as well as Swatch Group Nordic
(Sweden, Norway, Denmark, Finland). He started his career with the Group in 1989 as Head of Finance and Administration with PC
Quartz. Later, he held leading financial posts with various Group companies (among others Swatch and Longines). Before joining the
Swatch Group, he had worked with international groups in Switzerland and abroad (Shell, Philips).

4.1.2 Members of the
Extended Group
Management Board
(incl. 4.2)
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François Thiébaud, French citizen, comes from the ICG (Institut Contrôle de Gestion, Paris) and the Law University of Besançon,
and he has been a member of the Extended Group Management Board since 1998, with responsibility for Tissot, Mido, Certina as
well as Swatch Group Brazil, India, Germany and the Swiss market. He joined the Swatch Group in 1996 as Manager of Tissot. Previ-
ously, he had been active as Managing Director of Juvenia and Manager of Breitling. He represents the Group in the AMS (Vice-
Chairman), he is member of the Baselworld Consulting Committee and President of the Baselworld Swiss Exhibitors Consulting
Committee.

Stephen Urquhart, Swiss and British citizen, who studied Industrial Management at the University of Neuchâtel, has been a
member of the Extended Group Management Board since 2000 and is President of Omega and responsible within the Extended Group
Management Board for Swatch Group Mexico. Mr Urquhart began his career at Omega in 1968. From 1974 to 1997 he pursued his
career with Audemars Piguet, where he became Joint President and Managing Director from 1989 onwards. Mr Urquhart returned
to the Swatch Group in 1997 as President of Blancpain. 

The following members of the Executive and the Extended Group Management Board have resigned during the reporting year:
Anton Bally and Jean-Claude Biver, members of the Executive Group Management Board
Heinz W. Pfeifer and Michele Sofisti, members of the Extended Group Management Board

The following members of the Extended Group Management Board have been appointed to the Executive Group Management Board
as of 1 January 2005:
Florence Ollivier-Lamarque
Mougahed Darwish
Marc Alexander Hayek

The following new persons have been appointed to the Extended Group Management Board as of 1 January 2005:
Matthias Breschan
Manuel Emch
Thomas Meier
Dr Frank Müller
Kevin Rollenhagen
Rudolf Semrad

The contracts of employment with the members of the Executive and the Extended Group Management Board are entered for an
indefinite period of time and can be terminated by both parties with a six months notice. In case of a cancellation no termination
payment will be due. No entry bonus is paid by Swatch Group when entering new contracts (Golden Hellos).

Within the framework of a global contract, Hayek Engineering AG, Zurich, places its management personnel at the disposition of the
operative management of four Group companies: Lascor, Universo, Microcomponents and Micromechanics (Malaysia). At the end of
the year under review new operative heads were employed at Microcomponents and Universo, who substitute Hayek Engineering in
this field.

4.3 Management
contracts
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5. Compensation, shareholdings and loans

Compensation for the members of the Board of Directors and the Executive Group Management Board is determined by the Compen-
sation Committee (see point 3.5). The result-dependent component of the total compensation plays an important role.
The performance-related payment is bound to quantitative and qualitative objectives. The quantitative objectives comprise elements
of the sphere of influence of the function bearers and of the whole Group. The achievement of objectives is evaluated once a year.

The total amount of remuneration of the executive members of the Board of Directors as well as the Executive Group Management
Board and the Extended Group Management Board in the past year amounted to CHF 17.7 million, of which CHF 7.4 million in salaries
und CHF 10.3 million in performance and result-dependent bonuses for the preceding year. There were no personnel changes in the
reporting year in the Board of Directors. Mr Bally and Mr J.-C. Biver (Executive Group Management Board), as well as Mr H. Pfeiffer
and Mr M. Sofisti (Extended Group Management Board) have resigned from their positions in the Executive Group Management
Board and the Extended Group Management Board respectively.
The members of management are covered by the Swatch Group Pension Fund under the same insurance regulations that apply to all
employees. The insured salary for the year under review is subject to an upper limit of CHF 295 000.–.
Since 1 January 2003 the members of the Executive and Extended Group Management with employment contracts in Switzerland
are additionally insured by the Management Fund of the Swatch Group. The Management Fund supplements the benefits of the
Swatch Group Pension Fund. It insures salaries over CHF 300 000.– up to a maximum of CHF 784 000.–. The contributions to the
Management Fund amount to 10%, whereof three quarters (7.5%) are paid by the employer and one quarter (2.5%) is paid by the
employee. The administration of the Management Fund has been taken over by the Management of the Pension Fund.
In 2004, the non-executive members of the Board of Directors were paid a total of CHF 0.8 million (excluding Mr N. G. Hayek as
Chairman and Delegate of the Board of Directors).
The above mentioned persons did not receive any termination payments in the reporting year.

No compensation was paid to former members of governing bodies.

Members of the Executive Group Management Board as well as the Extended Group Management Board were, under the manage-
ment stock option plan mentioned under Point 2.8, allocated 136 800 options, altogether, to take up registered shares at an issue
price of CHF 4.– each. One third of these was immediately available to be subscribed, paid and claimed. In one and two years,
respectively, the other thirds will be available.
Neither the members nor the Chairman and Delegate of the Board of Directors received any options or shares.
The aims of the management stock option plan of the Swatch Group are to honour performances of the main Management members,
strengthen the motivation and the sense of responsibility in the Group, further the loyalty to the firm as well as the stability of the
managing employees and promote a favorable wealth increase. The allocation of shares results from an individual performance
report. The voting rights of the shares in possession of the plan will not be exercised.

All the executive members of the Board of Directors and the members of the Group Management as well as related parties altogether
directly or indirectly hold 54 890 907 registered shares and 81 040 bearer shares or 32.2% of the entire votes as of 31 December 2004
(31.9% in the previous year).
As of 31 December 2004, all non-executive members of the Board of Directors as well as related parties hold 15 186 332 registered
shares and 322 370 bearer shares or 9.1% (previous year 9.0%) of the votes.

In 2004 the members of the Executive Group Management Board and the Extended Group Management Board altogether received
126 604 registered shares at the preferential price of CHF 4.– per registered share in accordance with the details indicated below:

Year of issue Number of registered shares Number of beneficiaries Year of subscription/payup
2002 38 205 19 2004
2003 43 108 19 2004
2004 45 291 21 2004
Total 126 604

5.1 Content and method
of determining the
compensation and 
the shareholding
programmes

5.2 Compensation for
acting members of
governing bodies

5.3 Compensation for
former members of
governing bodies

5.4 Share allotment in the
year under review

5.5 Share ownership

5.6 Options
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The following rights to subscribe in future to additional registered shares at preferential prices have been given to this group of
beneficiaries:

Year of issue Number of registered shares Number of beneficiaries Year of subscription/payup
2003 43 134 19 2005
2004 45 291 21 2005
2004 46 218 21 2006
Total 134 643

The statements made about the members and Chairman and Delegate of the Board of Directors under points 2.8 and 5.4 also apply
to this point.

See annex to the consolidated financial statements of the Group, point 28 page 142, «Related party transactions».

Group employees have the possibility of taking out a mortgage loan with the Swatch Group Pension Fund for the construction or
acquisition of primary residences in Switzerland.
The conditions of this mortgage loan are set by the Swatch Group Pension Fund Foundation Board. The conditions are equally applied
to all employees of the Swatch Group. At the end of 2004, three such loans had been advanced to members of the Executive Group
Management Board in a total amount of CHF 1.6 million.
Furthermore, at the end of 2004, Swatch Group USA had maintained a loan in the amount of USD 0.1 million to the manager of this
subsidiary who also belongs to the Extended Group Management Board. The loan is secured by a mortgage and bears interest at 6.25%.

The aggregate value of the compensation paid to the member of the Board of Directors with the highest income in the year under
review amounted to CHF 1.21 million. Of this, the result-dependent component amounted to CHF 0.48 million. This member of the
Board of Directors neither received shares nor options.

6. Shareholders’ participation

For the exercise of voting rights, no shareholder may combine, either directly or indirectly, more than 5% of the total shareholders
equity in respect of his own shares and those represented by him. The above limitation does not apply to the shares which are
excluded from the registration prohibition (point 2.6 above). Nor does this restriction apply to the exercise of voting rights in accor-
dance with Art. 689c CO relating to representation by a member of a company body and by independent voting-right representatives
or to bank representatives with reference to the shares deposited with them.
Furthermore, pursuant to Art. 16(4) of the Swatch Group Statutes, the Board of Directors is entitled to make exceptions to the limita-
tions in special cases. No exceptions were requested or granted during the business year. A change of the representation restrictions
is only possible through a change of the provisions of the Statutes. For such change a decision of the General Meeting with a relative
majority is required.
Shareholders may arrange to be represented at the General Meeting only by other shareholders who duly hold a written power of
attorney. Registered shareholders may only be represented by other registered shareholders.

In addition to the special quorum regulations provided in Art. 704 CO, the Statutes also apply the same quorum regulation (two-thirds
of the votes represented and an absolute majority of the par values of shares) for dismissing members of the Board of Directors.

The General Meeting is convened pursuant to Articles 13, 14 of the Swatch Group Statutes. Shareholders who together own at least
10% of the share capital can, at any time, request in writing the convening of an extraordinary general meeting. Such an extra-
ordinary general meeting shall be held within 40 days of the date of receipt of such a request.

Shareholders who represent shares with a par value of one million Swiss francs may submit a written request for a meeting to be
held to discuss a particular subject; the motions tabled shall likewise be indicated.

The share register is closed for entries 20 days before each General Meeting.

5.7 Additional fees and
remuneration

5.8 Loans to members of
the governing bodies

5.9 Highest total 
compensation

6.1 Voting rights 
and representation
restrictions

6.2 Statutary quorums

6.3 Convocation of the
General Meeting of
Shareholders

6.4 Agenda 

6.5. Entries in the 
share register
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7.1 Duty to make an offer

7.2 Clauses on changes 
of control

8.1 Duration of the
mandate and term of
office of the lead
auditor

8.2. Auditing fees and
additional fees 
(incl. 8.3)

8.4 Supervisory and
control instruments
pertaining to the audit

7. Changes of control and defence measures

Art. 10 of the Statutes provides that a shareholder who acquires shares either directly or indirectly or in agreement with third parties
and by so doing exceeds the limit of 49% of voting rights, including the shares that he already possesses, regardless of whether those
rights can or cannot be exercised, shall be required to make an offer to purchase all the listed shareholding papers of the Company
(Art. 32 BEHG).

There are no agreements with members of the Board of Directors, the Executive Group Management Board or other managerial staff
for the case of a change in the shareholder structure.

8. Auditors

The company today known by the name «PriceWaterhouseCoopers Ltd» has since 1992 performed the function of external auditor
following the entry into force of the partially revised Companies Act (1991) that requires and makes mandatory the auditing of
company accounts. Before that, the predecessor organizations already served as auditors for the Group and many of its companies.
Thomas Brüderlin, Engagement Partner, has been responsible for the Group audit and for the audits of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements since the 2004 accounting year. He has taken over the mandate leadership from Alexandre Stotz within the
scope of the required professional rotation.

The following auditor’s fees have been charged to the 2004 annual accounts:

(million CHF) Audit Taxes Other Services Total
PricewaterhouseCoopers 3.1 0.4 0.5 4.0
Other Auditing Companies 0.6 1.1 0.7 2.4
Total 2004 3.7 1.5 1.2 6.4
Total 2003 3.6 1.0 0.6 5.2

The overall supervision and final verification of the external audit is exercised by the Audit Committee, and by the full Board of Direc-
tors, respectively.

9. Information policy

The Swatch Group reports on the business of the Group at the following times:

– Early February Turnover of the previous year
– End March Balance sheet, profit-and-loss statement, key figures
– 28 April Press conference
– 18 May General Meeting of Shareholders
– Second Half August Half-year figures

The information is always published in the Swiss and international press and also published and processed in the publications of
leading international banks.
This information can also be called up on the Swatch Group website on www.swatchgroup.com, and especially on the «Investor
Relations» link.
The Swatch Group business report and half-year report can be obtained free of charge in the original version from the Group head-
quarters by anyone interested. Inquiries can be made by e-mail at investor.relations@swatchgroup.com or by fax on +41 32 343 69 16
or by telephone on +41 32 343 67 37.

corporate governance
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Breakdown of gross sales
by product category 

Performance trends

Cash flow
from operating
activities
Operating result
Net income

(CHF million)

BUSINESS PROGRESS AND KEY FINANCIAL DATA

The Group

In 2004, Group gross sales increased 4.7% (+6.2% at constant exchange rates). All of the Group’s business segments posted sales
growth. The watch segment saw the strongest growth at +7.3% (+9.1% at constant exchange rates). In 2004, the negative currency
translation effect reduced Group sales by CHF 60 million, with a stronger impact on growth in the second half of the year. Whereas
the first half of 2004 was relatively good compared to the weaker first six months of 2003, adverse currency movements took a much
bigger toll in the second half of 2004 with a currency loss of CHF 56 million. The Group nevertheless managed to make positive
progress in all segments, even in the second half of the year. Had the accounts been presented in dollars (USD), the Group would
have posted sales growth of 12.9% for the year.

The Group reported a very solid 9.6% increase in its 2004 operating income (EBIT) to CHF 651 million, and net profit was up 4.1% to
CHF 512 million.

Restatements
In order to account more accurately for the different types of key money paid for shops rented in strategic locations, the Swatch
Group defined a new accounting policy for these assets in the reporting year 2004. These are now split into two categories and
accounted for in two different ways.
In addition, income related to the timekeeping and sports results displays for the Olympic Games and other sports events are no
longer included under sales but recognized under «Other operating income».
A detailed explanation of these changes and their impact on the consolidated financial statements is given in the summary of signif-
icant accounting policies applied to the consolidated financial statements on page 118.
These changes have already been incorporated in the following figures for the consolidated accounts, the segments and the notes.

All the Group’s internal statistics are based on gross sales. Gross sales to third parties are broken down into two main categories,
summarized in the following table:

2004 2003 % change 
Total unit sales: watches, movements, stepper motors (1 000 units) 127 243 127 090 +0.1
Sales of watches, movements and stepper motors (CHF million) 3 343 3 187 +4.9
Other sales (CHF million) 809 779 +3.9
Total sales (CHF million) 4 152 3 966 +4.7
Average price of watches, movements and stepper motors (CHF) 26.27 25.08      +4.7

The total unit sales include sales of stepper motors, of which 27.5 million units were sold in 2003 and 28.3 million in 2004.
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Watches

(CHF million) 2004 2003 % change
In local Currency Total

currencies effect
Gross sales 3 135 2 921 +9.1 –1.8 +7.3
Operating result before depreciation and amortization 598 558 +7.2
(EBITDA)
– As a % of gross sales 19.1 19.1
Operating result (EBIT) 555 516 +7.6
– As a % of gross sales 17.7 17.7

Watches are the Swatch Group’s core activity, and in 2004 this segment again posted above-average growth. The prestige, luxury
and high ranges saw double-digit growth in 2004, whereas the other segments reported single-digit growth. Currency translation
reduced sales growth for the entire Watch segment by CHF 52 million or 1.8%, almost all of which occurred in the second half of the
year. 
Thanks to targeted product and marketing initiatives, the Breguet brand once again posted excellent growth and a strong increase
in market share. Blancpain, Glashütte, Jaquet Droz, Léon Hatot and Omega also reported a similar trend, confirming the market
potential of the luxury/prestige segment. Omega, which in absolute terms made the strongest contribution to growth, raised its
average prices in a number of markets and consolidated its unrivalled leadership position. Longines and Rado also made consider-
able progress strengthening their market positions. 
In the middle range, the brands Tissot and cK both registered growth of close to 10%, while in the basic range, Swatch and Flik Flak
saw more modest growth rates. This range has been most affected by the strength of the Swiss franc and the weakness of the dollar,
and price increases are only possible on a very selective basis. At the same time, these are the ranges that are most exposed to
competition from watches made in China. 
Whereas Europe proved to be a challenging market for a number of brands, sales growth in both Asia and the Middle-East has been
very positive indeed.
The Group’s market share gains in 2004 were essentially driven by the combined positive effects of extremely cautious pricing
strategy, which was continued through 2004, a highly attractive product offering in all price segments, and global distribution
capabilities. 

Production of watches, movements and components

(CHF million) 2004 2003 % change 
In local Currency Total

currencies effect
Gross sales
– Third parties 514 562
– Group 770 677
– Total 1 284 1 239 +4.1 –0.5 +3.6
Operating result before depreciation and amortization 166 152 +9.2
(EBITDA)
– As a % of gross sales 12.9 12.3
Operating result (EBIT) 50 33 +51.5
– As a % of gross sales 3.9 2.7

As already announced in our interim report, the Watch Production division saw a sharp rebound during the second half of 2004.
Although orders from third parties were still below the year-earlier level, this was more than offset by growing demand from the
Group’s brands. Part of the improvement in Group operating profit in 2004 was driven by the design and manufacture of jewelry for
the Breguet, Léon Hatot, Omega, cK and Swatch brands and by the centralization of diamond purchasing activities for all the Group’s
brands. 
In the near future, this segment will be further strengthened by the Group’s business development plans and new rationalization
measures.
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Electronic systems

(CHF million) 2004 2003 % change
In local Currency Total

currencies effect
Gross sales
– Third parties 494 468
– Group 49 43
– Total 543 511 +6.5 –0.2 +6.3
Operating result before depreciation and amortization 125 109 +14.7
(EBITDA)
– As a % of gross sales 23.0 21.3
Operating result (EBIT) 74 64 +15.6
– As a % of gross sales 13.6 12.5

Overall, the different production units in the Electronic Systems division showed a very positive development in 2004. Momentum
slackened somewhat in the second half of the year, however, due mainly to a cyclical slowdown in the electronics and mobile
telephony industries. The effects of this slowdown were most noticeable at Renata and Micro Crystal. On top of this, they were
exposed to ongoing pressure on prices, which is even more pronounced when the industry is in a downturn. The strength of the Swiss
franc also impacted dollar-denominated sales in the dollar area, particularly in the second half of the year. 

General services

(CHF million) 2004 2003 2003
restated published

Gross sales
– Third parties 9 15 32
– Group 2 1 11
– Total 11 16 43
Operating result before depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) –20 –14 –14
Operating result (EBIT) –28 –19 –19

The General Services division includes the service, finance, research and real estate companies of the Group. Income recognized as
sales in this segment relates chiefly to research contracts as well as real estate management and consulting fees.
Timekeeping for the Olympic Games and other sporting events is not considered to be core business of the Group. Consequently,
third-party income from this activity, which amounted to CHF 96 million in 2004 (2003: CHF 17 million), is now recognized in «Other
operating income» and not in sales. Corresponding figures for 2003 have been restated. The General Services segment invoices client
brands in the Watch segment for timekeeping services it provides.

Analysis of value added 

The breakdown of total operating revenues, more commonly referred to as total Group performance in calculations of value added
(using standard methods), is as follows:

(CHF million) 2004 2003
Overall Group performance 4 335 4 024
Material and services –2 195 –1 943
Depreciation –218 –216
Net added value 1 922 1 865
% change 3.1 –1.2
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Net added value 44%
Depreciation 5%
Material and services 51%

Employees 67%
Lenders 1%
Shareholders 4%
Public authorities 6%
Company 22%
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The following chart shows the breakdown of total operating revenues in 2004:

At the end of 2004, the breakdown of value added between the different beneficiaries was as follows:

OUTLOOK FOR 2005

The Board of Directors and Group management are confident that the Swatch Group will post solid growth in Swiss francs in 2005
as long as there is no further deterioration in exogenous factors such as exchange rates and the global economy.
The Group’s strong cash flow and very sound financial position offer plenty of scope for other developments, with the current focus
on organic growth via the launch of new products and the development of new markets. However, external growth opportunities will
also be examined as and when they arise.
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(1) 4 152 100.0 3 966 100.0

–171 –4.1 –138 –3.5

3 981 95.9 3 828 96.5

125 3.0 45 1.1

146 3.5 43 1.1

30 0.7 24 0.6

–921 –22.2 –806 –20.3

(2) –1 277 –30.7 –1 262 –31.8

–1 215 –29.3 –1 067 –26.9

869 20.9 805 20.3

–203 –4.9 –197 –5.0

–15 –0.3 –14 –0.3

651 15.7 594 15.0

(4) –26 –0.6 –1 –0.1

625 15.1 593 14.9

(5) –107 –2.6 –96 –2.4

518 12.5 497 12.5

–6 –0.2 –5 –0.1

512 12.3 492 12.4

(6)

1.77 1.69

1.76 1.68

(6)

8.83 8.43

8.81 8.41

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
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Notes 2004 2003

CHF million % CHF million %

Gross sales

Sales reductions

Net sales

Other operating income

Changes in inventories and work in progress

Capitalized expenditures

Material purchases

Personnel expense

Other operating expenses

Operating result before depreciation & amortization (EBITDA)

Depreciation and impairment of fixed assets (excluding goodwill)

Amortization of goodwill

Operating result (EBIT)

Net financial result

Result before taxes

Income tax

Result before minority interest

Minority interest

Net income

Registered shares

Basic earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share

Bearer shares

Basic earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share
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(8) 1 161 19.3 1 085 19.3 

(8) 27 0.4 16 0.3 

(7) 256 4.3 272 4.8 

(9) 4 0.1 4 0.1 

(9) 43 0.7 43 0.8 

(19) 120 2.0 96 1.7 

1 611 26.8 1 516 27.0

(10) 1 615 26.9 1 481 26.4 

(11) 646 10.7 662 11.8 

(12) 338 5.6 341 6.1 

(13) 426 7.1 321 5.7 

(14) 1 375 22.9 1 294 23.0 

4 400 73.2 4 099 73.0

6 011 100.0 5 615 100.0

Assets 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Notes CHF million % CHF million %

Property, plant and equipment

Investment property

Intangible assets

Investments in associated companies

Other financial assets

Deferred tax assets

Non-current assets

Inventories

Trade receivables

Other receivables and prepayments

Available-for-sale investments

Cash and cash equivalents

Current assets

Total assets

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

consolidated financial statements
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(15) 137 2.3 137 2.4 

213 3.5 213 3.8 

(16, 21) –518 –8.6 –369 –6.6 

(26) –120 –2.0 –97 –1.7 

4 549 75.7 4 122 73.4 

4 261 70.9 4 006 71.3

15 0.2 10 0.2

(18) 395 6.6 394 7.0  

(19) 344 5.7 317 5.7  

(20) 30 0.5 27 0.5 

(17) 34 0.6 30 0.5 

803 13.4 768 13.7

(22) 646 10.8 567 10.1 

(18) 224 3.7 204 3.6 

(17) 62 1.0 60 1.1 

932 15.5 831 14.8

1 735 28.9 1 599 28.5

6 011 100.0 5 615 100.0

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

consolidated financial statements

swatch group   annual report 2004

Liabilities and shareholders‘ equity 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Notes CHF million % CHF million %

Share capital

Capital reserves

Treasury shares

Other reserves

Retained earnings

Shareholders‘ equity

Minority interest

Borrowings

Deferred tax liabilities

Retirement benefit obligations

Non-current provisions

Non-current liabilities

Trade and other payables 

and accrued expenses

Borrowings

Current provisions

Current liabilities

Total liabilities

Total liabilities and shareholders‘ equity
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(23) 774 710

–20 –13

14 12

–85 –82

683 627

(24) 0 –37

–292 –204

12 25

–15 –8

3 5

–8 –17

2 0

–93 120

–391 –116

–85 –64

0 –11

(16) –148 1

–3 395

27 25

–209 346

1 –3

84 854

1 289 435

(14) 1 373 84 1 289 854

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
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2004 2003

Notes CHF million CHF million

Operating activities

Cash generated from operations

Interest paid

Interest received

Tax paid

Cash flow from operating activities

Investing activities

Acquisition of consolidated companies (without liquid funds)

Purchases of tangible assets

Proceeds from sale of tangible assets

Purchases of intangible assets

Proceeds from sale of intangible assets

Purchases of financial assets

Proceeds from sale of financial assets

Purchase/sale of available-for-sale investments

Cash flow from investing activities

Financing activities

Dividend paid to shareholders

Dividend paid to minority interests

Purchase/sale of treasury shares

Change in non-current liabilities

Change in current liabilities

Cash flow from financing activities

Net impact of foreign exchange rate differences on cash

Increase in cash and cash equivalents

Change in cash and cash equivalents

– At beginning of year

– At end of year
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137 213 –369 –20 3 580 3 541

–114 114 0

137 213 –369 –134 3 694 3 541

–9 –9

16 16

30 30

–64 –64

492 492

0

137 213 –369 –97 4 122 4 006

137 213 –369 –97 4 122 4 006

–22 –22

0

–1 –1

–85 –85

512 512

–149 –149

137 213 –518 –120 4 549 4 261
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Share Capital Treasury Other Retained Total

capital reserves shares reserves earnings shareholders’

(Note 15) (Note 16) (Note 26) equity

(CHF million)

Balance at 01.01.2003 (published)

Reclassification of fair value reserves (Note 26)

Balance at 01.01.2003 (restated)

Translation differences and other changes

Convertible bond: allocation to equity (option part)

Available-for-sale investments:

Remeasurement at fair value

Dividends paid

Net income for the year

Share repurchase

Balance at 31.12.2003

Balance at 01.01.2004

Translation differences and other changes

Convertible bond: allocation to equity (option part)

Available-for-sale investments:

Remeasurement at fair value

Dividends paid

Net income for the year

Share repurchase

Balance at 31.12.2004
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General principles and
accounting standards

Changes in 
accounting policies

ACCOUNTING AND CONSOLIDATION POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements of The Swatch Group Ltd, Neuchâtel, have been prepared in accordance with IFRS (Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards) as published by the IASB (International Accounting Standards Board) and in accordance with
the interpretations published by the IFRIC – the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee of the IASB. These finan-
cial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 22 March 2005 and will be submitted to the Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders for approval on 18 May 2005.
The general accounting principles are, with the following exceptions, the same as those applied to the financial statements as at 
31 December 2003.

IFRS 3 relating to business combinations affects the accounting methods applied to all new acquisitions as of 31 March 2004. The
revised standards IAS 36 and IAS 38 have also been applied for transactions as from this date. 
In addition, the items described in the following paragraphs have been restated.

Change in the presentation of key money
In order to account more accurately for the different types of key money that the Group pays when renting shops in strategic
locations, the Swatch Group defined a new accounting policy for this type of assets during the second half of 2004. This policy has
been applied to the accounts retroactively to 1 January 2004. For comparison purposes, the 2003 figures have been restated (see
Notes 7 and 9). Previously, all key money was classified under intangible assets. It is now split into two categories. Key money for
which a market exists continues to be classified under intangible assets. However, key money that is only refundable upon certain
conditions being met is treated as prepaid rent. The long-term portion is accounted for under «Other financial assets», while the
short-term portion is accounted for under «Other receivables and prepayments». This second category of key money is initially capital-
ized and then amortized on a straight-line basis over the residual period of the lease via the item «Other operating expenses». 

Changes in accounting treatment of Olympic Games activities
The Swatch Group has given a provisional commitment to supply the timekeeping and sports results displays for the Olympic Games
up to the year 2010 in return for advertising and identification rights. All in all, this results in a net expense for the Group. Since
timekeeping is not a core activity of the Group, these transactions will in future be presented in the financial statements as gross
amounts under the items «Other operating income» and «Other operating expenses», and will not be included in Group sales.

In addition, the positions «Assets held for sale» and «Other receivables and prepayments» were combined.

These restatements result in the following changes to the financial statements:

Consolidated income statement
2003 2003 Change

(CHF million) restated published %

Gross sales 3 966 3 983 –17 –0.4
– Other operating income 45 28 17
– Other operating expenses –1 067 –1 062 –5
Operating result before depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) 805 810 –5 –0.6
– Depreciation of fixed assets –197 –202 5
Operating result (EBIT) 594 594 0 0.0

Consolidated balance sheet
2003 2003 Change

(CHF million) restated published %

– Intangible assets 272 315 –43
– Other financial assets 43 6 37
Non-current assets 1 516 1 522 –6 –0.4
– Other receivables and prepayments 341 334 7
– Assets held for sale 0 1 –1
Current assets 4 099 4 093 6 0.1
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Consolidated companies

Watch segment

2003 2003 Change
(CHF million) restated published %

Gross sales 2 921 2 921 0 0.0
Operating result before depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) 558 563 –5 –0.9
- As a % of gross sales 19.1 19.3
Operating result (EBIT) 516 516 0 0.0
- As a % of gross sales 17.7 17.7

Other information
2003 2003 Change

(CHF million) restated published

Amortization of intangible assets 14 19 –5

General Services segment
2003 2003 Change

(CHF million) restated published

Gross sales – Third parties 15 32 –17
Gross sales – Group 1 11 –10
Gross sales 16 43 –27
Operating result before depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) –14 –14 0
Operating result (EBIT) –19 –19 0

These restatements have already been incorporated into the consolidated accounts and the notes.

The Swatch Group did not opt for earlier application of the new or revised standards prior to their entry into force on 1 January 2005.
The Group is currently working on adoption of the new standards and believes that as things stand today the most significant
changes that are likely to have any impact on the Group’s future results are the following: the adoption of the new and revised
standards in the accounting treatment of goodwill amortization, employee remuneration via options and similar instruments, and
financial instruments.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except for the following assets and
liabilities that have been recognized at fair value: derivative financial instruments, investments held for trading purposes and assets
held for sale. Income and expenses for the financial period are recognized in accordance with the accrual method of accounting.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amount of assets and liabilities and contingent assets and liabilities at the closing date of the consolidated financial
accounts as well as of income and expenses during the period. These estimates may differ from actual outcomes.
The annual closing date for all the individual company accounts is 31 December. For all the companies consolidated, the financial
year corresponds to the calendar year. 

The consolidated companies are controlled either directly or indirectly by the Holding, The Swatch Group Ltd, either via ownership of
more than half the voting rights or its control of the financial and operational activities of the company. The companies under the
control of the Swatch Group are consolidated as of the date on which control was transferred to the Swatch Group and, inversely,
are deconsolidated as of the date on which the Swatch Group no longer exercises full control. All income and expenses relating to
internal transactions within the Swatch Group, including unrealized gross profits (margins on inventories), as well as debts and
receivables on intra-group deliveries have been eliminated on consolidation. The accounting principles of all the consolidated compa-
nies have been adapted, where necessary, to comply fully with the accounting principles adopted by the Swatch Group.
Newly-acquired companies are consolidated from the effective date of acquisition or assumption of control, using the purchase
method.
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Consolidation

Joint ventures

Associated companies

Currency translation

At the end of 2004, the Swatch Group’s consolidated financial statements included 135 legal entities (compared with 129 the
previous year), of which five were associated companies (three in 2003).
In 2004 the following significant changes to the group of consolidated companies occurred:
Seven new companies were established, of which three are retail companies (in France, China and Portugal), two are distribution
companies (in Taiwan and Poland) and two are service companies (in Switzerland and Hong Kong).
The company Nouvelle Lémania SA is no longer included following its merger with Montres Breguet SA.
The Swatch Group employs a divisionalized system where a number of activities are managed within the same legal entity. In this
system, the 135 companies in the Swatch Group are divided into 749 reporting units (687 in 2003) which form the basis of the Group’s
consolidation structure. The increase in the number of these reporting units has resulted from the ongoing drive to enhance the
transparency of information within the Group and provide a clearer picture of the performance of the management responsible for
each different activity.
A full list of consolidated companies is published on pages 144 to 146 of this annual report.
Three companies due to be liquidated (12 in 2003) have been removed from the group of consolidated companies. This has no
material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

All the joint ventures in which the Swatch Group has a 50% interest have been consolidated on a proportional basis. According to
this method, the Group consolidates in its annual financial statements its attributable proportion of income, expenses, assets, liabil-
ities, and cash flow.
At 31 December 2004, none of the companies consolidated in the Swatch Group’s financial statements were classified as joint
ventures (one in 2003).

Associated companies are included by the equity method. These are companies where the Swatch Group owns 20% to 50% of the
voting rights or exercises a significant influence without controlling management. The value of the Group’s investments in associated
companies does not currently include any goodwill. 
At 31 December 2004, five entities were classified as associated companies. These were Danyack SA, La Chaux-de-Fonds, François
Golay SA, Le Brassus, Terbival SA, Courchapoix, HiPoint Technology Inc., Colorado Springs, and S.I. Les Corbes SA, Savagnier.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared and presented in Swiss francs. Each subsidiary of the Group prepares its
financial statements in the currency which is of the greatest economic relevance to the underlying events. The income statements
of the foreign subsidiaries are translated at the average exchange rate for the year whereas the balance sheets are translated at
year-end exchange rates. When a foreign subsidiary is sold, any accumulated currency translation differences are recognized in the
consolidated income statement as gains or losses on disposals.
The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries reporting in the currency of a hyperinflationary economy are accounted for in accor-
dance with IAS 29 using the appropriate indices, before being translated into Swiss francs. Any gain or loss on net monetary
positions is included in net financial income. In both 2004 and 2003, none of the Group’s companies reported in currencies of this
type.
Transactions in foreign currencies are accounted for at the exchange rate prevailing on the transaction date; any gains or losses
resulting from these transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognized in the consolidated income statement.

The main exchange rates used are:

Average rates Prevailing rates Average rates Prevailing rates
2004 31.12.2004 2003 31.12.2003
CHF CHF CHF CHF

1 AUD 0.9151 0.8850 0.8793 0.9285
1 CAD 0.9581 0.9425 0.9629 0.9575
1 EUR 1.5463 1.5450 1.5253 1.5600
1 GBP 2.2786 2.1850 2.2038 2.2100
1 HKD 0.1599 0.1460 0.1724 0.1600

100 JPY 1.1573 1.1050 1.1610 1.1615
1 SEK 0.1693 0.1710 0.1670 0.1718
1 SGD 0.7370 0.6950 0.7682 0.7270
1 USD 1.2457 1.1350 1.3436 1.2430
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Financial risk 
management

Financial risk
In view of the global and varied nature of the Group’s activities, specialists within the Group actively manage the risks associated
with movements in exchange rates, interest rates and prices of securities in the financial markets.
The Group’s risk management is essentially focused on identifying and analyzing exchange rate risk, with the aim of minimizing its
impact on Group EBITDA and net income. In order to manage exchange rate risk, the Group enters into agreements with third parties
involving the use of derivative financial instruments such as forward currency contracts or currency hedging options.
Risk management is conducted by the Group’s treasury department, which follows the directives issued by the Group’s management
bodies. Risks are assessed in collaboration with the operating units and the hedging methods are decided and implemented under
supervision of the Finance Committee.

Exchange rate risk
The Group’s consolidated financial statements are published in Swiss francs and are therefore mainly exposed to fluctuations in the
euro, the US dollar, the Japanese yen and other currencies in Asia. In order to minimize the risk attached to expected foreign currency
earnings, the Group employs forward rate agreements and currency hedging options. Group companies conclude special exchange
rate contracts with the Group’s treasury department guaranteeing a standard exchange rate for a term of one month. The treasury
department, for its part, is responsible for hedging net positions in foreign currencies with external counterparties. 

Interest rate risk
All interest-bearing financial assets are monitored and managed actively. In the current monetary environment, interest rate fluctu-
ations do not have a major impact on the Group’s financial results.
In the context of balance sheet liabilities management, the Group has not used interest rate swaps during the two years under
review, and there are no outstanding positions relating to interest rate swaps in the Group’s financial statements. 

Credit risk
The Group’s client credit policy necessitates periodical reviews of the credit standing of our commercial partners. 
In purchasing securities, the Group guards against the risk of default by implementing directives that impose minimum credit ratings
for investments in tradeable securities. The Group’s management regularly monitors strict compliance with these directives. 
Counterparty risk is also minimized by ensuring that all derivative financial instruments, money market investments and current
account deposits are placed with financial institutions whose credit standing has been verified by our treasury department before-
hand. Exposure to this type of risk is closely monitored by Group management and is contained within strict and pre-determined
limits. 
Given the very high standards of creditworthiness applied to our commercial and financial partners, the default risks to which the
Group is exposed are limited.

Liquidity risk
The close monitoring of liquidity at Group level and of the allocation of resources allows the Group’s treasury department to maintain
adequate levels of liquidity at all times. In order to meet any exceptional liquidity requirements, the Swatch Group maintains lines of
credit with a number of financial institutions. 

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities
Derivatives are recognized at their cost at inception either as cash flow hedges or as fair value hedges, depending on the nature of
the underlying transaction. Any subsequent remeasurements to fair value are either taken to the income statement (fair value
hedges) or recognized in shareholders’ equity (cash flow hedges).
In the case of cash flow hedges, a distinction is made between time value and intrinsic value when calculating the premium and the
replacement value at a given date.
The time value paid is recognized as soon as the position is taken. When a contract is valued at a given date, the adjustment of the
time value is taken to the income statement while the adjustment in the intrinsic value is recognized in shareholders’ equity.
As soon as the hedge of the underlying asset becomes active, and may be considered effective, the time values of the hedged item
and the hedging transaction are determined. Any difference between the two values is taken to the income statement. In the case
of cash flow hedges, any value adjustment recorded in the previous period under shareholders’ equity will be transferred to the
income statement. 
Details of hedging operations are given on page 141.
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Recognition of income
and expenses

Net financial result

Income tax

Intangible assets

Determining fair value
The fair value of financial assets that are tradeable and available for sale is deemed to be their corresponding stock market closing
prices on the balance sheet date. Derivatives and forward rate contracts are also recognized at their market value on the account
closure date.

Gross sales essentially include the activities of the Group’s core business, which contains the segments Watches, Watch Production
and Electronic Systems. Sales are based on the prices at which goods and services are delivered to clients after deduction of value
added tax. Gross sales correspond to invoiced prices before application of discounts, concessions or other deductions. All price
deductions are reported as reductions of sales in the consolidated income statement. Provisions for discounts granted to clients are
established during the same period as the sales which gave rise to the discounts under the terms of the contract.

This item includes interest expense on capital borrowed from outside the Group as well as interest income on funds placed with third
parties. It also includes currency translation differences and the net results of currency and interest rate hedging operations in
respect of borrowings outside the Group and funds placed with third parties in foreign currencies.

This item only includes taxes on income. Other taxes, such as capital tax and property tax, are included in other operating expenses.
The effect of taxes on the various components of shareholders’ equity is likewise recognized in equity in line with the underlying
transaction.
Deferred taxes are calculated according to the so-called liability method, based on temporary differences between assets and liabil-
ities as recognized and valued by the tax authorities and those as applied by the Swatch Group in the preparation of its consolidated
balance sheet. The main temporary differences concern depreciation charges on buildings, plant and equipment, value adjustments
on current assets, provisions of an equity nature in the tax accounts and tax losses carried forward. In relation to acquisitions, these
relate to differences between the fair value of the net assets acquired and their tax base.
Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, tax loss carry forwards, and tax credits when it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilized.
No deferred tax has been recognized on temporary differences relating to the Group’s interest in the fair value of consolidated
subsidiaries and associated companies to the extent that it is probable that these differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Unless a dividend payout is planned, no provisions for withholding tax or other taxes on the undistributed earnings of associ-
ated companies have been established because the profits are usually reinvested.
Deferred taxes are calculated on the basis of the tax rates prevailing on the balance sheet date or those announced for the date on
which the taxable or tax-deductible amounts are likely to be realized.

In addition to the items mentioned separately below, this heading also includes:

– Licenses purchased granting rights to use new state-of-the-art technologies. Related lump-sum payments have been capitalized
and amortized over a period of five years;

– Key money paid for strategically located retail shops. If their value can be demonstrated by the presence of a market, they are not
amortized. For key money that is only refundable upon certain conditions being met, the Group implemented a new accounting
policy in the second half of 2004 which has been applied retroactively to 1 January 2004. They are now treated as prepaid rents
and are no longer included under intangible assets. For comparison purposes, figures for the previous year have been restated.

No brands or patents have been valued. 

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the acquisition price over the net asset value of the acquired company on the date of acquisition
and is amortized in all cases over the estimated useful life. 
Goodwill resulting from acquisitions already carried out is amortized on a straight-line basis over its economic life, not exceeding 
20 years. 
Goodwill resulting from acquisitions on or after 31 March 2004 has not been amortized. Amortization is replaced by an annual impair-
ment test. As from this date, goodwill no longer includes identifiable intangible assets. These are now shown separately under the
appropriate line item.

Research and development costs
Research costs are recognized as ordinary expenses. Costs linked to development projects are recognized as intangible assets
provided future economic benefits are anticipated. Other development costs are recognized as ordinary expenses. Once a product
enters into commercial production, the capitalized development costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the period of antic-
ipated earnings. The amortization period applied does not exceed five years.
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Tangible assets

Asset impairment

Leasing agreements

Inventories

Software development costs
Generally, costs associated with the development and maintenance of software are recognized as ordinary expenses. However, costs
directly associated with unique, identifiable software programs controlled by the Group and whose anticipated economic benefits
exceed annual costs, are recorded under intangible assets. Direct costs include expenses for the internal project development team.
Costs associated with improving software or extending its performance beyond the original specifications are capitalized as an asset
and added to the original cost of the software. The capitalized costs associated with the development of software are amortized using
the straight-line method over a period not exceeding five years.

Property, plant and equipment are valued at purchase price, less straight-line depreciation over the useful life of the investment. 
Land is recognized on the balance sheet at its acquisition cost.
The position «construction in progress» includes buildings under construction, down payments on land and buildings as well as
attributable borrowing costs.
Capitalized expenditures have been recognized in the balance sheet at full cost without profit margin.
The useful life assumed for determining straight-line depreciation is defined according to the following categories: 

– Furniture, office machinery, tooling, motor vehicles: 5 to 8 years
– IT equipment and software: 3 to 5 years
– Measuring instruments, tools, equipment for non-mechanical processing, automation components: 5 to 9 years
– Machines and mechanical production systems, workshop equipment: 9 to 15 years
– Factories and workshop buildings: 30 years
– Administrative buildings: 40 years
– Residential property: 50 years

At the end of the financial year, tangible and intangible assets are examined for any indication of impairment. If signs of impairment
are detected, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and an impairment loss recognized where the carrying value exceeds
the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s net selling price and its value in use. The latter is calcu-
lated by estimating the future cash flows generated by the asset and discounting them with a risk-adjusted interest rate. Intangible
assets with indefinite useful life and goodwill which were recognized based on transactions after 31 March 2004 are tested for
impairment on a yearly basis and when indications of impairment exist.

Finance leases
A finance lease is where the lessor transfers to the lessee substantially all the risks and rewards incident to ownership of an instal-
lation, machine or item of equipment. At the commencement of the lease term, finance leases are recognized in the balance sheet
at amounts equal to the fair value of the leased property or at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment
is apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding liability with the finance charge being allocated to
each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. The
obligation to make future lease payments, net of the finance cost, is included in other non-current liabilities. The finance cost is
considered as a charge over the term of the lease agreement. Installations, machines and equipment financed by such agreements
are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and its useful life.

Operating leases
An operating lease is where ownership of the property and the inherent risks are mainly incumbent on the lessor. Operating lease
payments are recognized as expenses in the income statement on a linear basis throughout the term of the lease.

All inventories are valued at lower of total production cost to the Group or net realizable value.
Valuation is based on the weighted average price method. Some companies, particularly those in the Watch Production segment,
value their inventories using the standard cost method. As these costs are regularly reviewed and adjusted, this method approxi-
mates the same results as the weighted average price method. Less than 2% of the total value of inventories is valued using the first-
in, first-out method (FIFO).
Only economically justified criteria are taken into account when adjusting the balance sheet values of inventories. The valuation of
stocks of spare parts for customer service is confined to those units which are considered likely to be used, based on historical
demand.
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Trade receivables

Financial instruments

Trade receivables are recognized at their net realizable value, which corresponds to their fair value.

The Group applies the valuation principles defined in IAS 39. The classification of financial assets includes the following categories:

– Financial assets held for trading
– Loans and receivables originated by the company
– Held-to-maturity investments
– Available-for-sale investments

In view of Management’s long-term investment policy, the Group’s current investments are classified as available-for-sale invest-
ments. 
Financial investments are allocated to the various categories at the time of investment and are reviewed regularly.
Purchases and sales of investments are accounted for based on the settlement date principle. At the time of purchase, any transac-
tion costs are included in the price.
Available-for-sale investments are valued at their fair value. Changes in fair value are recognized directly in equity and are taken to
the income statement for the period (i.e. recycled) upon sale. Any impairment is also taken to the income statement. The Group
applies this accounting treatment consistently to the entire category. 

Investment and valuation policy
In its investment regulations, Group management has established criteria for assessing the impairment of financial investments.
The Group’s long-term investment policy coupled with its solid balance sheet structure both in terms of equity and liquidity enables
the Group to withstand prolonged downturns in the financial markets without having to liquidate financial assets. An assessment of
any durable impairment is made at the closing dates of 30 June and 31 December, wherever objective and substantial evidence might
indicate that an impairment is permanent. These regulations took effect on 1 January 2001, the date on which IAS 39 on financial
instruments came into force. 

Assessment criteria for impairment
The assessment of the permanency of an impairment is based both on «hard» factors (changes in fair value) as well as on «soft»
factors (qualitative assessment criteria). Accordingly, an assessment of impairment follows this sequence of criteria: 

«Hard factors» (changes in fair value):
To be included in the list of impaired assets, all financial investments subjected to constant assessment must present a minimum
diminution in value of 50% between their purchase prices and their fair value over a period of 24 months. Investments which meet
this criteria are subjected to the following procedure:
– If the investment’s quoted price is consistently lower than the value limit for the 24-month observation period, the position must

be subjected to an impairment test, which must also take the «soft» factors into consideration;
– If the investment’s quoted price exceeds the value limit during the observation period, the investment is withdrawn from the list

of impaired assets.
However, an impairment test, including «soft» factors, is systematically carried out on financial investments whose fair value is 90%
or more below their purchase price on the balance sheet date, irrespective of their term.
A basis for impairment has been established when evaluation of the financial investment concerned, including «soft» factors, does
not present sufficient positive potential for development.

The following criteria, among others, are considered as «soft» factors:
– Over the past 12 to 18 months, the financial investment must have exceeded the average performance of the peer group under

review;
– The majority of analyses and external analysts (Bloomberg consensus), as well as the Group’s own evaluation, all confirm a positive

medium-term development of the company in terms of results;
– The company has not undergone a significant deterioration in solvency or rating (S+P/Moody’s).
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The following events automatically give rise to impairment:
Financial investments in companies protected by Chapter 11, or involved in similar bankruptcy or legal protection procedures, must
be written down as soon as the facts pertaining to these investments are proven.

Cash and cash equivalents are recognized in the balance sheet at their nominal value. In the cash flow statement, cash and cash
equivalents include petty cash, credit notes and short-term bank overdrafts with maturities of up to 90 days. Bank loans are recog-
nized in the balance sheet under current and non-current borrowings.

Provisions are established when the Group has a current legal or factual obligation arising from past events and it is likely that an
outflow of funds will be required to cover such obligation. Furthermore, it must be possible to estimate the amount involved reliably.
A contingent liability is recognized when an outflow of funds is considered to be unlikely.

Post-employment benefits
Post-employment benefits with respect to the Group mainly relate to pensions and retirement benefits. Other post-employment
benefits for employees, such as medical care benefits, are not provided.
Similarly, the Group has not entered into other commitments entailing long-term benefits for its employees such as severance
packages.

Pensions and retirement benefits
Group employees receive retirement benefits provided by either defined contribution or defined benefit plans as provided for in the
applicable national or private pension schemes.
Pension plans are either funded, in which case their assets are managed separately and independently of those of the Group, or
unfunded, in which case these obligations are shown as a debt in the balance sheet. 
In all major instances, the obligation relating to defined benefit plans is determined on an annual basis by independent actuaries
and based on the projected unit credit method. The actuarial assumptions used in determining the benefits vary according to the
economic conditions prevailing in the country in which the benefit plans are located.
Group pension plans in Switzerland are defined under pension fund regulations as defined contribution plans. This means that the
employer contributions are determined in advance and that companies are neither obliged by way of statute nor by legal constraints
to make extra contributions in the event that the pension fund no longer possesses the necessary funds. These plans are
independent. 
Despite this, calculations made with the projected unit credit method have also been made for Swiss pension plans, which have been
accounted for as defined benefit plans.
Actuarial differences are essentially due to modifications made to assumptions and to the difference between results anticipated on
the basis of actuarial assumptions and the actual results of the defined benefit plans. Differences exceeding 10% of the higher of
the discounted value of the obligation and the fair value of assets at the beginning of the year under review are recognized in the
income statement. The charge to the income statement is based on the average remaining working life of the personnel in the plan
concerned.
Actuarial costs for plans considered as defined benefit plans and recognized in the income statement include the current service
costs, financial costs, the expected return on plan assets, past service costs and, if applicable, the actuarial differences.
The long-term assets of defined benefit plans are valued at their fair value. For such plans, a funding deficit or surplus, compared
with the discounted fair value of the obligations, is recognized as a liability or asset in the balance sheet by taking cumulated
actuarial differences, as well as past service costs not yet recognized in the income statement into consideration. However, a funding
surplus is only recognized to the extent that it may provide future financial benefits which will actually be available to the Group.
Contributions to defined contribution plans are recognized in the income statement in the year to which they refer.
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Employee stock option
plan

Dividends

1. Segment information
and gross sales

For a number of years, the Group has operated an employee stock option plan for management. Under the terms of this plan,
managers have the right to subscribe, in the future, for registered shares at a preferential price. The attribution of these rights is
based on assessments and proposals for managers and staff who have distinguished themselves throughout the year by a particu-
larly strong commitment to the company or an above-average performance. One-third of the shares attributed can be subscribed,
paid up and disposed of immediately, another third in one year, and the remaining third in two years. A tranche of treasury shares
has been specifically reserved for this stock option plan. When the options are exercised, Group shareholders’ equity increases by
the corresponding exercise price.

In compliance with Swiss law and with the Holding company’s articles of association, dividends are distributed from profits for the
year in which they are approved by the General Meeting of Shareholders and then paid out. 

NOTES

At a global level, the Swatch Group’s activities are organized into in four clearly distinct operating segments:

– Watches marketing of finished watches
– Watch production manufacture of watches and watch movements 
– Electronic systems design, production and marketing of electronic components
– General services services and finance companies, research and development, real estate companies

Gross sales to third-party clients are presented separately from sales to other operating divisions and internal Group sales are recog-
nized at fair value. Segment expenses are those which can be directly attributed to the segment. 
The assets of the segments largely comprise land and buildings, equipment and machinery, intangible assets, inventories, trade
accounts receivable and cash and cash equivalents. However, they exclude consolidated investments in subsidiaries. Segment liabil-
ities include operating commitments. 
In line with common practice in the Watch segment, the geographical presentation of sales is broken down by continent. Both
turnover and unit sales are reported according to the destinations that appear on the invoices. Total third-party assets are broken
down by location. 
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3 135 514 494 9 4 152

770 49 2 –821 0

3 135 1 284 543 11 –821 4 152

598 166 125 –20 869

19.1 12.9 23.0 20.9

68.8 19.1 14.4 –2.3 100.0

555 50 74 –28 651

17.7 3.9 13.6 15.7

85.3 7.6 11.4 –4.3 100.0

–26

625

–107

518

–6

512

2 921 562 468 15 3 966

677 43 1 –721 0

2 921 1 239 511 16 –721 3 966

558 152 109 –14 805

19.1 12.3 21.3 20.3

69.3 18.9 13.5 –1.7 100.0

516 33 64 –19 594

17.7 2.7 12.5 15.0

86.9 5.5 10.8 –3.2 100.0

–1

593

–96

497

–5

492
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Income statement

Primary segment information (by business segment)

2004 Watches Watch Electronic General Elimination Total

(CHF million) production systems services

– Third parties

– Group

Gross sales

Operating result before depreciation 

and amortization (EBITDA)

– As a % of sales

– As a % of total

Operating result (EBIT)

– As a % of sales

– As a % of total

Net financial result

Result before taxes

Income tax

Result before 

minority interest

Minority interest

Net income

2003 Watches Watch Electronic General Elimination Total

(CHF million) production systems services

– Third parties

– Group

Gross sales

Operating result before depreciation 

and amortization (EBITDA)

– As a % of sales

– As a % of total

Operating result (EBIT)

– As a % of sales

– As a % of total

Net financial result

Result before taxes

Income tax

Result before 

minority interest

Minority interest

Net income
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2 709 1 264 412 1 622 6 007

3 1 4

2 709 1 267 412 1 623 6 011

800 265 70 600 1 735

1 909 1 002 342 1 023 4 276

205 82 20 8 315

29 109 43 3 184

14 6 4 4 28

2 4 6

2 361 1 299 442 1 509 5 611

3 1 4

2 361 1 302 442 1 510 5 615

685 247 71 596 1 599

1 676 1 055 371 914 4 016

68 127 63 8 266

26 114 40 5 185

14 5 3 22

1 1 2 4

2004 Watches Watch Electronic General Total

(CHF million) production systems services

Balance sheet

– Segment assets

– Equity in associated companies

Total assets

Total liabilities

Net assets

Other information

Investments (including capitalized expenditure)

Depreciation on tangible assets

Amortization on intangible assets

Impairment

2003 Watches Watch Electronic General Total

(CHF million) production systems services

Balance sheet

– Segment assets

– Equity in associated companies

Total assets

Total liabilities

Net assets

Other information

Investments (including capitalized expenditure)

Depreciation on tangible assets

Amortization on intangible assets

Impairment
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Balance sheet
and other information
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2004 2003

2004 2003

2004
2003

2004
2003

Segment share
of consolidated
gross sales

Segment share 
of operating result 
before depreciation 
and amortization
(EBITDA)

(CHF million)

Segment share 
of operating result
(EBIT)

(CHF million)

Segment share
of net assets

Electronic systems 12% Electronic systems 12%

General General 
services 0% services 0%

Watches 76% Watches 74%
Watch production 12% Watch production 14%

General services 24% General services 23%

Watches 45% Watches 42%
Watch production 23% Watch production 26%
Electronic systems 8% Electronic systems 9%

Watches

General services

Electronic systems

Watch production

Watches

General services

Electronic systems

Watch production
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2 109 5 137 153 2 136 4 930 227

471 200 5 475 216 6

1 465 648 156 1 263 447 32

68 26 1 56 22 1

39 36

4 152 6 011 315 3 966 5 615 266

2004 2003

2004 2003

2004 2003

America 18% America 19%

Asia 67% Oceania 0% Asia 65% Oceania 0%
Europe 15% Africa 0% Europe 16% Africa 0%

Europe 51% Europe 54%
Oceania 2% Oceania 1%
Africa 1% Africa 1%
America 11% America 12%
Asia 35% Asia 32%

Europe 86% Europe 88%

America 3% America 4%

Asia 11% Asia 8%

Oceania 0% Oceania 0%
Africa 0% Africa 0%
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Units

Sales

Total assets

Secondary segment information (by geographic area)

2004 2003

Sales Total Investments Sales Total Investments

(CHF million) Assets Assets

Europe

America

Asia

Oceania

Africa

Total
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2004 2003

America 4% America 4%

Oceania 0% Oceania 0%

Asia 32% Asia 30%
Europe 13% Europe 13%
Switzerland 51% Switzerland 53%
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2. Personnel expense

3. Research and 
development costs

4. Net financial result

5. Income tax

The average headcount in 2004 was 20 831. The headcount at year-end, expressed as the number of employment contracts, rose to
20 949. The number of employees with a Swiss employment contract fell by 126. The headcount abroad rose by a total of 375, mainly
in Malaysia (+132), Thailand (+119), Hong Kong (+49) and Korea (+44). Thus, at the end of 2004, the number of salaried staff with
Swiss contracts was 10 832, and the number working abroad with non-Swiss contracts was 10 117. The geographical distribution of
personnel was as follows:

The breakdown of employees by gender and the average annual number of employees with an employment contract (including home
workers, trainees and auxiliary staff) or with an apprentice contract, were as follows: 

2004 2003
Men 9 187 9 074
Women 11 762 11 626
Total at 31 December 20 949 20 700
Average annual headcount 20 831 20 707

During the year, the average headcount rose 0.6% while total payroll costs rose 1.2%. The Group’s average social security costs fell
slightly from 22.3% in 2003 to 21.6% in 2004. 

R&D spending diminished from CHF 157 million in 2003 to CHF 153 million in 2004, representing 3.7% of gross sales (compared with
4.0% in 2003). 

(CHF million) 2004 2003
Interest income 14 12
Income from investments 16 13
Financial income 30 25

Interest on convertible bond –14 –3
Other interest expense –9 –10
Financial expenses –23 –13

Foreign exchange differences on financial transactions –33 –13

Net financial result –26 –1

Impairment of available-for-sale investments 
Income from investments in 2004 included impairments of CHF 3.5 million (CHF 0.5 million at end-2003) calculated according to the
criteria described on page 124. 

(CHF million) 2004 2003
Current taxes 106 81
Deferred taxes 1 15
Total 107 96
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26 97 274 397 353 393

–1 –1 2 3

2 2 43 59

3 10 13 2 3

–20 –20 –5 –5

–4 4 2 2

27 90 274 391 397 455

–16 –57 –52 –125 –99 –109

1 1

–2 –11 –15 –28 –22 –27

17 17

–4 –4

–18 –50 –67 –135 –125 –140

9 40 207 256 272 315

Capitalized Other Goodwill Total 2004 Total 2003 Total 2003

development intangible restated published

(CHF million) costs assets (see page 118)

Historical cost, 1 January

Translation differences

Investments

Capitalized expenditure

Disposals

Transfers

Historical cost, 31 December

Accumulated depreciation, 1 January 

Translation differences

Annual depreciation

Depreciation on disposals

Transfers

Accumulated depreciation, 31 December

Net book value, 31 December
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6. Earnings per share

7. Intangible assets

The effective amount of tax paid on Group pre-tax earnings differs from the theoretical amounts calculated on the basis of the local
tax rates of the Group’s companies as follows: 

2004 2003
% %

Projected rate 18.0 18.0
Effect of the variance between applicable local tax rates and Group tax rate 3.9 1.8
Change in the applicable tax rate on temporary differences 0.3 0.1
Capitalization of tax assets from previous years and utilization of tax losses/unused tax credits –0.7 –0.7
Tax on non-tax-deductible items 0.5 0.1
Effect of items taxable at reduced rates –4.5 –3.1
Other items –0.4 0.0
Effective tax rate 17.1 16.2

Registered shares 2004 2003
Basic earnings per share, in CHF 1.77 1.69
Net result as per income statement, CHF million 219 210 
Average number of shares outstanding 123 787 740 124 732 274
Diluted earnings per share, in CHF 1.76 1.68
Net income excluding interest expense for convertible bond, CHF million 233 213
Average number of shares outstanding 132 187 740 126 832 274

Bearer shares
Basic earnings per share, in CHF 8.83 8.43
Net income as per income statement, CHF million 293 282
Average number of shares outstanding 33 211 158 33 462 950
Diluted earnings per share, in CHF 8.81 8.41
Net income excluding interest expense for convertible bond, CHF million 293 282
Average number of shares outstanding 33 211 158 33 462 950

Changes in intangible assets with reference to their relevant acquisition values are summarized in the following table: 
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774 2 212 284 28 25 3 323 3 158

–2 –12 –3 –17 2

1 1 12

163 76 32 3 1 275 183

17 17 21

–14 –64 –26 –104 –45

–24 –14 –1 –3 26 –16 –8

897 2 216 286 28 52 3 479 3 323

–422 –1 584 –184 –23 –9 –2 222 –2 070

7 2 9 –1

–17 –142 –24 –1 –184 –185

–5 –1 –6

4 65 25 94 24

15 39 –22 –14 18 10

–420 –1 620 –203 –23 –25 –2 291 –2 222

477 596 83 5 27 1 188 1 101

Land and Plant and Other Advances and Investment Total 2004 Total 2003

buildings machinery fixtures and construction property 

(CHF million) fittings in progress

Historical cost, 1 January

Translation differences

Acquisitions

Investments

Capitalized expenditure

Disposals

Transfers

Historical cost, 31 December

Accumulated depreciation, 1 January

Translation differences

Annual depreciation

Impairment

Depreciation on disposals

Transfers

Accumulated depreciation, 31 December

Net book value, 31 December
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8. Tangible assets Changes in tangible assets with reference to their relevant acquisition values are summarized in the following table: 

At 31 December 2004, total non-current assets pledged to guarantee the commitments of the Group companies represented CHF 3
million (CHF 11 million at end-2003).
At end-2004, fixed assets financed by leasing contracts and recognized as assets on the balance sheet amounted to less than CHF 2
million (less than CHF 2 million at end-2003).  
Impairment in the amount of CHF 6 million was charged on assets whose book value was greater than their net recoverable value.
The assets involved are chiefly related to a lithium-ion project for rechargeable batteries.

Fire-insurance values
Tangible assets were insured against fire for the following amounts:

(CHF million) 31.12.2004 31.12.2003
Buildings 1 414 1 425
Equipment 3 052 3 012
Total 4 466 4 437

The net value of tangible assets (including land) shown on the balance sheet at 31 December 2004 represented only 26.6% of the
insured value. 

(CHF million) Investments Other Total Total Total
in associated financial 2004 2003 2003

companies assets restated published
Balance at 1 January 4 43 47 35 10
Translation differences 1
Investments 8 8 17
Disposals –2 –2
Transfers to «Other receivables» –6 –6 –6
Balance at 31 December 4 43 47 47 10

9. Financial assets
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10. Inventories 

11. Trade receivables

12. Other receivables 
and prepayments 

Investments in associated companies
These are essentially investments by Swatch Group companies in other companies, resulting in the ownership of 20-50% of the voting
rights of these companies. In 2004, five such investments, Danyack SA, François Golay SA, Terbival SA, HiPoint Technology Inc., and
S.I. Les Corbes SA, were recognized using the equity method, since the Group exercised a significant influence over their activities.
The Swatch Group’s share in these companies generated after-tax income of less than CHF 0.1 million in 2004 (less than CHF 0.5
million in 2003). This income is recognized under the heading «Net financial result» .

Other financial assets Term Term Total
(CHF million) 1–5 years > 5 years
Key money 17 19 36
Guarantees, deposits 3 2 5
Other financial assets 2 2
At 31 December 2004 22 21 43
At 31 December 2003 22 21 43

Key money that the Group pays when renting shops in strategic locations, and that is not recovered at the end of the contract, is
recognized as prepaid rent. The long-term portion is recognized under «Other financial assets», while the short-term component is
transferred to «Other receivables and prepayments».

(CHF million) 31.12.2004 31.12.2003
Raw materials and components 535 465
Work in progress 465 431
Finished goods 477 442
Spare parts for customer service 138 143
Total 1 615 1 481

Inventories were 9% higher at end-2004 than a year earlier. This increase resulted from exceptionally strong sales growth in the
luxury watches segment and the launch of the «jewelry» business for several of the Group’s brands, notably Breguet, Omega, Léon
Hatot and cK. In addition, the expansion strategy pursued in the «retail» arm has also raised the volumes of inventories. 
Inventories with risk of obsolescence have been adjusted to their net realizable value. Adjustments of this nature accounted for CHF
19 million in 2004 (CHF 22 million in 2003). 

(CHF million) 31.12.2004 31.12.2003
Gross receivables 680 695
Provision for bad and doubtful debts –34 –33
Net receivables 646 662

The provision for bad and doubtful debts represents 5.0% (4.7% in 2003) of receivables outstanding and covers all risks identified at
closing date.  
The average payment term for trade receivables was nearly unchanged in 2004. Calculated on the basis of actual monthly sales, the
corresponding figure contracted slightly from 52 days at end-2003 to 49 days at end-2004. 

This heading covers numerous items and can be summarized as follows:

(CHF million) 31.12.2004 31.12.2003
Advances 20 42
VAT to be refunded 134 132
Taxes to be refunded 9 8
Accrued financial expenses 3 9
Prepaid advertising expenses 41 5
Assets held for sale 3 1
Sundry receivables and other accrued expenses 128 144
Total 338 341
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13. Available-for-sale
investments

14. Cash and cash 
equivalents

15. Capital structure

15.1 Capital

15.2 Authorized 
and conditional 
capital

15.3 Changes to 
share capital

16. Treasury shares

17. Provisions

Available-for-sale investments amounted to a total value of CHF 426 million in 2004 (CHF 321 million in 2003). These assets have an
active market and were recognized at fair value when the balance sheet was drawn up. 
The Swatch Group holds only short-term current financial assets (i.e. that can be liquidated within 12 months). 

(CHF million) 31.12.2004 31.12.2003
Current accounts and liquid assets 353 252
Short-term deposits with financial institutions 1 022 1 042
Total 1 375 1 294

The average yield on short-term bank deposits corresponds to the average interest rate on an investment on the capital and money
markets with a term of up to three months.
For the purposes of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents include the following items: 

(CHF million) 31.12.2004 31.12.2003
Cash and cash equivalents 1 375 1 294
Bank overdrafts –2 –5
Total 1 373 1 289

At end-2004 and at end-2003, the capital structure of The Swatch Group Ltd, the parent company of the Swatch Group, was as
follows:

137 051 327 registered shares at CHF 0.45 nominal value CHF 61 673 097.15
33 506 950 bearer shares at CHF 2.25 nominal value CHF 75 390 637.50

Total share capital at 31 December 2004 CHF 137 063 734.65 

The shares are fully paid up. The share capital structure remained unchanged in 2004. 

At end-2004, as at end-2003, there was no authorized or conditional capital. 

Over the past three years, the share capital of The Swatch Group Ltd has changed as follows:

Balance sheet date Registered shares Bearer shares Share capital  in CHF
31.12.2001 140 810 000 at CHF 0.45 34 264 500 at CHF 2.25 140 459 625.00
31.12.2002 137 051 327 at CHF 0.451) 33 506 950 at CHF 2.251) 137 063 734.65
31.12.2003 137 051 327 at CHF 0.45 33 506 950 at CHF 2.25 137 063 734.65
31.12.2004 137 051 327 at CHF 0.45 33 506 950 at CHF 2.25 137 063 734.65
1) Buyback of shares on the Group’s 2nd trading line and cancellation following the decision of the AGM of 7 June 2002: 3 758 673

registered shares and 757 550 bearer shares.

Shares of The Swatch Group Ltd held by the Group are recognized in the consolidated financial statements at their historical cost.
The value of these shares is charged against consolidated shareholders’ equity. In 2004, the Swatch Group resumed its share buyback
program targeting a maximum 2% of The Swatch Group Ltd’s share capital. In the context of this program, the Group acquired own
shares representing a market value of CHF 149 million. At the 2005 AGM of The Swatch Group Ltd, the Board of Directors will table
a resolution to cancel the share capital acquired under this program. 
Shareholders’ equity increased CHF 1 million in 2004, due to the sale of own shares from the stock option plan.
Details of the Swatch Group’s treasury shares are given in the appendix of the Holding’s financial statements (note 16). 
With the exception of movements relating to the special fund, all transactions involving treasury shares were recorded at fair value. 

(CHF million) Warranty Legal risks Other Total
At 31 December 2003 56 9 25 90
Additional provisions 59 3 10 72
Unused amounts –2 –1 –4 –7
Provisions used during the year –54 0 –4 –58
Other movements 0 0 –1 –1
At 31 December 2004 59 11 26 96

Analysis of total provisions (CHF million) 31.12.2004 31.12.2003
Provisions for more than one year 34 30
Current provisions 62 60
Total 96 90
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18. Borrowings

Warranty
In the majority of cases, the Group offers a two-year warranty covering the repairs or replacement of products that do not perform
to customers’ satisfaction. The provision made at year-end to cover future warranty costs is based on past experience with respect
to the volume of repairs and returns. 

Legal risks
Provisions have been allocated to cover lawsuits against the Group arising from the normal conduct of business. It is the view of
Group management, supported by appropriate legal advice, that none of the existing lawsuits will entail costs that significantly
exceed the amounts set aside at 31 December 2004. 

Other
Other provisions relate to various commitments of the Group companies toward third parties. The term and amount of payments made
from these provisions cannot be determined. 

(CHF million) 31.12.2004 31.12.2003
Non-current
Long-term bank debt 0 1
Convertible bond 393 390
Other long-term debt 2 3
Total 395 394

(CHF million) 31.12.2004 31.12.2003
Current
Current account overdrafts 2 5
Short-term bank debt 222 199
Total 224 204

(CHF million) 6 months or less 6–12 months 1–5 years over 5 years Total
At 31.12.2004 157 67 2 393 619
At 31.12.2003 137 67 0 394 598

At 31 December 2004, the weighted average interest rate on financial debt was below 2% (2% at end-2003) for maturities of less
than 12 months, and 3.5% (3.2% at end-2003) for long-term financial debt (i.e. more than 1 year). 

Convertible bond
On 15 October 2003, The Swatch Group Finance (Luxembourg) SA issued convertible bonds valid from 15 October 2003 to 15 October
2010 and a coupon of 2.625%, for a total of CHF 411 600 000. During the conversion period, these bonds with a nominal value of 
CHF 5 000 may be converted into registered shares of The Swatch Group Ltd at CHF 49.00 each. 
The bond issue has been split into an equity and a liability component, recognized on the balance sheet under the corresponding
headings. The fair value of the liability component, recognized as long-term debt, was determined by reference to the market rate
(3.248% per year) of an equivalent non-convertible bond. The residual value (the conversion option) was recognized as shareholders’
equity. 
Until conversion or redemption of the bond issue, the liability component and all related adjustments will be accounted for using the
effective interest rate method. The equity portion was determined at the time of issue and will not be modified at a later date. 
The convertible bond issue is recognized as follows:

2004 2003
Nominal value of convertible bond 412
Value of the conversion option (shareholders’ equity) –16
Issuance costs –7
Liability component at 1 January (2003: at issue date) 390 389
Coupon interest at market rate 14 3
Coupon interest at 2.625% –11 –2
Liability component at 31 December 393 390

At 31 December 2004, no bonds had been converted. The closing rate of the convertible bond on the Swiss Stock Exchange at 
end-2004 was 107.42% (103.47% at end-2003).
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19. Deferred taxes 
(assets and liabilities)

20. Retirement benefit
obligations 
(post-employment
benefits)

Changes in deferred tax are as follows:

(CHF million) 2004 2003
Balance at 1 January –221 –205
Translation differences and other movements –2 –1
Income statement (note 5) –1 –15
Balance at 31 December –224 –221

Deferred tax assets resulting from deductible temporary differences, tax credits or tax loss carry-forwards are only recognized if they
are likely to be used against future taxable income. 
The temporary differences for which no deferred taxes have been recognized, largely relate to tax loss carry-forwards that were not
recognized in the consolidated financial statements. These amounted to CHF 113 million at 31 December 2004 (CHF 106 million at
end-2003). 
In 2004, one third of the total value of deferred tax losses expire within six years (40% in 2003). The remainder are valid beyond six
years. 
The deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the following items on the consolidated balance sheet: 

Deferred tax assets

Source (CHF million) 31.12.2004 31.12.2003
Deferred losses/tax credits 13 16
Non-current assets 35 20
Current assets 89 72
Short-term debt 13 3
Provisions 6 4
Long-term debt 5 4
Total 161 119
Set-off –41 –23
Total deferred tax assets on the balance sheet 120 96

Deferred tax liabilities

Source (CHF million) 31.12.2004 31.12.2003
Non-current assets –111 –100
Current assets –167 –136
Short-term debt –3 –1
Provisions –104 –103
Long-term debt 0 0
Total –385 –340
Set-off 41 23
Total deferred tax liabilities on the balance sheet –344 –317

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset within legal entities as long as there is an enforceable legal right of set-off. 
The deferred tax assets and liability amounts (shown in the following table) are calculated after set-offs and were presented on the
consolidated balance sheet as follows:

(CHF million) 31.12.2004 31.12.2003
Deferred tax assets 120 96
Deferred tax liabilities –344 –317
Net total –224 –221

Defined benefit plans
The following table summarizes the financial situation of the major pension plans under the «defined benefit plans» heading. The
Swatch Group’s Swiss pension funds are also included in these figures. 
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–2 719 –2 651

2 720 2 623

1 –28

21 20

0 1

1 1

–39 –11

–16 –17

–67 –70

–100 –102

106 73

–12 –38

0 –1

45 46

–28 34

–56 –58

–17 –15

–56 –58

57 56

–16 –17

106 73

43 202

149 275

% %

1.5–7.0 1.0–6.5

2.8–8.5 2.7–8.5

0.0–4.5 1.0–4.5

0.0–2.9 0.0–2.9

Pension plans 2004 2003

CHF million CHF million

Present value of funded obligations

Fair value of plan assets

Asset/liability surplus at 31 December

Unrecognized actuarial difference

Present value of unfunded obligations

Unrecognized past-service cost

Unrecognized surplus due to IAS 19.58 B

Net liability in the balance sheet at 31 December

Amounts recognized in the income statement

Current service cost

Interest cost on obligations

Expected return on plan assets

Net actuarial losses/gains recognized current year

Past-service cost

Employee contributions

Impact of IAS 19.58 B

Total recognized in personnel expense

Change in the net asset/liability recognized in the balance sheet

Net asset/liability at 1 January

Net expense recognized in the income statement

Employer contributions paid

Net asset/liability at 31 December 

Actual return on plan assets

Expected return on plan assets

Actuarial difference on plan assets

Actual return on plan assets

Principal actuarial assumptions used 2004 2003

Discount rate

Expected return on plan assets

Salary increases due to inflation

Pension index
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21. Employee 
stock option plan

Furthermore, provisions have been made to cover the liabilities of the major Swiss pension funds. These commitments have been
calculated on the basis of the legal requirements governing occupational pensions. 
This heading also includes CHF 14 million (CHF 10 million in 2003) corresponding to other liabilities towards employees working
abroad. 

Defined contribution plans
Amounts recognized in the consolidated income statement relating to contributions to defined contribution plans represent the
employer’s future contributions and are calculated according to the regulations of various pension institutions. In 2004, these contri-
butions amounted to less than CHF 1 million (CHF 1 million in 2003).

When the Hayek Pool acquired control of the Swatch Group, a block of shares was reserved in 1986 for a management stock option
plan. At end-2004, this portfolio comprised 3 499 632 registered shares (3 742 200 at end-2003). In 2004, 242 568 registered shares
were awarded at a preferential price of CHF 4.00 per registered share (see details below).

Year of award to employees Number of Number of Year of subscription/ 
registered shares beneficiaries payment

2002 70 207 183 2004
2003 78 683 189 2004
2004 93 678 222 2004
Total 242 568

In addition, eligible members of management were granted the following rights to subscribe for further registered shares at a prefer-
ential price in the future: 

Year of award to employees Number of Number of Year of subscription/ 
registered shares beneficiaries payment

2003 80 291 193 2005
2004 89 156 219 2005
2004 90 260 219 2006
Total 259 707

In 2004, the members of the Executive Group Management Board and the Extended Group Management Board, with the exception
of the CEO and Managing Director of the Group’s Board of Directors, were awarded 126 604 registered shares (121 769 in 2003) at
the preferential price of CHF 4.00 per registered share (see details below).

Year of award to employees Number of Number of Year of subscription/ 
registered shares beneficiaries payment

2002 38 205 19 2004
2003 43 108 19 2004
2004 45 291 21 2004
Total 126 604

The following rights to subscribe in future for further registered shares at a preferential price have been given to this group of benefi-
ciaries. 

Year of award to employees Number of Number of Year of subscription/ 
registered shares beneficiaries payment

2003 43 134 19 2005
2004 45 291 21 2005
2004 46 218 21 2006
Total 134 643

Neither the members of the Board of Directors nor the CEO and Managing Director of the Board have ever received any stock options
or shares under this plan.
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512 492
6 5

(5) 107 96
184 185

28 22
9 4

–3 –4

–17 –10
(4) –14 –12
(4) 23 13

–152 –47
12 11
67 –39

8 –14
4 8

774 710
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22. Trade and other 
payables and accrued
expenses

23. Cash flow generated
from operations

24. Acquisition of 
companies

This position rose by CHF 79 million to CHF 646 million. These liabilities include the following debt and accruals:

(CHF million) 31.12.2004 31.12.2003
Debt, accruals for purchases of goods and services 236 225
Wages and social security costs 85 81
Sales reductions 21 18
Advertising 101 69
VAT due 27 18
Taxes 60 40
Advance payments 5 4
Other debt and accrued expenses 111 112
Total 646 567

«Accrued expenses» includes all charges relating to the period yet to be invoiced by third parties to Group companies. The main items
are wage costs, advertising and (for some companies) accrued taxes for the current year. These items rose from CHF 259 million at
end-2003 to CHF 326 million at end-2004, an increase of CHF 67 million.

Notes 2004 2003
CHF million CHF million

Net income  
Minority interest
Income tax
Depreciation of tangible assets 
Amortization of intangible assets
Impairment charge
Profit/loss on sale of fixed assets
Fair value gains/losses on 
available-for-sale investments
Interest income
Interest expense
Changes in net working capital (without liquid funds):
– Inventories
– Trade and other receivables
– Trade payables and other current liabilities
Changes in provisions
Changes in pensions and other retirement benefits

Cash generated from operations

Effective as of 1 January 2004, the Swatch Group acquired the remaining 50% of the capital of Time Flagship SA in Lucerne, and the
remaining 46% of the capital of the real estate company S.I. L’Etang SA in Le Locle. Before this acquisition, Time Flagship SA was
proportionally consolidated as a joint venture. In 2003, The Swatch Group Ltd acquired 100% of the capital of the German company
Sokymat Automotive GmbH. 

The net assets and goodwill resulting from these acquisitions are detailed below:

(CHF million) 2004 2003
Cash disbursements 0 37
Fair value of acquired net assets 0 0         
Goodwill 0 37
Cash and cash equivalents 0 0
Tangible assets 1 10
Inventories 1 1
Receivables 0 3
Debt –2 –14
Fair value of acquired net assets 0 0
Total acquisition costs 0 37
Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired 0 0
Cash flow from acquisitions 0 37
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25. Derivative financial
instruments

26. Other reserves

27. Commitments, 
contingent assets 
and liabilities

The table below gives an overview of the contract and replacement values of derivative financial instruments on positions in precious
metals or denominated in foreign currency. 
The notes to the financial statements of the Holding on page 152 set out the contract and replacement values of the parent
company’s financial derivatives. Only third party values are used for the Group accounts. 

Type Contract Positive Negative 
(CHF million) value replacement value replacement value
Forward contracts 528 1 –2
Options 0 0 0
Total at 31.12.2004 528 1 –2
Total at 31.12.2003 909 11 –6

At 31 December 2004, the Group had no positions open (CHF 143 million in 2003). At 31 December 2004, the contract value of open
forward transactions was down CHF 238 million versus the previous year. 
As at end-2003, the Group had no cash-flow hedges outstanding.

(CHF million) Fair Equity Translation Total
value components and other

reserves of convertible differences
bond

Balance at 01.01.03 (restated; see page 117) –114 0 –20 –134
Translation differences and various movements –9 –9
Recognized in income statement –4 –4
Remeasurements to fair value 40 16 56
Tax effect –6 0 –6
Balance at 31.12.2003 –84 16 –29 –97

Translation differences and various movements –22 –22
Remeasurements to fair value –1 –1
Tax effect
Balance at 31.12.2004 –85 16 –51 –120

Guarantees and sureties
At end-2004, guarantees to third parties as security for commitments of Group companies amounted to less than CHF 2 million (less
than CHF 1 million at end-2003). 
At 31 December 2004, total current assets pledged by Group companies to guarantee their commitments amounted to CHF 5 million
(CHF 3 million at end-2003). 

Leasing, rental and other commitments 
Leasing commitments for the Group not recognized in the balance sheet are as follows:

(CHF million) 2004 2003
Less than 1 year 54 50
Between 1 and 5 years 147 118
Over 5 years 107 89
Total 308 257

Proportion of contracts with renewal option (as a % of total amount) 56.4 60.2
Maximum risk (% of total amount) 90.7 84.9

The figures in the table below include all rental contracts for buildings, a major part of which relate to the Group’s retail business,
and to all other standard rental contracts existing at 31 December 2004. Leasing costs amounting to CHF 54 million were recognized
in the 2004 results (CHF 48 million in 2003). A sublease clause is included in a large number of rental contracts for retail shops.
Moreover, if the need arises, the Group may negotiate early termination of a lease contract with exit terms considerably more favor-
able than the payment of the entire commitment specified in the initial contract.
Other commitments entered into by the Group and ongoing at 31 December 2004 amounted to CHF 8 million (unchanged from the
previous year). These correspond to commitments to invest in financial assets. 
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28. Related party 
transactions

Contingent assets and liabilities
Contingent assets and liabilities relate to past events, the outcome of which must be confirmed by future events, which are partially
beyond the Group’s control.
Some Group companies are involved in litigation arising from the normal course of their business and they may be liable to pay
compensation. The costs relating to these lawsuits may not be partially or fully covered by insurance. However, It is the view of the
Group’s management that the outcome of such litigation will not significantly affect the Group’s financial situation. 

In 2004, the Hayek Group invoiced an amount of CHF 12.4 million to the Swatch Group (compared with CHF 12.6 million in 2003). This
amount primarily covered support for Group management in the following areas of activity:

(CHF million) 2004 2003
– Audit, feasibility studies and process optimization 3.8 3.2
– Provision of managers and filling important, vacant functions 3.6 2.9
– Project management in the construction sector 1.7 2.4
– Introduction of cost accounting systems in manufacturing companies 0.6 0.9
– Support for projects in the materials and surface treatment technology sector 0.6 0.7
– Shop rental in the centre of Cannes (France) in a building of a subsidiary 

of the Hayek Group 0.4 0.3
– Various services relating to the assessment of investment projects, cost control, 

IT consulting, etc. 1.7 2.2
Total 12.4 12.6

Within the framework of the reorganization of clearly divided functions between a full-time position for the Chairman of the Board
and a separate position for the CEO of the Group, the management agreement entered into between the Swatch Group and the
Hayek Group was no longer in effect in 2004 and no financial compensation was paid during the year (previous year CHF 5.2 million).
A company of our minority shareholder in Singapore provided marketing and special events services for CHF 2.9 million (compared
with CHF 2.4 million in 2003). Of this amount, 93% is pure re-invoicing, as the company arranges specialized external services (media
and other services) and re-invoices the costs of the services.
Goods and services purchased from associated companies were as follows:

(CHF million) 2004 2003
Goods purchased and subcontracting:
– François Golay SA 3 3
– Terbival SA 2 2
Total 5 5

Sales of goods and services to the above-mentioned associated companies as well as the positions still open with respect to these
partners at the end of 2004 and 2003 were less than CHF 1 million.

Group Management Board and Board of Directors: remuneration, shareholdings and loans
The total amount of remuneration of the executive members of the Board of Directors as well as the Group Management Board,
including the Extended Group Management Board, amounted to CHF 17.7 million in 2004 (2003: CHF 17.8 million) of which CHF 7.4
million was in salaries and CHF 10.3 million in bonuses based on performance and the results of the previous year. 
The following persons left the Group Management Board or the Extended Group Management Board during 2004: Mr Anton Bally,
Mr Jean-Claude Biver, Mr Heinz W. Pfeifer and Mr Michele Sofisti.
In 2004, CHF 0.8 million (2003: CHF 0.6 million) was paid to non-executive members of the Board of Directors (not including Mr N. G.
Hayek, Chairman and Delegate of the Board of Directors).

ANNEX TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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29. Dividends

30. Post-balance-sheet
events

Remuneration granted to former members of management bodies
No remuneration was paid to former members of management bodies. 

Share allotment for the year
Under the management stock option plan mentioned in Note 21, 136 800 options to subscribe for registered shares at a price of 
CHF 4.00 each were allotted to members of the Group Management Board as well as to members of the Extended Group
Management Board (2003: 143 150 at CHF 4.00 per registered share) One-third of these shares can be subscribed, paid up and
disposed of immediately, another third in one year and the remaining third in two years.
Neither the members of the Board of Directors nor the CEO have ever received any stock options or shares from this plan.

Share ownership
At 31 December 2004, the executive members of the Board of Directors and the members of the Management Board of the Company
as well as the persons close to them held directly or indirectly a total of 54 890 907 registered shares and 81 040 bearer shares, repre-
senting 32.2% of the voting rights (previous year: 31.9%).
In addition, at 31 December 2004, all the non-executive members of the Board of Directors as well as the persons close to them held,
15 186 332 registered shares and 322 370 bearer shares, representing 9.1% of the voting rights (previous year: 9.0%).

Principal shareholders 
On 31 December 2004, The Hayek Pool and its companies and related entities held 62 017 071 registered shares and 312 498 bearer
shares, equivalent to 36.5% of the voting rights (previous year: 36.7%) of The Swatch Group Ltd, which is the parent company of the
Group. 
In the context of the pool, the group of Mr N.G. Hayek and related parties controlled in total 35.8% of the voting rights compared
with 35.8% at year-end 2003.
As of the same date, Mrs Esther Grether’s group controlled 8.0% of the voting rights (compared with 8.0% a year earlier).
The Swatch Group is not aware of any other group or individual shareholder with an interest exceeding 5% of the total share capital
of the Group.
Further information is provided in Note 16 on the accounts of the Holding Company.

Loans to members of the governing bodies
The employees of the company may take out a mortgage loan with the Swatch Group Pension Fund for the construction or acquisi-
tion of property in Switzerland (primary residence).
The conditions for these mortgage loans are set by the Swatch Group Pension Fund Foundation Board. These conditions are applied
in the same manner to all employees. At the end of 2004, three such loans had been granted to members of the Group Management
Board for a total of CHF 1.6 million (in 2003, three loans for a total of CHF 1.6 million). In addition, at the end of 2004, The Swatch
Group USA Inc. granted a loan for USD 0.1 million (USD 0.1 million at 31.12.2003) to the managing director of the subsidiary (who is
also a member of the Extended Group Management Board). This loan is secured by a mortgage and bears interest at 6.25%.

Dividends payable are not recognized until they are approved by the General Meeting. At the General Meeting on 18 May 2005, the
payment of the following dividends for 2004 will be proposed: 

Registered Bearer
Dividend per share CHF 0.35 CHF 1.75
Total dividend CHF 47 967 964 CHF 58 637 163

The financial statements ended 31 December 2004 do not take into account this proposed dividend. Dividends will be treated as a
distribution of available income during the financing year ending 31 December 2005.

There was no indication of significant new events which would necessitate a change in the presentation of the figures contained in
the financial statements for 2004 when this report was approved.
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CHF 137.06 �
CHF 0.10 100 � �
CHF 0.70 100 � �
CHF 0.10 100 � �
CHF 3.50 100 � �
CHF 0.10 100 � �
CHF 7.86 100 � �
CHF 10.00 100 � �
CHF 0.06 29 � �
CHF 2.50 100 � �
CHF 10.00 100 � �
CHF 0.50 100 � �
CHF 0.10 100 � �
CHF 25.00 100 � �
CHF 2.00 100 � �
CHF 6.20 100 � �
CHF 2.00 100 � �
CHF 0.10 35 � �
CHF 0.30 100 � �
CHF 0.10 100 � �
CHF 3.00 100 � �
CHF 0.20 100 � �
CHF 1.00 100 � �
CHF 0.10 100 � �
CHF 0.05 100 � �
CHF 0.70 100 � �
CHF 0.60 100 � �
CHF 2.40 100 � �
CHF 0.48 100 � �
CHF 2.00 100 � �
CHF 14.00 100 � �
CHF 1.20 100 � �
CHF 10.00 100 � �
CHF 5.00 90 � �
CHF 3.68 100 � �
CHF 4.00 100 � �
CHF 1.50 100 � �
CHF 50.00 100 � �
CHF 2.00 100 � �
CHF 2.00 100 � �
CHF 0.10 100 � �
CHF 0.50 100 � �
CHF 0.15 100 � �
CHF 0.12 100 � �
CHF 0.12 100 � �
CHF 0.10 34 � �
CHF 0.05 100 � �
CHF 0.24 100 � �
CHF 1.00 100 � �
CHF 0.05 100 � �
CHF 2.00 100 � �
CHF 0.10 100 � �
CHF 0.10 100 � �
CHF 6.00 100 � �
CHF 1.00 100 � �
CHF 0.50 80 � �
CHF 3.00 100 � �
CHF 0.05 100 � �
CHF 0.10 45 � �
CHF 0.50 100 � �
CHF 5.00 100 � �
CHF 0.67 100 � �
CHF 0.05 100 � �

� �
� �

�
�

SWITZERLAND
The Swatch Group SA, Neuchâtel Holding
Asulab SA, Marin-Epagnier Research and development
Atlantic Immobilien AG, Bettlach Real estate
Blancpain SA, Le Chenit Watches
Certina, Gebr. Kurth AG, Grenchen Watches
Chronométrage Suisse SA, Corgémont Sports timing
Comadur SA, Le Locle Products in hard materials
Compagnie des Montres Longines, Francillon SA, Saint-Imier Watches
Danyack SA, La Chaux-de-Fonds Real estate
Dernier Batz SA, Neuchâtel Real estate
Diantus Watch SA, Mendrisio Watches, movements
Distico SA, Torricella-Taverne Distribution
Dress your body SA, Bienne Watches, jewelry
EM Microelectronic-Marin SA, Marin-Epagnier Microelectronics
Endura SA, Bienne Watches
ETA SA Manufacture Horlogère Suisse, Grenchen Watches, movements and components
Farco SA, Le Locle Real estate
François Golay SA, Le Chenit Manufacture of watch wheels
Frédéric Piguet SA, Le Chenit Movements
Groupe Habillage Haute Horlogerie SA, Saint-Imier Assembly
Hamilton International AG, Lengnau Watches
ICB Ingénieurs Conseils en Brevets SA, Marin-Epagnier Patents
Lasag AG, Thun Lasers for industrial applications
Léon Hatot SA, Bienne Watches
Louis Jeanneret-Wespy SA, La Chaux-de-Fonds Real estate
Maeder-Leschot SA, Bienne Real estate
Manufacture Favre et Perret SA, La Chaux-de-Fonds Watch cases
Manufacture Ruedin SA, Bassecourt Watch cases
Meco SA, Grenchen Watch crowns
Meseltron, Corcelles-Cormondrèche Real estate
Microcomponents AG, Grenchen Components for the automobile industry
Mido G. Schaeren & Co SA, Bienne Watches
Montres Breguet SA, L‘Abbaye Watches
Montres CK SA, Bienne Watches
Montres Jaquet Droz SA, La Chaux-de-Fonds Watches
Nivarox-FAR SA, Le Locle Watch components and thin wires
Omega Electronics SA, Bienne Sports timing equipment, information display systems
Omega SA, Bienne Watches
Oscilloquartz SA, Neuchâtel High-stability frequency sources
Rado Uhren AG, Lengnau Watches
Record Watch Co. SA, Tramelan Inactive
Renata AG, Itingen Miniature batteries
Rubattel et Weyermann SA, La Chaux-de-Fonds Watch dials
S.I. Grand-Cernil 2, Les Brenets, SA, Les Brenets Real estate
S.I. Grand-Cernil 3, Les Brenets, SA, Les Brenets Real estate
S.I. Les Corbes SA, Savagnier Real estate
S.I. L‘Etang SA, Les Brenets, Les Brenets Real estate
S.I. Rue de la Gare 2, Les Brenets, SA, Les Brenets Real estate
SMH Engineering AG, Grenchen Real estate
SSIH Management Services SA, Bienne Services and licences
Swatch SA, Bienne Watches
Swatch Telecom SA, Bienne Communication
Swatch Timing SA, Bienne Sports timing
Technocorp Holding SA, Le Locle Holding
The Swatch Group Distribution SA, Bienne Logistics and distribution
The Swatch Group Immeubles SA, Neuchâtel Real estate project and property management
The Swatch Group Les Boutiques SA, Lausanne Retailing
The Swatch Group Management Services SA, Bienne Services and licences
Terbival SA, Courchapoix Watch case polishing
Time Flagship AG, Luzern Retailing
Tissot SA, Le Locle Watches
Universo SA, La Chaux-de-Fonds Watch hands
Valdar SA, Le Chenit Watch components

Company name, Registered offices Field of Activity Capital Swatch Group Consoli- Division
in millions Shareholdings dation

EUROPE %

THE SWATCH GROUP COMPANIES – as at 31.12.2004

Legend: Fully consolidated Watches
Equity method Watch production

Electronic systems
General services, R & D, real estate companies
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EUR 0.03 95 � �
EUR 0.03 100 � �
EUR 0.51 100 � �
EUR 0.10 100 � �
EUR 0.08 100 � �
EUR 0.50 100 � �
EUR 1.28 100 � �

EUR 0.20 100 � �

EUR 0.05 100 � �

EUR 0.04 100 � �

EUR 1.75 100 � �

EUR 2.09 100 � �

EUR 0.45 100 � �

EUR 6.10 100 � �
EUR 0.29 100 � �
EUR 1.80 100 � �
EUR 0.67 100 � �

EUR 3.80 100 � �
EUR 2.47 100 � �

EUR 12.10 100 � �
EUR 0.28 100 � �

GBP 2.00 100 � �

EUR 0.06 100 � �
EUR 0.06 100 � �

EUR 1.00 100 � �
EUR 0.01 100 � �
EUR 23.00 100 � �

EUR 0.12 100 � �

CHF 0.03 100 � �

CHF 1000.00 100 � �

EUR 0.02 100 � �
EUR 0.70 100 � �

PLN 1.40 100 � �

EUR 24.14 100 � �
EUR 0.10 100 � �

RUR 0.20 100 � �

SEK 0.50 100 � �

CZK 2.01 51 � �

GERMANY
Altweiler Grundstücks-GmbH, Lörrach Real estate
ETA Uhrwerke GmbH, Pforzheim Tools
Glashütter Uhrenbetrieb GmbH, Glashütte Watches
Sokymat Automotive GmbH, Reichshof-Wehnrath Transponders
Swiss Prestige Uhren Handel GmbH, Eschborn Inactive
The Swatch Group Customer Service (Europe) GmbH, Glashütte After sales service
The Swatch Group (Deutschland)  GmbH, Eschborn/Niederhöchstadt Distribution (Breguet, Blancpain, Omega, Rado, Longines, Tissot, 

Certina, Hamilton, Pierre Balmain, cK Watch, Swatch, Flik Flak, 
Lasag, Renata, EM Marin, Micro Crystal) 

The Swatch Group (Deutschland) Les Boutiques GmbH, Retailing
Eschborn/Niederhöchstadt
Union Uhrenfabrik GmbH, Glashütte Watches

AUSTRIA
The Swatch Group (Oesterreich) GmbH, Wien Distribution (Breguet, Blancpain, Glashütte, Omega, Rado, 

Longines, Tissot, Certina, cK Watch, Swatch, Flik Flak) 

BELGIUM
The Swatch Group (Belgium) SA, Bruxelles Distribution (Breguet, Blancpain, Glashütte, Omega, Rado, 

Longines, Tissot, Certina, Hamilton, Pierre Balmain, cK Watch, 
Swatch, Flik Flak, Omega Electronics) 

The Swatch Group Participation SA, Bruxelles Holding

SPAIN
The Swatch Group (España) SA, Madrid Distribution (Breguet, Blancpain, Glashütte, Omega, Rado, 

Longines, Tissot, Certina, Hamilton, Pierre Balmain, cK Watch, 
Swatch, Flik Flak)

FRANCE
Breguet SA, Paris Distribution
Fabrique de Fournitures de Bonnétage FFB SAS, Villers-le-Lac Watch components and precision parts
Frésard Composants SAS, Charquemont Watch components
Société Européenne de Fabrication d‘Ebauches d‘Annemasse Watch components and electronic assembly
(SEFEA) SAS, Annemasse
Tech Airport SAS, Paris Retail
The Swatch Group (France) SAS, Paris Distribution (Breguet, Blancpain, Glashütte, Jaquet Droz, 

Léon Hatot, Omega, Rado, Longines, Tissot, Hamilton, 
Pierre Balmain, cK Watch, Swatch, Flik Flak, Endura) 

The Swatch Group (France) Les Boutiques SAS, Paris Retailing
Universo France SARL, Besançon Watch hands

GREAT BRITAIN
The Swatch Group (UK) Ltd, Eastleigh Distribution (Breguet, Blancpain, Glashütte, Omega, Rado, 

Longines, Tissot, Hamilton, cK Watch, Swatch, Flik Flak, 
Omega Electronics)

GREECE
Alkioni SA, Athens Retailing
The Swatch Group (Greece) SA, Athens Distribution (Breguet, Glashütte, Omega, Rado, Longines, 

Tissot, Certina, cK Watch, Swatch, Flik Flak)

ITALY
Lascor S.p.A., Sesto Calende Watch cases and bracelets
The Swatch Group Europe Services S.r.l., Milano Administration
The Swatch Group (Italia) S.p.A., Rozzano Distribution (Breguet, Blancpain, Glashütte, Jaquet Droz, 

Léon Hatot, Omega, Rado, Longines, Tissot, Mido, Hamilton, 
Pierre Balmain, cK Watch, Swatch, Flik Flak, Renata) 

The Swatch Group (Italia) Les Boutiques S.p.A., Rozzano Retailing

LIECHTENSTEIN
Etablissement Voltax, Vaduz Intellectual property rights

LUXEMBOURG
The Swatch Group Finance (Luxembourg) SA, Finance company
Société anonyme Holding, Luxembourg

NETHERLANDS
Breguet Investments BV, Rotterdam Holding
The Swatch Group (Netherlands) BV, Maastricht Distribution (Omega, Rado, Longines, Tissot, Certina, 

Pierre Balmain, cK Watch, Swatch, Flik Flak) 

POLAND
The Swatch Group (Polska) Sp.z.o.o., Warszawa Distribution (Omega, Rado, Longines, Tissot, Certina, 

Hamilton, Pierre Balmain, cK Watch, Swatch) 

PORTUGAL
The Swatch Group (Europa) – Sociedada Unipessoal SA, Funchal Distribution
The Swatch Group (Europa II) Retail – Sociedada Unipessoal SA, Retail
Funchal

RUSSIA
Swiss Watch Le Prestige OOO Russia, Moscow Distribution

SWEDEN
The Swatch Group (Nordic) AB, Stockholm Distribution (Breguet, Omega, Rado, Longines, Tissot, Certina, 

cK Watch, Swatch, Flik Flak) 

CZECH REPUBLIC
ASICentrum, Praha Microelectronics

Company name, Registered offices Field of Activity Capital Swatch Group Consoli- Division
in millions Shareholdings dation

EUROPE %

THE SWATCH GROUP COMPANIES – as at 31.12.2004
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CHF 0.02 100 � �
CHF 0.24 100 � �

BRL 4.93 100 � �
BRL 14.05 100 � �

CAD 4.50 100 � �

USD 0.04 100 � �
USD 0.00 100 � �
USD 0.17 20 � �
USD 0.10 100 � �
USD 168.80 100 � �

USD 0.00 100 � �
USD 0.13 100 � �

USD 0.01 100 � �

MXN 0.05 100 � �
MXN 43.65 100 � �

USD 0.07 100 � �
CNY 3.50 100 � �
CNY 1.66 100 � �

USD 0.50 100 � �
USD 0.20 90 � �
USD 0.00 100 � �
HKD 5.00 100 � �

TWD 0.50 100 � �

USD 9.00 100 � �

KRW3300.00 100 � �

INR 0.47 100 � �

JPY 200.00 100 � �

MYR 35.00 100 � �
MYR 0.50 51 � �

SGD 4.00 51 � �

THB 504.50 100 � �
THB 6.00 49 � �

THB 3.06 49 � �

AUD 0.40 100 � �

� �
� �

�
�

BERMUDA
The Swatch Group Finance (Bermuda) Ltd, Hamilton Finance company
The Swatch Group Re Ltd, Hamilton Reinsurance

BRAZIL
The Swatch Group do Amazonas SA, Manaus Assembly
The Swatch Group do Brasil Ltda, São Paulo Distribution (Breguet, Omega, Rado, Longines, Tissot, Mido, 

cK Watch, Swatch)

CANADA
The Swatch Group (Canada) Ltd, Toronto Distribution (Breguet, Blancpain, Glashütte, Omega, Rado, 

Longines, Tissot, Hamilton, cK Watch, Swatch, Flik Flak) 

UNITED STATES
EM (U.S.) Design Inc., Colorado Microelectronics
e-swatch-us Inc., Delaware e-Commerce
HiPoint Technology Inc., Colorado Springs Microelectronics
Swatch Franchising Ltd., Delaware Franchising
The Swatch Group (U.S.) Inc., Dover, Delaware Distribution (Breguet, Blancpain, Glashütte, Jaquet Droz, 

Léon Hatot, Omega, Rado, Longines, Tissot, Hamilton, 
Pierre Balmain, cK Watch, Swatch, Flik Flak, Lasag, Micro Crystal, 
Renata, Oscilloquartz) 

The Swatch Group Les Boutiques (U.S.) Inc, Dover, Delaware Retail
Unitime Industries Inc., Virgin Islands VI Inactive

BRITISH VIRGIN ISLANDS
Endura Services (Asia) Inc, British Virgin Islands Distribution

MEXICO
Prestadora de Servicios Relojeros SA de CV, Mexico DF Watch services
The Swatch Group (Mexico) SA de CV, Mexico DF Distribution (Breguet, Omega, Rado, Longines, Tissot, Mido, 

cK Watch, Swatch)

ASIA
GREATER CHINA 
Lanco Watches Ltd, Hong Kong Inactive
Shanghai SMH Watch Service Center Co. Ltd, Shanghai After sales service
SMH International Trading (Shanghai) Co. Ltd, Shanghai Distribution (Breguet, Blancpain, Glashütte, Omega, Rado, 

Longines, Tissot, cK Watch, Swatch, Flik Flak)
SMH Les Boutiques (Shanghai) Co. Ltd, Shanghai Retail
SMH Swiss Watch Trading (Shanghai) Co. Ltd, Shanghai Distribution (Omega, Rado)
The Swatch Group (Asia) Inc. Ltd, Hong Kong Commercial services
The Swatch Group (Hong Kong) Ltd, Hong Kong Distribution (Breguet, Blancpain, Glashütte, Jaquet Droz, 

Omega, Rado, Longines, Tissot, Hamilton, Pierre Balmain, 
cK Watch, Swatch, Flik Flak, ETA)

The Swatch Group (Taiwan) Ltd, Taipei Distribution (Breguet, Blancpain, Glashütte, Jaquet Droz, 
Léon Hatot, Omega, Rado, Longines, Tissot, Hamilton, 
cK Watch, Swatch, Flik Flak)

Zhuhai SMH Watchmaking Co. Ltd, Zhuhai Watches, movements,  components

SOUTH KOREA
The Swatch Group (Korea) Ltd, Seoul Distribution (Breguet, Omega, Rado, Longines, Tissot, 

cK Watch, Swatch, Flik Flak) 

INDIA
Swatch Group (India) Private Ltd, New Delhi Distribution (Omega, Rado, Longines, Tissot, Swatch, Flik Flak)

JAPAN
The Swatch Group (Japan) KK, Tokyo Distribution (Breguet, Blancpain, Glashütte, Jaquet Droz, 

Léon Hatot, Omega, Rado, Longines, Tissot, Hamilton, 
cK Watch, Swatch, Flik Flak, Endura) 

MALAYSIA
Micromechanics (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd, Ipoh Assembly, watch components
The Swatch Group (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd, Kuala Lumpur Distribution (Omega, Rado, Longines, Tissot, cK Watch, 

Swatch, Flik Flak) 

SINGAPORE
The Swatch Group S.E.A. (S) Pte Ltd, Singapore Distribution (Breguet, Blancpain, Glashütte, Omega, Rado, 

Longines, Tissot, Hamilton, Pierre Balmain, cK Watch, Swatch, 
Flik Flak) 

THAILAND
ETA (Thailand) Co. Ltd, Bangkok Movements and components
The Swatch Group Trading (Thailand) Ltd, Bangkok Distribution (Breguet, Omega, Rado, Longines, Tissot, cK Watch, 

Swatch, Flik Flak)
Wachirapani Co. Ltd, Bangkok Holding

OCEANIA
AUSTRALIA
The Swatch Group (Australia) Ltd, Prahran Distribution (Breguet, Omega, Rado, Longines, Tissot, cK Watch, 

Swatch, Flik Flak, Omega Electronics, Renata) 
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in millions Shareholdings dation

AMERICA %

THE SWATCH GROUP COMPANIES – as at 31.12.2004
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Legend: Fully consolidated Watches
Equity method Watch production

Electronic systems
General services, R & D, real estate companies
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AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

consolidated financial statements
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Report of the group auditors
to the general meeting of
The Swatch Group Ltd,
Neuchâtel

As auditors of the group, we have audited the consolidated financial statements (income statement, balance sheet, statement of
cash flows, statement of changes in equity and notes – pages 113 to 146) of The Swatch Group Ltd for the year ended 31 December
2004.

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the board of directors. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We confirm that we meet the legal requirements concerning professional
qualification and independence.

Our audit was conducted in accordance with auditing standards promulgated by the Swiss profession and with the International
Standards on Auditing, which require that an audit be planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. We have examined on a test basis evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. We have also assessed the accounting principles used, significant
estimates made and the overall consolidated financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position, the results of operations and
the cash flows in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply with Swiss law.

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd

Th. Brüderlin G. Siegrist

Basel, 30 March 2005
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2004 2003

(1) 330 306

(2) 43 75

(3) 7 7

380 388

(4) –32 –34

(5) –10 –11

(6) –1 –27

(7) –14 –13

(8) –26 –26

(9) –2 –2

–85 –113

295 275
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Notes CHF million CHF million

Income from investments in subsidiaries

Financial income

Other income 

Total income

Personnel expense

General expenses

Depreciation and impairment

Interest expense

Exchange differences and other financial expenses

Taxes

Total expenses 

Net income

INCOME STATEMENT OF THE HOLDING
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(10)

8 0.3 8 0.3

2 0.1 2 0.1

(11) 51 1.9 42 1.6

(12) 1 738 65.8 1 949 75.6

1 799 68.1 2 001 77.6

(13) 2 0.1 3 0.1

(13) 4 0.1 8 0.3

(14) 369 14.0 281 10.9

(15) 431 16.3 265 10.3

37 1.4 19 0.8

843 31.9 576 22.4

2 642 100.0 2 577 100.0

Assets 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Notes CHF million % CHF million %

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment:

– Land and buildings

– Furniture and equipment

Financial assets:

– Long-term loans to Group companies

– Investments in subsidiaries

Total non-current assets

Current assets

Realizable assets:

– Other receivables

– Accrued income and prepaid expenses

– Short-term receivables from Group companies

– Securities and precious metals

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

Total assets

BALANCE SHEET OF THE HOLDING

financial statements of the holding
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137 5.2 137 5.3

67 2.5 67 2.6

518 19.6 369 14.3

859 32.5 818 31.8

19 19

295 275

314 11.9 294 11.4

(16) 1 895 71.7 1 685 65.4

(17) 114 4.3 114 4.4

(18)

65 2.5 67 2.6

544 20.6 693 27.0

9 0.3 9 0.3

(18) 15 0.6 9 0.3

633 24.0 778 30.2

2 642 100.0 2 577 100.0

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity 31.12.2004 31.12.2003

Notes CHF million % CHF million %

Shareholders’ equity:

– Share capital

– General reserve

– Reserve for treasury shares

– Special reserve

– Profit brought forward

– Net income for the year

– Profit available for distribution

Total shareholders’ equity

Provisions

Short-term debt:

– Banks

– Group companies

– Other liabilities

Accrued expenses

Total short-term debt and accrued expenses 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

BALANCE SHEET OF THE HOLDING
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ANNEX TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE HOLDING

ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The 2004 financial statements of The Swatch Group Ltd have been prepared on a going concern basis, in accordance with the
principle of materiality and using the accrual method of accounting. The statements conform to Swiss law and generally accepted
accounting practices in Switzerland.

Valuation principles
The valuation basis for the financial statements is historical value. Investments are recognized in the balance sheet at their acquisi-
tion cost. The following financial instruments are exempt from this rule:

– Tradeable securities are valued at the last recorded market closing price;
– The following shares have not been restated to fair value: treasury shares reserved for the management stock option plan and

shares bought back by the company and due to be cancelled.

Foreign currency translation
All assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies have been translated at the exchange rates applicable on the balance
sheet closing date. Income and expenses denominated in foreign currencies and all foreign exchange transactions are translated at
their spot rates on the day or, in the case of intra-group transactions, at a pre-determined rate set by The Swatch Group Ltd’s treasury
department.

GENERAL INFORMATION RELATING TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Contingent liabilities
At the end of 2004, guarantees provided by The Swatch Group Ltd amounted to CHF 477 301 000 (compared with CHF 488 115 500 a
year earlier). This position includes: 
– A guarantee of CHF 476 427 000 (2003: CHF 487 231 500) relating to the convertible bond of CHF 411 600 000 at 2.625%, valid from

15 October  2003 to 15 October 2010, issued by The Swatch Group Finance (Luxembourg) SA. At the end of 2004, none of these
bonds had been converted into shares;

– As in 2003, a guarantee of GBP 400 000 (equivalent to CHF 874 000 on 31 December 2004; CHF 884 000 on 31 December 2003) to
cover a commitment relating to a lease taken out by one of the companies of the Group.

Assets pledged
None of the company’s assets are pledged.

Commitments, contingent assets and liabilities
Other commitments entered into by the company and open at 31 December 2004 amount to CHF 6 million (previous year CHF 7
million), corresponding to investment commitments in financial assets.

Financial derivative instruments
The following table presents the contract and replacement values of derivative financial instruments on 31 December 2004.

Type Contract value Positive Negative 
replacement value replacement value

(CHF million) Third Group Total Third Group Total Third Group Total
party party party

Forward contracts 528 384 912 1 1 2 –2 –2 –4
Options 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total at 31.12.2004 528 384 912 1 1 2 –2 –2 –4
Total at 31.12.2003 909 370 1 279 11 1 12 –6 –3 –9

Derivative financial instruments are recognized at fair value. Positions outstanding on 31 December 2004 serve to hedge operating
risks relating to exchange rates and market volatility. Forward contracts outstanding at 31 December 2004 relate to positions held in
precious metals and in 14 foreign currencies (previous year: 15). Intra-group contracts relate to agreements between The Swatch
Group Ltd and Group companies for the hedging of risks relating to intra-group financial transactions. At 31 December 2004, there
were no options outstanding. Replacement values are recognized under accrued assets and liabilities.

The balance sheet as at the end of 2004 and 2003 does not contain any liabilities to pension plans.

Off-balance-sheet items

Liabilities to pension plans

financial statements of the holding
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ANNEX TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE HOLDING

1. Income from 
investments in 
subsidiaries

2. Financial income

3. Other income

4. Personnel expense

5. General expenses

6. Depreciation 
and impairment

7. Interest expense

8. Exchange differences
and other financial
expenses

9. Taxes

INFORMATION RELATING TO THE INCOME STATEMENT

The Swatch Group Ltd’s earnings were CHF 20 million higher in 2004 (+7.3%) than in the previous year. This increase was mainly
attributable to higher income from investments in subsidiaries (CHF 24 million) and lower depreciation expenses and impairment
(CHF 26 million), partially offset by a decline in financial income (CHF 32 million) (see 1, 2 and 6 below).

(CHF million) 2004 2003
Dividends 291 271 
Other income 39 35 
Total 330 306

This item includes dividends from Group companies and other income from investments in associates.

(CHF million) 2004 2003
Interest income 9 9 
Income and gains on securities 34 66
Total 43 75

Interest income remained stable compared with the year-earlier period. The company recorded capital gains of CHF 34 million on its
investment portfolio. This figure was partially offset by losses amounting to CHF 13 million (see note 8). The net result, although
positive, reflects the less favorable performance of the financial markets during 2004 in comparison to 2003. 

This item is mainly comprised of internal cross-charges for services supplied to companies within the Group, and income related to
the management of the AVS agencies. It also includes revenue from real estate. 

In 2004, this item declined by 5.9%, a reduction of CHF 2 million compared with 2003. This was mainly due to the effect of new condi-
tions in the management contract between the Group and a related party.

General expenses were down by CHF 1 million compared with 2003. The bulk of these costs consist of administrative and manage-
ment fees.

Depreciation and impairment was CHF 26 million less than in 2003. This sharp reduction was the direct consequence of impairment
charges on two subsidiaries outside Switzerland in 2003.

In 2004, interest expense was CHF 1 million higher than in 2003. However, the overall low level of this item reflected the low interest
rates prevailing in the capital markets during the year.

This item remained stable compared with the previous year. Despite currency hedging contracts taken out to protect the Group’s
different companies, the currency translation item was negative by CHF 13 million (2003: CHF 14 million). The loss recorded on the
securities portfolio amounted to CHF 13 million (2003: CHF 12 million). However, this was more than offset by gains of CHF 34 million
(Note 2) (2003: CHF 66 million).

Despite increased income for the year, taxes did not increase, due to the company’s participation exemption.

financial statements of the holding
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ANNEX TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE HOLDING

INFORMATION RELATING TO THE BALANCE SHEET

Fire-insurance values
At 31 December 2004, property, plant and equipment was insured against fire for a value of CHF 32 069 100 (vs. CHF 31 078 100 at
31 December 2003).

Long-term loans were granted principally to the Group’s subsidiaries. 

The list of the 134 legal entities, including minority investments, held directly or indirectly by the Holding company and consolidated
at Swatch Group level is published on pages 144 to 146 of this report.
Investments in subsidiaries accounted for 65.8% of total assets on 31 December 2004 versus 75.6% at the end of 2003. In absolute
figures, the value of investments in subsidiaries amounted to CHF 1 738 million at the end of 2004. This was CHF 211 million lower
than a year earlier, following the transfer of a holding to one of the Group’s subsidiaries in connection with a re-organization of the
Group’s legal structure. This overall sum corresponds exclusively to consolidated investments. The principal changes in the value of
investments in the balance sheet in 2004 were as follows: 

– Liquidation of the company SMH Ltd – Ireland, Dublin;
– Establishment of The Swatch Group (Polska) Sp. z.o.o., Warsaw, and of The Swatch Group (Taiwan) Ltd, Taipei;
– Capital increase by the companies Lascor S.p.A., Sesto Calende, The Swatch Group (Canada) Ltd, Toronto, The Swatch Group

(Italia) S.p.A., Rozzano, and Glashütter Uhrenbetrieb GmbH, Glashütte;
– Sale of The Swatch Group Finance (Bermuda) Ltd, Hamilton to a Group subsidiary;
– Reclassification of the property company S.I. Les Corbes SA, Savagnier;
– A «merger by absorption» of two of the Group’s Swiss companies. This merger was in full compliance with article 748 of the Swiss

Code of Obligations in force at the time of the operation.

At 31 December 2004, accrued income and prepaid expenses were CHF 4 million lower than a year earlier. This item essentially
consists of the positive replacement value of derivative financial instruments. 

The Swatch Group Ltd provides part of the financing for the different companies in the Group. At the end of 2004, the total value of
these loans outstanding was CHF 83 million higher than a year earlier. 

This item includes gold and other precious metals intended to meet the industrial needs of the Group’s subsidiaries and which at 
31 December 2004 represented a total value of CHF 43 million (CHF 20 million at year-end 2003). At the end of 2004 the value of the
equity portfolios was CHF 388 million compared with CHF 245 million a year earlier. The main contributing factor to the change in
the overall value of the equity portfolios was the buyback of own shares for an amount of CHF 149 million.
The «Securities» item also includes registered treasury shares destined for the special management stock option plan which, as in
the previous year, are valued «pro memoria». There are also treasury shares which are due to be cancelled if the proposal of the Board
of Directors to reduce capital is approved at the 2005 AGM. 
The total value of treasury shares held by other consolidated companies amounts to CHF 291 million (CHF 255 million at 31 December
2003). These shares are mainly destined to cover the convertible bond issued by The Swatch Group Finance (Luxembourg) SA.
In the Holding company accounts and in the statutory financial accounts of the other consolidated companies, the assets under the
«Treasury shares» item are valued in the following way: 
– Paid-in capital: the share price on 31 December 2004;
– Special funds and blocked shares, plus own shares due to be cancelled: these shares are not marked to market.
In the consolidated financial statements, the total value of the treasury shares, valued at their historical cost, is deducted from share-
holders’ equity.
The reserve for treasury shares under liabilities in The Swatch Group Ltd’s balance sheet is valued using the weighted average
purchase price method (note 16). 

The total value of treasury shares held by The Swatch Group Ltd in its books and through its subsidiaries at 31 December 2004
corresponded to 5.4% (versus 4.1% at year-end 2003) of the nominal value of its total equity capital. 
A table showing changes in the The Swatch Group Ltd’s treasury stock is published on page 156.

10. Property, plant and
equipment

11. Long-term loans

12. Investments 
in subsidiaries

13. Other receivables,
accrued income and
prepaid expenses

14. Short-term receivables
from Group companies

15. Securities and 
precious metals

16. Shareholders’ equity

financial statements of the holding

swatch group  annual report 2004



155

ANNEX TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE HOLDING

The table below shows the development of equity capital (in millions of Swiss francs):

(CHF million) Share General Treasury Special Profit Total 
capital reserve share reserve available share-

reserve for holders’
distribution equity

Balance at 31.12.2003 137 67 369 818 294 1 685
Allocated in 2004 190 –190 0
Allocation to reserve for the 149 –149 0
buyback of own shares
Dividend paid out –85 –85
Net income for the year 295 295
Balance at 31.12.04 137 67 518 859 314 1 895

Compared to year-end 2003, shareholders’ equity increased a further CHF 210 million to CHF 1 895 million during 2004, accounting
for 71.7% of total assets at 31 December 2004 (versus 65.4% at year-end 2003).
In 2004, the Swatch Group resumed its share buyback program targeting a maximum 2% of The Swatch Group Ltd’s share capital. At
the 2005 Annual General Meeting, the Board of Directors will propose that the share capital be reduced by the amount of the shares
repurchased under this program. In order to comply with Swiss legislation requiring all the treasury shares held by a group to be
financially covered, a part of the special reserve was transferred to the treasury share reserve to make up the full amount required.

Share capital
At 31 December 2004, there was no change in the value of share capital compared to a year earlier. It consists of 137 051 327 regis-
tered shares each with a nominal value of CHF 0.45 and of 33 506 950 bearer shares each with nominal value of CHF 2.25. 

Principal shareholders on 31 December 2004
On 31 December 2004, The Hayek Pool and its companies and related entities held 62 017 071 registered shares and 312 498 bearer
shares, equivalent to 36.5% of the voting rights (previous year: 36.7%). The Hayek Pool comprises the following members:

Name/Company Location Beneficial owner
Mr N. G. Hayek Meisterschwanden N. G. Hayek
WAT Holding AG Meisterschwanden N. G. Hayek
Ammann Group Holding AG c/o Ernst & Young AG, Bern J.N. Schneider-Ammann 

(Chairman and delegate)
U. A. Ammann (Board Member)

Swatch Group Pension Fund Neuchâtel –

The companies and institutions close to the Hayek Pool, but which do not formally belong to the Hayek Pool are:

Name/Company Location Beneficial owner
Hayek Holding AG Meisterschwanden N. G. Hayek
Mr N. G. Hayek and family members N. G. Hayek
Personalfürsorgestiftung der Meisterschwanden –
Hayek Engineering AG
Ammann families (pension funds, c/o Ernst & Young AG, Bern Represented by
foundations and individuals, Madisa AG) J. N. Schneider-Ammann
Fondation d’Ébauches SA et Neuchâtel –
des maisons affiliées
Fondation de Technocorp Holding SA Le Locle –

In the context of the pool, the group of Mr N. G. Hayek and related parties controlled in total 35.8% of the voting rights at year-end
2004 (35.8% at end-2003), of which 3.8% are represented by the Hayek Pool (4.2% at end-2003).
As of the same date, Mrs Esther Grether’s group controlled 8.0% of the voting rights (compared with 8% a year earlier).
The Swatch Group is not aware of any other group or individual shareholder with an interest exceeding 5% of total share capital.

Treasury share reserve
The reserve for treasury shares was valued according to the weighted average purchase price method. In the Holding balance sheet,
it amounted to CHF 518 million on 31 December 2004 (previous year CHF 369 million), and thereby covers the treasury shares
recognized as assets in the balance sheets of the Group companies at the end of the year.
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ANNEX TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE HOLDING

The number of treasury shares held directly or indirectly by The Swatch Group Ltd changed as shown in the table below during 2004:

Shares held by: Registered shares Bearer shares
Quantity*) Quantity

The Swatch Group Ltd
Balance at 31.12.2003 3 757 040 0
Acquisitions in 2004 2 140 000 449 500
Disposals in 2004 –242 569 0
Balance at 31.12.2004 5 654 471 449 500
Other consolidated companies
Balance at 31.12.2003 8 405 714 44 000
Acquisitions in 2004 0 0
Disposals in 2004 0 0
Balance at 31.12.2004 8 405 714 44 000
Total balance at 31.12.2004 14 060 185 493 500

*) of which 3 499 632 registered shares were reserved for the management stock option plan at year-end 2004 (3 742 200 shares 
in 2003).

Apart from movements related to the special funds, all the transactions involving treasury shares were recognized at fair value. The
average price per registered share bought in 2004 was CHF 34.36 and the average price per bearer share was CHF 168.03. 

Profit available for distribution
In compliance with the resolution approved at the Annual General Meeting of 27 May 2004, a dividend of CHF 0.29 per registered
share and of CHF 1.45 per bearer share was appropriated from profit available for distribution as at 31 December 2003. The total
dividend amount paid to shareholders in 2004 came to CHF 39 744 885 on the registered shares and CHF 48 585 077 on the bearer
shares. In accordance with the resolution relating to the use of profit available for distribution approved by the above-mentioned
AGM, no dividends were paid on the treasury shares held by the Swatch Group. This sum, which would have amounted to 
CHF 3 796 898, thus constituted an integral part of shareholders’ equity on 31 December 2004. Finally, the sum of CHF 190 million
was appropriated from profit available for distribution on 31 December 2003 and allocated to the special reserve.

The total amount of provisions was unchanged compared to 2003.

Compared to the previous year, short-term debt decreased by CHF 151 million. This was mainly due to a reduction in loans from Group
companies. Accrued expenses and deferred income consist essentially of negative replacement values of derivative financial instru-
ments and other transitory liabilities. The item «Accrued expenses and deferred income» was CHF 6 million higher than a year earlier.

17. Provisions

18. Short-term debt and
accrued expenses 
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2004 2003

CHF CHF

294 688 643 274 653 538

19 399 292 19 278 818

314 087 935 293 932 356

–200 000 000 –190 000 000

–39 744 885

–48 585 077

–47 967 964

–58 637 163

3 796 898

7 482 808 19 399 292

PROPOSAL FOR APPROPRIATION OF PROFIT AVAILABLE  FOR DISTRIBUTION

The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting that profit available for distribution be appropriated as follows:

Net income for the year 

Profit brought forward

Profit available for distribution

Allocation to special reserve

Dividend payment for 2003 on share capital of CHF 137 063 734.65

– CHF 0.29 per registered share with a nominal value of CHF 0.45

– CHF 1.45 per bearer share with a nominal value of CHF 2.25

Payment on share capital of CHF 137 063 734.65 *)

of a 2004 dividend, i.e.:

– CHF 0.35 per registered share with a nominal value of CHF 0.45

– CHF 1.75 per bearer share with a nominal value of CHF 2.25

Dividends not paid out on own shares held by the Group **)

Balance carried forward

*) It is planned not to pay dividends on own shares held by the Group

**) Based on the decision of the Annual General Meeting of 27 May 2004, the dividend due on own shares held by the Group was not paid out.
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Report of the statutory auditors

As statutory auditors, we have audited the accounting records and the financial statements (income statement, balance sheet and
annex – pages 149 to 157) of The Swatch Group Ltd for the year ended 31 December 2004.

These financial statements are the responsibility of the board of directors. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these finan-
cial statements based on our audit. We confirm that we meet the legal requirements concerning professional qualification and
independence.

Our audit was conducted in accordance with auditing standards promulgated by the Swiss profession, which require that an audit
be planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstate-
ment. We have examined on a test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. We have also
assessed the accounting principles used, significant estimates made and the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the accounting records and financial statements and the proposed appropriation of available earnings comply with
Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation.

We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd

Th. Brüderlin G. Siegrist

Basel, 30 March 2005

Report of the 
statutory auditors to the
general meeting of
The Swatch Group Ltd,
Neuchâtel
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123 787 740 132 187 740 124 732 274 126 832 274 124 543 989 127 710 075 126 195 263 132 338 963

33 211 158 33 211 158 33 462 950 33 462 950 33 462 467 34 047 207 34 241 620 34 241 620

156 998 898 165 398 898 158 195 224 160 295 224 158 006 455 161 757 282 160 436 883 166 580 583

55 704 483 59 484 483 56 129 523 57 074 523 56 044 795 57 469 534 56 787 868 59 552 533

74 725 106 74 725 106 75 291 638 75 291 638 75 290 550 76 606 216 77 043 645 77 043 645

130 429 589 134 209 589 131 421 161 132 366 161 131 335 345 134 075 750 133 831 513 136 596 178

2004 2004 2003 2003 2002 2001 2000 2000

1.77 1.76 1.69 1.68 1.69 1.69 1.84 1.80

2.36 2.29 2.15 2.13 1.94 2.09 2.02 1.98

14.70 14.29 13.72 13.62 12.19 10.94 10.61 10.40

0.35 * 0.35 * 0.29 0.29 0.22 0.20 0.55 0.55

2004 2004 2003 2003 2002 2001 2000 2000

8.83 8.81 8.43 8.41 8.47 8.46 9.18 8.99

11.79 11.46 10.73 10.66 9.70 10.45 10.12 9.92

73.51 71.44 68.58 68.09 60.97 54.72 53.06 51.99

1.75 * 1.75 * 1.45 1.45 1.10 1.00 2.75 2.75

36.50 36.50 30.60 30.60 36.85 43.50 54.70 54.70

27.20 27.20 19.15 19.15 20.45 19.40 31.80 31.80

33.80 33.80 29.50 29.50 23.40 32.90 42.30 42.30

180.50 180.50 152.75 152.75 173.00 214.00 273.90 273.90

130.00 130.00 93.70 93.70 99.25 91.00 157.70 157.70

166.90 166.90 148.50 148.50 115.00 149.25 202.50 202.50

10 225 10 225 9 019 9 019 7 060 9 747 12 895 12 895

2004 2004 2003 2003 2002 2001 2000 2000

12.4 12.7 13.0 13.1 14.5 15.7 18.7 18.7

1.0 * 1.0 * 1.0 1.0 0.9 0.6 1.3 1.3

1.0 * 1.0 * 1.0 1.0 1.0 0.7 1.4 1.4

19.1 19.2 17.5 17.6 13.8 19.4 23.0 23.5

18.9 18.9 17.6 17.7 13.6 17.6 22.1 22.5

1 225 514 UHRN.VX

1 225 515 UHR.VX

Average number of shares outstanding/ 2004 2004 2003 2003 2002 2001 2000 2000

Average share capital basic diluted basic diluted basic/ basic/ basic diluted

diluted diluted

Number of registered shares of CHF 0.45

Number of bearer shares of CHF 2.25

Total average number of shares oustanding

Share capital registered shares of CHF 0.45

Share capital bearer shares of CHF 2.25

Total average share capital

Key data per registered share 

(nom CHF 0.45) in CHF

Consolidated net income

Cash flow from operating activities

Consolidated shareholders’ equity

Dividend

Key data per bearer share 

(nom CHF 2.25) in CHF

Consolidated net income

Cash flow from operating activities

Consolidated shareholders’ equity

Dividend

Stock price of registered shares 

(adjusted) High

Low

End of year

Stock price of bearer shares 

(adjusted) High

Low

End of year

Market capitalization (CHF million) End of year

Key ratios (year-end)

Average return on equity %

Dividend yield registered shares %

Dividend yield bearer shares %

Price/earnings ratio – registered shares

Price/earnings ratio – bearer shares

Securities Securities no. Reuters Symbol

The Swatch Group Ltd registered shares

The Swatch Group Ltd bearer shares

The securities are listed on the Swiss Stock Exchange (SWX) and traded on the virt-x.
* Board of Directors’ proposal.

THE SWATCH GROUP LTD SECURITIES
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THE SWATCH GROUP LTD SECURITIES

EVOLUTION OF THE SWATCH GROUP LTD REGISTERED SHARES 
AND THE SWISS MARKET INDEX

(indexed weekly from 01.07.1988 to 31.12.2004 – adjusted)

The Swatch Group Ltd

Swiss Market Index
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